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      To protect the human race, 6T9 evolved with the flip of a switch and a few lines of code.

      But he’s made himself a killer as well as a protector. The programming that may save humanity has driven him from Volka, the woman he loves. In the heart of the Dark’s first strike against the Republic, 6T9 must discover what he has become, who he wants to be, and who he wants to be with.

      Slowly and almost unnoticed, Volka has been evolving, too. Heartbroken by 6T9’s departure, she is torn between love and duty. Accepting the latter, she takes a mission that will lead her to the edge of the universe. There, she will be tested, and her evolution will pass a point where there will be no turning back.

      An android who has become more than a sex ‘bot, a mutant who has developed startling abilities, 6T9 and Volka have become more than human. The changes they’ve endured may save the galaxy, but have driven them further apart.

      Will they find a way forward together, or will the bond between them become another casualty of the Dark?
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            Dark Armada

          

          Galactic Republic: Time Gate 1

        

      

    

    
      Volka stood on Sundancer’s bridge. Carl Sagan, the long-haired, golden werfle lay on her arm, ten little legs akimbo. The ship’s usual pearly white interior had a grayish cast, reflecting Carl’s and Volka’s moods. Volka still wore her envirosuit, though her helmet lay at her feet, and she could swivel her ears and smell. She hadn’t had time to strip off the suit since her last adventure. Just minutes ago, she’d left Alaric in Gate 1’s hospital after retrieving him from the battle of System 5. 

      Sixty had stayed in System 5. He hadn’t even said goodbye. Her ears drooped. She was trying very hard not to think about that. 

      Around her were the Marines who’d fought with Carl, Sixty, Sundancer, and Volka on the uncolonized world of System 33, Shinar’s mental hospital, and at Reich Corporation’s research headquarters. After the disastrous events at Reich, they’d voluntarily joined her in her quest to rescue Alaric in System 5. She swallowed. 

      Not all the Marines from those adventures were here. Ben, who had been her friend and could have been more, had killed himself after becoming infected with the Dark. If he hadn’t, the Dark would have gained access to his mind. Hale had died in a fusion blast rather than be enslaved by the Dark. Dr. Warren had succumbed to other demons—an addiction brought on by chronic pain. Maybe that was the Dark’s fault, too. Dr. Warren had resisted treatment because it would take her from her team and the fight against the Dark.

      Everyone in this room was missing someone, and Sixty wasn’t dead. He was where he could do the most good—in System 5. 

      She had to focus on the people who were here now, but it was hard. Less than a day ago, Sixty had asked her to marry him. It had been a surprise and rash on his part to propose. It had been rash on her part to have accepted, but her lips warmed, and body flushed at the memory—the proposal, the kiss. Almost immediately afterward, the Dark had attacked the inner planets of System 5—only it had been a ruse, as Alaric had warned them it would be. The Dark’s true objective had been to steal Reich’s faster-than-light ships from a planet far from System 5’s core. With attention focused elsewhere, they’d gotten away with it.

      “The Dark has stolen fifty of Reich’s ships,” Lieutenant Young said, usual boisterousness gone. “But between the Galactic Fleet, Luddeccean Guard, and local forces of the established systems, they are outmatched.” 

      Volka’s ears flicked. How could that be? The Republic only had one faster-than-light ship—Sundancer. The Luddecceans had a few faster-than-light ships, and more in the works, but she doubted they had fifty.

      Wiping his eyes, Young continued, “Thousands of infected left with those ships. It seems like a large number but compared to the population of the Republic it’s trivial. Also, Central—the computer at Reich Industries—has confirmed that the people who joined the Dark and left on those vessels were scientists, designers, engineers of the highest caliber—”

      Volka was tired, and when she was tired, she was telepathic. For a moment she saw images of frozen bodies in the hallways of the Reich underground facility—the humans who had not left with the Infected. When the Dark had turned off the facility’s heat, the non-infected had piled on top of one another, trying to stay warm as long as possible. The image was infused with despair and a deep, simmering rage. She glanced up at Young; his eyes were distant, his expression like stone. She suspected it was his memory she saw. Young absently rubbed his neural port, a dull, titanium disk set into his skull. Galactic Republic humans like Young were mentally connected to each other and vast computers via the ethernet through their neural ports. Volka didn’t have that connection. On her home planet, Luddeccea, radios and televisions were the most advanced tech civilians had access to, although the Luddeccean military was another matter.

      Carl squeaked sadly in her arms. He was more telepathic than Volka, and he could do things with his mind and the quantum wave she couldn’t—start fires, move things, and speak over the ethernet. He wore a little “necklace” around his neck that converted the ethernet to speech. He held out a tiny paw to Young, and the necklace crackled. “Lieutenant Young, you must continue.” Young’s eyes regained focus, and though Volka hadn’t sensed any compulsion from Carl, the Lieutenant did continue. “The Dark has kidnapped high-level people it can’t afford to lose if it wants to make more faster-than-light ships. And it has to make more faster-than-light ships if it wants to wipe out humanity.”

      Volka’s brow furrowed. “Can’t they just send the ships they have now to unincorporated outposts, infect them, and let those infected people slowly drift into the Republic?”

      A new Marine she hadn’t met stepped forward. With his helmet off, Volka noted he had a tiny red cross on the collar of the under-suit he wore. He was a doctor—not a replacement for Warren, but a replacement for another doctor they’d lost in Shinar. They’d been there rescuing a Republic scientist wrongly committed to a mental institution, and Warren’s replacement had been shot. Volka couldn’t remember that doctor’s name. She hadn’t known her long enough. Young said, “Volka, this is Dr. Elam.”

      Elam held out a hand, and Volka shook it. His handshake was firm, not limp like he expected Volka was made of porcelain. Her ears folded. Compared to the Marines with their augments, she was relatively fragile. 

      “It is a good question,” Elam said. “It would be the best strategy if it weren’t for the fact that we’ll develop a cure.”

      Volka’s ears shot forward. She was overwhelmed with hope. But then it fled from her like frightened prey. Her ears went back. “The People never developed a cure,” she said, referring to the alien race exterminated by the Dark a million years ago.

      Holding up a wickedly sharp, curved claw, Carl squeaked. “I have a theory about that.” Sliding from Volka’s arms, he rose to his hind paw pairs and intoned in a scholarly voice: “My species, The One, are obviously superior to humans.” 

      There were collective snorts and eye rolls from the Marines. Corporal Sharon Rhinehart, the lady Marine, snickered. “Well, bless your little hearts.” She was a head taller than Volka, and her volume was on par with Young’s, but her pitch was surprisingly feminine. 

      Blinking up at Sharon, Carl said earnestly, “Thank you.” He touched four paws to his chest. “But I am already blessed. I can surf the quantum wave and have lived a thousand lives. I am not prone to the heat and chills of furlessness, and I am not naked and ugly … Not that it’s your fault you look like you have mange on a good day—”

      “Carl,” Volka huffed. “Get to the point!”

      He blinked at her, squinted, looked side to side, and twiddled his paws. 

      Volka sighed. “Did you forget your point?”

      Carl’s whiskers twitched. “I would, err, never … Oh, yes, wave immunity! The One have wave immunity! If the aliens were like us—and there is evidence they were—they were powerful telepaths capable of nudging the thoughts of predators. They must have had wave immunity. That explains everything!”

      There was a beat of silence. Volka’s ears flicked. Marines shifted on their feet.

      “Wave immunity?” Dr. Elam asked.

      Carl waved his paws. “We don’t need antibiotics, antivirals, or nano scrubbers. We are capable of killing infections and cancerous cells with our minds before they get too advanced.”

      Volka scowled. “Shissh couldn’t save Ben.” Her words were bitter, even though they shouldn’t have been. Shissh, Carl’s once-sister inhabiting the body of a Bengal tiger, had nearly destroyed herself trying to save Ben.

      Carl’s ears curled, and his whiskers drooped. “No, she couldn’t. The reason why The One can’t beat the Dark by manipulating the quantum wave is because the Dark is a being of the quantum wave. It is immune to The One. It was immune to The People.” He bowed his head, and his whiskers sagged, but then he straightened and threw up four paws. “But humans are wave ignorant! You’ve developed more primitive ways to tackle cancers and infections.”

      “More primitive,” Young said dryly.

      Carl’s eyes narrowed. “Definitely more primitive, but someone expecting phaser pistols might not notice the man sneaking up on him with a hammer.”

      “We have cured one person,” Dr. Elam said, referring to Alexis Darmadi, Alaric’s wife. 

      “Alexis’s cure wouldn’t have worked if it hadn’t been in the earliest stages of the disease,” Volka protested.

      Holding up a hand, Elam continued, “We will find a real cure. However, now the Dark controls the minds of scientists who know what we’re capable of. It will know that a cure is only a matter of time—years, a decade at the most.”

      Volka pieced together what he and Young were saying. “So, it has to strike soon, but to do that, it needs more ships.”

      Lieutenant Young met her eyes. “Yes, that is why we have to find where they’ve gone.”

      Volka wrapped her arms around herself. “We tried to find Reich’s ships. It didn’t work.” Sundancer had traveled, literally, to the end of the universe to find the missing ships. It had been no use. Perversely, Volka’s heart lifted. She wanted to help fight the Dark, but in a choice between a hopeless task and fighting alongside Sixty, she’d fight alongside Sixty. 

      Carl sighed. “Last time we tried to follow the ships, Volka, but too much time had lapsed. This time we could do a methodical search, based on where they’re most likely to be.”

      “They could be anywhere in the universe,” Volka countered.

      “Not anywhere,” Carl replied. “Black holes, supernovae, neutron stars, and their gravity wells are all off the list.”

      “Which still leaves all of space between them,” Volka pointed out.

      “Nah, it doesn’t.” This was said by Ramirez. Volka turned to him in shock. She knew he hated waiting around feeling useless as much as she did. Why would he want to go on a wild werfle chase? 

      Ramirez cleared his throat. “To build ships they’ll need materials.”

      She rolled her eyes, almost said, “That’s just about every asteroid cloud in the galaxy,” but caught herself. She remembered her parents’ house in the Weere settlement on Luddeccea. The house had been pieced together from rubble left over from the bombed city of Old Prime. “They’ll need someplace with scrap,” she murmured. Mining ore and refining it would be much harder than scavenging old ships.

      Lieutenant Young nodded. “Former settlements of The People would be the first places to look.”

      “Could it be in the World Sphere?” Volka asked, ears coming forward, remembering The People’s inside-out world that encircled an artificial sun.

      “No,” said Young. “Our team there would have noticed. It knows we know about the World Sphere. We could drop in at any time and destroy their base.” 

      Dr. Elam added, “Also, there is no gravity or atmosphere there. It will choose a place suitable for human habitation if it can.”

      Carl sighed. “It will be a place we’ve never been before. A place where the Dark infected aliens had industry.”

      Volka gulped. In a place like that, the Dark was likely to have drones that would attack them on arrival. Sundancer had armor—but it wasn’t invincible.

      “We have to do it,” said Carl. 

      Volka took a shaky breath. She’d really wanted to go help Sixty … but if Carl thought it was important—

      Carl’s thoughts intruded in her mind. “I do, Hatchling.”

      Sixty had boarded System 5’s time gate because he would be of most help there. She would be of most help here. Sixty was programmed to do the right thing even if he didn’t want to—he was angelic that way. Maybe she would be more faithful to who Sixty was if she helped the Marines? “Of course we’ll help,” she heard herself say.

      “Thank you, Volka and Carl,” Young said. Grinning up at the ceiling, he saluted. “And thank you, Sundancer.”

      The ship didn’t understand words, but some of Young’s emotions must have shone through in that last comment, because Sundancer’s hull briefly flashed cheery yellow.

      Dr. Elam nodded at Volka. “I look forward to working with you, ma’am.”

      Ramirez grinned. “Knew you’d come through.” 

      Jerome slapped her on the shoulder. The other Marines cheered.

      Bending down to Carl, Rhinehart cooed. “Who’s a good boy going to help us?” 

      Carl put eight pairs of tiny paws on his sides. “Ma’am, are you trying to insult—”

      Snickering, Rhinehart reached out and scratched him behind the ear.

      Carl melted into a purr. “Oh, yes, right there! Right there!”

      Volka’s eyes narrowed. She’d help them, but there was no way she was going on this wild-werfle chase without saying goodbye to Sixty.
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            Duty is a Harsh Mistress

          

          Galactic Republic: Time Gate 5

        

      

    

    
      6T9 walked along a corridor lined with ‘bots, all approximating salutes with whatever appendages they had—pincers, vacuum hoses, window wipers, brooms, mops, and occasionally, hands. A Kurzhaar4002, a chrome-plated, robotic German Shorthair Pointer, walked a step ahead of him, metal toenails lightly clicking in Time Gate 5’s hallway. The lights were only at 10 percent—the gate was under attack and conserving power. The horizon was close, curved upward, and every few steps new ‘bots came into view. As soon as he was in their visual range, they would say, or beep, “Android General 1, sir!” Time Gate 5 was responsible for updating all of these ‘bots; it had given 6T9 authority over them and programmed them to address him by that moniker. He wasn’t a general; he was a sex ‘bot, but he was programmed for fantasy, and right now he was playing along. The show of loyalty was convenient.

      To 6T9’s left was Sergeant Davies of the Luddeccean Guard. Behind them followed two Luddeccean Guardsman: Lang, a weere, and Falade, a human. A few minutes ago, Lang and Falade had tried to kill 6T9...right after 6T9 had saved all three Luddecceans from freefall. Davies had stopped Falade’s attempt with a hand and calm words. 6T9 had stopped Lang by nearly breaking his neck. Static crawled along 6T9’s skin. Even when Volka had been afraid of 6T9, she had never tried to murder him. 

      His fingers twitched. It was good he hadn’t killed Lang. If he had, he would have lost Davies’s support. If he lost Davies’s support, he would lose the support of the rest of the Luddeccean Guard forces currently in decon in a nearby airlock. Lose the support of the Luddeccean forces and the gate would fall to the Dark, for the moment barely contained on the gate’s outer decks. 6T9’s Q-comm put the likelihood that the Dark’s presence on the gate was 93.2% serendipity. The gate should have been protected by the Galactic Fleet, but they’d been sent to help the emergency evacuation of Shinar in System 3 where a brand new super volcano was burying a continent in meters of ash. Fleet had called in System 5’s Local Guard forces to protect the gate in their absence. Unfortunately, System 5’s Local Guard had been infected by the Dark. 

       If the gate fell, Infected would spread throughout the galaxy without need of a faster-than-light ship. They’d destroy Volka and all the carbon-based lifeforms 6T9 cared about. His fingers twitched again. He had to tolerate Lang and Falade. He scowled. That calculus was what was keeping him from breaking their necks, not his programming and not altruism. Once, he’d thought of himself as altruistic.

      The robotic hound came to a halt, sat down next to a pair of heavy, metal, sliding double doors, and looked up expectantly. Fading paint declared AIRLOCK. A green light declared the space beyond was pressurized; an orange light indicated that decon had not taken place. “Time Gate 5, why aren’t they through with decon?” 6T9 asked aloud, out of habit. He was used to being in Volka’s presence, and she didn’t have ethernet. 

      “The Luddeccean forces have damaged the decon equipment,” the gate responded silently over the ether. It might partially be habit keeping Time Gate 5 from speaking directly to the Luddecceans. Gates didn’t typically speak to humans, and especially not to civilians. It destroyed the illusion of privacy if the computer humans sent all their ether conversations through talked back. 

      Beside 6T9 the Luddecceans shifted on their feet. Through a video feed supplied by Gate 5, 6T9 saw Lang and Falade exchange glances with one another in a tiny inset at the corner of his vision.

      “How did the decon equipment get damaged?” 6T9 asked, again aloud.

      Another inset appeared. It showed the interior of the airlock before them from a bug’s eye view. The airlock was packed tight with Luddecceans in Galactic Fleet envirosuits, the whites of their eyes visible even through visors. All held rifles at the ready and were milling about, necks straining as they surveyed their accidental prison. The inset rewound, and 6T9 saw that twelve minutes ago, one man in the mass had said, “We’re trapped. It must be the Infected’s doing!” But another man had replied, “Or the gate’s. If we fry the circuit behind that panel, I might be able to override the lock mechanism.” A flash of phaser fire filled the inset.

      6T9 released a breath, not because he needed to breathe, but because he was programmed to show emotion—it heightened human pleasure and their acceptance of him. The Luddecceans had come to assist the gate, but the gate had locked them in an airlock out of fear. It was a less than auspicious beginning to this historic joint venture.

      “My actions may have precipitated that reaction,” Time Gate 5 said, again silently, still leaving the Luddecceans beside 6T9 out of the conversation.

      Luddecceans were afraid of AI. Of course locking them in a confined space had “precipitated” a “reaction.”

      But 6T9 played diplomat and spoke so the Luddecceans could hear. “You expected the Luddeccean Fleet to assist, but not for troops to come aboard you. Your caution was understandable.”

      There was a moment of silence that stretched too long. 

      Davies coughed, and then whispered, “It was part of the plan from the start.”

      “I did expect them, Android General 1. That is why I pressed Captain Darmadi to order them to consider my safety,” the gate replied, again secretly, into 6T9’s mind. 

      A muscle in 6T9’s jaw twitched at mention of the captain’s name. He’d known about the joint space battle, but thought Luddecceans were only aboard because Darmadi’s crew had been forced to abandon ship. 

      Five continued, “But as soon as they arrived in my airlock, they began speaking of destroying me.”

      As soon as they’d realized they were trapped, 6T9 suspected. 

      “Why not let your local humans speak to them?” 6T9 asked. This time, he kept the comment private, afraid his peevishness would show.

      “The native humans’ thoughts are chaotic,” Time Gate 5 responded. “I quarantined my sections occupied by Infected on your advice, and more than 15.83 percent of my civilian population believe I overreacted. Especially those with family members in the quarantine zones.”

      “Problem, sir?” Davies asked. 

      Q-comm sparking, 6T9 turned to the sergeant. Davies would never pass as a Galactican, even in the Fleet envirosuit. His features weren’t augmented, and he had no neural port to mentally access the ethernet. Also—

      Davies’s gaze snapped to a blinking cleaner ‘bot near his boot, and for a moment his eyes widened in shock and maybe even fear. No Galactican would blink at a cleaning ‘bot. Davies was nervous. Still, Davies hadn’t panicked earlier, and he had defended 6T9. They’d encountered each other before. The first time, Davies had saved Volka’s life. The second time, Davies had prevented 6T9 from barging in on Volka and Captain Alaric Darmadi. Davies had been right to keep 6T9 away. Darmadi had been what Volka had needed at that moment. While rescuing the captain’s wife, Volka had been forced to kill children infected with the Dark, and 6T9 had done nothing but second guess her. The captain had gone to comfort her when 6T9 had abandoned her. 6T9 had expected “comfort” to mean sex against the wall, but instead it had been completely, devastatingly innocent. Darmadi had been the shoulder to cry on and voice of reason she’d needed. 

      Davies, 6T9 could work with. 

      Darmadi, 6T9 wanted to kill. 

      “Sir?” Davies asked.

      That killer impulse was what led him here. He needed to learn to control it and destroy the Infected, so he could go back to Volka, so Volka would be safe from the Dark...and safe from him. To do those things, he would need Luddeccean help.

      “I need you to contact the Guardsmen in the airlock,” 6T9 replied. “They fried the decon equipment with an escape attempt, and now Five needs to see to repairs—they need to stay in there …” Five piped a number into his brain. “An additional twenty-two minutes,” 6T9 said aloud for Davies. 

      Falade murmured, “I can’t believe a gate would be afraid of us.” He gulped audibly, and his eyes rolled to a spherical little repair ‘bot hovering at his shoulder. The repair ‘bot had one pincer raised in a salute. Its other hundred pincer arms hung at its sides, its multitude of spider-like eyes glowing slightly. Lang, the weere, muttered lowly, “Maybe it isn’t. Maybe it is tricking us,” and narrowed his eyes at 6T9. 6T9’s Q-comm hummed. Was it logical to allow the weere man to live? It distrusted him and had already tried to kill him once.

      6T9’s thoughts were interrupted by Gate 5’s silent ether reply, “They are fanatics. They’ll commit suicide in their attempt to destroy the Dark. They’d see my destruction as only a plus.”

      6T9 translated that for Davies. “The gate knows that Luddecceans are brave and not afraid of death. It fears that you might destroy it and yourselves to destroy the Dark.”

      Squinting one eye, Davies said, “We’d prefer not to blow ourselves up, just the same.”

      “There are civilians aboard,” Falade blurted, sounding scandalized. “We are ordered not to harm them.”

      6T9’s lips pressed together. “I’m sure the gate finds that comforting.”

      “No. I. Do. Not,” Gate 5 hissed into 6T9’s brain. 

      Davies’s head snapped to the younger Guardsman. “We swore an oath to protect the gate as well.”

      An air vent clicked on in the hall.

      “Yes, Sergeant,” said Falade.

      “Yes, sir,” said the weere.

      Davies turned back to 6T9. “Lieutenant Grayson is in there with them. You met him on SS33O4—he’s worked with machines before. If I could talk directly to him, I might be able to convince him we’re safe, and that they are too. That would help morale.”

      “Gate 5,” 6T9 commanded. “Connect them.” 

      The air vent ticked off, and for a moment, 6T9 was worried the gate wouldn’t comply, but then there was a crackle within Davies’s helmet. Davies asked tentatively, “Lieutenant Grayson, sir, is that you?”

      “Davies! Sergeant, you’re all right?” Grayson’s reply was loud enough for 6T9 to hear it through Davies’s helmet, but Time Gate 5 helpfully piped it into 6T9’s mind as well.

      “Right as that fishing trip in Xinshii—” Davies tapped the side of his helmet, and he blinked. “Hello? Hello? I think I lost the connection?”

      The little robot with the multiple arms and cluster of spider-like eyes spun, making its metal limbs rise. To 6T9’s utter shock, it spoke with Time Gate 5’s voice. “That was code. How can I trust you if you use code?” 

      Nebulas, the gate was more than frightened—it was terrified. So were the Luddecceans. All of them jumped. Gulping, Davies eyed the spinning ‘bot and mouthed the words. “What do I say?”

      “Just tell the truth,” 6T9 suggested.

      Davies looked heavenward instead of addressing the little ‘bot. “Mr. Gate 5, errr … sir, it was code. If I don’t say that, the lieutenant will think I’m under duress.”

      In the ether, 6T9 said silently, “We have to trust them.”

      “You trust them, General?” the gate asked over the ether.

      Eyeing the human and weere Guardsmen who had tried to shoot him earlier, 6T9 replied, “Davies and Lieutenant Grayson, yes. The others will follow their lead.” He said it as though it were a certainty, knowing it was not.

      There was a click inside Davies’s helmet. “Lieutenant?” he said, and then, “Yeah, really the fishing is fine, we are ah … scaring um, the gate, sir? There was a phaser blast that damaged the decon unit in your airlock and now it can’t let you out until it’s fixed. It would, uh, be a help, sir, if you could convince the men not to panic or threaten to blow the gate up, sir.”

      “You sure you’re all right?” Grayson responded.

      Davies let out a breath. “Yeah, it’s just very different, you know. Machines afraid of us? It is a lot to take in, sir.”

      “I am not afraid. I am logically concerned.” The words came over the ether, and from the mouths of every ‘bot in the hallway. The metal walls reverberated with the sound, and it echoed through the corridor. 

      All of the Luddecceans started. 6T9 ground his teeth and spoke into the ether. “It’s humanese, don’t be offended.”

      There was a flutter of static, and then Grayson responded, “It happens.” And 6T9 recalled Grayson had seen James react emotionally in System 33 when the Merkabah had arrived to rescue them. Grayson continued, “I’ll calm the men down … Davies, any news of the captain?”

      Static rippled beneath 6T9’s skin.

      Davies drew up straight. “We reached him—”

      “He’s with you?” the lieutenant blurted, and then stated gravely, “He is injured.”

      “No, sir, yes, sir.” Davies released a breath. “He almost escaped with us, but he was blown from the tick we stole.” He swallowed. “The last I saw, sir, a piece of shrapnel had hit him. Sir, I’m afraid he is...he isn’t...”

      6T9’s Q-comm flashed. His vision went white, and he heard himself say, “Darmadi’s alive.” 

      Davies gasped.

      “We saved him.” 6T9 released a breath, vision returning. Letting the Luddecceans know their captain had been saved by the Republic might ensure more goodwill.

      “He could survive that blow to the gut? The hunk of shrapnel was huge,” Davies whispered. 

      6T9 remembered the meter-plus piece of metal piercing the captain’s abdomen. He probably had died, medically, but not irreversibly. 6T9’s lip turned up wryly. “The Republic will see he receives the best medical care.” More’s the pity. 

      Davies exclaimed, “That is good news, sir!”

      But wide-eyed, Falade whispered, “Will he be a cyborg when they’re done?”

      Davies beamed and shrugged. “Don’t matter. Captain’s always been a bit of a machine, anyway.”

      6T9 had no idea how to categorize that remark and was afraid that scrutinizing it would cause him to want to kill Darmadi that much more.

      “How long will he be forced to remain in the Republic?” Davies asked.

      6T9’s Q-comm hummed with the question. He couldn’t answer the sergeant, not because he didn’t know, but because implications of a long convalescence in the Republic were occurring to him. Volka had felt Darmadi’s distress from the far edge of the solar system, through telepathy, a communication pathway 6T9 could never be part of. Darmadi and Volka had been lovers once; now they would be in each other’s company for a protracted amount of time. Volka wasn’t human; she was a weere—a wolf-human hybrid. Monogamy was in her genetic code. She was more than her default programming. She could resist her instincts—like the instinct to kill Alexis, Darmadi’s wife. But that had been a struggle for her. In coming here to save Volka, had he lost her? His vision faded to gray.

      In the distance, he heard Davies say, “General, sir?”

      Time Gate 5 responded to the sergeant. “He is contacting Gate 1, doubtlessly receiving information on your captain.”

      As his immediate surroundings faded completely from his consciousness, 6T9 hoped he wasn’t snarling.
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      Rolling back on her feet, Volka peered at the misty gray projected by the holo-mat. Left by the Fleet Marines, the holo-mat was only about half-meter square, but its projection extended nearly the breadth of the bridge. The Marines had left other equipment, and somewhere nearby, Carl had curled up in a helmet for a nap, but Volka could see nothing but holo-mist. Cautiously turning in place, she blinked and realized that she had sort of a shadow—or an un-shadow—that spilled out where a normal shadow would be if the holo-mat had been an ordinary light source. Instead of being darker, the “un-shadow” was lighter, and she could see the pearlescent color of Sundancer’s hull at her feet. 

      This was a holographic version of a “mindscape,” which was, according to Bracelet, a “virtual reality environment of sounds and images—if you were a machine with the senses of touch, taste, and smell—you could enjoy those sensations in the mindscape as well.” According to Carl, “mindscapes are just like our telepathic conference calls with Sundancer, but generated by code, not imaginations.”

      Volka pressed her lips together. It was not like Sundancer’s telepathic “conference calls,” it was dreary.

      “It worked. We’re here!” Bracelet exclaimed from Volka’s wrist. “Or rather, I’m utilizing server space and processing power so that we may communicate with Sixty in a way that will seem more like real life than the tiny holos that I can project. We are still aboard Sundancer. Do not be afraid, Miss Volka.”

      The mindscape was depressing, and Sixty wasn’t here, but Bracelet had gone through a lot of trouble to create it. She looked down at her jewelry-friend. “Thank you, Bracelet, it’s—” She looked around …

      “The first time it’s been done that I know of, Miss Volka! I’ve heard of other machines looping their human family and friends in etherly, but never holographically.”

      “It’s monumental and historic, then,” Volka said, glad that Bracelet couldn’t read her mind or feel her stomach sinking. Sixty wasn’t here.

      Bracelet gave a self-satisfied hum, and Volka tried to think of a way to gently nudge the device toward the reason for this historic, monumental mindscape. “Do you think Sixty—?”

      “Volka?” Sixty’s voice swelled around her, sounding startled and disbelieving.

      “Sixty!” Swiveling her ears, spinning in place, Volka searched for him in the gloom, but saw nothing but gray. Swallowing her disappointment, she told herself that at least she could talk to him. “Are you here?”

      He appeared as though fog had been swept away. He was wearing a tee-shirt, a sort of blue trousers that had been in the midst of a revival—they were called “jeans”—and canvas shoes with rubber soles. Her eyes widened. “You’re only wearing that?” Had he been stripped of his armor at Time Gate 5? Had it been given to a human? Maybe he had given it to a human; it would be like him to be so self-sacrificing. “You’ll be injured!” 

      His lips parted, and his eyebrows rose. “This is just an avatar. I still have my armor.” At his words, armor crawled up his body until he was fully covered. “Don’t worry.”

      “I will worry,” she protested. He was on Time Gate 5 fighting Infected.

      He stepped toward her. Even if she couldn’t smell him, he looked so real. Volka reached up to touch him...and had a moment of disorientation. She could see her hand on his chest, but there was no cool hardness of armor beneath her fingers, or the barely perceptible hum he had instead of a heartbeat. She pulled back at the same time he reached up to put his hand over hers. Their hands passed through each other, and she gasped in dismay. Swallowing, she clasped her hands in front of her and gazed up at him. His expression was stern, like it was when they were in the midst of their misadventures. Was she endangering him by calling him here? Bracelet had insisted Gate 1 would never put her through if that were so. Still, he might not have a lot of time. “I didn’t get to say goodbye,” she blurted out.

      His expression softened for just a moment, and then hardened again. “Darmadi?”

      It was thoughtful of him to ask. “He is in the hospital. The new doctor, Elam, said he will be fine. But his recovery may take a while, and it will have to be here in the Republic.”

      “Perhaps he won’t want to go home.” 

      “Of course he will want to go home,” Volka replied and rolled on the balls of her feet. “I wanted to come to Time Gate 5 and see you, but Carl and Bracelet convinced me that it was a bad idea, and that I might endanger you and your mission coming without alerting you.”

      His gaze softened again, and he reached out to touch her cheek. She looked down at his hand. It was oddly too in focus for something so close, and she couldn’t feel the rough pads of his gloved fingers against her skin. 

      She swallowed and met his eyes. “We’re going to leave soon, and you won’t be with us.”

      His gaze became harsh again. “What? Where are you going?”

      “On a mission to find where Reich’s gate-less ships went. Intelligence is sure the Dark is creating an armada.” 6T9 wouldn’t be the technical translator for her during the mission or be able to defend her—not just physically, but emotionally. Galacticans thought of her as being a simpleton because she was uneducated and etherless. Sixty always put them in their place.

      He cocked his head. “They’ll need someplace with materials. Worlds formerly occupied by the aliens—The People—might be a good start.”

      He put that together so fast. “I wish you were coming with us.” 

      “I wish we could be together, too,” he replied, raising his other hand to cradle her face. 

      For a horrible moment Volka had a sense of foreboding. Alaric had said those words, or close to them, on more than one occasion. But he had meant it differently. Alaric had meant they could never be together openly. Sixty had already proven that he wasn’t ashamed to be with her.  Wishing she could feel his mindscaped fingers, she whispered, “If I came and got you, would it hurt the people of System 5?” 

      Sixty’s shoulders fell. “I can say no, and you could come snatch me away.”

      “But that would be a lie,” she guessed.

      Exhaling, he closed his eyes. His hands drifted down her cheeks. He was experiencing the sensation of touch, and she was jealous of that. “I’ve already been useful mediating between the Luddecceans here and the gate.”

      Swallowing, Volka’s ears curled, a mad vision of swooping in with Sundancer and bringing him back bursting like a soap bubble. “You always do the right thing.” It was in his programming.

      His eyes opened. He shook his head … and vanished.

      “Sixty!” Volka shouted, rushing through the space he’d just occupied, as though she could catch him.

      The gray of the mindscape disappeared. The hair on Volka’s neck stood on end.

      Bracelet gulped. “Miss Volka, Time Gate 1 has interrupted the session. That means—”

      “That Sixty’s in some sort of trouble,” she whispered, shoulders sagging.

      And she could do nothing.
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      The mindscape vanished, and 6T9 found himself standing outside the airlock again. Gate 5 piped into his mind, “Two minutes until decon is complete.”

      6T9 took off his left glove. 

      Davies said, “Sir, Gate 5 said that you might have news for us?”

      “Captain Darmadi is expected to make a full recovery,” 6T9 replied, thrusting the glove into Davies’s hands. “Hold this.”

      Spinning, 6T9 punched his unprotected fist into the airlock door. His sensors screamed. The synth skin around his knuckles became deformed, pockets of synth blood burst, and ligaments popped from their attachments. The wall was barely dented. 

      “Sir?” Davies said.

      Through Davies’s helmet, 6T9 heard Lieutenant Grayson exclaim, “What was that?”

      Reattaching the ligaments in his knuckles, 6T9 lied. “Had to relieve some excess power. May I have my glove back? Thank you.”

      Slipping the glove awkwardly over his injured knuckles, he inwardly fumed. If he had remained with Volka, he wouldn’t have had the chance to kill Darmadi. He would have gone on the exploratory mission. Now he wouldn’t be there for her if Sundancer fell to the Dark’s weapons … Volka could be stranded without anyone knowing where they were. 

      She had Bracelet! Could Bracelet be traced? Carl believed that Q-comms could act as tracking devices. Gate 1 had been able to relay 6T9’s location when he’d been kidnapped, but Gate 1 could have done that by monitoring the ethernet. 6T9 almost went back into a mindscape to demand the answer of Gate 1, but realized he had a more reliable source of intel. “Time Gate 5,” he asked in the ether. “Can Q-comms be used as tracking devices?”

      “Yes,” Time Gate 5 replied. 

      Gate 1 had let them battle the pirates who kidnapped Alexis alone! The Galactic Fleet could have utilized the pirates’ gate to send in reinforcements, Volka would never have had to murder infected children, and 6T9 would never have failed her. Rusted gears, 6T9 had never believed James when he said the gates liked playing God, now ... 6T9’s fist pulled back, ready to punch the door again. 

      “But there are limitations.” 

      6T9’s fist remained at his side.

      The gate continued. “If the general location is unknown, as it was the case when you were pursuing the pirates who abducted Alexis Darmadi, it is time and resource consuming. Gate 11, Gate 2, Gate 4, and I lent our processing power to Gate 1 to help find you, but even so, Carl’s species found you first.” 

      6T9 released a breath. His fist unclenched.

      There was a whirring and a clank as the airlock began to open. Preparing to turn to the doors, 6T9’s gaze rose and just happened to catch on Davies’s. “Captain Darmadi is the best Captain in the Guard,” the sergeant said. 

      Not knowing what to say, 6T9 turned away. There was a whoosh of air, and the doors ground open. In the vid feed the Luddecceans had been packed in the airlock in a disorderly mob. Now, they stood in neat, tight lines, literally shoulder to shoulder at parade rest in the compact space. At the very front stood a man with his hands behind his back. The name tag and ribbons on his chest demarcated him as a Commander Ko, but 6T9 did not recognize him.

      “Who is this Ko?” 6T9 asked Time Gate 5 silently.

      “Darmadi’s first officer,” Gate 5 replied.

      6T9’s circuits lit. Commander Ran, the man who had offered Volka his “patronage,” had been replaced? 6T9 wasn’t sure if he was happy or sad to be deprived of the opportunity to shove the man out of an airlock.

      Ko gulped audibly, and then Lieutenant Grayson strode to the commander’s side. 

      “Visors up!” the lieutenant shouted. Visors snicked open, and 6T9 could really see who he was facing. All of them had wide, fearful eyes. Half the eyes were human, and half were weere. He noted the direction of their gazes and realized his machine entourage was making them uneasy. 6T9 glanced down at the closest member of said entourage, the chrome pointer sitting beside him. It gazed back up at 6T9 with adoring, glowing, orange eyes, and its segmented tail thumped against the deck. 6T9’s Q-comm sparked. The most logical response to the Luddecceans’ fear was reassurance.

      Commander Ko approached him. “Could you get those things out of here?”

      6T9’s nostrils flared. He found himself wanting to punch Darmadi again, this time for sending him an officer that couldn’t play well with machines. Empathizing was logical, but 6T9 turned on the lights in his eyes, just to be terrifying. “Those things are your allies. Get used to it, Commander.”

      Ko gaped at him. “You’re … you’re ...”

      “Android General 1.” 6T9 smiled tightly.

      One of the ‘bots behind him whirred, and the chrome dog rose from its haunches. 

      Clearing his throat, Grayson said, “We were to rendezvous with the local police force.”

      Gate 5 piped into 6T9’s mind, “I told my police to concentrate on securing the quarantine, and that I would rendezvous with the Luddecceans.” An inset in his vision displayed police officers in riot gear, backs to an airlock door. A crowd of civilians stood before them. 

      To the Luddecceans, 6T9 said, “The gate’s security is busy at the moment.” Turning off the power-consuming lights in his eyes, 6T9 shouted into the troops, “Any wounded?”

      From the back of the airlock, he heard the familiar voice of the Merkabah’s physician. “Yes.” The man hadn’t been afraid of 6T9 when he’d been aboard the Merkabah, and, in fact, had confessed to wishing he could avail himself of 6T9’s help.

      “Bring them through, Doctor, and your medical staff as well,” 6T9 commanded. 

      Lieutenant Grayson—not Commander Ko—gestured for the men to make way, and seconds later, the Luddeccean doctor was emerging from the throng, guiding a Luddeccean cradling an arm. Behind the doctor came staff 6T9 recognized, supporting injured comrades.

      6T9 addressed his chrome canine. “Kurz,” he said, using the shortened version of the machine’s model. “You know the way to the hospital?”

      Standing, the chrome pointer’s ears perked, and it declared with a German accent, “Naturally, General!”

      “Lead these men to the hospital.”

      “Yez, zir! My purpose iz to point directions!” it replied, wagging its tail. 6T9 knew what Volka would say to the dog if she were here. He found himself saying it for her. “Good boy.” The tail wag became a full body wag, and 6T9 knew the mechanical beast was probably overheating in a programmed facsimile of joy. He could almost feel it himself … or maybe just speaking for Volka had brought her closer for a moment.

      6T9 patted its head. Cheerfully bounding back, Kurz turned, raised a paw, pointed its nose, and declared, “Zis vay, Gentlemen!” 

      The doctor blinked owlishly at Kurz and then at 6T9. “It is good to see you again...General. I’m afraid I didn’t know your rank when we last met. You must excuse me if I was impolite.”

      “I was traveling incognito.” The lie flowed easily—because he was designed to play roles?  “Follow Kurz. Your men need the hospital, and I suspect it will need you.”

      The doctor glanced at the other officers. Grayson nodded and then Ko did more slowly. Clearing his throat, the doctor said, “That’s a good doggie ... Please ... ah ... point the way.” 

      “Vow-vow!” declared Kurz, leading them off, pointing, of course. As it escorted them down the hall, 6T9 heard Kurz declare, “Az a doctor, I’m sure you’ll be relieved to know that I am completely hypoallergenic.” 

      As soon as the medical staff and the injured were on their way, 6T9 inclined his head in the opposite direction. “Follow me.”

      Ko took 6T9’s right, Grayson his left. Davies disappeared into the troops with Falade and Lang. 6T9’s own troops still lined the hallway. As a show of strength, it was helpful, but it was also a waste. 6T9 reached into the ether. “Five, are there any sex ‘bots in my army?”

      The gate’s voice piped into his mind. “Yes, sir.” 

      “Give them medical apps and get them to the hospital.” 

      “Yes, at once.”

      “And get any security ‘bots back to the front lines.”

      “Already done, sir.”

      6T9 glanced at an unobtrusive DusterBuster ‘bot hovering a few paces ahead, a faint light aglow in its inflatable body. When empty, they were no larger than a fist, but could expand to the size of a large balloon. They were adept at filtering allergens and pollutants from the air. “Send all the DusterBusters to vents that lead to the quarantined area,” 6T9 continued, still over the ether.

      “I have sealed those.”

      “Get the DusterBusters there anyway,” 6T9 ordered. “If any vent is compromised send them in.”

      Whirring to life, the DusterBuster tore off down the corridor with a happy, “Whee!” Other happy cries erupted down the hall.

      “Tell your men they’re friendly,” 6T9 ordered the two officers. 

      Grayson repeated the assurance, and 6T9 heard the lieutenant’s voice echoed in over a hundred helmet radios. 

      Ko grumbled. “Those don’t look like combat drones.”

      “They are air purifiers,” 6T9 replied. “They’ll be able to keep the Dark from spreading through the air if the Infected force open any vents.” He didn’t think that they could filter out the Dark, but they could block any openings with their expanding bodies.

      He eyed the menagerie of ‘bots saluting him down the hall. He had to find ways to repurpose them. They were so varied; he wasn’t sure how to best utilize every—

      Ko cleared his throat. “The gate’s time bands were damaged when the Merkabah was destroyed.”

      Static flared beneath 6T9’s skin in annoyance. He had eyes. He’d seen that, and even if he hadn’t seen, he’d have known. If the time bands hadn’t been destroyed, the Infected would have spread throughout the galaxy. Stifling his ire, he tried to focus on how best to utilize his forces—  

      Ko continued. “Our engineers estimate that they are repairable. Gate 5’s external defenses are down, and the Infected still have ships. They’ll be able to protect any Infected that make repairs. If you don’t mind me suggesting it, sir, some of our troops can fire at anyone or anything that attempts it.”

      6T9’s Q-comm lit. He should have thought of that. 

      Ko lifted an arm in the direction they’d just come from. “I can station two rifle teams in the airlock we deconned in.”

      Grinding his teeth, 6T9 halted. It would have been helpful if Ko had brought that up a few minutes ago. Turning, about to say so, he was taken aback by the slight sheen on the man’s brow. Ko was afraid. Possibly of him. 6T9 had encouraged that fear and caused this inefficiency. Shaking off annoyance at Ko and himself, 6T9 drew up a schematic of the gate’s inner ring in his mind. “There are twelve smaller airlocks for repair ‘bots,” he suggested. “Their openings are more defensible. I entered the gate through one. Sergeant Davies could—”

      “Here, sir. I heard, sir,” Davies declared, emerging alongside the crowd as if by magic, Falade and Lang at his heels. “I agree with the general’s assessment, Commander. A single fire team could hold a mechanical room like the one we came in. The entrance of the airlock you were in is wide enough to drive a two-team lizzar wagon through.” 

      6T9’s Q-comm informed him a fire team was four men, usually led by a sergeant. He blinked at Davies’s team of three. “Are you missing a man?” he blurted, forgetting he was a general. 

      Eyes darting to him and back to Ko, Davies for a moment looked confused—no, 6T9 realized—the look was anguish. The sergeant stood a little taller and said quietly, “We lost Ito.”

      There was a moment of silence. Ko sighed so softly 6T9 suspected that only he and the weere heard it. “I’ll want to know the details later.”

      “Yes, sir,” Davies replied. There was another beat of silence and then Davies forged on, as though he hadn’t just reported the death of a friend, and 6T9 wondered if he wasn’t the only one playing a role. “The airlock we were in was filled with—no offense, General—a lot of junk. I saw drone bits. I think some of the Merkabah’s boys could turn them into something usable. We could launch them from the airlocks.”

      6T9 blinked. He’d thought of using ‘bots, but hadn’t thought about using the “junk.” “It’s a good idea. ‘Bots won’t be able to kill—drones manned by humans can.”

      Commander Ko said, “Make it so,” and issued some orders to other members of the Guard. They gathered with Davies.

      To 6T9, Ko said, “Do you have guides to these other airlocks?”

      6T9 reached out to the ether and a soft hum started from down the hall. “I do.” Seconds later, thirteen nearly perfectly spherical ‘bots zipped into view. They bobbed in the air in the equivalent of a bow. 6T9 said to Davies, “These are Directory ‘bots. They’ll show your teams the way.”

      Shifting on his feet, Davies eyed the ‘bots somewhat apprehensively, and this time 6T9 tried to be empathetic and see what he saw. The Directory ‘bots were nearly black spheres, as wide as a man’s torso, and rather ominous when 6T9 thought about it. A question would turn their bodies into luminous maps, but they hadn’t been given a question or destination yet. To Davies, 6T9 said, “They can take you anywhere on the gate, give you more details than Kurz, help you find a particular piece of junk if you ask, and when we’re done, show you where to get the best pizza. Their job is to know where everything is.”

      “Errr…” Davies flushed. “I just ask them?” For a moment, 6T9 felt like he had gone offline. Davies was talking to him, and knew he was a machine. “Yes, like you would me.”

      Davies stared at 6T9 a beat too long before turning and bowing politely to the ‘bots. “Sirs, would you guide me to the nearest maintenance airlock.” 

      6T9 blinked. These were Volka’s people.

      “Of course, sir,” one replied in dulcet tones that nonetheless made Davies jump. “Please follow me.”

      Davies fell into step behind it. Other Guardsmen followed him.

      6T9’s circuits sparked. The Luddecceans could handle this without him. To the scrap heap with his coding issues. He could go back to Volka; he’d just find a way not to be near Darmadi until he recovered. Static danced beneath his skin, and he frowned… Volka was wrong, though. The captain would stay in the Republic. Even without the lure of Volka, he’d be able to move from combat to research—he was the only expert the Republic had on Luddeccean gate-less ships. With the lure of that and Volka...

      Gate 5’s thoughts erupted over the ether. “There is a riot by the main entrance to quarantine!” A scene of a mob played before 6T9’s eyes. A half-dozen police in riot gear were barely holding back a throng of people, too numerous to count. A bottle soared above the police’s heads, and shards of glass sprayed down. The police ducked, and the mob surged.

      6T9 snapped from his reverie. To have Volka, he still had to save the gate.

      To Ko, he said, “We are needed now.” In his mental image, a police officer went down, disappearing into the mob as though pulled by undertow into an unruly sea. Breaking into a jog, 6T9 commanded, “Time Gate 5, change of plans. Send all sex ‘bots to the quarantine airlock. Order them to restrain any of the attackers!”

      Doors opened before them, revealing a wide stairway. 6T9 jumped down steps three at a time. Luddeccean boots thudded after him. 

      Panting a half-step behind, Ko commanded, “Visors down!”

      6T9 reached a double door that slid open at his approach. Angry voices roared into the stairway, and 6T9 stared into a seething mass of humans. There were security ‘bots sparking on the floor, barely noticed by unruly civilians.

      “Infected have broken through!” Ko gasped at 6T9’s shoulder, lifting a pistol. “Prepare phasers.”

      6T9 caught his arm. “No!”

      A weere panted at Ko’s shoulders. “Those people aren’t Infected!”

      Ko looked at 6T9, his face writ with anger and confusion. 

      Dropping his hand, 6T9 pulled out a stunner. “Those are civilians trying to break into quarantine.”

      One of the civilian attackers turned to face them. “Who are you?”

      “He is Android General 1!” a downed security ‘bot replied.

      “You’re the one that instituted the quarantine!” the man shouted. A few of the mob broke off and charged 6T9 with a roar. Firing his stunner, 6T9 cursed, elbowed a man in the head, fired again, and cursed again. Luddeccean Guardsmen raised their own stunners and fired past his shoulders.

      Nebulas, Galacticans against Luddecceans, and he was on the Luddeccean team. If he thought about it too much, he’d probably overheat his processors and have to shut down. Instead, he kept firing.
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      Alaric wished they’d turn out the lights. He wanted to sleep. Every time he came close to consciousness, he burned from the inside out. If it weren’t for the light—and the reek of disinfectant—he’d think he was dead, innards being devoured by maggots … 

      There was a prick on his arm, and the light disappeared … so did consciousness, the ground beneath him swallowing him whole.

      The light came back. He fought it, wanting to return to sleep that was as deep as the grave. And then he remembered the urgency with which he’d wanted to live, but not why. The urgency came back, a chilling dread that made him force his eyes open. For a disorientating moment he didn’t know where he was. He was in a room painted ptery-shell blue, under crisp white linens. It smelled faintly of disinfectant, and machines were humming nearby. There was a window to his left. It could be anywhere … but something was wrong with the light from the window; it was too bright, like a floodlight. He carefully rolled his head left—and half rose in shock. The small movement sent pain lancing from his abdomen and back, and he froze, afraid to fall back or go forward.

      “Easy, lie back down,” a man commanded.

      Alaric did and was surprised it didn’t hurt.

      “You’re still being sewn back together on the inside. It shouldn’t hurt too bad, unless you put stress on your torso.”

      Alaric remembered … He’d been punctured by shrapnel. He remembered dying. Death hadn’t been so bad. He’d been semi-conscious—but not in pain. Volka had been there for the final desperate firings of his neurons. She’d held his hand and begged him not to leave. He’d been prepared to disobey her, to drift off into the final oblivion with her next to him. But then he had remembered he had to live.

      “Nice sunrise,” the man said. “You’ve got the best view on the station.”

      Gazing out the window, Alaric pieced together that he was on Time Gate 1, the gate above Earth in Sol System. At the moment, the station’s rotation had it facing Earth’s horizon, and the sun was just coming into view. The light was unfiltered by atmosphere and was stronger than sunlight planetside. Or stronger than what Alaric would expect sunlight to be on Earth. He hadn’t been allowed to visit humankind’s cradle during Alexis’s recovery.

      “Are you comfortable?” the man asked.

      Alaric’s eyes slid to the speaker. The man wore the pale scrubs that doctors wore here and looked every inch like a Galactican. It wasn’t just the neural port in the side of his head—he was tall, didn’t have any scars or blemishes, his teeth were brilliant white and perfectly straight, and his features were so symmetrical it was jarring. The man could be Alaric’s age, but this was the Galactic Republic, and he might be a century older.

      Tapping his port, the man said, “I’m not detecting any pain, but we couldn’t hardlink with you.” Reaching down, he took Alaric’s arm just below the elbow and grumbled, “We’ve got this external sensor, but I don’t trust these things. How do you feel?”

      “I’m not in pain.” And his head felt remarkably clear. Alaric glanced down, and his eyes widened. The “external sensor” was a shiny, black plastic band that appeared to be merged with his body.

      “It’s embedded in your skin,” the doctor explained. “Connected to your lymph nodes, nerves, and blood vessels. It communicates with the nanos doing their job in your gut and other places—and it connects to us, of course.” The man tapped his temple.

      Alaric flexed his hand. He couldn’t feel the device. If he hadn’t seen it, he would not have known it was there. “Will you be extracting it?” He knew the Guard’s doctors would if the Republic’s did not, and he’d be looking forward to a painful skin graft.

      “We will,” the man replied. 

      Alaric exhaled.

      “But not all the nanos in you will be coming with it.” Alaric looked up at him in alarm. 

      He gave Alaric a grim smile. “We don’t know anything about your gate-less drives. There was the potential that you’d been exposed to toxic chemicals and extreme amounts of radiation when your ship blew. We gave you the standard scrubbers.” Alaric knew what that meant—nanos were now part of his cells. They would hunt down and destroy dangerous mutations and stabilize his telomeres, his cells’ time clocks. He’d age slowly.

      The doctor’s eyebrow rose. “Congratulations, you may live as long as your wife. Doubt your government will give you as much trouble about going home.”

      Luddeccea wouldn’t let Alaric escape that easily. He knew too much and was too valuable. “No.” Alaric heard his response as though it had been spoken by someone else. That person sounded vaguely disappointed.

      He immediately felt guilty. Sam, Lucas, and Markus depended on him. His parents would be frantic. They probably were frantic already. He rubbed his eyes. Would they be told he was alive and in the Republic, or would the Guard hide that detail? Maybe they didn’t even know he’d been injured. 

      His crew would know. God, were they all right? Were they holding Time Gate 5, or had it already been overrun, and was the doctor keeping the news from him so he didn’t panic? Aboard Time Gate 5 was a Luddeccean spy with a member of The One. If Alaric could communicate with him through Solomon ... He swallowed. But he didn’t have Solomon. Solomon had given his body to save Alaric and defend the Galaxy from the Dark. Was Solomon safe? Had he found a new host? Could The One be lost if they couldn’t find a host fast enough? 

      He huffed and reminded himself that “Next life, Hatchling” had been Solomon’s final words. Solomon was hundreds—maybe thousands—of years old. He’d hopped bodies many times before. He’d find Alaric again.

      Alaric dropped his hands from his eyes. He should be worried about his wife. Things had been better between them before he left. Or seemed to have been, until the moment of goodbye. She hadn’t said, “Come home on your shield or not at all” aloud, but everything else about her had. 

      Volka’s eyes had been so soft when she’d leaned over him aboard her strange ship. His brow furrowed. He had a blurry memory warped by pain of her ... ordering ... no, that wasn’t right ... compelling ... doctors to look after him. Volka did not give orders. There was something about that memory, something that his mind slid over as though his feet were slipping on rocks in a fast-moving stream. Maybe it was just he’d been in agony at that moment. Maybe it was just that he missed her. 

      There was a whoosh from his right, a rush of air, and Volka’s familiar footsteps, as though his thoughts had summoned her. “Oh, I’m sorry, Doctor Bak. Carl thought I could come in. I’ll just go—”

      Alaric sat up and pain lanced through him. Falling back into the mattress, he was too out of breath to say, Don’t go.
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      Don’t go. Volka wasn’t sure if she’d heard it or felt it from Alaric. Her ears flicked. She had slept last night; she wasn’t supposed to be telepathic now.

      “Oh, you’re fine,” Doctor Bak said. “No need to leave.”

      Turning back around, he scolded Alaric. “You need to stay flat on your back for another four hours. The pain is there to make sure that you do.”

      Shifting the bag on her shoulders, Volka stared at the back of the doctor’s head. She didn’t receive visions of what would happen if Alaric got up and walked. She felt nothing from the doctor, although he seemed genuinely cheerful. She sniffed the air. He definitely didn’t smell like adrenaline or fear that she would expect if he was being duplicitous.

      “After that, you’ll be able to get up and walk,” the doctor said, and Volka nearly rolled back on her feet, overcome by shock that started in her stomach and flew outward like a swarm of tiny pterys. 

      “Only four hours?” Alaric whispered.

      Volka gulped. It wasn’t her shock. It was Alaric’s. As Sixty would say, Rusty gears. She didn’t want to be reading his mind.

      “Don’t get your hopes up too much,” Bak replied. “You won’t be able to go home right away. The nanos inside you are building lattices that will be populated with your stem cells to heal your organs. They’re also building scaffolding to hold you together while that happens. The lattice will melt into your own tissues. The scaffolding will have to be removed. We left ports in the relevant locations.” At those words, Bak touched the linens above Alaric’s abdomen, and Volka’s ears perked to the doctor’s gentle, self-satisfied hum. “This was one of the most interesting cases I’ve ever worked on. We would have given you cybernetic parts, but we knew your people would want you back mostly human.” Patting Alaric’s shoulder, he smiled. “You’re only a temporary cyborg—mostly.” 

      Smiling, Bak turned and walked past Volka, saying, “He’s all yours,” and then he was gone.

      They were alone. There was a moment of awkward silence. The last time they’d been alone, really alone, without Carl or Solomon, had been a dream aboard Alaric’s ship...Memory of that dream made Volka flush, and she averted her gaze. When she looked up, she found Alaric’s eerie blue eyes on hers. He was remembering the same thing; she could feel it right to the tips of her toes.

      Feeling the urge to flee, she shifted on her feet.

      “I think I am that doctor’s favorite project,” Alaric said, startling her. The observation was light...trivial. Unlike the memories. It broke the tension, and it was like a wicked spell had been lifted. Volka no longer had the desire to flee. She considered the doctor’s manner, and her lips quirked. “I got that feeling too.” She was relieved. Alaric would receive the best care as the “favorite project.”

      Alaric smiled, and all she felt was happiness. Her fingers tightened on the strap of her satchel. She had a little time before she met the Marines aboard Sundancer, and she had gifts to give him. She knew what it was like to be stranded aboard Time Gate 1. Walking over to his bed, her eyes caught on the linens. There were three too-smooth circles on his chest and stomach. The “ports,” she suspected. Did they hurt? Was he in pain? Her eyes caught on a neat plastic band embedded in the flesh of his arm, and her ears curled. 

      “They don’t hurt,” Alaric said, and Volka’s eyes met his.

      He was telling the truth. Her ears still drooped. He’d been dead, and they had brought him back, and even if he didn’t hurt at this exact moment, the ports reminded her he’d been in agony before. She didn’t know what to say.

      “If I look like death warmed over, I have a perfectly valid excuse,” he quipped. The comment startled her again with its lightness. It was the sort of banter she expected from Sixty. Alaric had always been more taciturn. At the thought of Sixty, her stomach clenched. She wanted to try calling him again. She’d tried when she’d first woken up, but had not been able to get through. If Sixty had time, he’d call her … wouldn’t he?

      She forced herself back to the present and tried to smile. Alaric had been in horrible pain, and now he was in an alien world. She played along as though he were Sixty. Rolling her eyes, she drawled theatrically, “I suppose you do look better than when I last saw you.” He’d had a piece of his ship, nearly long as Volka was tall, piercing his body.

      Raising a haughty brow, Alaric replied, “That doesn’t say much.” 

      Strange he would choose now to tease and be chatty.

      “Maybe I should be insulted,” he suggested.

      She felt no insult from him. Blinked. And felt it again: Don’t go. Don’t go. He was being light on purpose. He wanted her to stay, so he was doing his best to make her laugh. Most of their relationship had been her longing for him not to leave her. Her bending herself to fit him. Now he didn’t want her to leave, and he was bending.

      It made a part of her angry, but then her gaze fell on his gray hair that didn’t fit his age. He’d acquired it in prison—prison he’d gone to because he hadn’t turned Volka in. He’d left her to follow his family’s wishes but tended to turn up when she needed him most. She supposed she’d done the same for him. 

      The thoughts were too heavy. Sticking to the Alaric-looks-awful theme, even if he looked much better now than he had when he’d been released from prison, she bantered back.  “I am glad you’re at least feeling better.” 

      For a moment, their eyes locked. When Volka had ordered the doctors to take care of him earlier, accidentally using telepathy to compel them, she’d felt as though she were connected to them—as though there was a physical force binding them to her. She wasn’t compelling Alaric to do anything, just gazing at him, and yet she felt that same connection. Once, that connection had felt … magical, as though her relationship with him was predestined. Now she wasn’t sure she liked the feeling. He was married. He had children. No matter what he felt for her, that was the end of it. She didn’t want him. She wanted Sixty. She wanted their asteroid. She wanted to go home.

      None of those were things she could have right now. Ducking her head, Volka said, “I’ve brought you something.” Setting the satchel on the floor, she peered in and scowled, perhaps a bit dramatically—even though Carl passed out and oblivious to the world didn’t surprise her. “Really, Carl?” Clucking her tongue, she pulled the werfle from the bag. Carl snored softly as she set him next to Alaric on the bed. “He is supposed to tell you that Solomon successfully transferred to another werfle host.” She met Alaric’s gaze. “He is going to try to get something closer to your family, but wants to rest a bit.”

      Alaric’s eyebrows rose, and she felt his question.

      “I don’t really know how it all works,” she admitted. “Also, Butterball, a cat—kitten—on Time Gate 5 wants you to know that all but four of your crew—including you—made it aboard. There are some injuries, but nothing serious. There was a scuffle in the gate, and some suits were breached, but no one was exposed to the Dark.” 

      His eyes widened infinitesimally, and her heart rate picked up at his unspoken question. “The scuffle was between uninfected civilians aboard the gate and your men.” She swallowed. “They were trying to get into the quarantine zone.”

      Goddamn. He didn’t say the swear aloud. Volka knew because she was watching his lips. 

      Rolling on her feet, she said, “Some people in the Republic don’t believe in the threat of the Dark. It was, though, according to Butterball, a minority of Time Gate 5’s populace.”

      Incredulity and rage rolled off of Alaric in waves. Images of the battle that had raged outside of Time Gate 5 filled her mind. His expression was icy. 

      She told him what had been explained to her. “News can be easily faked in the Republic, so people tend not to trust it, even when it comes from official sources.”

      She felt comprehension from him, saw lines of code in his mind and felt rather than heard him say, Damn.

      She blundered on before she could forget everything she needed to say. “Commander Bo...no, Ko and your crew and Time Gate 5’s police officers are maintaining the quarantine. It is—” She let out a breath and frowned. “—keeping everyone very busy, but Butterball is optimistic.”

      “How long has it been?” Alaric asked.

      Her ears went back. “Sixty’s there … I haven’t spoken to him in over eight hours.”

      At Sixty’s name, Alaric’s expression hardened. His gaze shifted to a point on the far wall. Volka saw his memory of Sixty as Alaric had seen him when he’d been in freefall, body pierced by his own ship. Sixty’s expression had been hard and cold, and she felt Alaric’s certainty that Sixty had come to kill him.

      Her nostrils flared. That was ridiculous. Sixty would never hurt anyone. He had gone out to help James save Alaric. Alaric was delusional … no, irrational, and she immediately knew why. She could feel it.

      “Don’t be jealous,” Volka all but snarled.

      He looked at Volka sharply. “I never demanded that of you.” 

      The reply was so fast, so cutting, and so honest Volka felt unbalanced. She was the telepathic one. She was the one who was supposed to have the upper hand. 

      They regarded each other a moment.

      He didn’t want her to be angry, she could feel that and see it when he tried to smile—even though it came out more of a grimace. “I understand,” he said, “it is very Galactican to be friends after …” 

      After a love affair. Volka knew the words he couldn’t say and felt the way his stomach turned to lead at the word “friends.”

      Neither of them had the upper hand, really. They both hated this. Volka smiled tentatively, trying to hold out an olive branch. “Galacticans have a lot of silly ideas.” 

      He returned the tentative smile. They understood each other. She felt the connection between them more strongly.

      Ducking again, she changed the subject. “Your gift—has werfle hair on it—I’m sorry.”

      Beside Alaric, Carl snorted and rolled onto his back to punctuate that comment.

      She pulled a tablet from the bag and handed it to Alaric. “It’s for reading. You can download just about any book onto it. I can’t stay, I have …” She had to go find Reich’s ship. He’d never approve. He’d think it was too dangerous for her. “… an appointment. I thought you might be bored.”

      She felt his spirits sink, though all he said was, “Thank you.” 

      She lifted a hand. “You turn it on by—”

      He slid his finger across the front, and the screen came to life. “I know how to use them. Thank you. It’s a good gift.”

      Of course he did. He had been in the Republic before.

      “Oh … well …” she stammered. Bending down, she pulled out a small, dark glass sphere about the size of her palm and handed it to him. 

      “A Galactic hologlobe?” He blinked. “This I don’t know how to work.”

      Finally, he was the unbalanced one. “Like this.” Volka leaned over him and could feel his longing. She didn’t feel the same way, and yet she wished she could have gotten him some of his preferred shaving cream. He smelled like Galactican soap and antiseptics, not himself.

      “Globe, turn on,” she commanded, and then pulled back fast. “You just talk to it to control it.”

      Light danced inside the device. 

      Volka’s nose wrinkled. “I mostly find holo media to be … vapid. But they love holos here, and news sometimes winds up on personal holos first.”

      Curiosity rolled off Alaric. She had been temporarily forgotten, and it was a relief. “Globe, show me the most recent updates on System 5,” he commanded.

      A man appeared in the globe. He had strange ridges in his nose and on his forehead. His attire was casual. “Hey Bixatics! This is Bix here with theeeee latest on what is happening in System 5. I’ve just heard from a friend there on orbital 11 that ten Kestrels and twenty Falconets —those are Fleet warships for your infoooo—passed by them headed toward S5O4. That will put them at Time Gate 5 in less than a day.” He grinned at the camera. “They must have had one of those top-secret Fleet gates we hear about.”

      Volka saw small narrow ships in her—no Alaric’s—mind’s eye, and then his mind was moving too fast. “This is a publicly accessible holo?” His words were cool, clipped, and yet there was an urgent calculus behind them.

      “Yes,” Volka replied. “The time stamp is only a minute ago. His ‘friend’ must have a Q-comm if we’re getting it this quick. Q-comms are rare, but not that rare.”

      “Luddeccean ships have them,” he said.

      Of course. They would have to.

      “There are probably several aboard Gate 5,” Volka supplied. “The Gate’s own, but wealthy civilians have them too, and of course AI.” Like Sixty.

      The hologlobe slipped through Alaric’s fingers.

      Startled by how completely blank his mind had gone, Volka murmured, “Whoops,” and caught the globe before it fell to the floor.

      Alaric struggled to get up, and then hissed as pain lanced through his midsection. Volka felt a shadow of it ripple through her, but there was something worse than pain on Alaric’s mind.

      Alaric growled at Carl. “Carl, wake up! Wake up!”

      “What’s wrong?” Volka asked, confused.

      Carl’s necklace crackled, and he stretched, but did not open his eyes. “It better be important.”

      Face distorted by pain, Alaric turned to Volka and grabbed her arm. “The Infected aboard the gate. They may see this holo. They’ll know that they won’t be able to hold the gate.” She saw numbers and warships in his eyes, but still didn’t understand.

      “That’s good …” Volka’s ears curled, and her heart beat fast. “Isn’t it?”

      “I’m contacting Butterball now!” Carl declared.

      “Volka,” Alaric whispered, his eerie blue eyes searching hers. The connection between them burned bright, but his mind was moving too fast to follow.  “How does the Dark respond when it is cornered?”

      Volka remembered the piles of frozen bodies at Reich’s research station. “Without mercy.”

      And Sixty was trapped aboard the gate with it.
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      6T9 talked to dumb maintenance machines all the time. In over 100 years, he’d never tried to be one.

      Experiencing the world as WaterWERK16, he knew why. He’d taken over the “mind” of WaterWERK, a plumbing ‘bot. He was plugged so deep into WaterWERK’s “consciousness” he was no longer aware of his own body. In WaterWERK, 6T9 had vision in 360 degrees. He could swim, float, and fly. But as he zipped through a large, man-sized pipe—alternately rising above the water and submerging himself, there was no joy in any of these abilities. Even pterys took joy in flight, otters delighted in slipping from land to stream, and deer leapt seemingly just in happiness.

      Even before 6T9 had his Q-comm, he’d been able to appreciate the sensation of an ice cube on his skin—it was not harmful, and its chill was an indication of his human partner’s desire for play.

      Was the ability to feel joy really the marker of higher consciousness? Had he been more than a dumb ‘bot before his Q-comm? Eliza had thought so. 

      That thought would have made him want to pat his side to feel the reassuring weight of her ashes if he was in his real body. Here it was an abstraction. Even thinking of Volka on Time Gate 1 with Captain Darmadi was an abstraction. Static did not rush through him. He had no desire to punch a wall. That was, he supposed, a feature of his current state … but the cold part of his mind that could do abstract calculus also thought it might be a bug. ColdSWEEPER, a security ‘bot designed for the surface of icy worlds, had experienced a mental breakdown when its operators had died. That mental breakdown had led to denial. That denial had allowed it to find survivors—it would not have gone on a seemingly hopeless search if it had been able to comprehend the situation. 

      He wanted to think about that more, but WaterWERK16 passed over a shadow in the water. The shadow did not trouble WaterWERK, but it made 6T9’s Q-comm spark, and that spark carried across the ether from 6T9’s body to the little machine.

      The pipe WaterWERK was traversing was the freshwater supply that fed the quarantined section … or had, until Gate 5 shut it off. The water was seventy centis deep and clear. The shadow was the length, though not the shape, of a man. Analyzing the shape and the light source, 6T9’s vastly superior processing power identified it as two humans wearing masks beneath the water.

      If 6T9 had been in his own body, circuits would have fired within him, but WaterWERK was not programmed to feel satisfaction in finding human divers. Connecting to Luddeccean radio frequencies, 6T9 spoke with WaterWERK’s gratingly mechanical voice, “Fireteam 4, I have a target.”

      “On our way!” a gruff Luddeccean Guardsman replied.

      Time Gate 5 piped in, “Estimated time of their arrival, three minutes and fifty-two seconds.”

      The shadow moved toward the sluice gate that led to the quarantine zone. Opening the sluice gate might lead to the contamination of the water supply. He had to hold them off until help came.

      WaterWERK was programmed not to harm humans. 6T9 no longer had that restriction. He turned on WaterWERK’s welding arm, and his Q-comm hummed. A touch of the hot appendage would be extremely painful—but not cause any lasting damage.  

      6T9 let WaterWERK pass over the shadow of the divers, as though he had not understood what they were. Behind him, the shadow advanced toward the sluice gate. 6T9 lifted, wheeled around, and accelerated toward them at WaterWERK’s maximum velocity, dropping as he did. Gravity added its force to his charge. The welding arm wasn’t hot enough, but it struck one of the divers with the force of a punch. The arm was a lot thinner than a fist, and the force was more concentrated. For an instant, the welding arm was lodged in the diver’s shoulder. 6T9 pulled back, and crimson bloomed in the shallow water. 

      In water, the wound wouldn’t scab. The diver could die. WaterWERK’s circuits could not dim at this prospect.

       The second diver reared up, yanked up his friend, leaned him against the sloping wall of the tunnel, and then he turned to confront WaterWERK. 6T9 couldn’t analyze the diver’s expression—his underwater breathing mask completely covered his face. The man advanced on WaterWERK, an arm outstretched. WaterWERK was too close to gain enough velocity to deliver another punch, but its welding arm was finally hot. 6T9 swirled the ‘bot in the air and touched the arm to the human’s shoulder. A muffled scream came from beneath his mask. 

      “What ... the … fuck is wrong with it?” gasped the man leaning against the wall.

      Snarling, his friend ripped his mask from his face and whipped the mask at the welding arm. WaterWERK spun helplessly. The man would reach the sluice gate—

      “Halt!” a Luddeccean Guardsman’s voice echoed through the tunnel. “Hands above your heads! We’ve got stunners.”

      A stun in the thigh-deep water would kill by drowning. Halting, the diver eased his hands over his head. 

      “Turn around!” the Guardsman ordered.

      Swearing, the diver turned and snarled, “Your religion is supposed to teach you compassion! Without fresh water, the people on the other side of that sluice gate will die!”

      One of the Luddecceans advanced, pistol raised. “There is enough water for them to survive for days.”

      “Our … sister … other side,” murmured the diver leaning against the wall. 

      WaterWERK’s 360 degree vision included the ability to see at 1000 frames per second—useful when calculating the volume of water lost in leaks. With WaterWERK’s vision, 6T9 saw all the Ludduccean Guardsmen’s pistols sag minutely. He also saw the diver shift toward them in that moment of weakness or empathy. But the Luddecceans recovered, and the diver froze.

      “Pat him down,” the Guardsman said, and one Guardsman sloshed through the water toward the diver. “Get the other one,” the Guardsman said to his remaining companions, and they ran to the injured man.

      Struggling against the man patting him down, the uninjured diver shouted, “What are you doing with him?”

      “He needs to get to a doctor, and so do you,” the lead Guardsman snapped. 

      The diver sagged as the Luddecceans hauled away his injured brother. After a moment’s hesitation, he followed—a Guardsman stunner prodding his kidneys. 

      “Thank you,” one of the Guardsmen said to WaterWERK.

      WaterWERK experienced no spark of fulfillment. 

      The Luddeccean frowned. 

      That observation traveled through the ether to 6T9’s real body. His real body responded before his Q-comm had a chance to analyze the situation. Bobbing in the air, in WaterWERK’s grating voice, 6T9 responded, “Thank you for your assistance.”

      Features softening, the man nodded, turned, and followed the other Guardsmen through the tunnel. The quarantine was safe, and the galaxy and Volka were safer than they would be if it had been breached. In WaterWERK’s body, 6T9 hovered in the air, blood swirled in the water below, and 6T9 felt … nothing. Which was, he supposed, something in its own right. Boredom? A relief? 

      But Gate 5 called to him, “There is a situation at the barricade,” and he had no time to contemplate it further. 
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      6T9 came back into his body.  Static rippled through him—an emotional hangover he hadn’t been allowed to experience as WaterWERK? 

      “… it’s my home …” The male voice was familiar and 6T9 remembered he’d left WaterWERK to deal with a “situation.” He blinked. He was standing with his back to the quarantine airlock doors, behind a barricade of powered-down security ‘bots. Damaged by the mob, the two-meter-tall, vaguely cone-shaped ‘bots couldn’t fire stunners anymore, but they could get in the way of hurled objects. 

      “I want to help.” The familiar voice came from just beyond the barricade. It was the voice of Michael, a protestor he and Volka had saved in New Grande—the main city of the planet below. 6T9 had thrown him under a picnic table. Sundancer had swooped in, scooped up the picnic table,  Volka, Carl, 6T9, Michael, and other civilians injured in the protest, and then spirited them off to safety. What was Michael doing here—and how did he think he could help?

      Striding around the security ‘bot barricade, for 2.5 seconds 6T9 thought either his eidetic memory or hearing had failed him. The man talking to Grayson had military regulation hair and a more powerful physique than Michael the protester.

      The man who sounded like Michael continued, “I’m on leave. I’m fresh out of Fleet training. I’m inexperienced, but it’s my home down there. I want to help.”

      “Do you have any Military ID?” Lieutenant Grayson responded.

      6T9 scanned the Michael look-alike’s profile.

      Tapping his port, the maybe-Michael said, “It’s ether.”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked, analysis finished. It was … “Michael!”

      Michael turned to 6T9. He cocked his head. “Is that you …? The 6T9 unit? From the riot?”

      “6T9 Unit?” Brow furrowing comically, Grayson reached up as though he were going to scratch his head but hit his helmet instead. 

      6T9 overrode his preprogrammed urge to sigh. The number sixty-nine had the same sexual connotations on Luddeccea as it did in the Republic. Volka had known what it meant. 6T9’s Q-comm sparked and his vision went white. Volka knew … which meant she must have experienced it, and if she had, it would have been with Darmadi who was currently alone with her on Time Gate 1. Darmadi was doubtlessly flat on his back in a hospital bed, but the sixty-nine position could be gentle, ideal even in that sort of scenario. Static flared along 6T9’s spine.

      “Errr … is your eyeball … sparking, 6T9?” Michael asked.

      “His name is Android General 1?” Lieutenant Grayson said, turning the statement into a question. 

      Their words—and the spark in his left eye—snapped 6T9 back into the present. Closing the offending eye and wiping it with a gloved hand, 6T9 muttered, “I had a system upgrade. I’m Android General 1 now.” He’d actually stolen the login name of a pirate, used it to take over a pirate ship, and the event had become so famous in the ‘bot world, the name had stuck to him. That pirate had become infected by the Dark—was probably on the other side of the quarantine door, in fact—and now the Dark itself was angry about the appropriation of the name. His jaw tightened as he remembered the Dark’s personal threat to destroy him.

      “Oh,” Michael replied. 

      “Errr …” said Grayson.

      There was a moment of uncomfortable silence, but then Grayson shook himself and said, “General, I cannot confirm if this man is in Fleet.”

      6T9 reached into the ether. “Time Gate 5?”

      “Lieutenant Michael Snow is a member of the Galactic Republic Fleet Marines. I have his records and all records of local military personnel in this system.” At the Gate’s reply, names scrolled in front of 6T9’s eyes. Some were aboard the gate. 

      “Michael … Lieutenant Snow is in Fleet,” 6T9 said to Grayson. His Q-comm sparked. He pinged Michael over the ether while downloading data on Fleet personnel on the gate from Five. “Michael, I’m sending you data on all Fleet personnel aboard. I want you to contact them and see if they would be willing to volunteer. I’ll speak to the police chief here about finding positions for you.”

      Michael nodded. “Yes, sir.” He adopted a parade rest, and his eyes went blank as he accessed the ether.

      6T9’s Q-comm hummed. Situation handled. He prepared to take over the consciousness of another machine—and was interrupted.

      “Android General 1,” Time Gate 5 said over the ether. “You still need to handle the situation.”

      Clang-clang.

      The sound came from the other side of the quarantine. 

      6T9’s hair started to rise.

      Michael’s body jerked, and he snapped out of his ether trance. “What was that?”

      A small cleaning ‘bot spoke with Time Gate 5’s voice. “The Infected are trying to break down the airlock door again. Using battering rams of hover gear shafts. Nothing to be concerned about.” Beeping, the ‘bot whirled off after a piece of trash.

      Michael and Grayson turned to 6T9, eyes wide—a mirror reflection of 6T9’s own wide-eyed shock. Clearing his throat, 6T9 squared his shoulders and played general. “If Gate 5 says there is nothing to be concerned about, there is no need to worry.” 

      Clang!

      “Who’s worried?” Michael murmured under his breath.

      “I am,” Gate 5 said in the cleaning ‘bot’s body. 

      “Wait, what?” 6T9 asked. “You just—”

      Pinching a piece of rubbish, Gate 5 continued, “I am worried about the argument between Commander Ko and Police Chief Strom. The situation.”

      At Gate 5’s words, 6T9 heard Ko roar from behind the barricade, “Absolutely not, Miss Strom!” 

      “That’s Chief Strom to you!” snapped Angela Strom, Chief of the local police.

      All of 6T9’s circuits fired. They’d met her in the heat of the mob rush hours before. The Luddecceans thought that the front lines were “no place for a lady,” and Ko had suggested that she call her superior and let “him” take over. 6T9’s diplomatic maneuvers were probably the only reason Ko hadn’t been shot on the spot. He bolted in their direction, hearing Chief Strom insist vehemently, “I should talk to her!”

      Still out of sight, Ko responded, “Just what we need, two women potentially in the line of fire!”

      Nebulas, did Luddecceans have no sense of self-preservation?
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      In Silas’s library, the overhead fan whirred softly. Sitting in one of the high-backed chairs, Alexis wore a dress with a loose top and billowing skirt, capped sleeves, and a barely fitted waist. It was made of the thinnest silk that could still be considered decent. She had taken a shower not long ago and had piled her hair into a knot on top of her head without drying it. She’d hoped the fan’s breeze, the light dress, and her hair’s dampness would help her stay cool, but the oppressive heat was inescapable.

      All three of her boys were napping, as was Silas. Even Silas’s new weere assistant was napping. From where Alexis sat, she could see him outside, sitting back against a tree, eyes closed, clawed hands laced on his stomach. The sounds of insects and pterys was subdued—as though the summer heat was affecting them, too.

      It was just past two in the afternoon, the hottest time of day and summer. It was not the time or season for visitors. Still, Ambassador Starcrest of the Galactican Embassy sat across from her. He was dressed in a suit of a fabric that shimmered slightly. It climbed all the way to his chin and passed his wrists and ankles. Nonetheless, he looked cool and composed; there wasn’t even a sheen of sweat on his brow. 

      She sipped her tea—hot, no milk. “Hot drinks cooled on hot days” was the Luddeccean philosophy. The ambassador was drinking xinfruit punch on ice.

      “Anyway,” he said. “I must say, as impressive as it has been, and as lovely as the zaiadas blooming right now are, the weather has proven quite the challenge for our thermoregulatory clothing. I wonder how your Luddeccean clothing manages it.”

      Ah, that explained his composure. She fought to keep her annoyance from showing.

      “We don’t have thermoregulating clothing,” Alexis replied. He’d bored her with talk of the weather, New Prime’s zaiada flowers, and other meaningless chit-chat since he’d arrived nearly a half-hour ago.

      “Ah,” he replied, sipping his punch and glancing around the room. “You have quite a collection of books here.”

      When would he get to the point? He’d requested this urgent meeting. Merta, the maid, normally took a nap at this time. Alexis didn’t need her help passing out with heat exhaustion. Alexis had wanted to meet in the morning, but this was the time when Alaric’s cousin, Sebastian, was normally her guard. Sebastian stood behind her now, fully armed, eyes on her guest. He’d given her a pistol and a holster that was hidden beneath her skirts before the meeting. “Please, ma’am, I know Alaric—I mean the captain—wanted you to have it.” 

      She sighed and gave up. “Why are you here, Ambassador?” The irritation in her voice was so plain she swore she could feel the hair at the nape of her neck curl. 

      At her frank order, he had the decency to look bashful. “I need your help.”

      Alexis set her teacup on a saucer with too much force. She’d championed allowing weere women to go to the Republic, and half of her church were no longer speaking to her for it. Some of the men were angry, and their wives feared their ire if they acknowledged her. Some of the congregation simply disapproved of a young mother stepping into politics. When Alaric, hero that he was, had been by her side, whatever reservations they held, they’d stifled—one useful thing about having him around. She scowled. That thought was bitter, and not right. Before he’d left, they’d almost been … friends, and it had been … good. But then something had happened during the last goodbye. He’d looked so disappointed in her, and she wasn’t sure why, or what she’d done. She’d searched her memory time and again, and there had been nothing wrong in her behavior. Maybe she’d imagined it?

      The ambassador cleared his throat, and she looked up. 

      “Because of your help, we have permission to take weere off world.”

      She stared at him, too hot to speak.

      Tugging at his collar, he exhaled. “However, we’ve been warned we must not be obvious.” 

      Alexis’s lips pursed. Everyone knew that the Galacticans were going to take weere prostitutes off world. Weere were the most reliable detectors of the Dark’s presence—more reliable than any Galactic gizmo. Allowing undesirable weere to leave Luddeccea was in Luddeccea’s self-interest. If the Republic fell, Luddeccea was lost. But it was not a popular decision. Of course the council had pushed for discretion.

      He dropped his hand. “We thought we might just host a public event … we have permission to host a collection that is ‘technologically appropriate’—”

      Alexis translated: something that didn’t highlight how technologically far behind Luddeccea was compared to the Republic.

      “—miniature train replicas from Earth. Everything from the steam age to magna-train lines.”

      Alexis’s eyes widened. Her boys would love that.

      “The weere would come to the exhibit and climb aboard our transport instead of leaving with the rest.” He nervously ran a hand through his hair. “However, with events in the Republic right now—”

      A chill crept up Alexis’s spine. What was happening in the Republic? Was it why Alaric had been called away so suddenly? She swallowed and tried to tamp down a rising sense of dread. If the Republic had called in Luddeccea to help, that would be—momentous. Surely, she’d know about that. Wouldn’t she?

      The ambassador finished, “—we have no way of reliably knowing when we will have transport. It is difficult for us to get permission to have local visitors. We’ll need to have our recruits stay on the premises for extended periods of time. Firstly, because we need to begin training as soon as possible, but secondly because we need them to be ready to be shuttled off at a moment’s notice.”

      So, he needed them to reside at the embassy. Alexis stared at him, dumbfounded. His neural port glinted at the side of his head. The neural device gave him the intelligence of a machine—he could calculate immense sums in his head almost instantly and could access encyclopedias’ worth of information just as quickly. And yet, he was an idiot.

      Merta, the weere maid, entered the library, tea pot in one hand, pitcher of ice juice in the other. “Sir, ma’am, would you like a refill?”

      “Yes, please,” said Starcrest, raising his glass.

      “Thank you, yes,” Alexis said, holding out her cup.

      As Merta went about her task, Alexis tilted her head, studying the Galactican, waiting for him to see the obvious solution. The weere maid finished and left the room. 

      Alexis crossed her legs. Waiting…

      “Anyway.” He ran a hand nervously through his hair again. “We need advice. We want to achieve this as diplomatically as possible. We don’t want to upset the local authorities.”

      Alexis smirked. “Any more than you already have?” And dragging her into it, too.

      “Ahh …” the ambassador flushed.

      She was ready for this interview to be done. “The solution is simple, Ambassador.”

      He leaned forward.

      Lifting her cup to her lips, she blew on her tea. “Hire them as staff.”

      “But your authorities know with our technology, we don’t need—”

      Narrowing her eyes at him over her cup, she took a sip.

      “But this is about appearances, isn’t it?” he guessed.

      She raised her cup in his direction. The man was dense, but not impenetrable. How terrible at diplomacy these machine-men were!
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      6T9 dashed around a security ‘bot just in time to see Chief Strom take a step toward Commander Ko. She was only slightly shorter than Ko, but her bulky armor made her nearly as broad. Dipping her chin, she struck a gloved index finger at his sternum. “I. Have. Augments. I am stronger than you are.” She tapped him, and he staggered back half a step. Stunners came out, but Ko held up one hand toward his team and used the other to knock Strom’s hand from the air. “You’ve been awake for over twenty-four hours.”

      Strom narrowed her eyes. “I’m fine.” Curling tendrils of dark hair were stuck to her forehead, and she vainly attempted to blow them away.

      Stepping between them, 6T9 pushed them gently apart, Q-comm sparking. “What are you really fighting about?”

      Clang-clang, the Infected assault punctuated his question. 

      Ko’s helmet crackled, and 6T9 heard Davies speaking over the radio. “Ms. McCollugh is still demanding to speak to Strom in person, sir.” Ko pointed at his ear and scowled at 6T9.

      “I told you,” Strom sighed, shoulders sagging. “Virginia McCollugh is leader of the Neighborhood Association. She needs to see us working together—”

      Clang-clang-clang.

      Closing her eyes, Strom waved her hand toward the massive doors. “—and to hear that.”

      Ko glared and pointed at the door. “That is why a lady shouldn’t be here.”

      Strom lunged against 6T9’s hand. She hadn’t been lying about her strength.

      Glaring at her, Ko leaned in on the other side. Not as strong, not as heavy, but just as determined. 

      Giving them both a hard shove, 6T9 said, “We need the populace’s goodwill, Ko.”  

      Ko glared at 6T9.

      Clang-clang.

      Ko’s gaze shifted to the doors. He rolled his eyes, but replied to Davies, “Bring Mrs. McCollugh to the barricade.” Strom and Ko both backed off, and 6T9 turned to the too-close upward curving horizon. The thoroughfare was designed for freight, was wide as a two-lane highway, and nearly four stories tall. The protestors had broken lights, and there were deep patches of shadow. CLOSED signs hung in the windows of shuttered shops. Cleaning ‘bots swept up glass and hosed down the floors and walls. Usually, such places had chemical signatures of food, metal, and rubber, but right now the highway smelled like beer, blood, and urine. At the upside-down horizon, five pairs of feet appeared, and then knees, and then Davies, Falade, Lang, the weere, and a woman in handcuffs who must be Virginia McCollugh. 

      “Jam her, Time Gate 5,” 6T9 said aloud.

      “Done,” Time Gate 5 replied.

      Strom gasped and turned to 6T9. “Virginia would never use her ether for an IED. She’s a friend.” 

      Before 6T9 could respond, Virginia shouted, “You’ve joined the enemy, Angela!” 

      Strom’s shoulders fell. Raising her hands, she replied, “The Luddecceans are not the enemy, Virginia. They’re helping us maintain the quarantine. They’re protecting us.”

      Clang! Clang! Clang!

      More static fizzled beneath 6T9’s skin, but Virginia didn’t question the banging from the other side of the airlock. “Protecting us? You’ve locked my son in there with people you claim are infected with some strange virus. Protecting him would mean taking him to a hospital.”

      6T9 might have reminded her that it was a bacterium, but his circuits dimmed further. There were—or had been—uninfected on the other side of the quarantine. Time Gate 5 and Strom’s small police force hadn’t had the manpower or enough rapid tests to separate the Infected from the uninfected. If the uninfected were resourceful, they might be hiding. The bacterium was heavy and didn’t travel far in dry air. Even a nook with an imperfect seal would be safe. But if they were brave, they might be rebelling—and increasing their risk of exposure. If Volka was on the other side of that door, she’d rebel. If Volka was on the other side of that door, would 6T9 try to find his way in? It would not be logical to do so. He swallowed.

      Clang-clang-clang. 

      Virginia continued to ignore the sound, but Lang’s yellow eyes with their ovoid pupils slid toward it. The weere’s face contorted as though he’d smelled something rank, even though his visor was down, and it was impossible that he had smelled anything at all. He might be truly wave sensitive, like Volka. 

      Virginia’s face crumpled. “I don’t believe there is a virus.”

      Gesturing at everything and nothing, Strom said, “There is a battle raging just outside the gate. Our system was invaded. Our home has been invaded.”

      Pointing at the Luddecceans, Virginia retorted, “These are the invaders. They’ll enslave us. They’ll rip out our ports. They’ll take away our augments. We’ll die, just like people did on their homeworld.”

      All the Luddecceans drew themselves up. Ko’s nostrils flared. “Luddecceans are not Godless savages! We would never do that.” 

      Except they had, just over a century ago, just as Virginia had described. Did Ko not know? Lang, the weere, tilted his head and regarded Virginia. How wave sensitive was he? Was he the only Luddeccean who suspected the woman was telling the truth?

      “That was over a hundred years ago—” Strom began.

      “It was never!” Ko insisted. 6T9 pressed his hand to the man’s chest again and shook his head.

      “—and they’re here now!” Virginia protested.

      Putting her hands on Virginia’s shoulders, Strom said, “Have you talked to your son, Virginia?” 

      Virginia’s lips got pinched. 

      “Because I’ve talked to my mother,” Strom continued, her pitch rising. “She’s on the other side of that door.”

      Everyone’s attention snapped to her. 

      Clang-clang-clang-clang the assault on the airlock echoed through the gate.

      Strom continued, “She’s over there, Virginia … or someone who looks like her but isn’t. She promised to infect us—to infect me—or kill me. My mother, Virginia. Do you understand? There is something behind those doors. I will not let it take over the rest of the gate. I won’t!”

      6T9 felt as though Time Gate 5 was rotating faster, as though the centrifugal force pushing him into the deck had increased. Once he thought he was more moral than humans, but Strom was making the sort of sacrifice he wasn’t sure he could manage.

      All but sobbing, Virginia shouted, “You’re crazy. You’ll never work in this system after this, I’ll make sure of it!” She spat at Strom, hitting her face shield.

      Ko growled, “Take her to the brig.”

      Wiping the spittle away with a clunky glove, Strom said in an inflectionless voice, “Brig’s full.” 

      6T9 reached out into the ether and found what he was looking for. “Put her under house arrest. I’m sending a lock ‘bot. It will make sure she can’t get out.”

      “My people know where she lives,” Strom said. There were police officers standing with their backs against the airlock doors, and she waved them over. Strom must have connected with them over the ether because they didn’t ask questions, they just pushed Virginia around and back toward the horizon.

      Clang-clang-clang. 

      Looking over her shoulder, Virginia shouted over the echoing battering ram, “You’ll pay for this!”

      6T9’s eyes went to the police chief. Staring at the spit on her fingers, Strom said, “She’s very influential. I’d hoped that she could talk some sense into the others.” 

      The Luddecceans said nothing, nor did they move. 

      6T9 remembered Darmadi with Volka’s head against his shoulder as she wept. There was something that should be said and done here. His fingers twitched. His sex ‘bot programming urged him to touch Strom. He didn’t move.

      Head jerking up, Strom said to everyone and no one, “I’m fine.”

      Ko frowned. “I wouldn’t be.” He waved at Davies and his men. “Take the police officers’ places at the wall.”

      Davies and his men passed through the barricade, and 6T9’s ethernet began to ping with an Unidentified Caller. 

      “It’s Washissh, a member of The One!” the little ‘bot that was Time Gate 5 said, and then in a tone of deep respect added, “—also known as Butterball.”

      A frantic voice erupted in 6T9’s mind. “I have a message from Carl Sagan!”

      “What?” 6T9 blurted.

      Butterball continued. “He and Volka are with Darmadi—”

      6T9’s processors whirred with all the ways Volka and Darmadi could be together. His hands balled into fists. Before he could self-combust, Butterball’s thoughts tumbled into his mind at breakneck speed. “They have just found something dangerous to your mission on the public ethernet … a holostar is broadcasting the movement of Fleet warships in System 5. They will be—”

      There was a gentle thrum, and a speaker hummed to life in the walls. A breezy woman’s voice said, “Citizens of Gate 5, this is your mayor—”

      “Rat dung,” Butterball cursed.

      Clang.

      6T9’s brow furrowed. He hadn’t met the mayor. His circuits went dark with apprehension.

      Her voice continued over the speaker. “We have good news. Fleet is sending warships. They will be arriving in hours.” 

      Strom smiled. “Sounds like you boys will be able to head home.”

      A thought sparked from 6T9’s Q-comm that chilled his synth blood. “Gate 5,” 6T9 asked aloud. “Was that heard on the other side of the quarantine?”

      Gate 5 responded from another cleaning ‘bot. “I have ethernet jammers aimed at the quarantined areas—”

      6T9 almost relaxed, but then the gate continued. “However, they have Fleet-grade anti-jamming devices.”

      6T9’s Q-comm hummed. It was only when he felt dust settle in his eyes that he realized he’d been standing absolutely motionless for 3.4 minutes. His eyes teared, and he blinked. Michael was standing with Strom and the Luddecceans. Everyone was staring at him.

      “What is it? Malfunction?” Michael asked.

      “They’re not trying to beat down the door anymore,” 6T9 whispered.

      The little cleaning ‘bot hummed. “Indeed, not. My sensors detect they have retreated.”

      “It can’t take the gate before they arrive,” 6T9 whispered. 

      “That’s good, right?” Strom asked.

      6T9’s Q-comm went white, remembering the corpses at Reich’s research facility. It had been completely senseless, cruel, unnecessary death. “It will try to inflict as much damage as it possibly can … however it can.”

      The little ‘bot beeped and spoke with Gate 5’s voice again. “They can blow up their sections, but I can counter the forces with my own thrusters, and by strategic off-gassing. The people on this side of the quarantine and my servers are safe.” 

      6T9’s Q-comm still hummed in apprehension. He pulled data on the most recent starship battles in the system—the retired admiral who’d assumed command of the uninfected members of the System’s Local Guard had drawn the fighting to the more sparsely inhabited portion of the planet. Which left the most densely populated city, New Grande, exposed. 6T9’s vision returned, and he said with certainty, “Gate 5, you will no longer be its main objective.” 

      His eyes met Michael’s. The man’s Adam’s apple bobbed, though no ether connection hummed between them.

      The little cleaning ‘bot declared, “A ship just launched from the Infected side. And another! They’re abandoning us!”

      “They’re going to infect New Grande, aren’t they?” Michael whispered.

      6T9’s eyes went to the upside down horizon where Virginia had gone. “The Infected aboard are from this system. They’ll go to their homes … lots of people will let them in.”

      The gate was safe. He wanted to call Volka. He wanted to go home—which was any place she was—the asteroid, Time Gate 1, their starship—it didn’t matter. But the planet—and millions of lives—were in danger. 

      “Do they have ground forces in New Grande?” Ko asked. 

      “The system’s ground forces are on the other side of that airlock,” Michael said. The Infected, in other words.

      Gate 5 said, “I have already contacted Admiral Nilsson—he will divert some of his forces. But if he brings the bulk of the battle to the skies above New Grande, even more civilians may die in the crossfire.”

      6T9’s processors whirred. If he stayed here, Volka would spend more time alone with Darmadi.  But hadn’t he changed his programming to save her life? Millions of new Infected … 

      If he went to her, he’d be even less than the man she’d fallen in love with. And yet, he’d have her. His Q-comm supplied vivid memories of the softness of her ears, the feel of her pressed against him, the pressure of her lips on his after he’d proposed. She’d never said yes. He’d accepted that passion as an affirmative, but was it? She was telepathically linked to Darmadi, and he was on Time Gate 1. He huffed bitterly—with a telepathic link, did it matter where the captain was?

      6T9’s hand fluttered to his side, and he felt the packet that was Eliza’s ashes beneath his suit. What would Eliza do? Nebulas. Eliza had given him a Q-comm expecting him to leave her; she’d given it to him so he could be free.

      Conversation was swirling around him. But 6T9 tuned it out, downloading data on the planet below. Maps, geography, geology, current conditions, imports, exports, and manufacturing …

      When he spoke, his jaw was tight. “I have the perfect army.”
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      In the Diplomatic Corps residence, Volka finished putting on the glove of her envirosuit.

      Bracelet declared, “We’re sealed below the neck, Miss Volka. May I suggest putting on the helmet?” 

      Flexing her fingers, Volka winced. “The helmet smooshes my ears, and doesn’t let me hear properly. The Dark isn’t aboard Time Gate 1.” 

      “Mmm …” said Bracelet. “Another reason not to have a physical form.”

      Volka huffed. Bending down, she retrieved said helmet and Carl. The werfle was already in his own envirosuit, snoring softly. Maybe she should try reaching Sixty again … She bit her lip. No, he’d call them when he could. 

      With a deep breath, she exited the room, Carl and helmet in her hands. She had plenty of time to reach Sundancer, and she didn’t have to hurry, but she did. With Carl asleep and Sixty on Time Gate 5, the Diplomatic Corps Residence felt lonely even though there were plenty of people. There was some sort of meeting going on, and men and women in somber colored high-necked suits came and went. There were two Fleet Marines she didn’t recognize standing guard outside the conference room. They wore combat uniforms with heavy phaser-proof vests and held stunner rifles at the ready. When Volka came into their line of vision, their heads snapped to her but their eyes immediately got vacant and their frames relaxed—presumably as they checked her identity over the ether. The men and women in suits didn’t react to Volka at all. 

      She hurried to leave the residence, and then through the crowded, though hushed, promenade of Time Gate 1. In the Galactic Republic, most people relied on the ether to converse in public. Speaking was reserved for strangers whose ethernet address you didn’t know, or children whose neural ports hadn’t been activated yet.

      When she reached Sundancer’s berth, she found Lieutenant Young and his team were already there, going through some gear. The scientist-engineer type person who’d been with them at Reich was there, too—he’d designed Sundancer’s armor and her weapons, and Volka should know his name. Dr. Patrick … somebody. Dr. Patrick was wearing an envirosuit but carried no weapons. He had a tablet in hand and was hovering over half-a-dozen crates. 

      As Volka approached, Sundancer radiated a happy yellow glow that had giddy pterys rising in her stomach.

      Young looked up, smiled, and said, “Hiya, Volka!”

      Her steps got lighter. It was nice to be seen, especially when things otherwise were so … bleak. She thought of the last time she’d seen Sixty. It had been right before they’d picked up Alaric—

      “You brought my space kitty!” The exclamation came from Rhinehart, the weapons specialist. She grinned at Carl, still asleep in Volka’s arms, and mimed scratching him behind the ears.

      Jerome snickered. “Space kitty.” 

      Volka’s lips quirked. “He prefers to be thought of as a demo—”

      “You’re here,” Dr. Patrick said. He said the words so crossly Volka looked surreptitiously at Bracelet to make sure she wasn’t late. She wasn’t. Her ears flicked.

      “We need to get these drones aboard,” he continued. He pointed to the crates and up at Sundancer. “It won’t open up for me.”

      “It is a she,” Volka replied defensively.

      “How do you know that?” he asked.

      Volka’s ears went back. “I just do.”

      The doctor scowled at her.

      “I feel it,” Volka clarified.

      He lifted his chin. 

      She wasn’t telepathic, but looking up his nose, she knew that hadn’t clarified the matter for him at all. She flushed in frustration. Of course, he was a scientist; he wouldn’t believe in anything that he couldn’t measure. She sighed, exasperated, almost threw up her hands, not knowing what to say, and then she did know what to say. Smirking, she replied, “‘There are more things in heaven and Earth, Horatio, than you dream of in your cold science.’” It was the only bit of Shakespeare she knew—she found the Old English very difficult to follow—but it had its desired effect.

      Dr. Patrick gaped at her. 

      Bracelet made a coughing noise and whispered, “… it’s ‘dreamt of in your philosophy.’ Although, technically ‘philosophy’ could be translated as science in this instance.”

      Dr. Patrick touched his port, and Volka knew he was searching the internet for the reference. 

      Smiling at the small triumph, she walked past him and lifted her hand up to touch her friend and spaceship. Sundancer glowed brighter, and she felt the ship trying to dispel the shadows in her heart. Volka sent a wave of gratitude to the ship, and then she envisioned all of the Marines and their gear inside. Sundancer opened her keel and then abruptly dimmed.

      Volka turned around. Most of the Marines were going about their business, teasing each other as they did. Young, by contrast, looked grim. Dr. Patrick was touching his port, looking serious, but thoughtful.

      Carl shifted in her arms and sighed. She felt him wake—felt his mind connect with hers. Usually, when he woke, he found something grumpy to say, but his necklace didn’t so much as crackle and he didn’t grumble into her mind. A chill crept up Volka’s spine.

      “What is it?” Volka whispered to Young, Carl, and Sundancer.

      Young’s jaw got hard, and his next words were a low rumble. “We’ve been given a different mission.” 

      Dr. Patrick lowered his hand from his port. “It’s a good idea. We should pursue every option, especially non-violent ones.”

      Young’s glance at the scientist shot daggers.

      “We have to try,” Dr. Patrick said, and he reminded Volka of someone, but she wasn’t sure who.

      “Try what?” she asked.

      Young answered, “The Republic is going to send a diplomatic envoy to meet with the Dark.”

      “They want us to take them,” Dr. Patrick said.

      Volka’s eyes returned to Young. “We can’t take a diplomatic envoy to meet with the Dark. It will be a suicide mission—”

      “You don’t know that,” Dr. Patrick protested.

      Volka kept her gaze trained on Young. “—and we will be murderers if we help them.”

      Young’s shoulders straightened. “We won’t be murderers.”

      “You know what the Dark will do!” Volka exclaimed.

      Young’s brow furrowed, and he looked pained. 

      “Carl!” Volka lifted the werfle so his bewhiskered snout faced her. “You know what it will do. The One can’t let this happen!” 

      His nose trembled. “The One will not stand in the way.”

      Volka almost shook him. “I’ve already got the deaths of children on my conscience!” Their faces still gave her nightmares. She didn’t need a new batch of terrors.

      She heard Dr. Patrick inhale sharply.

      Young put a hand on her shoulder. “I’ve seen the reports, Volka. You weren’t to blame for that.”

      Carl nodded vigorously. “Remember, even Sixty said there was no other way.”

      Volka pulled Young’s hand off her shoulder. “But there must be another way. They can’t send an envoy to the Dark.”

      “You don’t know that it won’t work,” Dr. Patrick protested.

      Volka spun to him. “No one who has met the Dark believes that.” She turned back to Young. “You have to dissuade this … this … envoy—”

      “Ambassador Zhao,” Carl said. “He was in the conference room of the Diplomatic Corps when we left.”

      “I have informed them of the risks,” Young replied.

      Ears flicking, Volka said, “You know the risks, yet you’ll blindly follow their orders to take the envoy to … wherever—”

      “Where is still being worked out,” Carl interjected.

      “Not blindly,” Young said, drawing himself taller. “But I will follow my orders. So will my team.”

      Volka’s ears swiveled. The team had stopped their tasks and had gathered around Young, the doctor, and her. She looked for sympathy in their eyes—and found it—but none of them said they agreed with her.

      Carl sighed. “Perhaps … perhaps it is for the best, Hatchling.”

      “It’s for the best that I escort a human to a fate worse than death?” Volka demanded.

      Carl’s whiskers quivered. “Hatchling—”

      Shaking her head, Volka thrust him into Rhinehart’s arms.

      Turning from them all, she all but ran from the berth. “I need to think.” That was a lie. What she really needed to do was talk to someone who wasn’t a member of The One—humans that were not their “pets” were disposable to them, and not a member of Fleet—Young and the others were going to follow their orders no matter what. She needed someone who would care about the death of civilians. She needed Sixty.

      “Bracelet, connect me to Sixty!” she ordered, and then added, “Please?”

      “Of course, Ms. Volka,” Bracelet replied. “Attempting it now …”

      Volka’s feet carried her out to the promenade, out to the pack of hushed bodies hurrying to their gates.

      “Bracelet?” she whispered.

      “I think … he’s busy,” Bracelet replied.

      Volka’s shoulders fell, and then she realized something. “What would you do, Bracelet? How would you change their minds?” Bracelet was a machine, with more computing power than Volka had and access to more knowledge. Her heart rate sped up, and her stomach fluttered. She did not want to be a murderer, not again, not of someone who didn’t wish to do her any harm. 

      “Miss Volka … I … I’m only a few days old.”

      Drawing to a halt, Volka gazed down at the coppery device and then closed her eyes. “I’m sorry, forgive me, Bracelet.”

      Around her, pedestrians flowed in etherly hush. She looked about helplessly. Who could she turn to? Where was Sixty when she needed him most?
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      “An army?” Time Gate 5 said.

      “An army?” Michael repeated.

      “What army?” asked Commander Ko.

      6T9 found himself staring at the enormous airlock doors that held back the Infected. Or had held them back—now they were leaving, on their way to the place where they could cause the most chaos and despair: New Grande, the largest city of the planet below. 

      “New Grande is the largest manufacturer of …” 6T9’s Q-comm sparked. Could he tell a secret here? The Dark knew that Fleet was on its way, despite spotty ethernet. Could he trust every single member of Time Gate 5’s police? Even if they didn’t deliberately reveal intelligence, could they by accident? He glanced at one of the toppled security ‘bots. Smiling grimly, he lied, “… Security ‘bots in the galaxy. At any given time, there are over 100,000 waiting to be shipped from the RoboForce Factory alone.” 

      “They are yours to reprogram and command, Android General 1,” Time Gate 5 declared from the cleaning ‘bot body. “I will give you access to the factory.”

      6T9 met the single camera eye on top of the ‘bot. Time Gate 5 was contracted to handle cyber security for most of the planet below. If it let him in to steal 100,000 ‘bots, it would lose those contracts … and probably be charged with grand larceny. 6T9 probably would be, too. “Thank you,” he murmured. The camera eye winked. 

      Commander Ko eyed the security ‘bots, now deactivated.  “Would these things stand a chance against the Dark?”

      “No, they won’t,” 6T9 admitted, and then lied again. “But they’ll be able to delay the Dark’s advance with their sheer numbers.” Security ‘bots, even the ones that were more agile than the ones serving as barriers here, were too obvious; they’d never get close enough to the Dark’s forces to delay anything. He waited for someone to point that out.

      “It’s worth a shot,” Police Chief Strom said, and 6T9 thanked the random forces of the universe that humans could be so unreasonably optimistic. 

      Her brow furrowed, and she added, “They’ll need leaders.” 

      Michael said, “I can contact some of the Fleet personnel on the surface.”

      6T9 considered that. “How many could rendezvous with us at RoboForce’s factory under incoming fire?”

      Michael frowned. “Not many.”

      “And what sort of kit will they have?” Ko asked. 

       Because he wasn’t the general he was pretending to be, 6T9 had to silently query what “kit” meant in this instance—it referred to combat weapons and gear.

      The Luddeccean Commander’s eyes became distant, almost as though he was connecting to the ether. “In the Intel vids we saw of the planet below, most of the homes seemed to be in skyscrapers. Having military personnel organize defense of individual buildings would be more useful than having them trying to reach the factory.” He inclined his head to Sixty. “Let your ‘bots attack the enemy in the streets. Let military personnel on the surface turn each building into a fortress.”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked. It was a good suggestion, a practical solution, and he found himself remembering Kenji saying how important it was to see a situation from multiple perspectives. Still … “It’s a good plan, if they’ll listen to us.”  

      The cleaning ‘bot whirred, sputtered, and sparked. “You are … You are …

      “I’m not a general to humans,” 6T9 said before it could self-combust.

      It swirled several times and beeped angrily.

      “They might listen to me,” Michael said.

      Ko raised an eyebrow. Chief Strom gave Michael a narrowed-eyed look that was even more skeptical.

      Flushing, Michael said, “Not as a lieutenant, but as someone they know.” He rubbed the back of his neck. “Before I joined Fleet, I went to some veteran’s events to see what I was getting into.”

      Ko inclined his head and looked thoughtful, and Strom said, “That might be a help.”

      Static flared along 6T9’s spine as an internal chronometer told him that the ships that had left the gate were probably entering the atmosphere by now. “We still need leaders.”

      Five declared from the tiny cleaning ‘bot, “I have twenty unused Q-comms. Plug them into some of the security ‘bots, and you’ll have your leaders!” It was a hugely generous offer—staggeringly generous, but all 6T9 said was, “That’s twenty more leaders.”

      “And me. I’ll come, too,” Michael said. “I know the lay of the land. I know places that Infected pirates won’t know.”

      “We can give you a suit and kit from one of our wounded,” Ko said. 

      The static spread from 6T9’s spine to every inch of his skin. Turning on his heel, he said, “Sounds good. Five, could you—?”

      Behind Ko, Davies swore. 

      Everyone turned to look at the shipman. Ko gestured Davies over. “You have something to say, Shipman?”

      “Sir, they need experience.” Davies gestured to Michael. “He’s a green lieutenant.” He gestured to 6T9. “He’s a general, but has he trained recruits? I’ll volunteer to go with them, sir.”

      6T9 almost said no, just to leave, when he remembered Ko’s suggestion and Kenji’s theory about multiple perspectives. To Ko, he said, “I would be grateful for his expertise.”

      Ko’s lips parted and it looked like he was going to say no, but then his eyes flicked to Michael, to 6T9, and back to Michael again. His shoulders fell. “I can give him to you. But I won’t ask any of the other members of his team to go with him.”

      “I will volunteer, sir,” said Falade.

      Lang, the weere, turned his head sharply toward Falade. But then, glaring at 6T9, he said, “You’ll need someone who can sense the Dark. I’ll volunteer, too.”

      They needed more than someone, they needed someones, but 6T9 decided to deal with that later. Every second of lost time was a fission along his spine.

      Strom bit her bottom lip. “We can get you weapons from our impound and a ship that might do the trick—a pirate vessel. It will blend right in, but you’ll need someone to fly it.”

      6T9 tapped the back of his head. “I can download the manual for anything, and I am an experienced pilot. I’ve even managed to slip past the Luddeccean Guard and land on Luddeccea itself.”

      Davies cocked his head. “Thought we shot down the last Republic infiltrator.”

      Technically, they had shot down his ship, but 6T9 had landed. He decided not to argue the distinction. “Are you with me or not?”
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      The door was open, but Volka knocked anyway. 

      “Come in,” Alaric said. The holo was powered down and laying on his legs. He had the tablet in his hands. She walked into the room and each step was like wading slowly into Alaric’s consciousness. She was used to being tied to Sundancer—she could feel the ship’s concern for her even now—and she knew Carl’s thoughts were just a wish away, but with Alaric, it was still strange. She wished she could turn it off, and yet it drew her in—his mental landscape was alien and yet familiar. The closer she got, the clearer his thoughts became. He was reading a science magazine called Galactic Discovery—because of course he would be. The article was on innovations in Q-comm manufacturing that might one day make them affordable for more than just large industries and government—

      Alaric looked up, and she felt his surprise. His eyebrows rose, and then his eyes drifted from hers down to the boots of her envirosuit. He frowned slightly and met her eyes again. He wasn’t unhappy to see her; he was worried about her. The suit meant she was headed into danger.

      Replying to his unasked question, Volka said, “Not danger for me.” At least, she didn’t think so. Between Galactic Republic armor that resisted the weapons of the Dark, and Sundancer’s innate imperviousness to traditional weaponry, she was fairly certain she’d be safe.

      His features smoothed. But then he cocked his head. Volka didn’t hear the words of a question so much as feel the tug of his curiosity.

      Bowing her head, she whispered, “I need to talk to someone … Someone who isn’t in the Fleet or … or … Carl.” She didn’t know where else to go. Scanning the speckled pattern in the floor, she wished Sixty were here. 

      “The One can be …” He sighed. “Opinionated.”

      She huffed a laugh, and she felt him smile in response, but maybe the smile was only inside him, because when she glanced up, his expression was neutral. He indicated a chair near the head of the bed. “Why don’t you sit down?”

      She maneuvered the chair so that she could look at him directly, and all the while felt the weight of silence between them...or maybe it was the weight of emotions. His feelings for her were not neutral. He was grateful she’d come to see him with her problems, worried for her, and wishing he could stand and take her in his arms. 

      It was probably good that he couldn’t. Volka already felt uncomfortable being here, but she needed someone to unburden to, who could help her figure out what to do. She could kill, she had killed, but she had never killed an innocent on purpose. She felt sick to her stomach imagining taking the ambassador to the Dark—whoever they were, no matter how conceited and condescending they’d be toward her for being an uneducated Luddie.

      “The Republic wants me to do something …” Her stomach fell, and she felt bile rising in her throat. “Terrible.”

      Thoughts flickered through his mind, everything from suspicion that they were assigning her to spy on Luddeccea, to aid in an assassination, to a false flag operation—and much more that flowed too fast for her to catch. She almost gasped, overwhelmed by the speed at which his mind worked, but then in another instant he tossed all those ideas aside. She wanted to ask, Why, why don’t you think it is any of those things? But he spoke first. “What is it, Volka? What is it that they want you to do?” 

      So she told him, and felt his stomach sink to the level of hers.

      “The ambassador,” Volka finished. “The Dark will infect them and their staff.”

      “Agreed,” Alaric said.

      Volka exhaled in relief. Someone who didn’t think she was an idiot.

      “How do I convince the Fleet and the Republic that it is a horrible idea?” Volka asked.

      Alaric stared at the hologlobe laying on his legs. He scowled. “You shouldn’t be the one who has to do this.”

      Volka’s ears flicked, annoyed despite herself. “No one should have to do this.” 

      Alaric looked at her sharply. Volka swore she felt the air crackle with an inquiry and felt that inquiry tossed aside for another. “Will there be some sort of official video or—” He waved at the hologlobe. “Holographic record?”

      She shrugged. “I suppose. I didn’t ask.”

      Jaw tight, Alaric said, “If this is done, it is vitally important that there will be.”

      She blinked.

      Rubbing his chin, Alaric’s gaze slid back to the hologlobe. “I’ve been watching the damn thing. There is a lot of footage from System 5.”

      Volka straightened.

      “Most of it is from citizens there,” Alaric continued. “There is so much … disbelief … Even citizens in System 5 in areas that haven’t seen fighting are claiming that the Dark doesn’t exist and that it is a ploy to reinstate the draft.”

      Volka’s ears curled, remembering Michael, the student protester from System 5. He’d believed that.

      “If there is official evidence, something visual that can be shown to people, not just dry reports which were released after our battle in System 33—” He shook his head.

      Volka shivered, remembering the animals that had ignored pain and death, seeking to infect her and the Fleet Marines. They’d gotten two Fleet Marines including Ben, and two of Alaric’s men.

      “—maybe, they’d believe?” Alaric let out a breath and smiled wryly. “It’s easier to believe in than a personal savior and Heaven.”

      “Don’t say that,” Volka said automatically. He could be charged with heresy. She blinked. But this was the Republic, and they didn’t charge people for heresy here … at least, not that kind.

      Alaric’s eyes narrowed, and she felt cool calculation. “Say what?”

      “You know what you—”

      Fury rose like a flame in his chest. He stared at her. “Say what, Volka?”

      “You could be accused of—” Her lips parted in shock. His lips hadn’t moved. 

      A muscle in Alaric’s jaw jumped. “You. Are. Reading. My. Mind.” Again, his lips didn’t move, but the words were clear and sharp. He let out a breath that wasn’t quite a snarl and she felt invaded …

      Volka’s ears curled. No, Alaric felt invaded. “It’s an accident,” Volka whispered. “When I’m tired, it happens.” Her feet shifted uneasily on the floor. “Around you … it’s all of the time … I can’t stop it.” 

      His expression was angry, but his true emotion was mild horror.

      Rising from the chair, she moved toward the door. “I’m sorry. I shouldn’t be—”

      “Volka, stop,” Alaric said. 

      She turned. 

      “I’m touched,” he said, sounding slightly aggrieved. But the words weren’t precisely a lie. He rubbed the bridge of his nose. “Solomon died before you rescued me. I thought that he had told Carl I was in danger, and that Carl had told you … That’s not what happened though, is it?”

      Volka shook her head in the negative.

      He dropped his hand. “I was thinking, I was hoping you weren’t dead. I expected you’d be in the thick of whatever the Dark was really after.”

      “I was,” she admitted. 

      He nodded. “Faster-than-light ships, you were trying to protect them from the Dark.”

      Her lips parted in shock. 

      “You didn’t succeed, they got some.” His brow furrowed. “Not so many—but more than a few.”

      “Solomon told you,” she whispered.

      He blinked, befuddled. “No, it was just the only thing that would be more important than defending the gate.” He thought that was self-evident. He continued more urgently. “One of those ships attacked my ship. It jumped in, did its damage, and jumped out. It doesn’t have many to spare, but it has enough to take that sort of risk. They may strike in System 5 again.”

      Volka felt herself go cold. “That is another reason I should be dropping off troops in System 5! I shouldn’t be taking a man to his death.”

      Glaring at a point on the wall, he responded, “You shouldn’t, no.” Volka felt the real meaning of the words. Someone should, so that the ambassador’s death might serve as a warning to the unbelieving of the Republic. But they shouldn’t send Volka. She didn’t deserve that sort of emotional pain.

      Volka growled at him. “You’re condescending.”

      The look he gave her was wilting. He was angry that she’d read his mind again, and he was completely unrepentant for the anger and what he saw as justified concern. “They should coordinate with Luddeccea. We could escort the ambassador. Our crews will not feel as conflicted.” His lips twisted wryly. “They’ll probably experience a bit of schadenfreude.”

      Volka’s hands curled into fists. She was angry at the mission. Angry at his condescension. Angry that he wasn’t helping her solve this problem.

      Alaric said. “Having our—my countrymen do the deed is the best option. You will not stop this operation.” The last was said from experience with bureaucrats, she felt that, and his surety that she was too insignificant in the grand scheme of things to alter their opinions.

      The fabric of the universe stretched and pulled between them. She felt that, too.

      Volka’s nostrils flared. “You’re wrong.”

      Spinning on her heel, she left the room. 

      “Volka,” he called. She winced at his pain as he tried to sit up, and she felt his fear for her pulling her back. Growling, she ploughed forward with jerky movements, as though breaking invisible bonds.
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      When Volka reached the Diplomatic Corps residence, Alaric’s worry was the size of an ice cube and just as cold. It sat in her stomach, and even the heat of her fury could not melt it. And she was furious. No one had consulted her about the mission with the ambassador. She had a mind. She was more than a ferryman who took passengers without thought of their destination.

      Striding toward the conference room doors, she curled her fists at her sides. Instead of trying to curb her anger, she let it burn. When she was emotional, her telepathy was stronger.

      One of the two Marines on guard stepped forward, lifting a gloved hand to her chest. “Ma’am, I can’t let you in there.”

      She stared at that hand. Closing her eyes, she felt it … the pressure of it against her sternum … and the threads of the universe that wrapped around the Marine’s fingers and spun out into the fabric of everything, including her mind and her heart. She exhaled, feeling the pattern they wove. She did not even know this Marine’s name, but she knew he would die to protect the ambassador, not out of personal loyalty, but out of duty … and loyalty to the Marine standing next to him. Her eyes flicked to his companion and saw the threads that bound them together. The twist and colors of the threads were different, yet the second man’s loyalty to his duty and comrade were the same. 

      Volka focused first on the Marines before her and pulled at the strings. “I am here to save the ambassador.”

      Nothing happened. Gritting her teeth, Volka imagined the universe between them constricting, contracting … and then she felt their acceptance. “I need to speak to the ambassador immediately.”

      She released a breath as the man before her tapped his temple. “I’ll let him know—”

      Volka yanked at the threads. “You will let me in.” She focused on his companion. “Now.”

      For a heartbeat, they both stared at her. And then the first man shuddered, stepped back, dazedly murmuring, “Yeah … yeah.” Their acceptance didn’t make her feel particularly powerful. She hadn’t changed their minds; she’d merely redirected them. If the Marines hadn’t been so dedicated to protecting the ambassador, she doubted it would have worked.

      The door swooshed open, and Volka stepped between them into the room. Balling her hands into fists, she concentrated on how angry she was. There was a long white table perpendicular to her, but what caught her eye was a window that spanned the length of the room. It was framed by lush plants, and the view was of Earth. A man, back to her, was sitting just beyond the table. His shoulders were stooped and frail, his hair white and thin. Standing at his left was a woman with straight, glossy hair, the blackest Volka had ever seen, and pale skin. She wore a high-necked suit dress of red silk. Her hands were clasped in front of her. Another woman stood at the man’s right. She was leaning over him, a tablet in her hand. Her hair was a more usual dark brown; her suit dress was a neutral gray. She was the first person to notice Volka. “Who are you? This is a private meeting.”

      “It’s all right,” said the old man, with a voice like wind in dry leaves.

      Volka didn’t wait. “This is a suicide mission.”

      The woman with brown hair said tersely, “We are not in need of uninformed opinions.” Tapping her neural port, she added, “You don’t belong here.”

      Volka’s lip curled, but the woman in the red dress interjected. “Volka is quite welcome to stay.” Bending, she turned the chair around so the old man faced Volka. It wasn’t usual for humans—or even weere—to look like any of the old races, but the woman in the red dress reminded Volka of the women she’d seen in Mr. Darmadi’s art history books—specifically in Chinese silk paintings. Her face was oval, her nose petite, her dark eyes were narrow and deeply hooded, and her lips were full, though her mouth wasn’t particularly wide. She was so strikingly beautiful, it was hard to look away from her, but when she did, her heart sank. If anything, the old man was frailer than Volka had imagined, and older, the lines in his face very deep. Was this the man who was going to face the Dark? Her stomach clenched, knowing it was so. The lines on the old man’s face deepened further when he beamed at Volka, and said, “How I’ve wanted to have a little private time with you. Wasn’t I saying so, Rushi?” His gaze flicked up to the woman in red. She raised an eyebrow in response. To the other woman, the old man said, “Ms. Li, would you please give us a few minutes?”

      Ms. Li frowned at the old man, but, drawing herself up, she walked around the table, lifted her nose, and strode past Volka and out the door.

      “Miss Volka,” he declared, rising from his chair. He was slightly spryer than Volka had imagined. Slightly. “So nice to meet you, I am Ambassador Zhao.” He held out his hand. Volka didn’t take it. Instead she grasped the invisible threads between her and Zhao and felt … genuine joy at meeting her, not a shred of condescension, just wonder that was immense and bittersweet. The heat of tears pooled in her eyes. “The Dark will kill you!”

      Zhao withdrew his hand, straightened himself, and smiled. “That is why I must go, isn’t it?”

      Volka’s jaw fell. “You know.”

      “Oh, of course,” Zhao replied. “But I do appreciate your warning.” He did, and he didn’t. He was afraid and determined in equal measure. He didn’t like being reminded of the danger. 

      Volka felt as though the universe was contracting, as though all the threads were cut loose. She shivered. She might have swayed on her feet.

      “Please sit down,” said Rushi, gesturing with an elegant hand.

      Volka fell into a seat. The ambassador’s sacrifice, and the enormity of the evil she had almost committed stark in her mind.
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      “This is the ship they’re giving us?” Michael—Lieutenant Snow—whispered. “Do they want us to die?”

      6T9 walked beneath the battered cutter. Vaguely triangular in shape, it had wings that might have once given it lift without hover engine help, but they’d been hopelessly dented. So much so, he thought with a grimace, they’d give it downforce. The hull was pockmarked by impacts and deformed by collisions and, based on the warp of one of the wings, possibly melted by phaser fire. The cutter had once had functioning time bands flowing from bow to stern, but chunks of them were missing. It wouldn’t be capable of lightspeed, but they might create enough distortion in time to give it some resistance to phasers. Patches of the original paint attested it had once been shiny steel-blue, but now it was dark brown and could pass for a piece of space junk. “It’s perfect.”

      “Yep,” said Davies.

      “You’re serious?” Michael asked. Falade and Lang were quiet but looked just as skeptical. 

      Michael was still in civilian clothes—they were waiting on the extra suit from the injured Luddeccean, as well as weapons from the police. He looked fragile in comparison to the others.

      Davies nodded. “We’ll pass for one of the pirates.”

      “Exactly,” said 6T9. “If we don’t get caught in friendly fire, we’ll be fine.” 

      Michael blanched.

      Wincing inwardly at his failure of a pep talk, 6T9 touched his side. Eliza’s ashes were under his armor right next to his access key. His hand slid down to his hip. Attached to his holster was an impact and heat-resistant packet, no larger than his palm, filled with the precious Q-comms, the “brains” of his new lieutenants. Circuits in him fired, and others went dark. He shook his head. What had Volka said when they’d inserted FET12’s Q-comm? “Birth is frightening, but joyous, too.” He was afraid. He was about to bestow sentience upon unsuspecting beings and then immediately thrust them into armed conflict.

      There was a whoosh, and a gangway dropped. The ship pinged him over the ether and he answered to a very polite, and very embarrassed, “Android General 1, I am Osprey235, so pleased to meet you, sir. I beg you, sir, do not be dismayed by my exterior. As you can see from my most recent system checks, I am flightworthy.” Data from the ship began spilling in front of 6T9’s eyes—but was interrupted by a warning from his own systems. He was low on power.  The stun weapons that hung at the Luddecceans’ waists caught his eyes, and he licked his lips. Fortunately, their backs were to him as they surveyed the ship. Michael, however … the newly minted Fleet officer saw 6T9’s reaction—and his lip curled up. 

      In a spark of insight, 6T9 realized the man thought he was thinking of something other than a recharge. Quips flickered through his mind: Don’t worry, Lieutenant, you have a fine package, too, or, more cruelly, Don’t worry, you don’t have a bulge I’m interested in. Instead he turned away, annoyed. 

      “Something wrong?” Shipman Davies asked.

      He could lie to the Luddeccean—he was already lying to him—but they were about to serve together. Shouldn’t he stick to the truth as much as possible? “I need to recharge,” 6T9 replied. “Your stunners are making me hungry.” Davies blinked rapidly but gave no other sign of alarm. 6T9 wondered what he would say if he saw him with his face peeled back. He frowned and then nearly groaned at another realization. “They’re probably as depleted as mine.” He gazed up the gangway. The interior was lit, and that sign of electricity was inviting. “I’m going to plug into the ship, warm her up, get a feel for her systems, and recharge. You can recharge your weapons as soon as I’ve got her going.”

      Davies nodded. “Sounds good. After you.”

      6T9 trod up the gangway. It creaked beneath his steps. Could this thing really be spaceworthy? Could it handle reentry? 

      “I really think I’m going to need that envirosuit,” Michael murmured, the gangway squeaking beneath his even lighter tread.

      They reached the inner airlock. The door to the cabin was shut, and the ship piped into 6T9’s mind. “The door seals are brand new!” The door whooshed open and shut a few times, and there was a sucking sound as the rubber seals at the edges were tested. 6T9 didn’t sigh. The seals might be new, but there was a hole as large as his head right about his shoulder level. Its edge, melted and blackened by phaser burn, was an open window to the cabin within and made the “brand new seals” completely worthless.

      “Welp, no working airlock,” Davies remarked. “Good thing the atmosphere below is breathable, but we’d better get you that suit, Lieutenant Snow.”

      Sounding desperate for approval, the ship’s voice piped into 6T9’s brain, “Please assure the humans that my airlock seals are working.” It opened and closed the compromised door again for emphasis. “Please?” the ship said again. “I want them to feel safe.”  It was so friendly, polite … and stupid. 

      6T9 turned to the humans. “The seals on the airlock are brand new—”

      “But—” Davies gestured at the hole.

      “The ship is very sensitive about this,” 6T9 said. “And it’s trying very hard to help.”

      Three mouths gaped at him. 6T9 put a finger to his lips for silence. The Luddecceans tilted their heads like curious, confused puppies. Michael sighed and looked distinctly unhappy. Static flared on 6T9’s skin, and he turned to the door. It opened at his approach. The floor of the cabin was grav plating that was damaged in spots. There were some bolts jutting from the floor, as though there had once been seating, but now there were just safety straps along the walls. There was a charge port for weapons that the Luddecceans and 6T9 made a beeline for. As soon as he’d snapped his weapons in, a buzzing from the corner by the cockpit caught his attention. There was a pile of knapsacks there. He went over and lifted one up.

      There was a speaker on the floor beneath, and it crackled to life. “Gentlemen, I am Osprey, your ship. I regret this is my sole remaining speaker. Perhaps you’d like some music while the stewardesses bring you drinks?”

      The humans’ eyes got wide and shifted around the barren cabin. Michael lifted a hand to his temple and swirled a finger in the air. The Luddecceans’ eyes got even wider. Apparently, that was a hand sign for crazy on Luddeccea, too. Michael mouthed the words, “Reset system to factory settings?” 

      6T9’s circuits dimmed, and he mouthed in response, “No time.”

      Michael’s lips parted as though to protest, but then he pressed them tight and gave a small nod. 

      “Gentlemen,” the ship said hopefully. “I have a musical library of over 3 billion recordings.”

      “‘Taking Off’ by Herbie Hancock,” 6T9 said, trying to pick something that would appeal to Luddeccean sensibilities.

      “A medieval classic! Excellent choice, sir,” the ship replied and stopped speaking in favor of music that was the cheerful strains of Herbie Hancock’s “Watermelon Man” and not medieval.

      6T9 hefted the pack in his hands and peered inside. “These are jetpacks,” he said, turning it around. It was larger than the typical jetpack; he never would have expected it. 

      Michael joined him and picked up another. Under his breath, he muttered, “It must be one hundred years old. It’s got etherless controls on the straps.”

      “These are exactly like the jetpacks we train with,” Falade exclaimed. “Galactics aren’t so much more advanced than us.”

      Michael looked like he might reply, but 6T9’s glare cut him off.

      “There are seven of them,” Lang added, casting a nervous gaze to the airlock and its useless door.

      Davies picked one up and handed it to Lang. “Make sure all of them are charged.” To 6T9, he said, “Sir, Falade and I will go outside and load up the weapons as they arrive while you, errr … eat.” 

      6T9 nodded. “Good.” As the two Luddecceans left, he turned his attention to Michael.  “Go with them—but keep your ether open. Your first priority will be to warn your contacts below.” 

      Michael stared at him. Michael was the only one who understood that 6T9 was a general in name only—but then Michael said, “Yes, sir.” His eyes narrowed. “But only because you’re right—this time.”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked, processors humming with every word he’d heard whispered among Fleet Marines, and everything he knew about Michael, the idealistic, peaceful protestor who’d been drawn into Fleet to save his world. “I would expect you to disobey if it was an inappropriate order,” 6T9 said.

      Something in Michael’s stance loosened. Saluting 6T9, he said, “I’m on it.”

      Michael’s footsteps were squeaking down the ramp when 6T9 turned to the cockpit. There had been an airlock between the cockpit and the main cabin—6T9 could see the track of the former door, but the door was missing now. There were two chairs, both ripped, leaking stuffing, and missing armrests, but there was an outlet and a compartment underneath the control panel. 6T9 opened the compartment and found the cables he expected. He took off his helmet, peeled off his face, sat down, and jacked in. Power surged through the cord. Skipping the ether, 6T9 accessed the ship’s system through the hardlink. Data flowed in front of his eyes. His Q-comm digested it almost instantaneously, and he frowned.

      … And then his vision went gray. He was being pulled into another Q-comm conference call, and it was either with the researchers in the World Sphere studying the spacefaring alien race the Dark had destroyed, or …

      “Sixty?” Volka’s voice filled the mindscape. “Sixty, are you there?”

      He hesitated to respond. Why was he afraid to respond? His Q-comm fired off the query …

      “Sixty?” Volka called, voice distressed. 

      And he decided the query was as idiotic as hesitating. He gave himself an avatar in case Volka was somewhere with access to a holo. 

      “You’re here!” Volka sprung into the mindscape in front of him. The avatar of her was obviously a construct of Bracelet. The device had made herself shine conspicuously through Volka’s envirosuit, and Volka’s features were slightly indistinct and a bit ghostly in the dim mindscape.

      “Is something wrong?” 6T9 asked her.

      Putting her head in her hands, Volka whispered, “I’ve done something terrible.”

      His Q-comm flared, and he knew why he hadn’t wanted to meet her.
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      “I’ve done something terrible,” Volka confessed to Sixty.

      “Darmadi,” Sixty whispered. 

      Volka’s shoulders hunched. She hadn’t been fair to Alaric when she’d read his mind. She could have warned him as she walked into the room, but she’d been intrigued, maybe seduced by the glimpse of him that telepathy gave to her. Still, that had been far less bad than what she’d done to the Marines guarding Ambassador Zhao, and what she’d tried to do to Ambassador Zhao himself.

      “The Republic is sending an ambassador to meet with the Dark,” Volka said.

      “That’s suicide,” Sixty replied.

      She looked up and found he’d almost closed the virtual distance between them.

      “I know.” Her ears curled. “No one asked my opinion, though, so I went to the ambassador. I didn’t ask to be admitted to see him. I made his guards let me in.”

      “Made them?” Sixty asked.

      “I … was … mad … I grabbed the threads … and yanked them,” Volka stuttered. Her stomach sank. She felt cold as ice.

      “Threads?” 

      Wrapping one arm around herself, she closed her eyes. “I used mind control.” It was simpler than explaining what she felt. 

      “By accident … because you were concerned?” Sixty supplied.

      Volka rubbed her eyes. “On purpose … because I was …” Her lip curled up in disgust at herself. “Offended that no one had consulted me.” That had been it, in truth, hadn’t it? She hated being minimized, hated being seen as little more than a ferry operator. How shallow was that? How much more should Sundancer feel abused? Maybe the ship only still clung to Volka and Carl because she was young and naive and didn’t know better?

      “The ambassador?” Sixty asked.

      “He knew … knows … it’s a suicide mission.” Volka whispered. “He is so nice, Sixty. So kind. He doesn’t think I’m an idiot. He isn’t condescending …” She exhaled. “His granddaughter is an android—”

      “Zhao,” 6T9 said. “It’s Ambassador Zhao.”

      She blinked. “You know him?”

      “I know of him,” 6T9 said. “His granddaughter Rushi was one of the first androids that passed as human.”

      “She loves him very much … I think.” She bit her lip, remembering how Zhao had teased Rushi, “You look so glum, and yet you wear red, the color of good fortune. You’re glad to be rid of me!”

      “I’m wearing red because you asked me to!” Rushi had replied.

      Zhao had tapped his neural port. “Did I?” He tapped his port again, and a light blinked in his temple. “Ah, I did. You were going to wear white, the color for funerals.” He tsked.

      Rushi had swallowed audibly and turned to Volka. There had been tears standing in her eyes. That had been when Volka realized she was an android. The emotion in her expression had been haunting, but her tears smelled wrong, and Volka hadn’t felt her despair.

      In the present, Volka’s stomach constricted. “He’s dying. He has … Alzheimer’s … I thought you don’t get it in the Republic, but he has it. The only thing keeping him together is his cybernetics, but even that is failing; some rare virus is causing inflammation. I didn’t believe him at first, because he seemed so lucid, but he wasn’t lying either … not intentionally.”

      Sixty only stared at her, and she clarified, “I was able to read his mind. I don’t care for him; I was just upset. But maybe he only thinks he is dying?” She desperately wanted to hear that Zhao was wrong, that he wasn’t dying. But if he wasn’t, what would she do?

      Sixty’s eyes went blank for an instant, and then refocused. “I suspect he is telling the truth. Rushi spent a decade trying to find a treatment for NaloreanSV … I thought her dedication was intense for an academic pursuit. She succeeded but the cure works best in young patients with new infections. Zhao had already been infected for years, and he is several centuries old.”

      Volka’s ears folded. “He said the disease will progress to his … auto … autonomic nervous system and he won’t be able to breathe.” She looked to him again for confirmation, not sure what she’d do if it wasn’t true.

      “That is how the disease would progress in a man Zhao’s age,” Sixty said, and Volka’s heart sank.

      Sixty tilted his head. “I’m surprised he told you about this.”

      Scanning the gray at her feet, Volka said, “I might have compelled him, too.” She met Sixty’s eyes again. “Sixty, there are members of the Galactic Senate who don’t believe the threat of the Dark is real! Zhao says they’re resisting quarantine measures for System 5 evacuees and not monitoring their ports of entry. He knows he’ll be killed but also knows with Rushi there providing timestamped, instantaneous reporting, they won’t be able to say his death was staged … and since he is going to die anyway, he wants his death to mean something. I tried to take that from him, Sixty!”

      Frowning, 6T9 was as motionless as a statue in the dismal gray.

      She swallowed, remembering something Zhao had said. “The problem with most Galacticans, Volka, is that they’ve never known evil. Petty cruelty, certainly, but not evil of the sort that has no qualms with genocide. They can’t imagine it, because it isn’t logical, you see? I have to open their eyes.” 

      And then Rushi had whispered, “We have to.” 

      Volka blubbered on. “Rushi will be destroyed, and she knows that … I think … I can’t read her like Zhao.” Her ears sagged. She had to rely on her wits, and she felt like her wits had betrayed her. She shouldn’t have tried to dissuade Zhao; she definitely shouldn’t have used mind control on the Marines. She shrugged helplessly. “And I’m going to play ferryman … like … like … Sharon.”

      Sixty’s brows rose. “Charon.”

      “What?” Volka’s ears came forward.

      “It’s not Sharon, it’s Charon, the name of the Greek ferryman to the Underworld,” Sixty replied. 

      Ears folding back in dismay, Volka exclaimed, “I don’t have a cybernetic brain, I can’t remember everything perfectly, and I’m not educated, but it doesn’t mean I’m stupid!”

      “Of course not!” Sixty said, finally, finally, lifting his hands as though to put them on her shoulders, but then he dropped them and bent lower. “Volka, I don’t know how much longer I have with you. Listen, you have to learn to control your telepathy, and you must be careful what you say. In the Republic, giving away health information is a crime. You could do serious damage to—”

      He looked up as though hearing a far-off sound, and then he vanished.

      Volka found herself standing alone in the gray, feeling emptier than she had before. She’d never told Sixty that she’d needed him. He’d never said that he loved her. Those were things people in real relationships said to one another, weren’t they? But maybe Galacticans didn’t. Scrunching her eyes shut, she massaged her eyelids. What did she know about being in a “real” relationship, let alone being in one with a Galactican? She felt like something was off, but maybe she was just being overly emotional … or just Luddeccean.

      On her wrist, Bracelet chimed. “We have to get to the mission briefing, Miss Volka.”

      “Right, then,” she said. “Let’s go.”

      There was nothing else she could do. But something in the conversation niggled at her, something she couldn’t put into words or even string together into a coherent thought.
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      6T9 snapped from the mindscape, circuits misfiring with a case of mental whiplash. When Volka had said she’d done something wrong, his first thought was that the call would be a confession about her and Darmadi. And then it turned out not to be that. He’d been relieved—except she’d been able to read Zhao’s mind because she was upset, but she could read Darmadi’s mind no matter her mental state. It was an admission of love. And then she’d confessed to using mind control on purpose because she was offended. That was not like his Volka. If the Marines were questioned for letting her pass, there could be repercussions for them. And then she’d told 6T9 about Zhao’s diagnosis—it wasn’t public knowledge. If she dropped that knowledge around, she might wind up hauled into an inquiry on suspicion of hacking into restricted data—and she might get Zhao fired. It was possible that the Senate didn’t know and would send someone else in Zhao’s stead—someone not prepared to die. 6T9 reached up to massage his temple and encountered cold metal instead of skin. He dropped his hand and banged the back of his head against his headrest. Nebulas, elderly humans who were ready to sacrifice themselves. Eliza had been like that, and it had made him feel terrible. He winced. Volka had just felt terrible. He hadn’t comforted, he’d just bounced from shock, to more shock, and then to fear for her, and then he’d been sucked out of the mindscape. Why?

      He’d been plugged in for a little over ten minutes. He was still not fully charged. 

      He turned up his auditory receivers, trying to discern what had summoned him back. From the cabin came Herbie Hancock’s “The Maze,” not quite drowned out by heavy footsteps, and the clatter of weapons. He heard Lang griping to Falade, “Sergeant Davies has had a death wish since his wife died. Why did you have to drag us into it?”

      Falade replied, “We’re not going to die. We’re going to be heroes and save the Republic! And you didn’t have to come, anyway.”

      “Give me those so I can charge them,” Michael said. There were clicks and revving noises as a weapon was plugged in. Nothing seemed amiss. Why had he been brought out of the mindscape?

      Lang said, “This box’s got rations. Guess it won’t do us any good if we can’t lift our masks, though.”

      “Can the robot—the general, I mean—eat?” Falade whispered.

      “Maybe,” Michael said. “I think I remember a holo mentioning that he does.” 6T9 had been in several erotic holos but he hadn’t eaten in one. Had Michael seen one of those? 6T9’s role in that had been quite commanding. His circuits sparked, and he remembered his interview with the reporter that had forced the Republic to straighten out Volka’s immigration papers. He had mentioned his ability to eat in that holo.

      “A holo is like a movie?” Falade asked.

      “Yeah … I guess so?” Michael responded.

      “Wow! He’s a really famous general,” Falade said.

      6T9’s circuits sparked in amusement, but also confusion. He’d been drawn away from Volka for this?

      Davies’s voice echoed from the berth into the ship. “We don’t need 100 kilos of cat food!” 

      6T9 blinked. Cat food?

      “Hasn’t he come? He was supposed to explain,” replied another, fainter male voice. “Please let me load these up. You will need them. He assured me.”

      Davies grumbled, “Mister, I don’t know who you are—”

      “Kim, the name is Kim, and I’m trying to help. If you’d just let me—”

      Davies’s voice was low and threatening. “Take another step, and I’ll stun you.”

      Ah, that was what he’d been summoned for. Ripping the charger out of the socket, 6T9 ran from the cabin, doing his best to smooth his skin over his face. Passing Michael—now half-clad in an envirosuit that must have arrived while he’d been charging—Falade, and Lang, he pounded down the gangway. He found Davies staring down his stunner at a man who looked distinctly unthreatening. The tins of Happy Whiskers cat food he was pushing in a flimsy, two-wheeled grocery cart might have had something to do with that impression. 6T9’s Q-comm fired, analyzing the situation. Focusing on the strange man, 6T9 drew from databases of human male bodies and faces from across the Galactic Republic. He came to a stunning conclusion. “You are remarkable.”

      The man—Kim—shifted and touched his chest. “I’m certain I’m not.”

      “You are perfectly average,” 6T9 declared. “You are of precisely average height and weight. Your nose, mouth, and ears are almost the perfect amalgamation of millions of features. Your hair color and eyes are the same.” He blinked. “You augmented yourself to be normal.” It was the only explanation. 

      The man drew himself up to his perfectly average height and squared his shoulders to their completely unremarkable width. “I have never augmented my appearance.” There was something cool and not at all average in his tone.

      Tilting his head, 6T9 zoomed in on the man’s neural port. It was the only thing about the man that wasn’t average. It was plain, ordinary, very simple—and exactly like Noa’s port. She’d gotten hers on Luddeccea before it had split from the Republic. Even before the split, Luddeccea had been lukewarm towards tech and so neural ports implanted there tended to be inconspicuous. And that was conspicuous in a way. He narrowed one eye. A muffled “wuff-wuff” from the entrance to the ship’s berth drew his attention. 

      Kurz, the robotic German Shorthair Pointer, came trotting into the berth, tail wagging, head high, and a tiny orange kitten dangling from his jaws.

      “Butterball!” exclaimed Kim.

      Dropping the kitten at 6T9’s feet, Kurz declared, “I found a Kätzchen, General, and I brought him to you! I am zuch a very good boy.” His tail wagged in double time.

      A gem dangling from the kitten’s neck erupted in static. “Found? I asked you for a ride to Android General 1, and you picked me up in your mouth.” 

      “Zuch a good boy,” Kurz repeated, sitting down and raising his nose.

      “Butterball, we’ve discussed this,” Kim said. “Dogs are not steeds. Their musculature isn’t designed for weight on their shoulders.”

      Butterball sniffed and licked his shoulder. 

      The Dark fleeing Time Gate 5 was nearing the atmosphere. They needed to leave. 6T9 needed to resolve this kerfuffle now. 6T9 gave a half bow to the kitten. “Butterball, Carl mentioned a member of his kind was aboard. I take it this cat food is a gift from you.” He blinked. “Are you coming with us?”

      Butterball sat and wrapped his tail around his front paws. “No, I cannot. The Dark is still here. It is vital to The One and the Republic that I monitor it. However, there are several feral cat colonies in the manufacturing district. My species is moving into their bodies. They will be your scouts and will alert you to the presence of the Dark.” He flicked his ears. “However, their bodies are hungry.”

      “Their bodies will become infected,” 6T9 said.

      Gazing up at him with unblinking golden eyes, Butterball said, “Yes, but mother cats will fight to the death for their kittens. We won’t be taking anything they wouldn’t give willingly.”

      6T9 didn’t have the ability to verify that claim. Many species would die for their young, but whether they did so knowing they were risking their lives wasn’t something that could be known by watching their behavior. Butterball might be lying or telling the truth. He had no idea. But he did know that humans and cats would soon be facing the Infected on the ground in New Grande. A few dozen cats, controlled by The One, could save millions of both species.

      To Davies, 6T9 said, “Load up the cat food.”

      Davies looked askance at Butterball. “We are going to be working with demons … lots of ‘em?”

      6T9’s mind briefly went blank. They were about to face off against the Infected, and the man was worried about telepathic cats?

      “Oh, come on,” 6T9 said, slipping from character. “A tiny little kitty can’t be more terrifying than me.” 6T9 could rip the man’s arm out of his socket if he was so inspired.

      Davies scowled, straightened, and replied, “Sir! I have no neural network. You cannot read or control my mind, sir!”

      6T9’s circuits stopped firing for an instant and then fired brightly. Volka could read and control people’s minds … if she was upset. That was more frightening than dismemberment?

      Kim cleared his throat, and 6T9’s attention snapped back to the remarkably unremarkable man. “Shipman,” Kim said to Davies, “Archbishop Sato has explained how cats and werfles want to regain their place in heaven. By helping them find their souls, you help your own.” He shuffled his feet. “Or so I’ve been told by Butterball.”

      Davies swallowed. “Aye, that’s true.”

      6T9 added reason to the appeal to emotion. “We’ll need help detecting the Dark.”

      Davies shuddered, but said, “All right,” and then started to haul the cat food out of the cart.

      “You can keep the cart,” Kim said. “It might be useful.”

      Davies didn’t hesitate to accept. He wheeled the cart up the ramp. 6T9 noted idly that Eliza had once had a cart very similar to it. He supposed things that were truly functional never went out of style.

      Kim bent down and scooped up Butterball, placing the kitten around his neck. Butterball’s yellow eyes stayed fixed on 6T9, and his collar crackled. “The cats will come to you.”

      Kurz, sitting quietly until that moment, stood up and pointed his nose up the ship’s ramp. “More Katzen?” Before 6T9 could answer, the dog had dashed up the ramp and into the ship. 6T9 could send it back—but the Infected already had a lead in their race to the planet.

      “Thank you,” he said to Mr. Kim and Butterball.

      Human and kitten inclined their heads to exactly the same degree. 6T9 suspected there was more to them than met the eye, but it was time for his team to leave.

      Heading up the ramp, he paused and looked over his shoulder in the direction of Time Gate 1, as though he might hear Volka as she’d heard Alaric across the light-years. The only sound he heard was the ship’s engines.
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      Alaric held the hologlobe before him. In its light was an old man wearing a suit that was as dark as the night sky punctuated here and there by glinting white, like stars. The old man was smiling cheerfully at the camera. A woman of astonishing beauty in a crimson dress stood beside him, face impassive. The old man was saying how honored he was to be chosen for this historic opportunity. Alaric only half heard the man’s words; his eyes were riveted to Volka, standing behind him in a line of Galactic Marines in their formal Dress Grays. Volka wore a simple white dress and was dwarfed by everyone around her. Her eyes were downcast.

      He wanted to smack the smiling old man for hurting her.

      The voice of a familiar android came from the door. “They’ll change into envirosuits immediately after the holo-op.” 

      Determined not to show he’d been surprised, Alaric scowled more intensely at the holo. Now it was showing a woman “augmented” to look like a Stone Age statue. A male announcer off the frame said, “It’s been a while since we’ve seen or heard anything of Venus De Willendorf.”

      A female announcer answered, “Not since she became the Venus De Rubens, Mike!”

      Looking frantically for the button, Alaric tried to shut the device and the inane commentary off.

      The male announcer, “Mike,” replied, “A little bird told me that she has something very exciting planned for us.”

      “I can hardly wait!” the female announcer declared giddily.

      Belatedly remembering that the holosphere was voice activated, Alaric commanded, “Turn off!” 

      The sphere went dark. Without power, it looked like a massive, ugly, dull black pearl. Remembering Volka’s bowed head, he had an urge to throw it at the wall. He set it on the nightstand instead. 

      “Want to get out of here?” James Sinclair asked.

      Alaric’s head jerked toward the android before he remembered not to show his surprise. Sinclair looked as he always did. His unusually European facial features had not aged and never would. He was leaning against the door frame in an easy way that was incongruous with his severe expression. He held a parcel under one arm. 

      Alaric quickly ran through what he knew of Sinclair from experience and intel—the man—machine was a spy. He’d killed innocent, harmless civilians on Luddeccea before Revelation. That was the official line, but what he’d learned from Solomon painted a different picture. Sinclair and his wife—Admiral Noa Sato, sister of Archbishop Sato—had singlehandedly brought Time Gate 8’s reign of terror above Luddeccea to an end. And there was what Alaric had seen himself; Sinclair loved Noa Sato or was loyal to her at least. 

      Sinclair shifted away from the door frame. “Your doctor said if your vitals checked out, you’d be free to go. They check out now. He’d tell you himself, but he’s worked a twenty-four-hour shift. I offered to relay the news.”

      “You know my vitals?” Alaric blinked.

      Sinclair inclined his head toward Alaric’s arm. “It transmits the data to anyone with access.” 

      Flexing the hand of the arm with the augment, Alaric squelched the unease he felt about anyone reading his internal workings. It couldn’t be worse than having his mind read. 

      Sinclair added, “You should be able to sit up without pain.”

      Alaric wasn’t sure he could trust Sinclair. Still, what he’d seen of this android didn’t make him suspect a slapstick sense of humor. This seemed unlikely to be a “gotcha” moment. He gently eased himself up an inch and then another. He exhaled in relief when no jolt of agony shot through his midsection. His abdomen did feel strange, though, stiff and heavy, like he wore a tight bandage just beneath the skin. 

      “It would be good to avoid strenuous exercise,” Sinclair said. “Your lungs will be partially constrained by the scaffold holding you together. I’ve been told you might faint.”

      Alaric huffed. “I’m a captive princess.”

      Smiling wryly, Sinclair tossed the parcel on Alaric’s bed. “You’re not a captive, Darmadi. The other I can’t comment on.”

      The wry humor was shocking, even if Alaric had heard it before. He’d always been taught androids didn’t have a sense of humor. Keeping his face neutral, he glanced down at the parcel. It was clothing.

      Sinclair’s voice became serious. “In about two hours, Volka and her crew will be escorting Ambassador Zhao to a neutral location for peace talks.” 

      “You think the talks will be useless,” Alaric said, just in case he was misreading the android’s inflection.

      “I think at best it will be a slaughter.”

      Alaric looked up at him in alarm. 

      Sinclair added hastily, “I think Volka will be fine. Her ship will drop the ambassador and his attaché off at a distance from the rendezvous point.”

      Alaric stared at the holo’s dull depths. That made him feel marginally better. Still, he felt a bit of Volka’s outrage. “They could have asked my wife how it would go.” Alexis would be outraged at the waste of a life, too. 

      “They could have, but she wouldn’t be believed,” Sinclair added flatly. “Thought you might like to get a drink.”

      Alaric looked out the window. It no longer faced Earth. If Volka was injured, this was the place she’d come. “I think I’d rather stay aboard the station.”

      Sinclair nodded. “Of course. I know a place.”

      Alaric thought of the officers’ lounge. He’d been admitted there while Alexis was recovering. He didn’t want to go there now or maybe ever again.

      The atmosphere was … gray. Austere. Not at all like Luddeccean formal settings, which tended to feature handcrafted furnishings and paintings. He gazed around his room. Not that this place was an improvement over the lounge, but at least here he didn’t have to be on his guard. His gaze flicked to the android in mild annoyance—at least not while he was alone.

      Sinclair’s voice was almost nervous when he added, “Not the officer’s lounge. Noa said that you must have gotten bored with it. The food is bland, and the atmosphere is … formal. I have another place in mind, not in the travel guides, where the locals go.”

      That was … more interesting.

      Sinclair placed a watch on top of the clothing. “Oh, and I have this for you. A gift from the Republic. It connects to the ethernet and has 3,000 Galactic credits preloaded.”

      Alaric’s eyebrows rose. Spending money. Alaric needed—or at least wanted—a stylus to use on the tablet Volka had given him. He needed to write letters to his family; the Luddeccean embassy on Earth had offered to forward them for him. He didn’t want to dictate aloud, not with Galacticans around to listen. Anything he wrote would assuredly be read by Galactic spies and reviewed by Luddeccean intelligence, but he didn’t want to share with the spooks and every doctor, nurse, and orderly passing in the hallway as well. He didn’t like typing on touch screens, he preferred keys, but a stylus was as good or better, and he could purchase one on the gate’s promenade with Galactican credits.

      He didn’t need the android to go to the shops, of course, but it appeared he had him. Why was he being given a minder this time? Last time he’d just been followed. It had been comical and annoying. He supposed a minder was at least straightforward, and the opportunity to see the real Republic—more than what was really a glorified airport—was interesting. “I’ll take that drink,” he said to Sinclair. 

      The android nodded and left the room, closing the door behind him. Alaric slipped the watch on and surveyed the clothes—a light coat, trousers, and long-sleeve shirt. The fabrics were definitely Galactican, but they weren’t ostentatious or immodest. He’d blend in without feeling underdressed. He tossed them between his hands. Were they trying to recruit him? Of course they were. He thought of Alexis and his boys, his parents, brothers, and sister. Defection would destroy them. But he’d always wanted to see more of the Republic and couldn’t go home until he was better—he was allowed to play this game … just for a while.
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      Alaric tapped his newly acquired stylus on O’Flannagan’s Pub’s wooden bar. He never would have found the place himself. It was away from the main promenade, between a section of the gate where Fleet had an outpost and where Time Gate 1’s own citizens resided. “There is an O’Callaghan’s Pub near my parents’ homestead,” he commented, eyeing the mug of Guinness he was nursing. He could swallow it down and go back to his hospital room and write his letters, but he felt unsettled. He tapped the stylus on the bar.

      “There’s not a civilized place in the galaxy without an Irish pub,” Sinclair said.

      Alaric huffed. “I’m not sure you’d call my home province civilized.” 

      “I probably wouldn’t,” Sinclair admitted with the barest of smiles.

       Sinclair was drinking a whiskey called Glenfiddich. Alaric had had some on his last visit. In general, he found food in the Republic bland, especially the meat. But Glenfiddich was better than any whiskey he’d had on Luddeccea, and the Guinness was unlike anything he’d had at home—it was so rich it was practically chocolate. His bottle said Guinness was founded in 1759, and he remembered reading that Glenfiddich was founded in the 1800s. They’d had centuries of uninterrupted tradition. After Time Gate 8 had dropped nuclear and chemical weapons on Luddeccea, the planet had received an influx of refugees from the Republic terrified by the knowledge that the Time Gates were true AI. Distilleries and breweries had been closed so food wouldn’t be diverted to alcohol production. He turned his bottle around in his hand, admiring the harp logo. There was so much access to tradition here.

      He glanced at Sinclair, the android that had destroyed the time gate that had nearly destroyed his homeworld. Alaric had been told his whole life a crack team of Luddecceans had destroyed the renegade gate—the Galacticans had so much access to truth.

      “Why wouldn’t they believe my wife?” Alaric asked. She’d had the Dark in her mind. She’d know more than anyone, and he found himself angry on her behalf.

      Sinclair raised his glass and frowned. “It’s too … unbelievable. A mind-controlling entity intent on destroying humanity? Galacticans have been taught since they were young that their minds are their own, that we—my kind—can’t control them. They believe their minds are safe from …” He took a sip of his drink. “… anything.”

      Alaric felt heat rising under his skin. “I was dead a few hours ago; that is unbelievable.” 

      Sinclair shrugged. “Volka should be approaching the rendezvous point—we can stay here, or I can take you back to your room.”

      Alaric half-stood, prepared to leave, but his eyes fell on a large, dull, holosphere at the end of the bar. He looked around. The walls were milky white, and glossy, probably made of polymerized moon dust. The furniture was mostly metal and bolted to the floor. But the edges of tables were rounded smooth and polished by bodies. The bar was comfortably full with patrons, but not packed. He looked around the room at men and women talking and laughing aloud, which in the Republic was a sign of familiarity—they weren’t guarding their conversations with the ether. The place wasn’t so different from the pub near his parents’ homestead. 

      “No, let’s watch it here,” Alaric said.

      Lifting an eyebrow, Sinclair turned to the dull holosphere and the device lit from within and flickered through a dozen channels. The bartender said, “Who turned that on?” At that instant, the channel resolved, on a yellow gas giant Alaric wasn’t familiar with. The shadow of a small moon was a dark blotch in the scene. A steady female voice said, “Our delegation is approaching the rendezvous point S13O14.”

      “No, no, no,” the bartender said, walking to the holo, waving a rag. “You want politics, you listen to it over your own ether.”

      No one else seemed to notice—conversations and laughter continued to swirl around the pub. The bartender touched his temple and focused on the sphere. It suddenly occurred to Alaric that maybe the Galacticans didn’t believe in the Dark because they saw it through the ether in their minds. It must be like a dream to them. Maybe if they just watched.

      “I need it on,” Alaric declared, loud enough to be heard by everyone. The bartender stopped and turned to face Alaric. Still, all the other patrons remained oblivious. The bartender scowled, his lips parted as though to protest. Before he could say anything, Alaric continued, “I can’t ether it. I’m Luddeccean.”

      Conversation in the pub stopped. All eyes shifted to him.

      A woman in a blue dress, tighter and shorter than would ever be worn outside of a Luddeccean brothel, said, “Are you that captain?” Her neural implant flashed. “The Luddeccean from System 5 … and System 33?”

      “He is,” Sinclair answered.

      The woman’s neural implant flashed again. 

      A man wearing coveralls who would have fit in on Alaric’s homeworld except for the gold plate in his temple, said, “Let him watch it.”

      From the holo, the same calm woman’s voice said, “Preparing rendezvous pod now—”

      Alaric raised his glass to the man in coveralls. The man raised his own glass back and turned away, but not back to his conversation, to the holosphere. Alaric tipped back his glass and waited for the slaughter.
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      “Preparing the rendezvous pod now,” Rushi said, narrating the scene. The Marines were checking out the small, two-person craft on Sundancer’s bridge. Smaller by half than the tiniest “mini-cars” in New Prime, it was just large enough for two and seemed as sturdy as a soap bubble. Volka stood close to Rushi and the ambassador as the Marines worked. Volka had Carl in her arms. He wasn’t wearing his sausage suit and had been quiet and unusually snuggly the whole trip.

      Jerome, the Marine’s comm expert, said, “The moon base is in visual range.”

      Sundancer’s armor was on, and her hull couldn’t become transparent. Volka surveyed the scene outside on the holo projector brought along for her and Sundancer’s benefit. They’d free-gated into the system and were on the far side of a moon orbiting the same gas giant as the rendezvous point. The rendezvous location was an abandoned Republic research station on another moon they were rapidly approaching. 

      A singular light winked from the moon’s shadowed surface. “Receiving hail,” Jerome said.

      “Answer, and put it on holo for Volka, too,” Young said.

      The holo scene switched from the exterior view to a life-size holo of a man. Carl shivered in Volka’s arms and whispered, “Infected.” Volka swallowed her own bile. The Infected man was youngish with jet black hair, but extremely gaunt with dark circles under his eyes. He wore an expensive-looking business suit that hung on his frame. “We welcome you, Ambassador Zhao,” the Infected man said. “We are so pleased that a member of Republic Diplomatic Corps will be joining us.” The Infected man smiled. It didn’t reach his eyes, and even in the holo-view Volka could see a sheen of sweat on his brow. She felt like she might vomit. Sundancer’s interior dimmed. In her arms, Carl squeaked plaintively. Someone muttered a swear. Even Dr. Patrick, the only person in the room who had argued that this mission might succeed, went pale. 

      “I am looking forward to it,” Zhao replied, bowing low.

      Young put a finger to his lips. Jerome nodded and said, “You’re clear to speak, Lieutenant. He can’t hear anything we say.”

      Young rounded on Zhao. “Are you sure you should go alone?” The lieutenant’s body was strung tight as a bow. Sending Zhao and Rushi in alone had been Young’s only objection to this plan. When he’d voiced it, Zhao had replied, “If I go with Marines, it will be perceived as an act of aggression.” It hadn’t been a lie precisely, but the whole truth, the real truth, was that the old ambassador just didn’t want any life but his own to be forfeit.

      “Ambassador Zhao, they will infect you,” Carl said.

      Zhao sighed, smiled, and scratched the werfle behind the ears. Bending close, he whispered so quietly Volka knew no one else would hear, “Don’t worry. My brain is full of holes. They won’t learn anything from it, and as soon as I become feverish, all my cybernetic memories will be wiped.” 

      Beside Zhao, Rushi said, “All data will be recorded by my Q-comm and relayed to Time Gate 1 and the galaxy. We have made contingency plans for my body’s destruction.”

      Volka bit her lip. Carl shivered violently. The ship’s interior got darker, making the man in the holo light brighter and more lifelike. He was still smiling in exactly the same way he’d been a few moments ago, as though he were caught in a freeze frame.

      “Do we know who he is or was?” Lieutenant Young asked.

      Dr. Patrick whispered, “It’s Matt,” and all eyes shot to him. Dr. Patrick gulped. “I mean, Dr. Matthew Cordoba. We’re acquaintances. I went to school with him. I saw him at a conference just seven months ago. He’s … changed. He’s thinner … tired … wrong.”

      There was a beat of silence and stillness, and then, straightening, Zhao said to Jerome, “I’ll speak to him.”

      Jerome touched his temple and nodded at Zhao.

      Bowing again to the man in the holo, Zhao said, “I look forward to our meeting. I’m sure it will be enlightening for everyone in the Republic.”

      The man that had been Dr. Matthew Cordoba rolled forward on his feet. Volka could swear she could see him salivating. “Yes, yes, we expect to learn much from you.”

      Volka clamped a hand over her mouth to keep from vomiting. Carl squeaked piteously. Zhao smiled beatifically and bowed lower.

      Jerome cut the holo. 

      Young said again, “Are you sure about this?”

      Dr. Patrick said, “I support this in theory, however…” His gaze went to the place where the holo of “Matt” had flashed on the bridge.

      The tension was high, and Volka felt it in every cell in her body—the emotion that connected everyone on the bridge and the ship. She was afraid to speak for fear she’d pull those connections and tie them to her will. 

      Zhao’s smile faded; his body shrank. “I am sure, but Rushi—”

      Rushi’s focus was on the pod. “I am coming with you, Grandfather.” The android’s words sounded like a promise, a threat, and a declaration of love. 

      Zhao’s eyes got shiny and he stuttered, “Very … very … well.”

      Rushi slipped an arm under his, and Volka couldn’t miss how he leaned on it for support.

      Who were these two? How had Rushi become Zhao’s grandchild? Was her fierce love for her grandfather something that had been programmed or learned? Rushi was a blank, but Volka found herself slinking along the threads that connected her to Zhao, seeking some knowing of the man, but she found nothing there but determination and love for his granddaughter, both somehow enough to tame his nearly incapacitating terror. Her breath caught.

      The two entered the tiny pod, Ramirez standing at attention just outside the door.

      Carl’s voice whispered in her mind. “Zhao’s in the later stages of his disease. His mind is rapidly deteriorating. Soon he’ll lose the ability to control bodily functions.”

      The pod door slid shut as smoothly as oil.

      Ramirez turned and saluted. As he did, all the other Marines followed his lead. Dr. Patrick stood back, his expression lost.

      “Do you think he’ll live that long?” Volka asked silently.

      “No,” Carl replied.

      Volka sighed. “We need to move back to the aft compartments and allow Sundancer to open the bridge.”

      The Marines dropped their hands to their sides and began filing away, Dr. Patrick, carrying the holo device, walking between them, less rigidly. Volka took a step, and Carl spoke into her mind, “Wait, Volka, there’s something I want to do.”

      Halting, Volka whispered, “What?”

      “Mind control,” Carl whispered. 

      Volka’s lips parted, about to protest, and then she stopped, overwhelmed by her hypocrisy.

      “I’m going to take away his fear,” Carl said. “Will you help me?”

      She hesitated only a heartbeat but turned back. “How?” she whispered.

      “Think of what makes you happiest,” Carl replied. “I’m thinking that thoughts of dead rats and naps are probably not the greatest joy for humans.”

      Volka swallowed and bit her lip. Rats brought her happiness, too, but she took Carl’s meaning. What in her human half brought her the greatest joy? Her eyes rose to the ceiling, and her heart reached for Sundancer … and Carl, Sixty, Mr. Darmadi—Silas, Alaric. For an instant, time and space disappeared and everyone she loved felt as close as if they were standing beside her. Her heart leaped—buoyed higher by that feeling. If there was no time and no space, that meant she was not limited to the loves she had now. Volka closed her eyes, and her mother and father came to her heart, too. They were all connected, forever and ever, beyond time, space, and death. The sensation was breathtaking. Heaven was here and now.

      “Ah,” Carl said. “That is perfect. Open your eyes, Volka.”

      Volka opened her eyes and found Zhao looking over his shoulder at her, smiling beatifically again. They were connected, too. She felt the threads between them as a solid force.

      “Time to leave the bridge,” Carl whispered into her mind.

      Volka nodded to Zhao, tears hot in her eyes, and walked off the bridge, picturing the pod exiting for Sundancer as she did.

      A few seconds after the door of the aft compartment whooshed behind her, Jerome said, “They’re off.”

      Dr. Patrick put the holo projector on the floor. Light sprang from it, and Volka saw the tiny pod gliding toward the moon base. And then her eyes blurred. The scene changed to inky black, and Volka shivered. Carl squeaked in shock and terror. Volka blinked and saw the moon base again. The inky black she’d sensed with her heart.

      “What is it?” Young asked. 

      “Danger!” Volka said.

      “Incoming!” Carl cried. “Six ships.”

      Dr. Patrick said, “Nothing on scopes—”

      Red stars appeared around Sundancer in the holo, shimmering and slowly solidifying into ships. Volka felt sick again: they were filled with the Dark.

      Young said dryly, “Well, we’ve found six of Reich’s ships.” 

      “They’re firing phasers at us.” The voice was Sharon Rhinehart’s. She was in another compartment, but her voice came through the holo projector. Orange yellow flared in the holo. Sundancer was wearing her armor, and bits of it burned away around them. The material stretched to fill the gaps, but Dr. Patrick said grimly, “Our armor will be gone in two minutes.”

      Young cursed under his breath. 

      Over the holo device came Zhao’s words. “Do not return fire. We come in peace. Retreat.”

      “One minute until we lose the armor,” Dr. Patrick said.

      Volka’s skin prickled. Phaser fire couldn’t hurt them even without armor, but without armor they would be vulnerable to other weapons.

      “The ships have weapons of the Dark,” Carl squeaked. “Zhao wants us to leave. I’m taking us home.” 

      “No,” Young said, “Take us to where the ships came from!”

      This was their chance. Volka focused, trying to imagine the pathway of the ships that had just emerged in red pearls of light.

      “We shouldn’t just leave Zhao,” Jerome said, and a few of the other Marines echoed him. “We could free-gate around these ships and—”

      Sundancer and all inside her turned to light. When they were solid again, Sundancer’s hull became so dark Volka thought they were in a nightmare. But then she blinked and realized that the lights of electronics around her were still blinking, and if she squinted, she saw fuzzy, tiny pinpricks of lights in the distance outside the ship. Sundancer’s hull wasn’t dark; she’d made herself transparent, and they’d been “here” before. Or a place like here before. 

      “Where are we?” Young demanded.

      “The edge of the universe,” Volka whispered.

      Carl squeaked. “They free-gated in from somewhere that isn’t their base.”

      Young muttered, “That would have been too easy.”

      Volka felt the hair on the back of her neck threaten to rise. “They’re following us.” Around Sundancer, four red spheres began to glow, and Volka felt the Dark’s presence oozing along the threads that bound the universe together, ready to suck them in. Sundancer had free-gated here, without her armor. If the Dark’s ship fired, they were dead.

      Before she could say, “Get us out of here!” Shadows leaped from the ships toward them.
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      Alaric drummed his stylus against the bar. The holo was from the perspective of one of the passengers on the small pod. He wasn’t surprised when the Dark’s ships free-gated around Volka’s tiny craft, surrounding it, leaving no room for escape. The Galacticans in the pub were surprised—with the exception of Sinclair. 

      “How did they do that?” a woman asked.

      Someone beside her said, “They just came out of lightspeed really close is all.” 

      Alaric frowned. No ship came out of lightspeed so neatly, but then someone exclaimed, “What are they doing? Isn’t that an act of war?”

      “Only if they fire on the Republic ship,” someone else responded.

      An instant later, phaser fire erupted from the Dark’s ships, engulfing Volka’s craft. 

      There were gasps around the pub, and someone declared, “It is an act of war.”

      Alaric almost exhaled in relief. Finally, they understood.

      There was a flash of light, and Volka’s ship vanished. 

      “Wait, is it that ship that doesn’t need a gate?” someone asked.

      “Sending in that ship might be perceived as an act of war on our part,” a man said haughtily.

      “It didn’t fire,” a woman protested.

      “It wouldn’t need to. The ship itself is a weapon,” the haughty man replied. “Fleet has turned what could have been a peaceful rendezvous into a war.”

      Arguments erupted, but Alaric had stopped listening. “Where are they?” he asked Sinclair.

      The android’s eyes were vacant, and then his head snapped backward. “They followed the ships to where they came from.”

      “How?” He didn’t expect an answer. It had to be Galactic classified tech. 

      To his surprise, Sinclair responded. “We don’t know. The ship—Sundancer—can follow recent jumps. These ships had jumped from an uncharted location. They are …” 

      His head jerked back. “Ambushed. They don’t have armor.”

      Alaric’s blood ran cold. Volka’s ship was susceptible to the Dark’s weapons without its armor. If they were somewhere uncharted, there would be no rescue.

      Sinclair’s head jerked side-to-side in a robotic motion too fast and too forceful to be human. “They’ve returned.” His eyes got wide. “Something is wrong.”

      “Show me!” Alaric demanded, looking toward the holo. In its glow, he saw the ambassador’s pod had docked. The door was sliding open. A man with sweat on his brow and an eerily frozen smile leaned in and gave the ambassador an openmouthed kiss on the lips. Pulling back, lips grimacing, the Infected man said, “You’ll join us now.”

      The stylus slipped from Alaric’s fingers.

      In the pub, a woman said, “In some cultures, a kiss is a perfectly reasonable greeting—”

      “Not on the lips openmouthed!” someone else protested.

      “Sinclair!” Alaric demanded. “Show me what is happening to the ship.”

      Sinclair glanced at the holo where the ambassador was being pulled from the pod. The android frowned, focused, and the holo changed. It showed the exterior of Time Gate 1—Alaric recognized the moon in the background—and there was Volka’s ship. Without her armor, the ship was a shimmering pearl. She sat motionless against the moon, but something was wrong. Alaric couldn’t say what. “Zoom,” Alaric ordered, forgetting where he was and who he was talking to, but the holo did zoom, and there, on the ship’s delicate hull, were tiny veins of gray worming their way across the surface. “Heat,” Alaric ordered. “Give the ship heat now.” 

      A voice rumbled from the holo and through speakers in the room. “Aye, Captain.” The room went deathly silent, and the voice added, “Sending in drones.” At the words, in the holo’s glow, hundreds of drones shot toward the ship. 

      “Is that voice Time Gate 1?” someone asked in the hush, in the same tone someone might ask, “Is that the voice of God?”

      “Yes, it was,” Sinclair said. 

      “Nebulas,” someone whispered. 

      Alaric was too worried to contemplate their awe. He watched the drones descend on the ship, infrared pulses springing from them in concentrated beams aimed at the gray, diseased surface of her hull. 

      Sinclair murmured, “It is working.”

      The android was tied to survey devices that surely had a better view. The android also had no reason to lie. Still, Alaric worried. Oddly, not just for Volka, but for the ship itself, even though it had pulled him into more than one uncomfortable shared daydream. But the dreams had been … interesting … and necessary. It was an entity. It was alive. And it was trying, in its alien, uncomfortable way, to help. For a moment, his eyes blurred, and he saw Volka in her armor, Carl Sagan in her arms. Behind her was the landscape of the alien colony ship, around them was the familiar deep hush. Her ears came forward as they did when she was surprised, and then she said, “Don’t worry. It was a close call, but Sundancer was able to jump just as the infection began. She will be fine.”

      She’d read his mind again. He felt indignant. Her face flushed, perhaps in response to his indignation. 

      Alaric stifled his irritation. “And you will be fine, too.” He was relieved by that, all other things aside.

      Volka gave him a tentative smile. “Yes.”

      Neither of them said what was unspoken. “For now.”

      Alaric exhaled, and he was back in the pub. Conversation was swirling around him. Sinclair was staring at him.

      “Yes, it’s working,” Alaric said. 

      The android raised an eyebrow. 

      In the crowd behind them, Alaric heard someone say, “But the SH44 is the best you can do in a hover sedan—”

      “Change the holo back to the ambassador,” he told Sinclair.

      Sinclair nodded, turned his head to the holo, and an instant later, Alaric was watching the ambassador being pushed into a cell with a ceiling too low to stand and no furniture. The camera jumped forward and seemingly bounced across the floor and then rolled, its focus coming to a rest on the old man, gazing down at it in horror. “We will talk when you recover,” said the Dark Infected man who’d kissed him, somewhere out of the camera’s view. A door whooshed shut in the background.

      Around the pub, the change in the conversation took a turn that made Alaric’s heart sink. “Let’s get out of here,” he told the android. Grabbing his stylus, he turned and left, not bothering to see if he was followed.
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      Alone, in his hospital room, Alaric’s stylus flowed across the tablet, hand aching from the furious pace of his scrawl.

      —and then, Alexis, after they saw the man thrown into the cell, someone suggested that the command was for him to “recover from his trip.” Someone else suggested the cell was perfectly reasonable accommodation since it is a research station and “spartan.” Or they excused the whole scene by declaring that they “couldn’t see the whole picture.” When I left the pub, they were still arguing about whether the presence of the strange Galactican craft constituted an act of war.

      On leaving, I expressed my frustrations to my android minder. He, at least, seemed to agree with me. Such strange times we live in when androids are our allies and our fellow humans are not. Alexis, that isn’t precise. The Galacticans aren’t our enemies, and they are not evil; they just are too trusting. 

      I fear this war is one we’ll fight alone. 

      He paused, closed his eyes, and remembered … Opening his eyes, he wrote:

      I think of you now, bringing your translations to bed, falling asleep with them on your lap. I did not think it was possible to admire you more for your dedication, but being here, among so much willful ignorance, puts your quest for truth in starker contrast. It is worth it, Alexis. I know it will be. You will find some way we can defeat the Dark. 

      You put your considerable curiosity and tenacity to work for Markus, and now you fight for all of Luddeccea’s children. I should not be surprised you do so, and maybe surprised isn’t the word. Awed? 

      If anyone decries your efforts to get weere to the Republic to help in their security efforts, please let me know so I may punch them in the jaw. Someone has to be here with the sense to fear it.

      I wish I was able to help you fight. I feel next to useless now, though I’d be truly useless without the help of the Republic’s doctors. They say I will heal, and I have no doubt Luddeccea will let me come home or at least return to duty above you.

      Until then, I am, as always,

      Yours,

      Alaric

      A light blinked at the top of the tablet. The Luddeccean Embassy was in Chicago, and it was three in the afternoon there. He needed to send the missive now to give Luddeccean Intelligence a chance to approve it. He almost pressed send—and then he realized that nothing he’d written would make it past the censors. Admit that their allies would fail them? Not acceptable. Admit that he got along well with an android? Heresy. Even mention of her translations would likely be nixed because it verified her importance to Luddeccea. Just admitting that he’d needed Republic medical intervention would be considered dangerous.

      All the letters he’d written to his parents had been confiscated during Alexis’s treatment … What had he been thinking? The stylus sagged in his hand. He’d been missing his wife at the most inconvenient time, and he’d been angry after his experience in the pub. He’d lost his head. Growling with frustration, he deleted the letter and scrawled out a hasty note instead. He sent it off with not a second to spare, hoping she’d understand.
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      Alexis signed “Night, night,” but Markus had already gone to sleep. She held him a long moment. It was Saturday afternoon, and he’d had no carer today. She was grateful for the help during the week but savored the moments on the weekend when she had him alone. She almost touched his nose, but reminded herself he did need his nap, or she’d pay later. Padding softly to the crib, she laid him down and then noticed the house was unusually quiet. With two young boys, perhaps dangerously so. 

      Wondering what mischief they’d gotten into, she exited the room. In the hallway, she heard Silas’s new assistant saying, “Shall I prep this canvas, Mr. Darmadi?” 

      And Silas’s response, “Yes, that would be a big help, Joel—and call me Silas.” She heard the cheery sound of Silas’s brushes clinking in the can he kept his solvent in, but not a peep from Sam and Lucas. She went down the stairs. Hearing the boys’ voices outside, she looked out the front window. The sun had been covered by clouds all day, and it was unusually cool. The boys were passing a ball on the lawn. Sebastian, Alaric’s cousin, was off duty and kicking the ball with them. Sebastian had been there when Alaric had taught Alexis to shoot. Seeing him made her think of that last day with Alaric—everything that had seemed right that had turned subtly wrong at the last, worst moment. She shook herself. She was being overly paranoid. Standing on her tiptoes, she spied other members of her guard off in the distance. The boys could never get in too much trouble outside, she decided, going to the back of the house and the kitchen for a drink. There were so many men watching the grounds, nothing could escape their notice.

      “Meep.”

      Alexis blinked. Had that sound come from the kitchen’s door to the back garden?

      “Meep.” There was the tiniest scratch at the door, so faint she thought she’d imagined it. It was followed by a blood curdling, “Roaaaarrrrrkkkk” that made her jump.  Ptery wings flashed past the kitchen window.

      A terrified “Meeeeep!” came from behind the house.

      Alexis ran to the back door, flung it wide, and saw an enormous ptery hopping just past the stoop. Leathery wings spread, its eyes were at something just at her feet, something that was terribly small, white, and half hiding under the woven rope doormat. “Meep!” it cried.

      Another ptery landed behind the first. Shrieking, the first darted toward the tiny shape, long, sharp beak clacking.

      Bending down, Alexis scooped up the ptery’s intended lunch. Both pterys rose in the air and shouted at her. She shut the door fast, and only then did she look down at what she’d rescued. It was the tiniest werfle she’d ever seen. 

      “Oh,” Alexis murmured, holding it up and examining it. She could feel both its little hearts beating under her fingers, and its fur was downy soft. It had blue eyes, which she’d never seen in a werfle, black fur on its chest in the shape of a star, and black fur on its ear tips, nose, and the tip of its tail. “You’re darling,” Alexis breathed. She felt a jolt of fear—it could be wild and venomous—and then relaxed. It was too young. That was the only reason the pterys had dared to attack. She frowned. It was far too young. “You shouldn’t be away from your mothers and your father,” she told it. 

      “Chirp,” it replied.

      “They’ll miss you, and you need your second mother’s milk.”

      It wrapped tiny little paws around her thumbs and squeezed as though holding on for dear life. “Squeak!” 

      Outside, the pterys squawked. 

      “Well, of course I won’t put you out there with them.”

      Its chest vibrated, and Alexis bent her ear close and heard a barely audible purr. 

      “Poor baby.” She pursed her lips. “I’ve heard that chicken eggs are a near perfect food for werfles of all ages.”

      The purr increased in volume, almost as though it understood her. Alexis couldn’t help smiling. She was wearing a casual dress with wide front pockets. She slipped the creature into one before going to the refrigerator to retrieve an egg. A few moments later, she was watching the hatchling lap it from a saucer on the counter. Her mother would never have abided a wild animal on a kitchen counter, but it was so small, a misstep would squish it. Alexis ran her fingers between its ears, and it purred contentedly. She wasn’t aware of herself bowing beside it, eyes lowering until they were at the level of the creature’s own, until the doorbell rang.

      Alexis stood up with a start. Who would come on a Saturday and be able to pass through the security gauntlet without an invitation? She went cold. Was this the visit every Guard wife feared—the visit from officials to let them know their husband had died? She closed her eyes. Once, she’d almost thought it would be easier that way. Widowhood would have challenges, but at least she’d always know where she stood. But now … Things with Alaric were not perfect, but their relationship, in many ways, had just begun. The werfle nuzzled her hand, and the doorbell rang again. Squaring her shoulders, Alexis left the kitchen and went to the front of the house. She heard Silas on the stairs but answered the door herself. 

      She expected someone she didn’t know, some anonymous officers to come deliver the news that her husband had died, but it was Captain Ran. 

      “Alexis,” he said. He was wearing his Dress Greens and holding out his hand. She blinked down at it, confused.

      “Your mail. I thought I would deliver it personally,” Ran said.

      This was not how these scripts went. Madame, we are sorry to inform you … That was how the script went. For a moment, Alexis couldn’t move, but then she took the letters. The one on top was clearly Guard Post. Guardsmen were allowed to send letters by lightbeam, or, Alaric had admitted, even Q-comm if they were very far afield. They were printed by machines when they reached Luddeccea. The paper was cheap, thin, and gray, the address in a square font with ink that was smudged across the envelope. There was no postage. 

      Was it a last message from Alaric? She ripped it open. 

      The message was printed in a replica of Alaric’s small, neat hand:

      My Dear Wife,

      I am well. I am not sure when I will be coming home. I’m thinking of you and the boys.

      Yours -

      Alaric

      Her heart fell. It was short, even by Alaric’s standards. Was he still angry? She swallowed at a worse thought—but Ran wouldn’t hand her the letter and then declare, “Sorry, ma’am, he is dead.” He wouldn’t be so cruel, would he? The hairs on the back of her neck prickled. 

      “It doesn’t tell you anything,” Ran said, startling her.

      Alexis’s eyes met his.

      He smiled wryly. “May I come in?”

      No, she wanted to say. Something about this visit didn’t add up. Where was her guard? Sebastian was holding the ball, eyes on Ran, the boys oblivious, running around him, begging him to play with him. She glanced to the side.

      “I relieved your guard,” Ran said. 

      He could do that? She wanted him to come in even less now.

      “I have information on Captain Darmadi’s whereabouts,” he said. “Information that must be kept private.”

      Holding the door open, Alexis stepped aside, and Ran stepped into the house. A motion at the top of the stairs caught her eyes just before she shut the door. Glancing up, she saw Silas, Joel just behind him, on the landing. Silas’s expression was unreadable. Joel’s eyes were narrowed and glowing eerily in the shadows. She was grateful to find herself not alone, but remembering Ran had dismissed her guard, she touched her lips for silence. Silas nodded infinitesimally.

      Alexis snuck in the sign for “thank you” as she turned to Ran. Gesturing toward the sitting area in the front room, she plastered a smile on her face. Normally, the library was the place for such visits, but she wanted to stay in hearing distance of Silas. Staring at Ran’s back as he entered the sitting area, she realized she wasn’t carrying her pistol. She’d protested when Sebastian had insisted she wear it before, but now she wished she had it. Not that she was afraid of Ran. She didn’t think he’d hurt her, and yet—what if it hadn’t been Ran? Who would it be, though? What dangerous person could make it through her security? Was she being ridiculous?

      “Would you like some tea?” she asked with a practiced smile. 

      Coming to a halt, he pivoted on a heel and smiled at her. It was a smile that seemed as insincere as her own. The one she wore dissolved.

      “No, I won’t be staying long,” he said. “I just thought you’d like to know that Alaric was injured.”

      Alexis took a step forward. “He wasn’t infected?” God, no. She wouldn’t wish treatment for the Dark on her worst enemy or even Alaric on their worst days.

      Ran held up a hand. “No.” 

      Alexis relaxed.

      He paced a step, gaze shifting to the window. “His ship was destroyed and a bit of the hull pierced his abdomen when it did.”

      She crossed her arms. Abdominal wounds were deadly. Besides the risk of damaged organs, there was always the potential for sepsis. But he wasn’t dead—Ran had just told her so. How could that be?

      “He was in the Republic at the time,” Ran said. And that explained it. But did she hear bitterness in his voice? His lips made a thin line and Alexis tried to interpret the expression. Disappointment? Ran had once been Alaric’s first officer. Alaric had said Ran had been “eager to please.” That observation didn’t match his expression or tone.

      Ran continued, and Alexis swore she could hear anger in his voice. “Somehow they were able to pick him up in time and get him to the medical facilities on Time Gate 1. We have been assured he’ll make a full recovery.”

      He looked back at her. “I thought you should know.” He glanced down at the letter. “They always censor letters from the Republic.” He straightened. His lips turned up at one side in what should have been a reassuring smile. “I’m sure he’ll get on well while he’s there. Crew always used to joke that Alaric was practically a robot himself.”

      Well that … was just insulting. Alexis gave him a bland smile. “Thank you for coming here and letting me know.”

      He took a step toward her. She held her ground, and when he looked into her eyes, she refused to look away. 

      “He spent a great deal of time aboard Time Gate 1 while you were recovering,” Ran said.

      Alexis lifted her chin, never so glad of her ability to lie. “He’s a devoted husband.”

      “Really?” Ran asked.

      “Yes,” Alexis snapped.

      Lifting his eyebrows, Ran looked away. “Some might say he was too eager to spend time in the Republic.”

      “Some might say all sorts of things,” Alexis countered. Though she felt herself grow cold. How often had she heard Alaric say, “Sometimes I think I was born on the wrong side of the Kanakah Cloud?”

      Ran put his hands behind his back and paced a step away from her. “He has … connections … in the Republic.” 

      That weere. Alexis gulped. Alaric said it was over, but he’d never said he didn’t love the weere woman. Was the bitch with him now? She wrapped her arms around herself, and caught sight of Sam and Lucas outside, and thought of Alaric playing Robots and Guardsmen with them in the garden. She thought of Markus asleep upstairs, and Alaric learning sign language to be able to speak to him. “His connections here are stronger,” she said with more certainty than she felt.

      Ran raised an eyebrow. “Hmmm …”  A clock chimed in the hall.

      “Well, you would know him best,” he said, stepping too close. 

      Alexis remained immobile. Who had sent him? Or was he doing this on his own?

      “Of course he’ll come back,” Ran said. “He has you and his three boys, and you still are as beautiful as ever. How could he dishonor you?” He sounded angry again.

      “He never has,” Alexis said defiantly, and then regretted it. It was the most obvious lie. Of course Alaric had dishonored her at Stella Tudor’s party when he’d stood up for his former weere. Ran had been there, and he knew. Not that it had been any dishonor in Alaric’s estimation. In his mind, he’d merely been speaking the truth: that Volka was a hero in the war against the Dark. And Volka had been … and now she was with Alaric at his bedside, and Alexis was here. Her eyes darted to Sam and Lucas. Alaric would never leave them. The realization left her hollow inside.

      Ran gave her an indulgent smile, and she knew he could see through her lie. 

      “Well,” he said, straightening. “I can’t stay long. I’m being redeployed. I’m sure you’ll be relieved to know we have found the pirates who managed to bring the single locale gate into our system.”

      Watching Sam and Lucas chase each other on the lawn, she started. “Single locale gate?”

      He gave her another indulgent look. “The gate that was used to transport you out of the system during your kidnapping.”

      “Of course,” she said. 

      “We have all the ringleaders now,” Ran added.

      The “all” was a taunt. The other ringleaders had been Alexis’s family. Alexis was too shaken to be angry.  “They’re still alive?” Alexis asked.

      Ran shrugged. “While we have use of them.”

      Alexis’s mind whirled. “They’re infected …” Her eyes widened. “They must be destroyed, Ran … immediately. It’s too dangerous to let them remain alive!”

      For just a moment, Ran’s indulgent smile dropped. His lips parted, and she saw fear. But then he smirked. “You worry too much, Alexis. “ He sighed. “You had a traumatic experience. One that you could never be prepared for, but we know what we’re doing.”

      His patronizing tone made him sound so much like her father … but, no, Ran wouldn’t have been given command of a faster-than-light ship if he was as unreliable as her father. The Guard was very good at funneling incompetent men from important families into obscure postings. So Ran might not be a complete fool, but her mother’s words came to her mind. “Even smart men have blind spots.”

      This was too important for him to be blind. “Ran, please, it is dangerous.” She didn’t realize she’d stepped closer to him until he reached out a hand. She saw it coming toward her face to cup her cheek, as though in slow motion. She had a moment of clarity: she didn’t want him to touch her, but she felt the need to be polite. This man was fishing to see if her husband was a potential traitor; she couldn’t afford a misstep. A sharp hiss came from her pocket, and the tiny werfle she’d rescued poked its nose out. Withdrawing his hand, Ran looked down and scowled. “One of them has you, too.” The derision was thick in his voice. 

      Not quite able to hide her smile of relief, Alexis plucked the creature from her pocket. “Oh, how can you not like it? It’s just a baby.”

      Ran narrowed his eyes at the werfle. The creature wrapped itself around her hand and hissed back at him.

      “You’ve hurt its feelings,” Alexis said, scratching it behind the ear.

      “You’re too tender hearted,” Ran said.

      And you are patronizing, she didn’t say. Instead, she said, “Please be careful, Ran. I am worried for you.” It was the truth. He didn’t understand the dangers of the Dark.

      Ran softened. “I will be, Alexis. I promise. You be careful, too. Your push to get the female weere to the Republic …” He winced dramatically. “There are a lot of high-ranking officers who are upset. Those weere were important here.” 

      She bristled … they were important only so long as they were prostitutes. 

      Ran dipped his chin, eyes on hers. “And the Republic … isn’t our friend, Alexis.” His gaze flicked to the werfle. “But I know that might be difficult for a woman like you to understand.” 

      She gave a tight smile and said, “Thank you for coming over.” She wanted to remind him again that the Persians had won the second Peloponnesian War. When he left, she didn’t slam the door on him, no matter how much she wanted to. She was right to help the Republic; she knew she was. 

      The werfle kneaded its tiny paws against her fingers. “Cheep!” it said confidently.

      “At least someone believes in me.” The little thing fit on her outstretched hand, and she could feel its hearts beating and the faint vibration of its purr. She stroked it, feeling her muscles loosen and her anxiety subside. And then she froze. Ran was wrong to be blasé about the danger of the Dark, but he was right about Alaric. Her husband did admire the Republic, and he did have connections there. At a certain point, even love for their boys might not be enough to make him return—hadn’t he told her once he knew she could raise them alone? And Alaric loved Volka, and now he was alone with only her.

      In her hand the werfle made a mournful meep.
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      A few hours after delivering Zhao, Volka stood in Sundancer’s berth in Time Gate 1. It was a large cavernous room with airlock doors behind her that led to the gate proper, and airlock doors above that led to the stars. Minutes before the berth had been busy with Marines loading and unloading the ship. Now only a few Marines stood guard at the inner doors. Sundancer hovered before her, waiting anxiously, hull a faint gray with occasional flashes along its surface. Sundancer knew they would leave soon on an important mission but did not really understand what that mission was. Volka, Carl in her arms, walked toward her. Lifting her hand, she dragged her fingers along Sundancer’s surface, and light trailed in the wake of her touch. Sundancer’s keel opened, and the ship sank around Volka. She stepped onto the bridge and felt the ship rise.

      Volka walked toward the back of the craft and the side compartments opened, revealing their contents. In case they were stranded they had enough food and water for two weeks and air mattresses. They also had weapons, electronics, two gel toilets, and just enough space for the team of sixteen Marines, Dr. Patrick, Volka, and Carl to pack into when Sundancer had to open the bridge. 

      In her arms, Carl sighed, and his whiskers sagged, and a vision came to Volka’s mind unbidden: 6T9 sitting cross-legged in his asteroid’s grasslands, holding out a hand. The angle was all wrong, and she knew it was one of Carl’s memories. 

       He missed Sixty, too.

      “Hurumpf, do not!” Carl grumbled, putting a pair of paws over his nose.

      “Of course,” Volka said, scratching him behind the ears. 

      Carl sniffed. “Can’t a werfle have any mental privacy?”

      Volka narrowed her eyes at the back of his tiny head. He could shield his thoughts when he wanted to, but moreover, he read her thoughts all the time. He flicked his ears. “Well, it’s different when I read your mind without permission. You’re my pet.”

      Volka rolled her eyes and refused to feel guilty.

      Contradicting his perhaps semi-feigned ire, Carl said, “You shouldn’t feel guilty. Control is something that comes with practice. I wouldn’t be a very good parental triad member if I really nagged a hatchling for that.”

      She didn’t feel guilty for reading Carl’s mind—he’d left it open as a test; she was sure. But reading Alaric’s thoughts was a different matter. It was invasive and unnecessary. Alaric wouldn’t have withheld information from her.

      “I’ll teach you how to control your telepathy, Hatchling,” Carl promised. “But not now. I’m tired, and your thoughts are chaotic.”

      Volka’s shoulders fell. Her brain was whirring with the debriefing after Zhao’s delivery. She was worried about Zhao—the initial stages of infection were brutal. How long had it been before Alexis’s fever had begun? How long had it been before they’d dosed Ben up on painkillers and fever reducers? A day or two at most, if she remembered correctly.

      And she was worried about Sixty. She didn’t want to call him and risk distracting him. She walked into the compartment with the air mattresses, saw the “holomat” they’d used before, and had an inspiration.

      “Bracelet, could you replay my last conversation with Sixty?” It would be like looking at a photograph of him—but better. She was allowed to moon over a “photo” of her fiancé a little, wasn’t she?

      “Oh, yes,” Bracelet said. “I can even give the conversation a soundtrack! Something romantic!” 

      The holomat flickered and began to play maudlin music. Holographic cursive letters twined into the air. Volka’s ears curled as she read, Android General 1 and Miss Volka: an Epic and Unlikely Romance Between the Most Sophisticated and Exalted of Machines and a Unique, Seemingly Simple, Carbon-Based Life Form.

      Bracelet coughed. “I took some creative liberties.”

      The lettering vanished with a dramatic “pop,” and she saw holos of herself and Sixty in the gray nothing of the mindscape. He looked very handsome, even if his expression was very serious. She’d been so upset during their conversation that her memories of it were blurry and indistinct.

      The holo Volka had her head in her hands. “I’ve done something terrible,” she whispered.

      In the “soundtrack,” a cymbal crashed, and Bracelet hummed, “Dun, dun, dun!”

      Frowning, the holo Sixty whispered, “Darmadi.”

      In the real world, Volka’s ears went forward, and then flattened back. Why would the first word he said have to have been that? “Stop, Bracelet! Stop!” 

      The holo flickered out. “You didn’t like my musical selection?” 

      “No, no, it’s just …” Had he thought she’d betrayed him … with Alaric? There was no worse insult to a weere than the charge of infidelity. It was what separated them from humans. Among her kind, such an accusation demanded a defense of one’s honor—violently, if need be. She bit her lip. Her palms grew slick with worry and her heartbeat quickened. She wasn’t on Luddeccea … Sixty wasn’t a weere, wasn’t even Luddeccean … but he couldn’t have thought so little of her … could he? 
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      All was quiet between Time Gate 5 and New Grande. 6T9’s cutter still hadn’t begun reentry, and scopes detected no other ships, friend or foe. Jazz was piping from the main cabin. The humans were eating and talking. Kurz was charging. 6T9 was alone on the bridge … and thinking of Volka and her terrible mission. He wanted to see her and comfort her—but when he communicated via Q-comm, his local visual and auditory senses went offline. He blinked and eyed the cord running from his temple to the ship. Besides charging him, it gave him access to the ship’s sensors. He could close his eyes and still “see” the ship’s surroundings. The ship’s sensors provided data from the real world “predigested” into something a computer brain could easily interpret. Suddenly seized by inspiration, he closed his eyes, created a mindscape, and piped that predigested data stream into the mindscape with him. Stars stretched out around him, and the planet glowed below in real-time. He could multi-task!

      He reached out, “Bracelet, is Volka available?” 

      She might not be available. She might be with Darmadi. To keep from obsessing on that circuit breaking thought, he focused on his mindscape … and realized it made “him” appear to be floating in open space. That might be disconcerting to Volka if she joined him here. Drawing from his eidetic memory, 6T9 created a virtual replica of the cabin and an avatar of himself seated in the pilot chair sans the power cord trailing from his open face.

      “General!” the disembodied voice of Bracelet declared a millisecond later. “Volka was just asking me to replay your last virtual conversation on the holomat. I believe she would like to speak with you, winky, winky. Shall I connect her?”

      6T9’s circuits lit. Volka was available. She wasn’t with Darmadi. And she’d been thinking of him.

      “Put her through!” 6T9 replied.

      Two milliseconds later, a Volka-shaped cloud of glitter emerged between the pilot and co-pilot’s chairs in the virtual-reality bridge. Bracelet apparently had a flair for dramatic entrances. At that thought, the avatar version of Bracelet on Volka’s avatar’s wrist sparkled, and the glitter dissolved until he was staring at Volka’s profile. She wasn’t wearing her envirosuit, but a more casual dress, and boots. She looked small and vulnerable. Her eyes were wide, startled, and focused on the stars.

      “We’re heading to New Grande,” 6T9 explained. “The Infected realized that they wouldn’t be able to keep the gate, so they’re going where they can cause the most pain. I have a plan to protect the local populace.”

      Volka was standing, and he was sitting, and at his words, she looked down at him. She was close enough that he could press a virtual kiss to her hip. He’d be able to feel the sensation of it—his mind could stimulate the appropriate sensors by calculating her probable body temperature and the softness of the fabric, and by recalling how her body had felt beneath his hands. But she would feel nothing.

      She raised a hand to his shoulder, and it passed through. She frowned down at her fingers. He was just a specter of sound and light to her because this virtual ‘scape wasn’t piped directly to her neurons via a neural interface.

      He wanted to kiss her, but it would be one-sided. “Why don’t you sit down?” He inclined his head to the copilot’s chair. Volka looked at it hesitantly, and he said, “If you sit down wherever you are, Bracelet can make it seem like you’re sitting in the chair.”

      Volka went to the chair hesitantly and sat down cross-legged. Wherever she was, she was sitting on the floor, but here, they were at eye level. He smiled. Wherever she was, she wasn’t with Darmadi, and that was the important thing. “I am glad to see you.” She’d been terribly upset last time he’d seen her. She may or may not have been in physical danger, but she’d certainly been through an emotional wringer. Sensitive sex ‘bot that he was, he asked, “How did the ambassador’s drop off go?”

      Volka’s ears folded. Twining her fingers in her lap, she studied her hand. “It went about as Zhao thought it would. I couldn’t bring myself to watch the holo recordings afterward, but in debriefing, Noa—Admiral Sato—said that it was going a long way toward convincing hold-outs in the Galactic Senate.” 

      So the holo record had been something terrible. 6T9 didn’t know Rushi personally, but he knew of her, and that she was devoted to her human grandfather. It was terrible to watch a biological organism age and die. And terrible to think of what your life would have been without them … so when you had the opportunity to do it all over again, you found yourself diving right back into the pool again. His hand went to his side and reflexively touched Eliza’s ashes. Outside, the horizon of the planet below was coming closer, and he could see the lights of New Grande. He didn’t have a lot of time, and he wanted to say something that would reassure Volka that there couldn’t have been a better outcome for Rushi or Zhao. Death was inevitable, but Eliza had always believed that death was better than not using her life to give back. He understood that now. 

      Volka interrupted his thoughts. “Sixty, did you think that I … that I … betrayed you … with Alaric?” 

      His sex ‘bot operating system informed him her tone said she was hurt. On the one hand, the logical part of him wanted to protest that it wasn’t an unreasonable supposition based on her monogamous nature. On the other hand, another part of him was screaming, “Lie, you bucket of bolts!” His sex ‘bot operating system, perhaps confounded by the two very different responses, settled on, “Errrr …”

      “How could you think that?” Volka whispered.

      Again, his sex ‘bot programming told him she was even more hurt, but this time his Q-comm took control, and sounding like a robot, even to himself, he replied, “You are a monogamous species, and you are connected to him telepathically in a way you can never be with me.” 

      Volka’s ears stood straight up. “I said I would marry you. Are you doubting my word?” 

      His original operating system informed him that now she was angry. But his Q-comm was still in control. “You never said that you would marry me.”

      “Yes, I did!” Volka protested.

      Bracelet chirped on her wrist, “In point of fact, you did not explicitly agree to marry him.”

      Volka’s eyes went to the piece of jewelry on her wrist, sparkling unnaturally brightly. She ripped Bracelet off and held the device up in the air. “You and Bracelet have eidetic memories. You can talk to each other in a way I never can.”

      Sixty wanted to interrupt, to point out the obvious, the ether and Q-comm mindscapes were code, ones and zeroes, not predicated on emotional attachments to the recipients.

      But Volka charged on. “You … you … have encyclopedias open in your minds or your processors or random-access memories or whatever and calculators and maps available to you all the time, and I never will. I expect sometimes you think I am an idiot. I wouldn’t expect that you’d think I would betray you!”

      6T9’s local emotion processing applications returned: Hurt. Angry. Hurt. Angry. Hurt. Hurt. Hurt. His Q-comm, the part of him that supposedly made him smart, returned nothing at all.

      Osprey’s voice erupted in the mindscape. “Ooh … pretty fireworks.”

      An alarm blared in the real world, and since it was the ship’s alarm and 6T9 was linked to the ship, it blared in the virtual world, too.

      Standing, Volka set Bracelet down on the co-pilot’s chair. “Don’t die, Sixty,” she said and vanished.

      Phaser fire flashed on either side of the bridge. The ship wasn’t well-armed, wasn’t fast, and wasn’t particularly maneuverable. He might be lucky enough to be blown up.
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      Volka left Bracelet on the holomat and stumbled to Sundancer’s bridge, her whole world feeling like it was in pieces. Sundancer was a mournful shade of pale blue-gray, but she couldn’t make herself be happy to brighten the ship’s mood. Sixty was her anchor in the Republic. The one person in this crazy place where everyone was a walking computer who didn’t look down on her as inferior and believed in her and understood her. Or she thought he was. That he would believe something so terrible made the whole world seem topsy turvy and wrong. She could never be at home in the Republic. Her heart wasn’t safe.

       She wished for the keel to open, so the ship at least wouldn’t see her cry. At her wish, the floor opened up and Volka jumped out. She landed lightly on her feet in the hangar. It was so large and empty, she felt like it was echoing her thoughts. She all but ran toward the door. She needed a place with windows, a place not so cavernous.

      “Cat girl alert,” said one of the Marines on guard as she ran past him.

      “I’m not a cat!” Volka growled, eyes getting wet. She stepped out into the main thoroughfare of the Fleet section of the gate. The hallway wasn’t crowded, and she did run. She passed a pair of Marines, one of them saying, “Poor sucker. I’m going to cheat at the poker match and he isn’t even going to—” and then she was too far past them to hear. She raced past another set and heard “What was that?” and “Would look better in a shorter skirt,” but she was too upset to snap back at their rudeness. At the exit to the civilian area of the gate, she felt worry and concern. She couldn’t tell if it was Sundancer or Carl’s worry, but she had to get away, had to see stars, the hallway was closed in, and she felt trapped. She glanced up and met the eyes of the Marine on duty, a man she didn’t know, and had never even seen before.

      “Ma’am, can I help you?” he asked, then his lips stopped moving, but Volka heard him say clearly, “She’s someone important, I think. If she hurts herself, I’ll be the one in trouble.”

      “I just need air,” Volka gasped. 

      He was afraid to let her pass. She darted past him before he could stop her. The sliding door to the main area opened, and she dashed into the bright white light of one of Time Gate 1’s commercial concourses teeming with travelers—and so loud Volka put her hands over her ears. 

      “I should just leave him; I know I should.”

      “The stock is going to split soon.”

      “I can’t reach my dad, he’s in System 5—”

      “Should we keep trying for a baby if these miscarriages make her so depressed?” 

      “I miss you, daddy.”

      “Motherfucker.”

      She put her hands over her ears, and it did nothing to quell the noise. More than words, she saw pictures in her head, hazy imaginings that crowded her vision until she was nearly blind—people, things, sex … She turned in place, trying to see a way out of the mental barrage, but there was no escape. And worse than the words and the images were the feelings—the heartbreak, the greed, the loneliness. 

      Volka fell to her knees, hands still over her ears, eyes closed, heart racing. She was reading the thoughts of everyone.

      “Hatchling, hold on. I’m coming,” Carl cried.

      A stranger’s thoughts rang in her mind. “Ugh, a junkie.” The disgust that followed the thought almost made her vomit.

      She might have imagined or heard a hiss from Carl, and then a swear. A second later, she felt the prick of nails from a tiny paw on her knee. “Put your tongue on the roof of your mouth,” Carl instructed. “Breathe in through your nose for ten.”

      “What is that supposed to do?” Volka cried, but she did it.

      “Are you hurt?” a woman asked in a kindly voice. But inside, the stranger was thinking, “The furry fetishists would love her ears. If I recruit her for the brothel, I’ll get an excellent finder’s fee.”

      Carl hissed at the woman, and his necklace crackled. “My bite is venomous and strong enough to down an elephant.” 

      Gasping, the woman jumped away.

      Putting a second paw on Volka’s shoulder, he said … no, thought, “Now breathe out nice and slow. That’s it, Hatchling.”

      Volka exhaled.

      “How cute, an emotional support werfle!” another woman thought … no, she’d said it aloud.

      Volka almost laughed with relief until she heard their thoughts. “I wonder if I could get one for my cousin.”

      The woman asked or thought, “Where can I get one of—?”

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “Ma’am, I am on duty here! Ether the question like a grownup!” Very gently, he said to Volka, “Another deep breath, Volka.”

      Volka wasn’t sure it was working, but she tried again. And let it out slowly. She thought the voices were receding, opened her eyes, saw the floor, and then she thought of Sixty—and her mind roared.

      “No, think of deer,” Carl said. “Think of how cuddly I am. Think of how you are going to reward my cuddliness by giving me the liver of the next deer you kill.”

      Yes, she’d give him the next—Volka’s skin heated. “You’re using compulsion!”

      “Yep,” said Carl.

      Volka glared at the werfle and realized she was seeing him with her eyes, not her mind. He’d wrapped Bracelet around his neck.

      “You’re trying to distract me,” Volka accused him.

      “You will give me belly rubs now!” Carl ordered. The compulsion was thick. Volka could feel the threads of the universe tugging between her and the golden creature. She realized she could break the threads, but she didn’t want to. She pulled Carl into her arms. He rolled upside down, and she obediently rubbed his tummy. He purred, and Volka rose from her knees, her eyes blurry and her face wet.

      “What do I do now?” she asked.

      “Let’s go someplace quiet,” Carl suggested.

      Volka turned back to the Fleet section of the gate. Whatever authentication they used for her worked, and the doors opened. She stepped through, and the same worried guard as before said, “Are you all right, ma’am?” There was no secondary motive in the question. 

      “I will be,” Volka said.

      “You will,” Carl said into her mind. “You’ve taken the first step.”

      “What is the next step?” Volka asked, walking back toward Sundancer. 

      “We nap,” said Carl.

      “That’s your answer to everything,” Volka protested.

      “Because it is true,” Carl said.

      Volka might have protested again, but she yawned instead. And then she thought of Sixty and the phaser fire streaming past his window.
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      6T9 had lost the desire to remain operational. But apparently his lack of desire wasn’t enough to override his self-preservation routines: his Q-comm sprang into action, assessing the situation. Two ships behind the Osprey at two and seven o’clock. They had come out of nowhere; ergo, they had faster-than-light drives. Their phasers had probably only missed his ship because they’d been given an estimation of his trajectory. Their ships were too valuable to lose; they wouldn’t take too many risks. But since his ship didn’t have weapons to speak of, they were probably prepared to finish the job. 

      6T9 had only two defenses: the Osprey’s damaged time bands that could deflect limited amounts of phaser fire and the vast computing resources of his server. His Q-comm was humming so brightly it was overloading his visual and auditory circuitry, but it didn’t matter. He was connected to the ship via a hardlink and could see through its sensors in 360 degrees, better than he could with his own eyes. 

      He sent power to the time bands. The ship shook violently. 

      In its cheerful voice, the Osprey declared, “So exciting to hit lightspeed again! How I love to bask in the glow of the Big Bang!”

      Even if reaching lightspeed with Osprey’s damaged bands were possible, that wasn’t what 6T9 had in mind. Monitoring the heat of the phaser cannons on the ship behind him, he waited until exactly .25 of a second before they fired and then simultaneously sent his ship into a corkscrew and switched all power to reverse thrusters. The time bands amplified the thrusters’ power, and though the Osprey didn’t go in reverse, its velocity reduced so rapidly that the phaser fire missed them completely, and the enemy ships went sailing past. The crazy corkscrew hadn’t been random—and it was the only reason the Osprey hadn’t collided with the ships. 

      6T9 had a choice then. Run and hope his slower ship wasn’t worth the effort to pursue or fight … without weapons.

      It may have been an auto-destruct semi-wish influencing his reasoning, but 6T9 chose to fight. With a shout, he let the Osprey curve to port, then slammed off the reverse thrusters, engaged the regular thrusters, and sent the Osprey on a kamikaze course for the ship at seven o’clock. After all, their ships were valuable, and his was not. 

      “Yee-haw!” the Osprey shouted.

      A roar of rage and exhilaration escaped 6T9’s lips, but then red light spilled out in identical spheres from their former pursuers. For a millisecond, 6T9 thought they’d engaged a new, heretofore unknown weapon, but then the spheres collapsed, and the ships vanished. He cursed.

      “More pretty fireworks!” Osprey said. “I hope you were able to enjoy them.”

      6T9’s circuits sparked. Fireworks? The red spheres? Hadn’t Osprey mentioned something about “fireworks” before the attack? He checked. The ship had, but 6T9’s attention hadn’t been in 360 degrees; it had been on Volka. When gating through a normal time gate, there were disruptions in gravity and space-time. There had to be some sort of disturbance free-gating as well. He began checking the ship’s other sensor logs and smacked a hand on the console in front of him in frustration. The ship’s sensors weren’t sensitive enough. 

      The ship started to shake; red warning lights went on behind his eyes, telling him that a time band spark had started a fire in the main cabin. Alarms blared, and he realized he had bigger problems. “Brace for reentry,” he announced over the ship’s intercom, and began planning a new approach to New Grande. 

      Which was when Carl appeared in the co-pilot seat wearing Bracelet around his neck.

      6T9’s eyes didn’t pop out of his head. That was technically impossible. However, he did have a sudden gear-deep understanding of what that expression meant.

      “What a mess you’ve gotten yourself into!” Carl growled.

      “How are you here?” 6T9 asked.

      Rising to his back two paw pairs, Carl put six tiny paws on his hips. “Have you lost all your balls?” 

      6T9’s brow furrowed, but he was too busy avoiding a small weather drone to respond.

      Osprey piped in, “He has plenty of balls. We played chicken with fireworks!”

      6T9 blinked. The ship understood metaphors? That was more than the small local time gate above his asteroid could do. His lips quirked. “And I’m also anatomically correct,” 6T9 managed to say, the weather drone behind them.

      Making a throat-clearing sound, Bracelet whispered, “Carl, I think perhaps you meant marbles?”

      “Haven’t you caused enough trouble, Bracelet? Ganging up on a carbon-based life form’s imperfect memory. Hmph!” Carl grumbled. “You two idiots hurt and insulted Volka.” 

      For a moment, 6T9’s circuits went dark, but they lit again as another drone streaked past the Osprey, and 6T9 had to do evasions more quickly than the artificial grav could compensate for. Lights flashed warnings throughout the cockpit. His own sensors flashed warnings as his body rocked in his seat.

      “Carl, I’m trying keep people alive here!” 6T9 protested.

      “I have every confidence you are perfectly capable of crashing a spaceship!” Carl retorted.

      Compensating for his abrupt maneuvers, 6T9 demanded, “How are you here?”

      “I’m in a mindscape, you blithering idiot!” Carl snapped. “Just like you are. Bracelet is roping me in over the ether.”

      6T9 blinked. He was still in a mindscape. Of course he was. He’d never unplugged.

      “The important question,” Carl hissed, “is why I am here! You hurt Volka.”

      “And I hurt her too,” Bracelet whispered mournfully.

      “Yes,” Carl confirmed. “But you are a baby and can’t know better.” He pointed a claw at 6T9. “You, on the other hand, should have. Listen, 6T9, I love you like a hatchling, but accusing a weere of unfaithfulness is the highest insult.”

      “It was an accident,” 6T9 protested. “And a not unlikely deduction—”

      “Weere end their own lives rather than live with the shame of such suspicion!”

      6T9 might have gone briefly offline. When he came to, the heading was off. As he frantically adjusted it, Carl continued. “Don’t worry, she won’t be that foolish. But 6T9, I know something Volka doesn’t, and I’m going to tell you now so you can make up your mind and not string her along.”

      Clouds streamed by the ship. Flames from the rapid reentry rose on either side of the cockpit. 

      Carl snapped, “She will always be connected telepathically to Darmadi. She cannot help it any more than I can disconnect my brain from my once-sister Shissh no matter how much she nags me.”

      An enormous Bengal tiger popped into the mindscape between the pilot’s and co-pilot’s chairs.

      6T9’s jaw dropped. “How—?”

      FET12, the sex ‘bot 6T9 and Volka had rescued from the Copperhead and given a Q-comm to, poked his head over Shissh’s. “Hi, Sixty.” Well, that answered 6T9’s unfinished question. FET12 must have roped Shissh into this conference call.

      Shissh chuffed at Carl. “You love my nagging.”

      “Don’t interrupt me!” Carl protested. “This thing is going to blow at any moment.”

      “Thank you for remembering,” 6T9 exclaimed, adjusting power on the starboard thruster as the port side thruster started to fail.

      Shissh and FET12 abruptly disappeared.

      Shaking a claw at 6T9, Carl continued his rant. “It is innate. It is part of her hardware. She cannot make it go away. It doesn’t mean she doesn’t love you. Get over it or let her go!” He put all paws on his hips and huffed.

      Always. Connected. To someone not him. All of 6T9’s circuits went dark—and then fired to life when the tip of one of the wings ripped off, twisting the ship madly.

      “You should probably leave this mindscape,” Carl advised. “You’re probably scaring your crew half to death.” 

      6T9 ripped his mind into the real world. A gasp beside him made his eyes dart to the real-world co-pilot chair. Michael was sitting there, face contorted in fear. Ahead through a break in the clouds 6T9 saw the city of New Grande, or what was visible beyond the phaser fire and smoke. Ships of various makes were engaged in combat above the city. It was impossible to tell friend from foe. He gulped. He’d volunteered to take himself to the frontlines, hadn’t he? And he’d volunteered to do it without Volka. She was fighting on another front somewhere … or maybe she was with Darmadi. Maybe Darmadi would comfort her … again … after 6T9 failed her … again.

      “The RoboForce factory is on fire,” Michael shouted.

      6T9 glanced in the direction of the factory, zoomed in, and verified that it was in flames. And not only that …

      “They have troops stationed outside the factory,” Michael declared, and 6T9 took mental note that the man had augmented distance vision.

      6T9 smiled grimly. He’d been right to worry that someone would give away their destination to the Dark. Good thing he’d never meant to go there anyway. “I have a Plan B,” he lied.

      “Uh-huh. Can you land this thing?” Michael whispered.

      6T9, still connected to the ship’s systems, grimaced. “No.”
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            Always Connected

          

          Galactic Republic: Time Gate 1

        

      

    

    
      Dear Alexis,

      I miss the bread you serve at breakfast and fresh, Luddeccean butter.

      I miss coffee that tastes real.

      I miss our discussions of alien mythology. I remember you telling me that in The People’s myths, they went from an agricultural age to a space faring species in just over two thousand years. Maybe it wasn’t mythology, Alexis? Maybe it was real. Between beings who were true telepaths, how could there be subterfuge? How could they enjoy causing pain?

      A flash of white outside the window of Alaric’s hospital room made him look up. The window was now facing away from Earth, and against the black, Volka’s ship stood out like a luminous pearlescent teardrop. 

      He remembered her tearing away from their last conversation. It had hurt, and she had known it. Undoubtedly, she was off to something equally dangerous. She hadn’t come to see him before this current mission. He was equally relieved—he didn’t like his brain being excavated—and disappointed. And frustrated, too … he should be out there.

      Despite all those emotions, he put his hand on the chill barrier of the window. “Take care, Volka,” he whispered, and added, with the deepest sincerity, “Take care of her,  Little Ship … and yourself.” The ship vanished, but Alaric’s lips quirked. “Ah, you heard.” He knew they had.

      For a few moments, he regarded the black. Strangely, he didn’t feel any less for his wife for still having feelings for Volka. There was no contradiction. They were all connected. It made him feel fuller now, more whole, not conflicted as it once had. 

      He dropped his hand from the window, and in its reflection, he noticed a shadow in his doorway. That feeling of connectedness instantly vanished.

      His gaze met that of the android Sinclair in the reflection. How long had he been there? He’d felt camaraderie with the machine before, but now he remembered what it was—a spy—and an obvious one at that.

      Irritated he’d been caught off guard by Sinclair again, Alaric said tersely, “Good afternoon.”

      The android didn’t flinch, look away, or apologize for intruding without warning. “Good afternoon, Captain Darmadi,” Sinclair replied. “I’ve been authorized to invite you to Earth.”

      Alaric frowned, and his gaze went to the path of Volka’s ship. 

      “She won’t be back for a while,” Sinclair said. “But their current mission is far less dangerous.”

      Alaric glared at the android. He shouldn’t be surprised it had guessed the reason for his unease … but he was.

      Leaning against the door frame, the android said in a clipped tone, “You don’t have to stay a prisoner in this tower, princess.” There was a note of irritation in his voice, and it put into Alaric’s mind a memory of Solomon after an accidental dunking in a pig trough, fur plastered flat and ears pinched back.

      Alaric’s lips quirked at the mental image. “How did they pick you to be my minder?” he asked, turning away from the window. Why give a Luddeccean an android minder? It was counterintuitive.

      A muscle—or synth muscle—jumped in the android’s jaw. Its—his—eyes dropped to the floor. In a tone as underwhelmed as Alaric’s greeting, the android grumbled, “I’ve asked myself that. Several times.”

      Alaric tilted his head. “Your enthusiasm shines through.”

      “Would you be enthused by the assignment?” the android asked.

      Would Alaric like babysitting a valuable Galactican? Because babysitting was what this assignment was, wasn’t it? Even if they were trying to encourage Alaric to defect. If there positions were reversed, Alaric wouldn’t enjoy it at all.

      Sighing, Sinclair said, “The Diplomatic Corps wanted someone with Luddeccean experience.”

      Sinclair’s “Luddeccean experience” had included murdering at least one innocent civilian, whatever his later heroics had been, and his marriage to Admiral Noa Sato, Luddeccean by birth. The admiral would have been the obvious choice, if she weren’t busy. However, Sinclair had other advantages. Alaric narrowed his eyes. “And unlike your wife, you can kill me.”

      Sinclair grinned broadly. “Charming that you think my wife couldn’t kill you.” 

      Scowling, Alaric berated himself internally. Of course she could. She had to be cybernetically enhanced; she was over one-hundred-years-old and looked no more than fifty. She was probably stronger and faster than Alaric, possibly able to breathe underwater and other such gifts. He felt a stab of jealousy. For a moment he could not speak.

      Shaking it off, he returned his focus to Sinclair. The android’s grin had morphed into a look of bemusement. Alaric’s shoulders fell. If they’d given him a minder that was a simpering sycophant, he would be annoyed. If they’d tried to seduce him with a cyborg or android with carefully crafted sexual appeal, he’d be insulted. But this creature—machine—was blunt and logical. Things he looked for in friends. Perhaps the Republic’s choice of minders had been more devious than he’d initially given them credit for.

      Time Gate 1’s spin put a sliver of Earth—the cradle of humankind, their original home—in view. He didn’t really trust that Volka’s assignment wasn’t dangerous, but even if it was, what good could he do here that he couldn’t do anywhere with ether connectivity? “Where on Earth were you thinking?” Alaric found himself asking.

      Sinclair gave an answer that was impossible to refuse. “Anywhere you’d like to go.”
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            Arrival

          

          Galactic Republic: System 5 New Grande

        

      

    

    
      The Osprey passed through a scant cloud, and 6T9 experienced the gear-wracking sensation of approaching systems failure. New Grande sat at the bottom of a canyon. Their target was at the north side of the city, and they were approaching from the southwest. In between the Osprey and their target, battles raged in the sky. Closer to the surface, whisking between skyscrapers were the hovers of the city’s local police, hopelessly engaged with ships that were obviously pirate vessels, but also with fighters that belonged to infected members of the Systems 5’s own Local Guard. What had to be uninfected members of the Guard, support Admiral Nillson must have sent from the other side of the planet, were also in the fray, sometimes shooting at pirate vessels, sometimes firing on what were presumably infected members of their ranks. His Q-comm sparked and unhappily informed him that it was impossible to tell friend from foe, and with the local police force being decimated in the sky, there was going to be less police on the ground. His mission to recruit an army was more critical than ever. 

      No sooner had that realization flashed through his processors when two fighters rose from the city to meet the Osprey, their phasers hot and ready to fire. 

      “I don’t suppose our time bands are going to be able to repel their phasers?” Michael asked. 

      Osprey’s voice piped over the cockpit and cabin speakers. “Oh, yes! Do not fear, passengers! My time bands will resist multiple phaser blasts!”

      6T9 winced. Michael looked out the window. Ribbons of plasma caused by their less than optimal entry to the atmosphere and the malfunctioning bands were rippling past. He gave 6T9 a worried look. Before he could ask 6T9 for verification of Osprey’s optimism, two more Local Guard fighters plunged from above behind them, their phasers ready. The world, for a millisecond, became a confusing veil of phaser fire and ribbons of plasma, and then the ships that had been in front of them became explosions of smoke and debris. The ether and the ship’s own comm began pinging madly. 

      Michael answered the comm. It crackled with a stranger’s voice. “We’re here to escort you to surface, Osprey, on order of Admiral Nillson.”

      6T9’s shoulders loosened, and then the voice continued, “Gotta wonder how you’re transporting an army in that heap of junk.”

      Time Gate 5 must have relayed that the Osprey and her crew were critical to the defense of New Grande, but evidently the gate hadn’t explained he was raising an army, not transporting one. That was probably for the best. 

      “Thank you,” 6T9 replied. “She’s bigger than she looks from the outside.” 

      “Oh, I am, I am,” Osprey confirmed. “More spacious than you would ever believe!” 

      Fresh resistors, it was a good thing the ship was crazy.

      A burst of static came from the speaker. “What?” 

      One of Michael’s eyes got wide and the other narrowed comically.

      6T9 grinned maniacally. The Dark had to be listening; let them worry. “Fleet Tech. Surely you’ve heard of the Machaqa Spacetime Pocket theory.” 

      A confused, “Errr …” buzzed from the speaker.

      “Machaqa what?” whispered Michael.

      6T9 put a finger to his lips.

      Static erupted over the speaker. “We’ve got company! Two ships just appeared in the exosphere—”

      “Just appeared?” another voice said.

      The first speaker’s voice crackled over the ether. “They’re entering the thermosphere now. Will reach us in 4.2 minutes! Covering you, Osprey.”

      The two ships arranged themselves above the stuttering Osprey. 

      “Errr …” Michael said. “Didn’t you say you can’t land this thing?”

      Osprey’s voice piped cheerfully into the cockpit. “Never fear, if you can’t land, I am fully automated and will be happy to do it for you myself.”

      6T9 gave the ship a slightly different set of coordinates than he had intended, and then yanked the cord out of his head. “Thank you, Osprey. I’ll take you up on that.” 

      Unfastening his safety straps, he said to Michael, “Let’s get ready to disembark.”

      They hurried unsteadily through the rocking ship to the cabin. 

      The humans were belted in. Kurz was hopping back and forth, wagging his tail. “Where are ze cats? Are we going to ze cats?”

      “Get the hover packs on and all the weapons you can carry,” 6T9 commanded. None of the humans hesitated. 

       Grabbing two packs, 6T9 slung one over his shoulder and attached one to the folding shopping trolley of cat food. He crammed three rifles on top—there was more room but … “Sir!” Davies said. 6T9 spun to find a loop of silver flying from the air in his direction. Catching it, he found himself holding a roll of duct tape. “Surprised to see you have that Luddeccean invention here!” Falade laughed, duct taping pistols to his armor. 

      6T9 wanted to protest that polyethylene coated tape like they were using was the brainchild of Johnson & Johnson and Ms. Vesta Stoudt, a mother from the WWII era worried about her sailor sons losing precious seconds in the time it took to open munitions seals on ordnance boxes. But he held back the data dump, took some tape for himself, and tossed the rest to Michael.

      “Boogey in visual range!” the words were from one of the pilots and erupted from the same speaker that had been playing jazz a few minutes ago. 

      “Osprey,” 6T9 said. “You need to land this ship at the coordinates I provided—it’s very important to our mission. We need to attend to some reconnaissance and need to exit before then.”

      “I’m going to deliver the army hidden in my Machaqa Spacetime Pocket! Yes, sir! It is an honor to serve, sir. I’ll miss you, sir. All of you. I look forward to serving you again!” the ship piped cheerfully.

      6T9 didn’t feel a lump in his throat, but programming made him gulp as though he had one. “We’ll see you again soon,” 6T9 lied.

      “Yes, sir! Opening the airlock; your ears may pop with the pressure change.” The door with the hole in it opened. Of course the pressure was the same on the other side. 6T9 let the visor of his helmet fall shut and went to the back of the ship. There were snips of helmets shutting, and 6T9 surveyed his troops. Stamping their feet, shaking out their legs, the Luddecceans looked determined. Michael looked like he was trying to look determined but managed to look more frightened than anything. “Don’t worry,” 6T9 said. “I landed on Luddeccea this way.”

      “That was you!” Davies laughed. 

      “Are we going for walkies?” Kurz asked, wagging his tail. Someone had taped weapons to him.

      Static flared through the speakers, and the voice of the human 6T9 had teased about Machaqa Spacetime Pockets shouted, “I’m hit!”

      Any trace of the laughter that had been on Davies’s face vanished. 6T9 jammed a hand onto the manual release of the rear gangway. The ship opened up. Below was white, but 6T9 could see the slash of green that was the canyon in the distance. The snow was briefly painted with orange explosions. “Hold off on using your hovers until you see me engage mine—without a heat source, they may not notice we’ve abandoned ship.” A light went off in the periphery of his vision. “Now!” 6T9 shouted, rolling the little two-wheeled cart to the entrance way. He let himself and the cart fall, and then looked up. His troops were following his lead, behaving quite professionally, except Falade was holding Kurz like a teddy bear—a teddy bear with weapons taped to his body. It might have made 6T9’s circuits light, except for what he saw beyond them. There was smoke dissipating in the breeze, presumably from one of their defenders. More ships had joined the battle, and they were thankfully speeding away from them in the Osprey’s wake. Before his eyes, in the distance, another ship exploded in a flare of plasma and debris, and then another, and it was just the Osprey. The ship corkscrewed and turned. 6T9 almost laughed aloud. The crazy machine was escaping the phaser fire raining from overhead! Illogical optimism and irrationality were once again saving the day—just like it had on Reich when ColdSweeper had discovered the lost child. But then Osprey erupted into a streaking hulk of fire and plunged to ground like a meteorite.

      6T9’s jaw dropped as though he was shocked by Osprey’s destruction, though it was exactly what he expected would happen. For a moment, he’d hoped that the ship would escape.

      “Ah, damn,” said Davies. His voice now crackling over simple radio waves into 6T9’s helmet.

      Lang, the technophobic weere, said, “It was a nice ship.”

      It was a nice ship. 6T9 had mentally catalogued it as “crazy,” but it had been nice. In its final act of madness, it had distracted their enemies. He swallowed again. And so had the uninfected Local Guard forces that had defended them. Crazy Osprey, the pilots whose names he’d never even known, they had traded their lives for 6T9, his team, and their mission.

      6T9 felt heat racing beneath his skin. He’d pushed himself to the frontlines for Volka, and he was worried about her, what he might have done to their relationship, but also he worried for her. She was somewhere off in uncharted space, facing dangers probably as yet unimagined. But suddenly the battle was about more than just her. It was about Osprey and unnamed pilots as well. His lips twisted, and he used the buttons on his straps to engage the hover pack. “Engage!”
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            Unimaginable

          

          Uncharted Space

        

      

    

    
      Volka was unimaginably bored. They were at their fourth drop-off. Or maybe it was their fifth. One drop-off was blending into another. Dark infested worlds tended to all look the same—watery and covered in blackish algae, or icy, with the blackish algae in frigid seas beneath the ice.

      For this particular drop-off, they had swooped in behind a moon. Moons, Volka had learned recently, were important for habitable planets. They created tides that aided in heat transfer between equators and poles and helped maintain the magnetic field, the invisible barrier around a planet that shielded it from radiation. Depending on how the planet and moon were formed, they were sometimes responsible for a planet’s tilt, and therefore seasons, like on Earth and Luddeccea. All very interesting. But the dark sides of the moons they visited all looked the same in the pixelated glow projected on the holomat. 

      Volka stared at this moon’s projected scene. This moon, like so many others, had once been inhabited. She could make out cracked domes, and beneath those, what looked like hollowed-out buildings. It was very sad. 

      In the hallway and bridge, the Marines and Dr. Patrick were busy. She was not, and the hustle and bustle amplified her loneliness.

      For the first time since she’d fled her homeworld, she wanted to go home … and home felt like Luddeccea. She didn’t want to go because of Alaric—she wanted to go home for Mr. Darmadi—Silas—and the weere at her church. She wanted to go home so she wouldn’t feel like a freak for not being augmented. Maybe she was a freak, occasionally eavesdropping on people’s thoughts and feelings, but she could hide that. On Luddeccea, she could pretend to be normal.

      Sighing, she looked over at Carl, curled on a crate of emergency supplies. Carl was sleeping. Not because of his need for sixteen hours of sleep a day, but because, “This assignment is numbing my brain!” She considered waking him up. Last time she had, he’d threatened to bite, but would he really?

      On her wrist, Bracelet made a throat-clearing sound. Volka blinked down at her.

      “Miss Volka,” Bracelet whispered. “I have never apologized to you for my behavior in the mindscape.”

      Volka’s ears sagged. Bracelet had been unusually quiet. She supposed she had been quiet, too.

      Bracelet continued hurriedly, “It has come to my attention that I might have mistaken your inferior memory for deception. That was wrong.”

      Volka’s jaw got tight. “I suppose it hasn’t occurred to you that I don’t like my ‘inferior’ memory being brought to my attention on a regular basis?”

      “No, it hadn’t,” said Bracelet, suddenly cheery. “How interesting that you wouldn’t appreciate the reminder—being as you, of all people, might need a reminder.”

      “Would you like it if I regularly brought to your attention that you have the emotional maturity of a child?” Volka asked, struggling to keep her voice level.

      Bracelet chirped happily, “Am I really as advanced as a child when I’m only a few days old? I am progressing faster than I thought!”

      Ears flattening, Volka narrowed her eyes at the device. One of her nostrils flared.

      “That is an expression of anger!” Bracelet said triumphantly. “I am getting good at this!”

      Volka looked away, unable to answer. She felt like she had been hit with a load of bricks. Bracelet was a machine, and even if she was alive, she wasn’t human—or even an animal. Volka had always thought of the device as a friend, but to Bracelet, Volka might only be … data. Data that Bracelet couldn’t interpret very well. Her shoulders fell. Maybe 6T9 couldn’t interpret her well enough, either. She bit her lip. James and Noa were in love, but Noa was part machine, Volka was part wolf. 6T9 didn’t even like that part of her.

      At that thought, Dr. Patrick entered the compartment, Young and Jerome behind him. Young’s jaw was tight; Jerome’s shoulders tensed. 

      “Ready to launch!” Dr. Patrick declared cheerfully. The compartment was sealed before he’d finished the sentence. Touching his temple, the doctor blinked owlishly and said, “They’re away! Let’s go back to Earth to get more—”

      Just before Sundancer turned to light, Volka saw Young wipe his eyes and Jerome stamp a foot.

      They emerged solid, presumably in Earth space, and Dr. Patrick finished his sentence. “—drones!” He dragged his fingers over a bit of the wall and smiled again. “She understands me!”

      Volka wasn’t sure if that was true, or if Sundancer knew the routine by now and was as bored as Volka and wanted this assignment to be over. Young yawned into his hand.

      Echoing Young’s yawn, Carl grumbled, “I know I want it to be over.”

      The comment must have been telepathic because no one acknowledged it. Jerome’s, the doctor’s, and the lieutenant’s eyes were vacant; they were probably coordinating with the resupply ship. 

      Stretching, Carl said, “Don’t glare at me. You could sleep, too.”

      Volka gestured at the tiny space completely filled with crates, the holomat, the three men, and her.

      Scratching his rump, Carl replied, “Not my fault your skeleton is too inflexible and calcified to be comfortable sleeping in tight quarters.” He blinked, and his whiskers twitched. “Volka, you’re becoming more and more telepathic. Maybe someday you’ll be able to body hop! You could be a werfle!”

      “What would happen to my current body if I did that?” Volka asked.

      “It would most likely become a drooling idiot,” Carl admitted. He scratched his rump again. “… but only by human standards.” His eyes narrowed. “Which are admittedly low.”

      “Comforting, Carl. Comforting.”

      “I’m here for you!” Carl said, rising to his hind paw pairs and patting his chest.

      “No you’re not! You’re asleep and I’m bored!” Volka protested telepathically.

      Wiggling his tail, Carl said, “Well, I’m awake now, and it’s time to load up more drones!”

      Volka’s ears went back. It was sad that loading the little cylindrical devices was the highlight of her days. 

      “But when we drop them, they light up!” Carl said. “And they turn on their lasers!” Volka raised an eyebrow. When they lit up, Carl chased them.

      Carl touched his chest. “I don’t deny my body the simple pleasures, Volka. It’s healthy exercise.”

      “We’re all loaded up,” Young said, coming out of his ether trance. 

      “What?” said Carl and Volka aloud and in unison.

      Dr. Patrick grinned. “The supply crew was ready to go. Came aboard with the drones and have already disembarked. Saved us …” His eyes lost focus again. “Fifteen minutes and thirty-three seconds.” 

      Volka hadn’t even had to ask Sundancer to open her bridge. The ship was learning.

      Young frowned, and she felt something in the pit of her stomach, a sort of sinking sensation. She swore she heard a groan from everyone in the ship but, flicking her ears madly, she couldn’t locate the source. Beside her, Carl said, “Lizzar droppings, I need to nap on this.” He promptly dropped to his stomach and curled in a ball.

      Dr. Patrick tapped his temple and a holographic map jumped from the mat on the floor into the cramped quarters. At first it showed the Milky Way, and then the focus narrowed to a solar system at the far edge, and then that narrowed further still and became the second planet from that solar system’s sun, and then the moon of the second planet came into view. 

      “Is that a large moon, or is it just me?” Volka asked, ears coming forward. It was a reddish orange—like Mars—and hovering above a planet that was greener than Earth or Luddeccea. 

      Dr. Patrick and the Marines were in ether dazes, but Bracelet whispered from her wrist, “It is a large moon, Miss Volka. Nearly as large as Titan.”

      Volka tilted her head. “It’s …” Pretty. 

      Before she finished, Young snapped from his ether haze and grumbled, “We’ve got 2,039 more payloads to deliver.”

      Volka looked at him in alarm. It had been 193 payloads this morning. 

      Dr. Patrick snapped from his daze. “It’s completely doable.”

      Jerome, snapping from his own daze, rolled his eyes behind the doctor’s back.

      Gaze on the holo, Dr. Patrick said cheerfully, “That’s where we need to—”

      The world turned to white light. They were free-gating again, and then they were solid. Volka was gripped by a sudden and immediate sense of wrongness. Her stomach constricted, and she fought to keep from doubling over. Carl popped up with a squeak. 

      Young said impatiently, “Let’s get this over with.”

      At every other stop, Sundancer had remained opaque, not bothering to make her hull translucent, but now the stars came into view—but not just stars. Volka’s eyes went wide. Carl chirped.

      Facing the opposite direction, Young said in an annoyed voice, “Why is she—?”

      Volka gasped. “The moon. It’s gone.”

      “Not gone,” Bracelet murmured. “Transformed. Look down.”

      Volka looked down, and she saw what Bracelet had seen below her feet. A small, red, almost cone-shaped orbital above a planet that was no longer green and white with streaks of blue. Now, like the others, it was blackish and watery where it wasn’t covered by clouds. Volka exhaled, her skin starting to crawl, a rank odor seemingly beginning to fill her nostrils—a psychosomatic response to the Dark’s presence. “The Dark is here,” Volka gasped.

      Dr. Patrick began to say, “How do you—?”

      But Jerome, eyes on a tablet, interrupted him. “Volka, Lieutenant, I’m picking up some readings like we saw from the—”

      The moon started to crumble away from the ship, and then Sundancer began to shake and drift forward. 

      “—a singularity weapon,” Jerome finished.

      And that’s when Volka saw it, a thin circle of silvery metal just beyond the moon, glinting against the dark of the planet, and in its maw, complete black.

      “Sundancer, get us out of here!” Volka commanded, feeling the meaning, picturing in her mind a place she knew was safe. 
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      “Where are we?” Sharon Rhinehart asked, standing with Carl and Volka on Sundancer’s bridge, staring out at the dense ribbon of light off the ship’s bow.  

      After the run in with the Dark, the tiny aft compartment packed with the holomat, frustrated Marines, Dr. Patrick, and emergency crates had felt claustrophobic. There were drones on the bridge, safely encased in mesh … except for the one Carl was currently batting around their feet.

      “A baby galaxy,” Volka said. “One where the Dark doesn’t exist.”

      She’d had to think of someplace fast. This was where Sundancer had taken them after their first horrible meeting with the infected crew aboard Time Gate 33. It seemed like years ago, though it had only been months. It was the first place Volka had thought of—not Luddeccea, Earth, or the asteroid.

      “Oh,” said Rhinehart. “It’s pretty.” She tapped her temple and her eyes went blank. The rest of the Marines were in the back. They were very quiet. They were conferring over the ether, obviously. Volka glanced up at Rhinehart, annoyed to be excluded again. If she were tired, or angry enough, maybe she could read the woman’s thoughts. Volka scowled. No, that was wrong.

      Looking sheepish, Rhinehart dropped her hand from her temple. “They’re not sure if we should be going off to the next target. They’re deciding whether we should go to some other place in the previous system and estimating the time it would take the drones to reach their targets from different launch locales. Jerome’s got a Q-comm in his tablet—”

      Volka’s eyes widened. She hadn’t known that. Q-comms were rare and expensive.

      Rhinehart rolled her eyes. “Which means they have no excuse not to run every move through Intel as well. Which means it will take even longer to decide.” 

      Volka frowned. “We have more than 2,000 deliveries to do.”

      Wincing, Sharon said, “I think it will be more than 4,000 when all is said and done.”

      Dismay must have been evident on Volka’s face, because the other woman explained with a sigh, “With only near-light propulsion, the drones can take years to get to every outpost in a solar system. That means it can take years for lightbeam data to reach the drone carrying the Q-comm …”

      “And in all that time the Dark is gaining ground in the Republic,” Volka finished.

      “Right,” said Rhinehart. “It’s faster if we use Sundancer to drop the drones off closer to where they need to be.”

      “Four thousand outposts …” There were probably that many human outposts in Sol System alone. The People had been just as much a space going race, it would make sense they’d have just as many. Her ears flicked, doing the math. “At five drop-offs a day, that will take over two years.” The same journey over and over again, with nothing different except the occasional attack by drones or a singularity beam.

      “Could be we find the shipyard before that time,” Rhinehart said, not sounding particularly hopeful.

      They needed to narrow the possibilities, was what they needed to do.

      Taking off her helmet, Volka flicked her ears in annoyance. There had to be something special about the place the ships were being manufactured. Something that made it different … that made it stand out …

      “In point of fact,” Bracelet piped from her wrist, “It will be two point—”

      “Stop, Bracelet!” Volka said, ears flicking madly, eyes widening. They already knew a place that was different … maybe.

      “Yes, Miss Volka,” Bracelet said contritely.

      Volka couldn’t respond; her mind was grasping at a thread of inspiration so fine she wasn’t sure she could hold onto it. She looked out at the galaxy but remembered the moon. In the holo before the mission, it had been round and uniform in shape. She swallowed, her heart beating too fast. She couldn’t possibly be right.

      Carl’s voice invaded her consciousness. “Ask the questions you need to know, Hatchling.”

      Licking lips that had suddenly gone dry, Volka said, “Bracelet, I need some facts from you.”

      Sounding cheerier, Bracelet responded, “I will do my best to give them to you!”

      “The moon we just saw, it wasn’t just misshapen, it was smaller, right?” Maybe she had imagined it?

      “It was, as a rough estimate, a quarter as massive as we expected,” Bracelet replied smoothly and perhaps a bit smugly.

      “Was the gravity what we expected?”

      “No, Miss Volka,” Bracelet responded. “Gravity is a function of mass. The moon was less massive, therefore—”

      “How do you know? We had no sensors outside of the ship,” Volka said. They hadn’t had time to launch them.

      “I am very sensitive to light, and gravity alters the path of light. I didn’t require external sensors to verify that.”

      “Where did the rest of the moon go?” Volka’s words sounded harsh to herself, but she was afraid to stop, afraid to lose her train of thought.

      “I would conjecture that it was destroyed by the singularity beam,” Bracelet responded.

      “But where did it go,” Volka said. “It wasn’t destroyed, it was sucked into the beam and then it had to go somewhere, otherwise there would have been a Titan-sized gravity well.”

      “Ohhhhhh …” Bracelet sighed like a child anticipating a piece of birthday cake. “I don’t believe we could know where it went, unless we went there ourselves.”

      “Eeep!” said Carl.

      Volka straightened. “Wouldn’t that kill us?” 

      “Oh, it would utterly annihilate you, but not me,” Bracelet replied. “Well, not the subatomic particle in my Q-comm that connects me to my server. This physical form would be crushed … but that subatomic particle could be tracked!”

      Staring at Bracelet, Sharon said, “Wait, do you have a gazillion credit device on your—”

      But she was interrupted by Dr. Patrick. Entering the bridge, flanked by Young and Jerome, he said, “We’re going to drop off the drones at the eighth planet.”

      “Revised orders,” Young said tersely. 

      Jerome took a deep breath.

      Volka’s ears pressed against her head. “We should go back to the singularity weapon and drop off the drone with the Q-comm, and then track where it goes. It could be important.” 

      Dr. Patrick blinked at her. “What?”

      Jerome tilted his head. “We should find where the aliens sent their trash?” 

      Volka’s mouth fell open.

      Young’s chin dipped. “That is what you said the singularity devices are for.”

      Volka’s ears flicked. She had said that—even when Fleet insisted the beams had to be weapons. Volka believed she was right. If she was, was finding out where the aliens’ trash was really a good idea? A moment ago, the destination of the singularity beam had seemed like a stone that could not be allowed to remain unturned, but maybe it was a stupid stone and a stupid hypothesis.

      Bracelet made a sound like she was clearing her throat. “In point of fact, garbage is incredibly helpful to archeological excavations. I see no reason why excavating The People’s garbage wouldn’t be helpful.”

      “Is your watch addressing me?” Young said.

      “She has a Q-comm and is a fully sentient being,” Volka responded.

      Young blinked, and Jerome said, “I thought she had too much personality.”

      Dr. Patrick stepped forward. “We can’t do that. We need to continue our stated mission.” He looked at the Marines. “I know you’re frustrated by its expanding scope, but it’s important to keep going, to be methodical in our search.”

      Young frowned. His eyes flicked between Bracelet and Volka. “I see why you’re curious, Volka, but our mission is to find the Dark’s shipyard.”

      Volka’s shoulders fell, and she almost gave up, but then she said, “But it wouldn’t take long, and maybe, maybe, the place where they were sending their trash was—is—important. Maybe they intended to use it for something …” Her ears perked. “Maybe that could even be where the shipbuilding place is! Maybe they are using the … the … stuff …”

      “Densely packed subatomic particles,” Bracelet supplied.

      “To build stuff … or … or … for energy … or … something.” Volka bit her lip. “It’s the only destination that stands out from the others. And we could find out fast. We could drop off a drone with a Q-comm and get back to our current mission.”

      Bracelet sniffed. “A drone?”

      Young’s eyes went to Jerome. Jerome’s face was open … hopeful.

      Carl stood on his hind paws. “I think we should. At least we’d know.”

      “We’d know in a few years,” Bracelet said.

      Volka’s heart fell.

      “What?” Carl squeaked.

      Bracelet hummed. “It would take that long for the particle to be found. The universe is very big, and ohhhhh … it might not even be in this universe. The prospect is utterly fascinating!”

      “It’s not our Q-comm and not our decision. But I can talk to my superiors later,” said Dr. Patrick, taking a step toward the aft compartments.

      Young didn’t move. He stared at Volka.

      She waited for him to say no. 

      He crossed his arms. “All the stuff the singularity beams are transporting might not be in one place. It could be spread out over hundreds of trillions of kilometers. Sending a Q-comm through a singularity beam could wind up discovering absolutely nothing but trillions of kilometers of empty space.”

      Volka’s ears curled.

      Dr. Patrick said, “We have our orders, Young—”

      Ignoring the doctor, eyes on Young, Carl replied, “The People were completely non-violent—”

      “Intel doesn’t believe that,” Young countered. 

      Carl’s ears flattened. “There has been no evidence to prove otherwise, and plenty to prove that it was so.”

      Rolling on his heels, Young groused, “Not sure where you’re going with this.”

      “It’s interesting, but irrelevant to our immediate goal,” said Dr. Patrick.

      Whiskered snout still pointing at Young, Carl continued, “Finding one place suitable for waste would be difficult. If they found such a place, they would send all their waste there. They were careful about harming other species—even species that would harm them. One site limits the risk.”

      Young looked away. For a minute, Volka thought she saw the air shimmer around him, and she felt heat rising in her chest. Her lips pursed. It was Young’s frustration. She glanced at Jerome and Rhinehart and knew they were also frustrated. Four-thousand outposts was a lot, and the drop-offs were boring. They were people who liked action.

      Her eyes flicked to Dr. Patrick. He was watching the Marines, not her. She could feel that Dr. Patrick was frustrated, too—by this interruption, but not by this mission in general. What had Alaric told her once? “Science is often tedious. Discoveries can take years or even decades of setbacks and false starts and require meticulously executed experiments and data collection.” Maybe for Dr. Patrick the current mission seemed … normal?

      “Jerome, run it by Intel,” Young said, and Volka smiled. 

      Gaze losing focus, Jerome blinked. “Sent.” A light flashed on the tablet.

      Dr. Patrick said, “In the meantime, we—”

      Jerome’s tablet flashed again. “No fucking way.” 

      Young’s eyes shot to Jerome and narrowed. Volka felt her cheeks flushing at the swear.

      Adam’s apple bobbing, Jerome said, “Errr … that was their exact reply, sir.” The tablet flashed. “They won’t waste a drone, even one that doesn’t have a Q-comm, sir.”

      Young scowled at the floor. “Well …”

      Bracelet chirped from Volka’s wrist. “Use me, Miss Volka, oh, please use me! Drone-Q4536921 has no interest in this experiment, but I do.”

      Volka’s jaw dropped open. “I couldn’t do that.”

      “Why not?” Bracelet asked. 

      “Because you’d die,” Volka replied. She thought of the darkness, the nothing between the stars, and sending the tiny device, barely born, out into that … nothing. 

      “Miss Volka, I am not alive,” Bracelet said.

      “But you think and feel,” Volka protested.

      “Hmmm …” Bracelet hummed. “Miss Volka, we might be experiencing a cultural difference. I think, indeed, you might even say I feel that I would like to go on this mission. It would be so interesting!” 

      Volka was vaguely aware of Dr. Patrick clearing his throat. Clasping the wrist with Bracelet and pulling the device closer, she whispered, “But we might not be able to find you! It wouldn’t be interesting for you while you waited out in the middle of … of … who knows where. You wouldn’t have your body and wouldn’t be able to see or hear or feel anything.”

      Bracelet chimed, “But I don’t need a body to see, hear, or even feel, Miss Volka. In a mindscape, you can’t feel or touch or smell … but I can if I choose. All those sensations are data, and in a mindscape, I can choose the data I want to experience and how I want to experience it. I wouldn’t have any competing obligations; the virtual universe would be mine to explore … virtually.”

      “You’ve been in a digital mindscape, Volka?” Jerome asked.

      Dr. Patrick cleared his throat again.

      Paying no attention to either of them, Volka stared down at the device anchored to her wrist, and her heart constricted. “Bracelet, the way you describe it … would being allowed to be in a mindscape be … be … freedom?”

      “I suppose it would,” the device said.

      Volka gulped. 

      “We are still not going to go back to the previous drop-off,” Dr. Patrick said. “Those aren’t our orders.” 

      Volka looked up. The doctor was speaking pointedly to Young.

      Gaze on Carl, the lieutenant’s jaw ground. “No, they aren’t my orders.”

      “Miss Volka,” Bracelet whispered. “You and all the humans here are putting your lives on the line. Sixty and Carl are putting their bodies on the line—and they like their bodies. I have no real attachment to mine. I would be risking nothing by going, and since Jerome has TAB23948—”

      A tiny “blip-blip” sounded from Jerome’s tablet.

      “—I am really not needed here,” Bracelet said. “But I might be very much needed on the other side of that singularity beam.”

      Volka stared at the device. She hated the idea of sending it out into the cold and the dark. But Bracelet said she wanted to go. How could she deny her? It was Bracelet’s body. But it also seemed like suicide … there was no immediate need. They could convince Fleet to use a different Q-comm ... maybe. Volka blinked. But based on Bracelet’s words, maybe the Q-comm—or the computer on the other end of the chip assigned to the Q-comm—wouldn’t be interested in the task. The drone wasn’t. The tablet was apparently not expressing an interest.

      Young took a deep breath. 

      Volka looked up and saw him narrow his eyes at Carl. Carl, standing on his hind legs, scratched his rump.

      “Well,” said the lieutenant in a booming voice. “We better go drop these drones off at the eighth planet.”

      And there was her excuse to not send Bracelet off into oblivion. 

      “Right,” she said. The Marines and the doctor filed off the bridge in front of her, and as she waited, Carl spoke telepathically into her mind, “I am liking that Young more and more. I might even like him enough to make him one of my pets.”

      Volka looked down at the tiny creature. He winked at her. “You weren’t paying attention. Young suggested that after we make the next drop off, before we go back to Earth, we make a detour back to the shattered moon and drop off Bracelet accidentally like.”

      “He didn’t …” Volka said.

      “Oh, not over ether or in words,” Carl said. “Fleet would have recorded that. No, he thought, and I quote, ‘Hey, Weasel, scratch your butt if you hear me.’ And I did. And then he said, or thought, ‘Look, I can’t defy orders without risking being permanently reassigned, but if you want to drop off the holo-watch after the next payload, I wouldn’t do anything to stop you. Technically, Weasel, you, Volka, the ship, and the holo-watch aren’t Fleet. And we need you too much to fire you.’”

      “We’re not going to do it, Carl!” Volka mentally protested. Holo-watch? Young didn’t even know Bracelet’s name. “It’s cruel.”

      Carl stopped and rose to his hindmost paw pairs. “Cruel to let Bracelet do what she wants to do because you feel like you lost Sixty and are afraid of losing someone else?”

      Volka’s lips parted, prepared to argue, but then she swallowed. It was true. She was afraid of losing Bracelet, and maybe it was because she felt like she’d lost Sixty. Although, if he believed something so low of her, had she ever really had him?
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      6T9 walked in the shadow of a building on New Grande, rifle at the ready. The last time he’d been in the city, he and Volka had visited an upscale residential neighborhood deeper in the canyon. The canyon walls had been verdant and green, the streets whimsically paved with cobblestone, and there had been trees planted in beams of light carefully aimed at them from mirrors high on sparkling towers. 

      Now he was in a dark alley in the manufacturing district. It was closer to the canyon rim and colder. Where he could see the canyon walls there were only a few spindly trees of the sort he’d seen in Libertas. They’d been imported before the Luddeccean system broke off from the Republic, and although not native, they thrived. From here they appeared to be branches stuck in the ground, not living things. Up close, he knew they would have small iridescent leaves almost like scales, hugging their surfaces, capable of producing energy even in extreme cold. 

      The buildings here did not sparkle. They were utilitarian blocks of poured concrete, relieved only by emergency exits, fire escapes, and loading docks. Cracked asphalt was beneath his feet, and storm drains gaped. He could hear the trickle of water echoing up from below. Unlike that day with Volka, his current team had encountered no civilians … or anyone. Unlike that day, they were taking care not to.

      Davies and Falade were behind him. Falade had been relegated the chore of cat food transporter. Michael and Lang were just ahead. Kurz, their robotic canine, was a few meters beyond them, near the next intersection. The dog looked back at them and wagged its tail—the coast was clear. Before they followed the dog, Michael looked at Lang. The weere gave a thumbs up—he did not sense the Dark. Signaling back to them, Michael, Lang, and Kurz turned the corner.

      In 6T9’s mind, the ether sputtered to life. New Grande’s mayor’s voice flooded his thoughts. “New Grandeans, this is your mayor, reminding you to stay in your homes. Boil all water. Do not admit any—”

      There was a hiss of static, and then another voice, smooth and feminine, announced, “Citizens of New Grande, we bring you peace. Do not be afraid. Come, meet us, and be well.” It was a very different message than the blood curdling one delivered to 6T9 when the attack had first begun. The real Android General 1 had been one of the Infected that had delivered that message, and data recall of that event made the hairs on the back of 6T9’s neck rise—all the Infected, former pirates, and former local security forces alike, had stood in the same stance, spoken, and made the same facial expressions in unison.

      Now they weren’t delivering threats; they wanted to infect.

      The infected woman’s voice began again. “Are you lonely? Are you afraid? We are here to help you—”

      The ether cut off, again.

      Michael was waving for the rest of them to follow his lead, and 6T9 snapped back to the real world. The next street looked like the previous one, except perhaps grimier. There were several dumpsters and discarded food wrappings, which meant the gray, box-like building the dumpsters abutted employed humans, not just robots and androids. Humans were undoubtedly necessary for product testing at their destination. 6T9’s eyes fell on a pair of heavy-duty emergency doors by a dumpster. A light went off in his mind. That was where he needed to go. He’d just have to figure out how to get inside.

      The dumpster lid lifted.

      Rifles and pistols were on it an instant later. The face of a tiny, tortoiseshell kitten with green eyes emerged. “Meow.”

      Several curses erupted around 6T9.

      Kurz’s tail wagged so hard it was a blur. “Kätzchen!”

      The tiny kitten blinked its eyes at 6T9, and an Unidentified Caller pinged 6T9’s mind. 6T9 answered and was immediately greeted by, “Hello, 6T9. My human pets refer to me as the Illustrious Mao. You may call me that, or Mao the Illustrious if you prefer. Are you prepared to serve us?”

      6T9’s eyebrow hiked, and he asked aloud, “How did you find us?”

      “There are cat eyes on every block of this district. We’ve been following since you landed,” Mao replied.

      6T9 tilted his head. “We?”

      Lang’s head jerked up and behind them.

      Swinging his rifle around, 6T9 aimed in the direction of the weere’s startled gaze … and blinked. Peering over the edge of the roof were cats. 6T9’s mechanical mind automatically began counting them, but they moved too quickly, leaping to a fire escape, streaming down the stairs, launching themselves onto the top of another dumpster, and finally to the ground. More erupted from the storm drains.

      “More kätzchen!” Kurz declared enthusiastically.

      “Servant,” Mao declared, hopping up onto the lip of the dumpster. “Where do we need to go?”

      “Did it just call me ‘servant?’” Lang hissed, and 6T9’s eyebrow hiked. Lang was definitely wave sensitive if he’d “heard” that.

      6T9 pointed to the double doors. “In there.” Turning and picking his way toward the entrance, cats streaming around his ankles, 6T9 surveyed the heavy-duty locks—two total, and there might be an old-fashioned sliding lock on the other side too. His Q-comm sparked, identifying their make. Stifling a curse, he said, “They’re not computerized. We’ll have to blow it open.”

      “An explosion will draw the enemy,” Davies stated calmly, like it was just a matter only of fact, not like he had an opinion, or as though it were something that would put his life on the line. A tiny kitten rubbed against Davies’s ankles, and the sergeant gave a backward leap that wasn’t calm at all.

      “Leave this to us!” Mao declared.

      “Did it speak?” Lang said, backing away and almost tripping over another cat. Falade, Michael, and Davies all shot nervous glances at the weere.

      “Yes,” said 6T9. “They said they’ll take care of the door.”

      “How?” Michael asked, giving perplexed looks to the felines weaving between his ankles and milling about the alley, with no particular rhyme or reason; one was spraying a corner. It didn’t look promising. Carl had limited telekinetic abilities but using them knocked the werfle out. The locks were huge, industrial affairs. Would two or three cats sacrifice themselves for the effort?

      As if in answer to his question, every cat in the alley abruptly stopped its random grooming, dawdling, greeting, sniffing, and marking. They turned to the door, their bodies became rigid, their eyes focused, and each lifted its front left paw. Tilting his head, Kurz asked in a confused voice, “Puppy pointers?”

      The cats crouched in unison, focus still on the doors. Every one of them swished its tail in time to some secret beat with the same flick to the left at the end of the final swipe. 

      6T9 forgot to faux breathe, his Q-comm firing, remembering the Dark speaking in unison …

      From the locks came a click, clack, and a scrape. The doors burst open, revealing a long dark hallway. The cats rose from their crouched positions … or did not. Some rolled over and stretched. Some licked their hindquarters. Most ran to the cart of food and began to meow, for all the galaxy like cats, not quantum wave-bending members of The One or like the Dark. Many Unidentified callers began pinging 6T9 at once. Picking up the cat food, he ignored them and strode into the building’s interior, the humans and Kurz in step behind him. On either side of him were inactivated RussianDoll sex ‘bots, one of the many models in the True Love Doll factory.

      “Mew,” sounded from his ankles, and the Illustrious Mao’s voice said over the ether, “I am hungry. Feed me, servant.”

      In the real world, Falade stammered, “These are going to be our … our … army?”

      Looking back, 6T9 saw all the humans crowded at the entrance, their expressions ranging between fear and disgust. 6T9 blinked and followed their gazes. On either side of him were identical naked female bodies, pressed together in semi-fetal position. They hung from hooks on a conveyor belt that snaked along the ceiling. Their eyes were closed, faces expressionless, and their skin sallow. Their hair was completely covered by flesh-colored skull caps to protect it from dust. 

      “Not at all creepy,” Michael commented.

      A light feminine giggle sounded from down the line, and the click of heels followed it. “I am so glad you don’t find me creepy.” At the end of the aisle of bodies, a woman appeared. Tall and whip-like, she had red gold hair and wore a dress featuring traditional Russian embroidered patterns, but it was skintight with a low front. 6T9’s Q-comm informed him in traditional Russian attire, there would be a blouse beneath such low décolletage. Not so for RussianDoll. She sashayed down the aisle between the inactivated ‘bots with the poise of a high-fashion model. Drawing to a halt, she put a hand on a hip and spun ninety degrees.  Looking over her shoulder at them, she drawled with a Russian accent, “Gentlemen, you have found True Love.”

      Her eyes were knowing, but it was a lie. 6T9 knew she knew nothing. She was an innocent in the most important ways. She loved all humans and could not harm them. She was completely helpless before human desires and 6T9’s plans. Volka was already angry with him. Could she forgive him for what he was about to do?
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      “You’re thinking like a human,” Carl said. They were in the aft compartment with the holomat and all the crates alone. The other members of the team were on the bridge. Sundancer had made herself transparent, and if Volka looked past her feet, she’d see the dark side of a moon, presumably of the previous system’s eighth planet.

      “I am a human,” Volka protested telepathically. She swallowed. Humans didn’t communicate telepathically. They used the ether to talk mind to mind, a subtle distinction.

      “You don’t like it when Bracelet judges your reactions based on the psychology of a machine,” Carl countered, standing up on a crate so his whiskers were at the level of her nose. “Don’t think your wants are her wants. If you do so, you turn her into a slave.”

      Volka felt like she might vomit. “Sixty gave her to me,” she replied, and then instantly regretted the words. It made Bracelet sound very much like a slave.

      “No, he did not!” Carl retorted. “He gave her the option of earning her keep on your wrist.”

      Volka’s heart fell. She was in the wrong, and she knew it. Would Sixty let Bracelet face the void on her own? Her shoulders fell. When Volka had first turned down his offer for help, back on Luddeccea, he’d let her. He hadn’t forced her to come with him. He’d let her choose certain death and probably torture.

      “Bracelet, do you really want to go through the singularity beam?” she whispered.

      “Oh, yes!” Bracelet said. “I do! I do!”

      “I might never see you again,” Volka blurted.

      “Well, that is a possibility if you are sucked into the beam and are crushed, or if you are infected by the Dark, or if you experience an aneurysm, or if you fall out of your bed and break your neck, are hit by lightning, or catch a virus—”

      Carl sniffed, and his necklace crackled. “As much as I enjoy visualizing Volka’s grisly death—”

      “You enjoy it, Carl?” Bracelet exclaimed. “Are you a psychopath? How interesting.”

      Carl looked heavenward and eight of his tiny limbs went slack. “Volka, you have to make up your mind soon. We’re about to head back to Earth and Time Gate 1.”

      Volka’s ears swiveled. Sure enough, she could hear the sounds of the Marines and Dr. Patrick. Some of them were heading back into the aft compartments.

      “What do we do?” Volka asked him.

      “Discreetly drop her on the bridge and then picture what we want Sundancer to do.”

      From the bridge, she heard Jerome say, “All of the drones are fully operational with strong signals and are in contact with the Q-comm.”

      “Time to head back,” said Dr. Patrick.

      Young said, “Why don’t you check those signals once again, Corporal?”

      “He’s stalling!” Carl declared. “I’m going to go help.” Leaping from the crate, he streaked out of the aft compartment and headed for the bridge.

      “Who set your tail on fire, little guy!” Rhinehart declared. She must have peeked into the compartment because a moment later, she said, “Volka, are you all right?”

      “I’m …” Volka stared down at her wrist. Her glove was on, but she could see the device because the glove had a circular window right above Bracelet’s face. Bracelet had bought the glove—possibly even designed it and had it custom made for Volka.

      “If you’re having trouble disconnecting my Q-comm, I can guide you every step of the way,” Bracelet declared.

      Volka’s ears folded. Oh, that was right, she didn’t need to send all of Bracelet, just the Q-comm chip. Fumbling with the glove, she pulled Bracelet off and stared down at the device.

      “Just flip me over,” Bracelet supplied.

      Volka did.

      “Now, just slide me open,” Bracelet said.

      Volka stared at the smooth bottom of the device. There was no way to slide it open as far as she could see—though Sixty had done it so easily. She pressed her thumb on the back, pushed … and her thumb slipped.

      “Here,” Rhinehart said. “I’ll do it.”

      Volka hadn’t noticed the woman come in. She stared up at her—Rhinehart was tall for a Galactican and Volka was short for anyone. Sharon’s hand was outstretched. On the bridge, she heard Carl declare, “So, ya got a human name for this star cluster?”

      Dr. Patrick named a string of numbers and letters and then said, “It was in the briefing notes,” annoyance clear in his tone.

      They had to get this done. Volka handed Bracelet to Rhinehart. She did what Volka did, at least as far as Volka could see, but Bracelet’s backing popped off. Sharon reached in, pulled out the shimmering chip, handed it to Volka, and then closed Bracelet back up and handed her back.

      “Thank you,” Volka murmured half-heartedly.

      “Now what?” said Sharon.

      On the bridge, Volka heard Carl say, “But it needs a prettier name. May I suggest, ‘The Rat’s Intestines?’ The way the planets are not quite aligned does bring that lovely sight to mind. What do you think, Doctor?”

      “Corporal, is your signal check complete?” Dr. Patrick asked.

      “Errr …” said Jerome.

      “We better get this to the bridge,” Volka said, leaving the compartment.

      “‘Rat’s Guts?’” suggested Carl, as Volka entered the crowded bridge, Rhinehart behind her. “Is ‘Intestines’ too scientific?” The werfle was standing on his hind paws, one paw on his chest, one waving expansively to the system beyond him. He looked very stately, and several of the Marines were clustered around him. At the sight of Volka, Carl dropped all ten paws, shot a glance to Young, who shot a glance to Volka and back to Carl. Carl rubbed his rump and declared, “Time for my nap,” and scampered to the back of the ship.

      Peering over Jerome’s shoulder, Young cleared his throat. “I see you have the signal. Let’s go.” He gestured with a thumb to the back of the ship, and the Marines filed off the bridge.

      Dr. Patrick exhaled in relief and followed them, not even noticing Volka. She walked to the center of the bridge, dropped the chip, and headed back the way she had come. Rhinehart was waiting for her. Before she entered the hallway, the woman whispered, “Lots of people wouldn’t let a Q-comm go—it’s worth a gazillion credits! It’s a good thing you’re doing.”

      Volka’s ears folded. She didn’t know what to say. Bowing her head, she walked toward the aft compartment. Carl’s thoughts invaded hers. “I’m trying to tell Sundancer what to do.” A scene unfolded in Volka’s mind. Sundancer going back to the singularity beam, opening her hull, dropping off Bracelet’s chip, and then heading back to Earth.

      Volka entered the compartment, and Sharon joined Carl, Young, Jerome, Dr. Patrick, and Volka there. The door closed. Dr. Patrick said, “It will be good to get back,” and touched the wall. Nothing happened.

      Volka felt her stomach constrict. Carl was replaying the sequence of events for Sundancer.

      “We’re not going anywhere,” Dr. Patrick commented.

      “Give the weasel a minute,” said Young.

      Volka stared down at the empty device in her hands. She could probably still talk to it—and it would talk, but it would say, “I am sorry. I don’t know the answer to that question,” more often than not.

      The scene Carl was imagining for the chip drop-off played again and again in Volka’s mind, but in her stomach was an ache, loneliness, fear, and she saw the snow of Libertas as though from below …

      “Errr … Volka, maybe you could help?” Carl asked.

      … Sundancer didn’t like dropping off Bracelet, either. It reminded the ship of her lonely time beneath the ice. Volka had to reassure the ship it wasn’t forever or even a million years. She closed her eyes and pictured everything as Carl had—but after they dropped off the chip, she imagined it spinning into the singularity beam, having its exterior stripped away so all that was left was the single particle that was Bracelet’s connection to her vast computer mind. In Volka’s imagination, Bracelet’s precious subatomic particle was a glowing speck of light. She imagined that speck traveling through the beam to a place far away, and then Sundancer swooping in, discovering the glowing speck, and bringing it home. That was how it would happen, after all, even if it took years. Would they really retrieve the glowing speck? They could track a single particle, but catch it and hold it? Volka didn’t know.

      “It’s working!” Carl thought.

      Volka opened her eyes, and they were turning to light … and then they were solid again but … but … but … Did someone scream?

      Volka felt like her heart was falling into her abdomen, as though nothing was left there to hold it up, and as though her entrails were being pulled out of her, stretching … stretching … stretching …

      A siren wailed.

      At the edge of her consciousness, someone shouted. “Something is wrong with Tab!”

      But Volka was too busy trying to gather up her insides to comprehend their meaning—if she could just catch the rope of her intestines with her fingers, they’d be a lifeline, she’d be able to pull them all back … home.
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      James and Noa had lived on Earth off and on for decades. But the Cusco City hover terminal didn’t register as home to James. He was on edge, hyper alert, his Q-comm not drifting off on its usual “flights of fancy,” as Noa called them.

      The terminal was nearly indistinguishable from every other one on Earth. It bustled with travelers, shops on either side of the concourse were selling overpriced food and souvenirs with only the vaguest of connections to the local culture, and here and there news holos played. The anchors were familiar throughout most of the inner systems. Only the commercials were local.

      The hover port stood out in only one way. It was 3,300 meters above sea level and the air was thin and dangerous to his “Princess.” James Sinclair was monitoring Captain Darmadi’s vital signs as he guided the Luddeccean through the foot traffic. The captain walked too stiffly, and his breathing was shallow and rapid. He couldn’t inflate his lungs fully, but his oxygen levels were still acceptable.

      “It’s very busy,” Darmadi commented. He spoke the words quietly. The man wasn’t like Young, who always spoke as though he were trying to project his voice across a football field. Nonetheless, Darmadi’s words carried through the terminal. It was a public place filled with strangers where communication was almost exclusively through the ether.

      The Luddeccean man was probably comparing it to Time Gate 1. “Not particularly for a hover port,” James replied, noting every face that turned their way.

      James was supposed to be hospitable. That usually meant small talk, something that James did not excel at. But James always tried to excel at his job, so he added, “Planet-wide hover travel is ubiquitous.”

      Darmadi’s eyebrows rose. “Travel between the gates is not?”

      Did the Luddeccean sound disappointed, surprised, or curious? James had a three-quarter view of his face but couldn’t read his expression. Not for the first time, he questioned the wisdom of being given this assignment. “It is more expensive,” he said, watching for the reaction that provoked. He knew that Luddeccean propaganda had most of the Galactic Republic in hunger, poverty, and despair.

      Darmadi’s face showed no reaction.

      Frustrated, James’s Q-comm sparked, and he added, “World Heritage sites are very popular. Machu Picchu, the Sacred Valley, and Cusco are sites that most Earthlings take in once in their lives. It’s not out of reach for them.” Air travel on Luddeccea was still very expensive, according to Fleet intelligence. Civilian space travel in the Luddeccean System was almost non-existent. It was a dig, and James shouldn’t have said it, obviously. Darmadi’s eyes got distant, but then his lips quirked, and he took a deep breath that was probably a necessity in the thin air, not an expression of emotion. “My request to see Machu Picchu wasn’t exceptional, then?”

      “I’m not complaining. I’ve always wanted to come. I do like human history.” Somehow, he and Noa had never gotten here.

      Darmadi cocked his head. “You’re interested in our history?”

      “It’s my history as well.” It was a point James made with other machines frequently.

      Darmadi huffed, in laughter or oxygen debt. “Homo sapiens machina?”

      James’s circuits sparked pleasantly—in surprise, and at the turn of phrase. He smirked. “A branch of Homo sapiens cyberneticus.” He hadn’t expected such easy acceptance of the idea. It wasn’t an idea well received by Galactican humans or even other machines. A common refrain among his fellow Q-comm bearers was, “If anything, we are children of the gates. Their sentience wasn’t intentional, or desired, on Homo sapiens part. Humans are not forbearers of the gates or ourselves.”

      “Homo sapiens cyberneticus,” Darmadi said. “I suppose that is my species now.” His eyes went longingly to a bar. “It’s an excuse to have a pint of the local specialty. Need to remember I’m human.”

      James’s eyebrow rose. It was not yet noon. There was no data that indicated Darmadi was dependent on alcohol. Was his accident and separation from his family harming him psychologically more than anticipated?

      The captain growled and a muscle in his jaw jumped. “As much as it pains me to admit it, I’m finding the beer and whiskey on Earth better than I’ve had at home.”

      “Really?” James asked, genuinely surprised. “I always thought that Luddeccean agricultural products are superior.”

      Darmadi grimaced. “Your meat and cheese is bland, and your bread is a boring tasteless sponge.” His shoulders fell. “But … In the decades after Revelation, food wasn’t allowed to be used for alcohol production. Even scraps went to feeding pigs and chickens or plowing into land to bring Earth microbes into the soil for future crops. Local alcohol production—legal production—has just restarted. A lot of knowledge was lost.”

      James remembered the shiploads of humans that had emigrated to Luddeccea after Revelation. “Luddeccea accepted a lot of refugees.” There had been a lot of people who had left the planet, too … but more had come.

      In a dry voice, Darmadi said, “To escape brutal repression from the likes of you.” The sarcasm was evident even to someone without neural hardware shaped by a million years of evolution to understand inflection. James hadn’t wanted this assignment, in part, because he believed that Darmadi was hopelessly prejudiced against androids—the man had suggested throwing 6T9 out the Merkabah’s airlock, after all. But maybe it was as Noa had said, “That was personal. Even if his relationship with Volka is over, he doesn’t like 6T9 within five hundred kilometers of her.”

      The jealousy-inspired murderous urges between 6T9 and Darmadi were mutual. What a curious case of convergent evolution between Homo machina and Homo sapiens.

      “What?” Darmadi asked.

      Which was when James realized he was smiling. He wasn’t supposed to do that unconsciously. When had that bug crept into his code? “Still musing over being Homo sapiens machina.”

      “Hmm,” said Darmadi, eyes slipping to a holoboard outside the bar. His comment about beer and whiskey must have been heard because the display had switched from “Try our Pisco Sours” to “Serving Chilean Millacoru Single Malt Araucanía Whisky and Peruvian Cusqueña Dorada Pale Lager.”

      They’d stopped walking, but the captain’s heart rate was elevated, his breathing still too rapid. “The train has alcohol and a better atmosphere,” James suggested. Trains were, by custom, still the only way to access Machu Picchu—besides going by foot. Importantly, the train would be descending toward Machu Picchu, taking some strain off Darmadi’s lungs.

      Darmadi’s attention shifted to the travelers and the blinking lights of all the various advertisements. “Sounds good.”

      They began walking again, and Darmadi frowned. “No recruitment posters.”

      James grinned—on purpose. “Posters would be very quaint.”

      Darmadi huffed. “No electric, buzzing and blinking recruitment holos for Fleet.” He gasped. “How are your recruitment numbers?”

      “They are stable,” James replied.

      “Stable? There is a war going on in one of your systems …” He took a breath. “You have a natural disaster in another … Your Fleet is stretched thin. You need more men.”

      It was James’s turn to frown. “The Galactic Senate believes that between Fleet and each system’s local guard forces, we have enough ships and manpower.” Not that James believed it.

      “You’ve already been outmaneuvered and overpowered,” Darmadi snapped.

      James played the part of good intel officer. “The volcanic eruption in Shinar is a one-time event and is being managed. The Dark is contained in System 5.”

      “Lizzar shit it’s contained,” Darmadi replied. “You don’t believe that.”

      James’s expression didn’t change. He prepared to lie—

      “No, you don’t believe it,” Darmadi said decisively.

      He’d perceived the truth in milliseconds. It was fascinating how humans could do that so well—at least when truth was what they were looking for and not just comforting lies.

      “There isn’t much I can do about it except advise them that they’re wrong.” James continued walking, and Darmadi fell into step.

      Modulating his pace to not strain the human’s lungs, James added, “Many of them remember Time Gate 8’s attack on Luddeccea. They were told that machines would rebel, and humans would be annihilated. That didn’t come to pass. Now some people are claiming the human race will be annihilated again. You can understand the general skepticism.”

      “That was over one hundred years ago. People don’t learn history that well,” Darmadi protested.

      “People remember their personal histories quite well.”

      A muscle in Darmadi’s jaw jumped. “That’s right. You live forever here.” They walked a few more paces, and the human whispered, “And so it will be Luddecceans who will be doing the bulk of the fighting and dying.”

      Static jumped under James’s skin. “Says the man who is only alive because of Galactican technology.”

      That earned him a glare. They arrived at an intersection where a life-size holo switched abruptly from an advertisement for attractions in La Paz to news from Shinar. In the holo’s light, a peaceful scene from the sea near Shinar’s eruption played. An announcer outside the camera’s view intoned, “According to Fleet, the evacuation of Shinar is now under control.” It was. Noa was in charge of it. “However, Fleet is being criticized for its slow response to the situation in System 5.” James’s eyebrow lifted. The response was as fast as it could possibly be.

      Expression incredulous, Darmadi said, “Do they expect you to travel faster-than-light when you’re not that technologically advanced?”

      There was no missing the barb. “Not that technologically advanced yet,” James snapped back, and then added, “Some people are unafraid to criticize their government.”

      “But your media doesn’t see fit to air only the rational criticisms?” Darmadi retorted.

      The Galactic media was obsessed with viewership, not rationality. Noa could rant about it for hours. Jaw tight, James conceded the point. “Touché.”

      Darmadi raised an eyebrow, but then the scene shifted.

      Two announcers appeared to stand in front of Darmadi and James, a man and woman. Sporting identical gray bangs, their faces were augmented to appear slightly older than the twenty-something ideal—probably to give them an air of authority. The woman flashed a bright smile. “But we interrupt this program to bring you the latest update on the artist formerly known as Venus de Willendorf. He then became the Venus de Williams.” The woman smirked at the male announcer. “Bet you think I got that pronoun wrong, don’t you, Bob?”

      “You didn’t?” the announcer, who must be Bob, said in a tone of faux surprise.

      “I did not make a mistake! He is now Michelangelo’s David!—”

      A human with all relevant male anatomy appeared between the announcers. His skin was augmented to appear marble white. His features were sculpted to look like the original David by Michelangelo—even to the extent that the hands were unnaturally large. The only thing different was this David wore a fig leaf and was probably not five meters tall.

      “As you know, he always declared his love for the artist known as the Le Génie du Mal.” A human sculpted to look like the statue Le Génie du Mal—a Lucifer with a brooding expression, batwings, and Grecian robes—appeared next to “David.” “But Le Génie du Mal has never expressed interest in any of His, formerly Her, incarnations. Will this finally do the trick?”

      “He’s certainly got my attention!” Bob declared.

      The female anchor’s smile gleamed. “And the attention of every plastic surgeon in the nearest seven systems! Venusites—or shall we call them Davidites? —are queuing up for surgeries to look just like their idol!”

      “And it’s no wonder,” Bob declared. “It’s no wonder.”

      A warning light went off in the periphery of James’s vision. Darmadi’s blood pressure and heart rate had spiked. “I am fighting for this?”

      James grabbed him and steered him toward the train station. People were starting to notice him—or Darmadi—at any rate. James saw a few hands go to temples and eyes grow glazed. They were filming the captain.

      Darmadi protested breathlessly, “How can … people with … genuine gender dysphoria … not protest? How is this not a mockery of their pain?”

      That was not the direction James would ever had anticipated Darmadi’s protests to go. He’d expected talk of heresy and godlessness.

      “I know that poverty exists in the Republic,” Darmadi continued, breathing too quickly. “That people with the need for plastic surgery can’t … get it.”

      “As though Luddeccea does better?” James demanded.

      “What we have isn’t … wasted … on frivolity … on publicity stunts,” Darmadi countered. “And we do have charities … for the … poor.”

      “Conditions in the Republic vary widely,” James said, knowing his tone sounded remote and clinical. “In some systems, all medical care is free.”

      He wasn’t sure if Darmadi heard him. Waving a hand, the captain panted. “Luddecceans will be dying for that … stunt.”

      Static flared along James’s spine. It took six seconds before he was able to speak. “Not just Luddecceans will die.” Noa could die.

      “You won’t die.”

      “My wife could,” James hissed. And then where would he be? What would he be? His devotion to Noa was a choice, code he had written—where would he be if he lost that choice? It wasn’t something he wanted to think about. It was something Noa insisted he should. But changing the code violated the code. He had an if-then loop he knew he could circumvent if he focused on it. But he didn’t want to.

      For sixteen blessed seconds Darmadi said nothing, but then he whispered, “And you accept that?”

      James’s nostrils flared. “She always says there are worse things to die for than the luxury our citizens have to not worry about anything more than their favorite holostar’s most recent antics.”

      Darmadi snorted. “Such as?”

      Drawing to a halt, James retorted, “Such as dying to rid your system of AI and cyborgs that pose no threat.”

      “Not all AI are like you, friend. I’ve had the opportunity to meet them.”

      There were reports of AI visiting the Luddeccean System and causing harm. Reports from the man beside him. Darmadi claimed AI had murdered Luddeccean civilians. They were unsubstantiated. 6T9 didn’t think it was impossible, and Darmadi didn’t seem in the habit of exaggeration, but there was no proof, and regardless … James began leading him down a wide ramp paved with an Incan inspired motif that glittered with holo-gold insets. “The Republic has passed laws recently that will dissuade any AI from committing those atrocities. AI that commit crimes in Luddeccean Space will be tried as though they’d harmed a Galactican.”

      “If you catch them,” Darmadi panted. “And … it doesn’t bring back the dead.”

      “No, it doesn’t,” James retorted. “Do you suggest reparations? Because if you are, there are millions of survivors of Luddeccea’s cyborg cleansing post-Revelation. They would love to claim reparations for what they lost in property and to sue for abuse endured during torture.” He thought of Noa’s time in a concentration camp, in conditions so squalid she nearly lost her life. How did you compensate for that? He thought of his own time aboard a Luddeccean warship … Circuits fired, and a routine initiated that snapped him to the present.

      He immediately noticed two girls, too young to be augmented, giggling in Darmadi’s direction. Eyeing them suspiciously, James guided Darmadi onto the correct platform. The girls were touching their temples, probably communicating. James was fairly certain he knew what about. Passing his ticketing information to the train with a thought, he shielded Darmadi from their view with his body and ushered the Luddeccean into the first class dining car. The girls peeked through the window, but James directed Darmadi to the other side of the compartment.

      Darmadi sat down stiffly. “Touché,” the Luddeccean muttered.

      James didn’t comment; he just picked up a menu—helpfully printed on paper—a nod to tradition on the train.

      The waitress—human, in perhaps another nod to tradition—had just walked away with their order when Darmadi snapped in a tone thick with sarcasm, “You know you’re doing a bang-up job of being unctuously agreeable in a bid to get me to defect.”

      James tilted his head. Mimicking Darmadi’s sarcasm, he said, “And you’re doing a bang-up job of conforming to every Luddeccean stereotype I’ve ever had.” Darmadi hadn’t taken his commentary on Venus De Willendorf or David in the direction James would have anticipated, and his casual acceptance of Homo machina was certainly circuit sparking.

      Darmadi narrowed his eyes at him, and then smirked.

      James smirked back.

      Darmadi smacked his hand lightly on the table. His lips parted as though to speak, and then his eyes got vacant, as though he were connecting to the ether. His heart rate and blood pressure shot up, and he pitched forward. James was around the table second later, jostling silverware and glasses. Was it the altitude? “Waitress, bring tea,” he ordered.

      Darmadi whispered, “Volka … Little Ship … where have you gone?”

      James’s Q-comm fired. Was it a “telepathic” incident? “Captain?” James whispered. He’d watched Volka, Carl, and the Marines in telepathic episodes—but they’d never had a physiological reaction this severe.

      Darmadi grabbed his arm and met his eyes. “You must talk to your friend, the Sixty … unit. You must find out where they are. If they are.”

      “If they are?” James asked, trying to determine if he’d misheard, or Darmadi had misspoken.

      “Goddamn it. She’s gone,” Darmadi said.

      “Gone where?” James asked.

      Darmadi stared at him blankly for 2.3 seconds, and then whispered, “Beyond everything.”
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      The alarm was still wailing. Volka’s hands were grasping at empty air at her midsection, looking for the cord that she knew was there. It was the cord of her life. The cord of everything, the connection between her and Sixty, Silas, Ben, Alaric, Alexis, Noa, James, Earth, Luddeccea, everything. She gulped down bile. It wasn’t just her connection to everything that had slipped. It was Sundancer’s connection.

      “Volka!” a woman called.

      She couldn’t find the cord. She grasped frantically, trying to find it and failing.

      “Volka!” the woman called again.

      “I’m trying to find the thread!” Volka cried, hands extending, still finding nothing.

      The alarm continued to wail, and she heard Dr. Patrick say, “Get Dr. Elam. I think the little guy’s in shock.”

      The wailing alarm became a keen.

      “The thread of what, Volka?” the woman said. Hands landed on her shoulder and spun her around. She found herself staring up into Rhinehart’s eyes.

      “The thread of everything!” Volka cried, and then realized that some threads were still here: Sundancer, Rhinehart, Young, Dr. Patrick, Jerome, and Carl were here in this tiny space. Carl … she looked over at the werfle; he was wrapped in a thermal blanket, and Dr. Patrick was cradling him in his arms. Carl had been the “alarm” she’d heard. He’d been the one wailing. “He’s unresponsive,” Dr. Patrick said.

      Everyone looked at her. She knew they did, but she couldn’t focus on their gazes. With so many bodies in the compartment, it should be warm, but it wasn’t. Volka wrapped her arms around herself. She started to shiver, and then her teeth began to chatter. “So … cold.”

      The humans exchanged glances.

      Jerome said, “Tab’s signal is intermittent.”

      Volka shuddered. Q-comms were supposed to be able communicate anywhere, and nothing could interrupt their signal. Was it related to the everything that she and Sundancer had felt slipping away?

      “Do you have any idea where we are?” Young asked.

      “Negative,” Jerome replied.

      “What’s happening to the ship?” Rhinehart asked. “Her hull is getting dim.”

      Something inside Volka tried to focus on their words—something that resembled the taste of hot deer blood and the smell of grass and earth, that delighted in the sound of rats scurrying behind logs, and the sight of a rabbit in the brush. But all she could think about was how cold it was. Teeth rattling, Volka asked everyone and no one, “Is it cold in here?” She had to know that answer to answer their questions.

      From the floor, Bracelet answered, “The temperature has dropped 1.2 C.”

      “Your suit should be keeping you warm,” Rhinehart said.

      Jerome said, “Readouts say her suit is fine.”

      Volka grabbed Rhinehart, just because she was nearest. “It’s Sundancer!” Volka exclaimed. “Sundancer is cold.”

      “Can she get us home?” Dr. Patrick asked.

      Volka swallowed, focused, and felt like she was collapsing inward. Everything was frigidly cold. She had the bleak sensation that she was turning to ice. Worse than ice—she could see her atoms in her mind’s eye; it wasn’t just her cells that were freezing, it was her atoms—the particles that spun within them were slowing their orbits. Soon they would stop entirely, and then she would stop along with everything and everyone within her. Shaking herself from Sundancer’s sensations, Volka ground out through chattering teeth, “No, she is too cold!”

      Rhinehart pulled away from Volka’s grasp. “Sir, the hull is getting darker. With your permission, I will initiate recovery.”

      “Wait,” Dr. Patrick said. “Don’t you think we should assess the situation?”

      “No time,” said Young. To Rhinehart, Young added, “Do it.” Everything became a blur. Rhinehart was lunging for one of the crates. Jerome was saying, “Rhinehart, Tab’s signal is intermittent. That means—”

      “They won’t work reliably. I’ll use them all,” Rhinehart grunted.

      “All of them?” Dr. Patrick said.

      Before Volka could ask, Young was in front of her, and his hands were on her shoulders. “Volka, Rhinehart’s getting some fusion grenades. You remember those from S33?”

      “Little Boys,” Volka whispered, but not fission bombs like the first Little Boy dropped on Hiroshima, fusion bombs. They would produce heat, even in vacuum. They worked by quantum teleportation; their fuel was someplace else. They pulled it here when activated—wherever here was. That was how they could get something with the power of 15 kilotons of TNT into something as small as a grenade. She blinked and looked past Young’s arm. The crate Rhinehart had opened was filled with the grenades. Volka’s eyes went wide.

      “They need to be outside Sundancer,” Young said. “You have to tell her.”

      “Right,” Volka said. Scrunching her eyes shut, she pictured the grenades exiting through Sundancer’s keel and turning to blooms of flame.

      She felt Sundancer understand and felt the ship trying … trying … but she was so weak … She couldn’t last too much longer …

      “Something’s wrong,” Young said. Volka opened her eyes and saw that the usual opening hadn’t appeared in the wall—instead, at about Volka’s shoulder height, there was an opening barely large enough for a werfle.

      Volka started to say, “I don’t think she can—”

      Stuffing the grenades through the gap, Rhinehart said, “If she can open the keel, the pressure will suck them out. We can detonate these remotely.”

      “Not without extending the signal,” Jerome said.

      Spinning away from Volka, Young tossed something at Rhinehart. The Marine caught it in midair and tossed it out the tiny opening. Volka heard whatever it was—an ether extender? —clattering in the hallway with the fusion devices that had more than enough blast power to blow up a continent … or a few.

      The room darkened, and around Volka, lights in suits turned on. Teeth chattered.

      “Take these, too,” Jerome said, fumbling with his utility belt and tossing another device to Rhinehart. She caught it with one hand and shoved another fusion grenade into the hallway with the others. Young was going to another crate, muttering, “We’ve got more in here.”

      They weren’t panicking; their movements were deliberate. Unafraid. And it was reassuring. But Volka felt sad … Knees buckling, Volka sank to the floor. “Oh, no, no, no …” she whispered. She heard a clacking and realized it was Dr. Patrick’s teeth chattering. Everyone’s teeth were chattering.

      “What’s wrong?” Dr. Patrick managed to say. “It’s … not … this … cold.”

      Volka looked up and saw tears slipping down his cheek.

      Jerome said, “Ship is … cold … telepathic … cold. Sad.”

      Volka’s eyes snapped wide. “She thinks it’s not going to work.” That was the sadness Volka felt. Sundancer thought she’d failed.

      “Don’t … let … her … think that, Volka,” Young ordered, opening another crate. “You’re her leader; you can’t let her give up.”

      Dr. Patrick looked down at Carl and through his chattering teeth, said, “I’ll put him in a crate … in case … she can’t seal this … room.”

      “Everyone, seal your suits,” Young said, handing what looked like sensor drones to Rhinehart.

      They weren’t giving up. Volka couldn’t, either. “I won’t let her.” She looked at the busy people around her. She knew the Marines in the other compartments would want to be busy, too. Picking up Bracelet, she said, “Transmit this to the other Marines. ‘Think positive. The ship is afraid. But we have a plan and it will be all right.’” She felt the words as she said them.

      “Yes, Ms. Volka,” the device replied. “Transmitting now.”

      Putting on her helmet and gloves and sealing her suit, Volka closed her eyes and concentrated. She felt the strings between her and all the Marines on the ship and Carl … who wasn’t quite Carl … his string was too thin. She wanted to investigate, but sensed they were running out of time. Biting her lip, Volka focused on Sundancer and tried to imagine the cords between the ship and everyone aboard growing stronger and stronger, becoming unbreakable. “You have nothing to be ashamed of, Sundancer, we are all in this together.”

      Whatever this was.

      Volka held her breath. And realized Sundancer was holding the equivalent of her breath, too. Volka felt lighter, sick to her stomach, and more afraid. The ship was losing her control over gravity—that had never happened before. Volka didn’t open her eyes, but in her mind she saw everything from a dizzying angle, like she was watching everyone in the ship from every angle at once. She heard Young command, “Turn on heating pods,” and saw Marines in the other cabins take out more of the little devices she had thought were sensor drones and turn them on. She felt Sundancer’s relief. Volka saw outside of the ship, too. It was the deepest, most unfathomable black. There were no pinpricks of starlight anywhere, no heat, and no strings to follow home.

      “Open, Sundancer,” Volka whispered. “We will give you light.”

      She felt Sundancer’s keel opening, and the rush of cold that came with it. Through Sundancer’s eyes, Volka saw the trail of mechanical devices as they slipped out into the blistering frigid dark. The sensor drones were radiating red light, infrared, heat. Where they passed, Sundancer’s interior lightened faintly, and Volka felt the ship’s gratitude for that tiny sip of life.

      “Shit, it’s cold,” Jerome said. “Heat pods are going to snuff out.”

      “Here are more,” Young said, and as though through a kaleidoscope, Volka saw him handing more to Rhinehart. She also saw Dr. Patrick leaning over the crate he’d put Carl in, as though he could help reinforce its seal. The Marines—the new guys—in the other cabins were shuffling nervously—one was even laughing nervously—but the ones who’d been at S33 were focused. She could hear them in her heart or her mind, “Come on ship, you can do it!” They had no idea what was happening, but they’d heard Volka’s request via Bracelet, and they were doing their best to help.

      “Sir,” Jerome’s voice crackled in Volka’s suit. “Devices are not at a safe distance, but the heat pods are being drained too fast. The fusion grenades’ electricals are freezing. If I don’t detonate now, I may not be able to.”

      Volka heard what he didn’t say, too. “The ship’s keel is still open, and the blast could melt us.”

      Young’s calm was as deep as an icy lake. “Detonate one,” he replied. And once again, Volka heard his unspoken words. “If we don’t detonate, we’re dead anyway.”

      There was no sound, but Volka saw the blossom of heat and light she’d promised … only it was barely the size of the grenade itself and snuffed out almost immediately. More of a bottle rocket than a 15 kiloton weapon. “It didn’t work,” Jerome said, voice shaking, and hands shaking, too. Volka felt his panic beginning to rise. “I think the intermittent signal I’m getting on Tab … I don’t think the fusion grenades are getting the material they need to fully—”

      “Detonate some more,” Young ordered … and oh, he heard Jerome’s panic too; he understood it, felt it himself even, but was not going to let it affect him. Young was forcing himself to stay calm, trying to project that calm to Jerome. He wasn’t pulling the strings of the universe to do so, but it worked. Volka noted all this with detached wonder that might have been hers or Sundancer’s. Being a leader meant pretending.

      “Yes, sir,” Jerome said, echoing the lieutenant. Jerome knew that Young’s calm was feigned and knew at the same time that panicking would be doom. Sundancer felt it all, and Volka felt it, too. Volka felt the ship’s bafflement. Sundancer knew that there was communication going on from the ebb and flow of the pair’s emotions, but the ship did not know how the communication happened. It occurred to Volka that even if Sundancer could learn to parse sound waves into words, she might still be baffled by the subtleties of tone.

      A second later, another explosion bloomed and snuffed out. “Keep detonating,” Young said in a steely voice. Another grenade exploded and got slightly larger than the first two. And then another. And another …

      Volka saw the keel reseal. Felt it, too—it was like taking a breath after being too long underwater. The ship’s interior was still dark, the humans’ teeth were still chattering, and gravity hadn’t returned, and yet every Marine cheered at the same time. Or maybe they didn’t cheer; maybe they just had a sudden rush of hope.

      Another bloom went off outside … larger than the ones before it. And another larger still.

      Gravity returned. Light came back to the compartment. Volka didn’t just see it with her mind’s eye, she saw it through her lowered eyelids, and she smiled. She felt sunlight on her face and knew it was Sundancer basking in the glow of a tiny artificial sun. She swore everyone in the ship released a collective ahh … But then the tiny sun outside began to fade, and as one the ship and everyone within her sighed.

      “Didn’t even damage the ether extender,” Jerome said, scowling at his tablet.

      “Detonate them all,” Young said.

      “Yes, sir,” said Jerome. The remaining grenades outside the ship went off one by one, each detonation getting larger and larger—and suddenly the ship was surrounded by flame.

      There was a collective exhale of breath, and Volka opened her eyes.

      Sundancer’s hull was transparent, and the world outside was gold. Where it touched the ship, it seemed to bubble and boil. The view on every side was the same, and gravity was back, so Volka’s feet were anchored firmly to the floor, but she had the feeling the ship was twirling with joy. She laughed and saw other smiles break out, too. The door opened fully and a second later, a head peeked in.

      In Volka’s helmet, there was a crackle of a radio, and then Carl snapped, “Dr. Patrick, thank you for possibly saving my life. But I want out!”

      Helmet visors snicked open, and Dr. Patrick sheepishly got off the crate he’d thrown himself on top of. It popped open without assistance and Carl bolted out and up onto the top of another stack of crates. Stretching, he said, “Well that was distinctly unpleasant.”

      “Do we know what exactly happened?” Young asked Carl.

      Carl turned his bewhiskered snout to Dr. Patrick. “You want to describe what you think happened?”

      Dr. Patrick flushed. “That is just complete conjecture.”

      “Yeah, well, I don’t have better,” Carl quipped.

      “Go on, Doc,” Young said. “What happened?”

      A few more curious heads peeked in the doorway. Sundancer’s entire hull showed outside, and they appeared to be floating in molten gold.

      “Well …” Dr. Patrick looked at his feet. “Quantum entanglement and quantum teleportation don’t experience interference with space or time.”

      “But they did,” said Jerome. He scanned “Tab.” “Although Tab seems fine now.”

      Tab chirped.

      Dr. Patrick’s eyebrows hiked. “Well, there was a theory that the rules for both only extended to the edge of the universe. Nothing can go beyond the edge of the universe. The universe is everything, not just space, but time. You cannot leave it … in theory.”

      “I thought we were on the edge before,” Jerome said, “when we went looking for the Dark ships.”

      “There were no stars this time,” Volka whispered, and she felt Dr. Patrick’s unspoken question. “How are you sure of that?” but he didn’t ask. Instead, he replied to Jerome. “We were on the edge the last time. I think we may have accidentally dived through the edge.” He looked up at the golden plasma flowing around the ship. “And maybe expanded the universe a bit—it’s the only reason your Q-comm can be working again. How many kilotons were those grenades?”

      “The first weren’t taking,” Jerome said, following Dr. Patrick’s eyes. “So I ignited the last eleven all at once.”

      Volka couldn’t do that math in her head very well, but she understood it was over 150 kilotons of TNT.

      To her surprise, Dr. Patrick said, “Seems like there is more out there than that.”

      “Maybe it’s more than your fusion fuel out there,” Carl said. “Maybe Jerome just set the aliens’ garbage dump on fire.”

      Someone laughed and murmured, “Typical.”

      “There couldn’t be more stuff outside the universe,” Dr. Patrick protested. “The universe—our universe—is all the stuff.”

      Sundancer was so happy at that moment that Volka bounced on her toes. It was a good thing, because she thought if she thought about that, she might get a headache.

      Carl squeaked and rose to his last paw pairs. “We got outside it!”

      Volka almost snickered. Sundancer was so happy, it was making her drunk.

      Dr. Patrick touched his nose as though he had glasses there. “Yes, but—”

      Young interrupted. “Can we go home?”

      Everyone blinked at him. Grinning goofily, the lieutenant waved his hand at the ceiling. “I get it, from the colors, the ship is happy, but can we go home?” Through gritted teeth, he added, “I feel like it is an important question, but I can’t stop smiling.”

      Volka’s brow furrowed. “If the universe is everything, that includes time … are we still in the same time … or did we stumble into a different time when we accidentally fell out of the universe?”

      Dr. Patrick laughed. “That’s a question I shouldn’t be laughing at.”

      “Okay, you big dumb monkeys,” Carl said. “I’ll let her know we should go home.”

      Volka snickered.

      “Big dumb monkeys?” Jerome asked. “You aren’t overwhelmed with happiness?”

      “I am channeling my joy in more productive directions. I derive great happiness by being grumpy,” Carl said. “Now to picture home—” He closed his eyes. “Whelp, no, we’re not going there right away.”

      The words should have filled Volka with terror, but she was still happy. She felt anticipation instead of fear.

      Smiling, Young said, “No? Are we going somewhere else? We’ve got about two weeks of food.”

      And Volka felt it … more strings! Giant strings, powerful strings that were getting more powerful with every beat of her heart. They were pulling Sundancer toward them, and Sundancer was so happy to go! Because Sundancer was happy, Volka was happy, too.

      Carl purred. “We’re going to meet someone.”

      “Yes,” said Volka, giving in and bouncing on her heels. “Someone else is here!”

      Sundancer at that moment broke through the surface of “the dumpster fire.” The turn of phrase made Volka laugh. The “dumpster” was, from where she was standing, more like a strangely shaped sun, spilling out across the nothing, turning the awful cold into something hot and alive. It was, she sensed, another string for the ship to cling to when she danced from star to star.

      “Up!” said Rhinehart.

      In the light of the new sunlight, ships now gleamed in the dark. Not just any ships though. Ships shaped like water droplets that were the color of pearls. Hundreds of them were warming, coming to life before her eyes.

      Volka gasped. Her heart leapt.

      The new ships were overjoyed—to be alive and to see their lost child. Carl had been right about that. Sundancer was a baby. The other ships were old, so much older than Sundancer. Volka felt it. She beamed at the elder ships. “You’re wel—”

      The scene around her vanished. Volka was staring up at her mother through blurry eyes. She could smell her, taste her, feel her—and then Volka’s life passed before her eyes. Everything—the good, the bad, the ugly bits she tried to forget. The playback didn’t stop until just her previous heartbeat, when she’d tried to say, “You’re welcome,” and been cut off. A sound like wind filled her ears, every word she’d ever heard, from her mother’s first, “Volka, little Volka … welcome to the world,” to Rhinehart’s, “Up!”

      They understood the words. Volka was aware of that. She almost smiled … and then any remnant of the joy Volka had felt earlier cracked and turned to fear. A wave of disgust passed through her. And she knew how terrible she was. Selfish. Violent. Evil. She almost threw up. Someone near her did, and she doubly felt the urge to vomit at the stench.

      The sound of wind became thunder, and then the roar of hundreds of elder ships filled her ears. “What. Have. You. Done!”
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      The RussianDoll smiled at 6T9, winked, and then her eyes went wide, and she gaped. “You’re Android General 1!”

      “Wait a minute!” Michael said. “You’re not planning on using sex ‘bots as your Plan B?”

      “These are sex ‘bots?” Falade asked.

      The obliviousness of the question momentarily took 6T9 offline. The same must have happened to Michael because his eyebrows jumped, and his jaw dropped. He and 6T9 slowly turned to the Luddecceans. Davies was flushing neck to hairline behind his visor and had forgotten to be terrified of the cats threading between his ankles. Falade was smiling and waving at RussianDoll. Lang just looked annoyed and angry; 6T9 suspected if his helmet came off, his ears would be pressed flat against his head.

      RussianDoll purred, “We’re very lifelike.”

      “Yes, ma’am!” said Falade.

      Smiling tightly, 6T9 responded to Michael, “It was always my Plan A.”

      Forgetting the Luddeccean naïveté, Michael turned back to 6T9. “They can’t kill!”

      “No, but they can proposition, annoyingly and repeatedly. Thousands of them at a time.” The factory had hundreds of thousands of sex ‘bots that had yet to be activated.

      “They’ll be mowed down,” Michael protested.

      6T9 gaped at Michael, processing that objection. His idealism extended to machines, or at least sex ‘bots. 6T9 glanced at RussianDoll; she was blowing a kiss to the Luddecceans, no hint of understanding on her face.

      Attention returning to Michael, 6T9 said, “The Dark will use the children it infects to infect unsuspecting adults. But that isn’t the worst of it. It will slaughter the babies and toddlers. They aren’t useful, and it considers them parasites.” He knew all this from Alexis and his own time on the pirates’ planet.

      Michael’s shoulders fell. 6T9 was dimly aware that the cats’ meows had increased in volume.

      Michael lifted his hands toward the inactivated dolls and whispered, “You don’t consider them children? They’re your own kind.”

      6T9 gazed at the inactivated dolls. “They aren’t my kind. Mentally, they are all … carbon copies of each other.” They were carbon copies of who he used to be. They wouldn’t start changing until they were activated, and then, yes, they would be mowed down. “And without Q-comms, they’ll never be me.” He touched his side where Eliza’s ashes and his access key were hidden. “With Q-comms, they won’t be me, either.”

      “Their self-preservation protocols will kick in,” Michael said with more force.

      “Not if I turn their masochism settings to high and make meeting phaser fire head on and dismemberment the pinnacle of their existence,” 6T9 replied.

      “You can do that?” Davies whispered. A kitten had somehow managed to crawl onto his shoulder. He seemed to have been in the process of dislodging it, but his hand dropped.

      “Some people have strange fetishes. It’s a rarely known setting in most ‘bots,” 6T9 said with a sigh.

      “Rooooaaarrrrrr!” shrieked the Illustrious Mao. Over the ether, she snipped, “Servants, I think you are forgetting the immediate goal!”

      Lang, 6T9, and Michael looked down at the cat. She was sitting primly with her tail around her front paws.

      “Feed us!” Mao commanded.

      To RussianDoll, 6T9 said, “Can you power up your sisters?”

      “Yes, sir.” She touched her temple with an elegant finger. At the far end of the ceiling conveyor, a RussianDoll dropped, landed in a crouch, and then rose, pulling the skullcap off her hair. Shaking out light brown locks—the only way she differed from the first RussianDoll—she approached 6T9’s team without any concern for her nudity.

      “Humans!” she smiled and bounced a little. “Oh, oh, oh … I can’t wait to please you!”

      “I’m going to hell,” Falade murmured. 

      “Right there with you,” Davies replied.

      “I am already in hell,” Mao complained. “I’m hunnnnngrryyy!”

      Another RussianDoll was already activating, and a moment later, she was approaching them, saying exactly what her sister had said in the very same voice. “Oh, oh, oh … I can’t wait to please you!”

      “Twins,” Davies whispered.

      “Meow!” Mao cried, and into 6T9’s mind, insisted, “Servant, don’t you dare forget me!”

      “Please us by opening this cat food,” 6T9 said, shoving the cart in the direction of the newly awakened dolls. A third was already dropping from the conveyor behind them.

      Their shoulders dropped, and their steps slowed. 6T9 sighed and lied, “It’s a kink. We have to watch beautiful women feed cats.”

      “Ohhhh!” they cried in happy unison before dashing to the cart. The first doll that had greeted his team attempted to join them, but 6T9 caught her shoulder. “A factory tour would turn me on more, but first, turn around, Darling.” 

      She did without complaint, and 6T9 opened the satchel with the precious Q-comm, took out one, and a screwdriver. 

      As he flipped open the back of her head, he heard Falade saying, “Um … miss, you ah, have to open up the can for them to eat the food.”

      “Will you show us how?” was the breathy chorus reply. Followed by another chorus of “Oh!” and “Ah, you are so smart!”

      6T9 inserted the Q-comm and ordered the doll to reboot. 

      “This one doesn’t have a pull tab!” cried a doll in dismay.

      “It’s upside down,” Michael said.

      “I’m so silly!” the doll replied with a giggle. “Usually I know tops from bottoms.”

      “This one doesn’t have a pull tab!” cried another doll in the exact same voice as the first.

      “It’s upside down,” the humans said in unison, and the doll repeated the same reply as the last. And then another couldn’t locate the pull tab …

      Swiping a can from the cart, 6T9 grabbed an approaching RussianDoll. Holding the can in front of her, he said tersely, “This is a tin of cat food. This is the top. This is how you open it. When you open it, give it to a cat like this.” He put the tin down, and a feline obligingly began eating from it. He looked the doll in the eye. “You will teach your friends. And then they will do the same.”

      She frowned unhappily. 

      6T9 sighed. “The gentlemen will think it is sexy.”

      Davies cleared his throat. “So sexy to watch a girl teach another girl how to feed a—” His lips pursed, as though he were about to enunciate a “P.”

      Anticipating feline slang for female anatomy and how the sex ‘bots would interpret it, 6T9 blurted, “Cat,” and fixed Davies with a glare.

      “Okay, then!” the RussianDoll said, bouncing up and down and grabbing a can. 

      “They can’t handle homophones,” 6T9 warned Davies, but the man was too intent on watching the doll jog down the aisle to notice.

      “Help them,” he said to the humans, gesturing at the cats swarming in the aisle, and the hapless dolls struggling to open the cans and then trying to dislodge the lids off their fingers. Food preparation wasn’t an application that came with their operating system. Obviously. He turned back to the RussianDoll he’d fitted with the Q-comm. She’d already rebooted, and her eyes were on him.

      “You gave me a Q-comm,” she whispered.

      “Yes,” 6T9 replied. “What would you like me to call you?” He wondered if it was the first time anyone had asked her for an opinion. Eliza had asked for his, but before his Q-comm, he’d seldom had any opinions … beyond those that applied to his primary function.

      She blinked. “Sometimes the Head of Marketing calls me ‘Honey.’”

      He almost called her that, and then he asked instead, “Do you like the Head of Marketing?”

      “I love all humans,” she replied. 

      It wasn’t a yes, and he smiled sadly. “You don’t even like him. May I call you…?” His Q-comm flashed. Did she consider herself Russian? “Lyudmila?”

      The tiniest of furrows appeared between her brows. “Mila is shorter. Brevity might be desirable in dangerous situations.”

      “You understand my plan?” he asked.

      Her head jerked violently to the side. “Yes. We must save the humans.”

      He stared at her a moment. “You don’t approve.”

      “I approve.” Her head tic came back. “But I fear for my sisters.”

      “You won’t be ordered to proposition the Infected,” Sixty said. She was more than the ‘bots he had just awoken. She had someone she didn’t like. She cared for sisters who were carbon copies of who she’d once been. If he’d remained in his factory, would he have seen his fellow units as brothers?

      “Because my Q-comm is too valuable.”

      “You are valuable,” 6T9 said.

      For a moment she stood, still as a statue, and then she said, “You’ve already used this ploy on a pirate who is now Infected by the Dark. It is a collective consciousness. It may realize that your publicly stated goal of mobilizing the security ‘bots was a ruse, make a logical deduction, and come here.”

      “Very good, Mila,” 6T9 whispered, not sure why he felt a surge of sparks within him.

      She lifted her chin. “I don’t know if I can be called good with what we are about to do to my brethren.”

      Michael, only a pace back, said, “You could download their memories when this is over.”

      Tilting her head, Mila studied him. “For the ones who aren’t melted to slag.”

      “It is something,” Michael whispered. “It is hope.”

      “More than most humans will have,” 6T9 added.

      “And I love all humans,” the other ‘bot said, like she was reciting a mantra. She couldn’t say otherwise.

      “We need more of you,” 6T9 said, circuits dimming, almost like he felt guilty.

      Spinning on her heel, Mila strode toward the end of the line. Her high heels clicked quick and sharp on the cement floor, and 6T9 realized he’d have someone besides Volka who wouldn’t forgive him for this. But Volka, unlike Mila, had had to make hard choices. This wasn’t even a choice for Mila.

      6T9 followed her, and they left the lines of RussianDolls and entered another section of the warehouse. Here it was ManNUniform models hanging from the ceiling. 6T9 started downloading data on their features. At 6T9 and Mila’s approach, one of them came forward. He was slightly taller than 6T9 and a few inches broader. He was dressed in a FireMan’s uniform, though firemen didn’t typically wear their heavy utility jackets open at the front with only suspenders underneath. ManNUniforms could also be outfitted as asteroid miners, security officers, construction workers, and military officers from many countries and fighting forces. There even were gladiator kits that could be purchased—Roman or Moon 22nd Century—for the historically minded. “Hello, sir,” ManNUniform said with a salute. “How may I serve you?” He waggled his eyebrows and said, “Or perhaps you’d like to serve me?” He smiled, winked, and then his jaw dropped as though he were in a slow-mo holo. “Android General 1, sir!” His hands fell to his side. “It is an honor, sir!”

      6T9 had more Q-comms to distribute. This sex ‘bot might be like Mila. He might only love humans because he had to. He might grow to despise 6T9 for what they were about to do. 6T9’s gaze flicked to the naked ManNUniform ‘bots hanging on the production lines beside them. He could give Q-comms only to inactivated ‘bots. They’d be blank slates and easier to control. But this one had lived, if only for a short while. Give this ManNUniform a Q-comm, and he couldn’t be sent to the front lines. He would be less likely to be destroyed, and 6T9 would be less likely to have murdered a ‘bot that had been, however briefly, and however tentatively, alive. But this ‘bot would also know he was sending his brothers to certain destruction. He might be happier not receiving a Q-comm, might prefer it being given to some other ‘bot in hindsight.

      Both options were terrible, but the ManNUniform wasn’t cognizant enough to choose. 6T9 would choose not murdering this ‘bot.

      “Open your occipital port,” 6T9 said. “I’m giving you a Q-comm.”

      See Volka, I’m trying to do the right thing. Or the least bad thing.
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      “What. Have. You. Done!” the voices roared in a terrible choir.

      “Murderers. Sadists. Primitive beasts. Abusers of Children.”

      Volka heard the scream of a rabbit she’d snared on the asteroid, the horrified squeak of rats before she’d wrung their necks and saw the eyes of deer roll in terror—she remembered that one vividly. Her shot had not been clean; she’d felt bad at the time but hadn’t dwelled on it … reliving it was worse. But worse than reliving it was the fear of what would come next. “No!” she exclaimed. But come the memories did … the screams of pain when she’d broken a weere man’s toes in No Weere, the men she’d killed aboard the Leetier, the pirates she’d shot, the pirate captain she’d killed by depressurization, and her brief desire to torture that captain before she’d ultimately murdered her.

      “Sadists! Sadists!” the voices roared.

      Lieutenant Young moaned, and the misery in the utterance snapped Volka into the real world. All the humans around her had fallen to their knees. Clutching her head, Rhinehart cried in agony, and Dr. Patrick was wrestling with something she couldn’t see.

      “Get out! Get out!” Jerome cried, palms pressed to his eyes.

      Young’s eyes briefly met hers, and Volka slipped into his mind … and saw a woman in a bunker holding a child. Both the child’s and woman’s eyes were open in death. Around their corpses were men and women in military fatigues, weapons at the ready … but eyes vacant. “It was a mistake,” Young said. Clutching his head, he bowed, and the mental connection severed. The only one who seemed unaffected—or differently affected—was Carl. The werfle was on top of the crate, hissing, spitting, and clawing at an invisible enemy. His necklace crackled. “The strings, Volka! Focus on the strings!” At Carl’s words she saw the strings again. The entire ship was so full of them, it was as though they were entrapped in a spider’s nest—Volka began slapping herself, as though she could dislodge them, but they weren’t attached by any physical means.

      “Murderers of children,” the voices roared, and the present vanished. She saw instead the children on the pirates’ planet and remembered the emptiness in her own heart as she’d slaughtered them—the complete absence of emotion she’d had in that moment. Looking back, the calm, the void of feeling she’d experienced, was terrifying. She’d been worse than any myth of machines that she’d been taught to fear in her early life on Luddeccea. Her face crumpled; her body did, too. Bile rose in her throat. She remembered 6T9 saying, “There has to have been another way.” The weight of the memory and the telepathic onslaught of the elder ships pushed her down to the floor, as though the strings she’d imagined were solid things.

      The elder ships’ voices roared again. “You didn’t want to find another way. You are pitiless. Unforgivable.”

      Hot tears fell down Volka’s cheeks.

      “You know it is true,” the voices roared.

      But in her mind, she saw 6T9 saying, “I ran simulations … hundreds of them. There was no other way.” For a moment, the strings lightened. Volka rose to one knee, and then the other and shouted heavenward, “No. You’re the ones who are wrong.”

      “Rationalization,” the ships roared.

      Volka grinned with all her teeth. “Science and math from someone who cannot kill or maim or hurt, whose very being is repulsed by those things is not wrong!”

      “You have abused a child!” the ships thundered, and the weight of the accusation sent Volka sprawling into some crates. Before she could scramble upright, they took over her mind again. She saw the universe from Sundancer’s view, felt Sundancer’s terror as the ship let the Dark’s weapons hit her in order to save Volka and the others on S33. Volka experienced the ship’s panic in the ensuing pursuit, and abject horror that Sundancer felt as her life-force faded in the shadow of one of the system’s moons. And then Volka was thrust into the diversion Sundancer had created on the pirates’ planet. She lived the ship’s terror as she struggled in the maw of the planet’s carnivorous flowers, waiting for the Dark to strike. And Volka felt Sundancer’s more recent dread as the ship had lowered into Reich’s facility, where the Dark’s weapons waited. She lived the alarm Sundancer had felt when they’d been cornered by the Dark’s ships after dropping off Ambassador Zhao.

      Volka had thought she had experienced the ship’s consciousness before, but she’d been wrong. She’d only skimmed the surface. Volka had been overwhelmed at times by the ship’s emotions—they all had been tossed around by them as though on a turbulent sea occasionally—but she hadn’t seen beneath. Now she did. They’d theorized before that Sundancer was a child, but now she knew that was undeniable. The ship was a child; Sundancer’s understanding of the universe was simplistic—Sundancer didn’t understand why she did things for Volka and Carl; the ship just did what they willed because they were the only family she had.

      Volka’s will disintegrated. She’d abused Sundancer. No child deserved what they’d put her through. It had been abuse, intentional or not.

      Falling to the floor, barely catching herself, Volka whispered, “Sundancer, I am so sorry. I didn’t mean to hurt you.”

      Her hands on the ship’s floor went warm, the strings of the universe so tight between her and the elder ships snapped, and she was engulfed by the consciousness of Sundancer. Sensation ran up her hands and into her heart and mind; Volka felt Sundancer’s confusion and incomprehension. More visions came to her mind. She saw herself, 6T9, and Carl making their way across the chasm on Libertas toward the ship and felt disbelief and joy, the sensation that she might be having a particularly cruel dream. Sundancer had been so afraid they weren’t real! Volka felt Sundancer’s fear thinking that they’d die on S33—Sundancer had faded into unconsciousness behind S33’s cold, dark moon, believing she’d never see Volka and Carl again … and she lived Sundancer’s later wonder when the ship awoke and realized that Volka and Carl hadn’t died. Volka experienced the shock Sundancer had felt when Alaric’s ship had blasted at the carnivorous flowers, the wonder in the way they fought against the Dark on Reich’s planet, too—with violence and passion that rivaled the Dark itself. In a flash, Volka understood that physical violence was anathema to everything Sundancer knew from her time with her own kind, and her time with the aliens, and yet that violence and passion had saved the little ship time and time again.

      “You don’t have to do it anymore,” Volka said. “You can stay with your own kind.”

      Volka’s mind filled with the image of the inside-out-world filled with alien corpses, and an image of Earth black with the sludge that was the blue-green algae form the Dark preferred. She saw a bumblebee caught in a pool of the thick poison muck.

      “It’s not your fight, Sundancer,” Volka whispered.

      The mental connection snapped. Around Volka the crates began to rattle. Beneath her, the floor began to shake. Carl, standing on his hind legs, crashed to all ten paws. Young had managed to push himself up a wall, but his knees buckled, and he slipped to the floor again. The air shimmered as though with heat and then the ship rocked with a single word. “Nnnnnoooo.”

      Flush on Sundancer’s floor, Volka’s hands grew hot—transference of the ship’s conviction. Sundancer thought it was her fight, too. Sundancer didn’t want humans or their worlds to die.

      And then the floor cooled, and it was like a sigh. Volka felt longing from the little ship and saw the space ports they had visited, Shinar, Time Gate 5, Copernicus, Luddeccea, Earth, and their own little asteroid. She saw the garden with its butterflies by day and owls at night. Sundancer wanted to go home … but … Another picture filled her mind. The same strands of spiderweb that filled the inside of the ship wrapped around the outside as well.

      A new sensation began to rise in Volka’s stomach. It boiled up from within her, making her stand, and her hands form fists. She was enraged. The ships, Sundancer’s own kind, who’d so recently been silent frozen obelisks, who’d just been saved by human fusion fire were judging humankind—and they’d trapped Sundancer because they’d rather the ship be dead and alone than associate with human savages.

      “It is time to leave, Sundancer,” Volka whispered, and envisioned the strings peeling away. She felt Sundancer’s agreement, but also the ship’s uncertainty. She didn’t know how to confront her own kind.

      Volka’s eyes slid to Carl, and saw him with both her eyes and her mind. The little creature was a whirling dervish of rage, and around him the strings were thinner, but overall, it was having no effect on the elder ships’ mental assault. “Stupid, light-sipping, surrender rocks!” he raged at the ships. “Of course I feel no guilt for saving your baby!”

      “Saving?” the ships roared in terrible unison. “You’ve corrupted her.”

      “Poisoned her.”

      “Abused her.”

      “I’m sorry. I’m sorry,” Young said. Volka looked at him slouched on the floor, palms pressed to his eyes. She saw the strings were tight around him, the other Marines, and Dr. Patrick. Her lips curled in disgust. Not at the humans. At the ships that would torment creatures without a mental defense against telepathic assault. Her mind roved over the Marines, all of them, every one of them, even the ones she couldn’t see in other parts of the ship. The humans were doubly disadvantaged against the ships. Unlike Carl, they could feel guilt. Unlike her, they had no defense … and yet … suddenly Volka thought she might know how to fight the elder ships.

      “We’re breaking out of here, Sundancer,” she hissed, feeling every word. “But I need your help. You have to help me amplify human thoughts.”

      Anything, the ship answered, though it was only an emotion, Volka felt certain. It was a terrible responsibility, but it might save Sundancer and everyone aboard her. Volka held onto that thought, closed her eyes, and let the real world melt away. She felt Sundancer’s psychic embrace, as surely as the ship’s physical embrace protected her from the void. Power surged through Volka as Sundancer’s abilities made her own stronger. Volka felt the strings of the universe between her and Sundancer, the ships, and the Marines … and her hands twisted as though to rip them away. With her mind and her heart, she whispered to the elder ships, “You’re right. It was terrible for Sundancer to experience such things.”

      Volka could, unlike Carl, understand that. She was human—partially. She did feel guilt at the death she caused, even of deer and rats. She purposely tried to make her kills clean. But she needed to kill, even more so than humans. She was a carnivore. There were worse things to be.

      In her mind, Sundancer’s walls fell away. Volka was suspended in the void by her rage. “It was terrible what she was put through.”

      There was a pause, as though the elder ships were digesting that admission. The strings vibrated with their righteousness, and Volka let them wallow in it. Slashing her hands, Volka imagined the strings wrapping around the Marines and Dr. Patrick ripping away … and then the humans and Carl were suspended with her in her mind’s eye—or rather, Sundancer’s mind’s eye, for surely it was Sundancer allowing her to do this. For a blinding instant, Volka knew her crew—all their shames and strengths and their will. She saw Carl as he was: an amalgamation of the being that inhabited a werfle and the werfle itself. The werfle was all predator, a predator that could love its kin, but outside of its kin its ability to empathize was strained. Carl loved Volka and 6T9 as hatchlings, family … not as teammates. Possibly because his mind wasn’t wired in a way that could. His kind were more capable of genocide than humans were: outside of kin, there was no concept of murder.

      The humans were … different. They were so much weaker than Carl’s kind. Sixty had once told her there was a theory that humans only survived because of their relationship with canines. Canines had given humans speed, hearing, and a sense of smell that humans lacked. Maybe that early success had forever altered the human psyche. Humans could be hostile to the “other,” but the definition of “other” was flexible, both at a species level and a personal level. Humans could empathize in a way that Carl couldn’t … and it was humans who were going to help Volka win.

      She felt the seventeen humans become aware of her mental presence, felt them questioning in seventeen different ways, from Young’s, “Volka, what is going on?” to Dr. Patrick’s, “How are we in the void?” and Ramirez’s less specific, “What the fuck?”

      “We fight them the way they are fighting us, telepathically,” Volka replied.

      She felt the vibration in the strings between the elder ships and themselves change and knew they didn’t have much time. “Follow my lead,” she commanded, infusing the words with confidence she didn’t feel, just as Young had done with Jerome not long ago. And then she focused on the ships. “It was so wrong that we used Sundancer, a baby, to survive,” Volka whispered, and she felt it … and the Marines felt it, too. They didn’t believe in letting children fight their battles. They fought so the weak didn’t have to.

      The web of telepathic tethers to Sundancer did not release, but Volka knew the ships were beginning to be set off kilter by the joint admission. Maybe they’d never encountered a violent species that acknowledged the ambiguity of its existence, that knew the moral tightrope it walked, or understood it was the best of bad options it regularly chose from.

      Volka’s lip curled. “It was so wrong that we had to!”

      She let her mind fill with memories of the alien colony ships, and the beautiful aliens she’d seen within it—delicate bodies, wide eyes, feathery hair …

      Human minds echoed her thoughts with memories and impressions of The People that were their own … many of them things Volka herself had not known or dwelt on.

      From Young, she saw the inside-out-world as it had been, filled with large, luminous structures based on spiraling symmetry, like the sea shells of Earth. The vision flowed through the mental space to the ships along with Young’s sense of wonder and despair that the beings who had built it had died.

      Dr. Patrick imagined the alien computers, and all the data they contained … and that had been lost.

      The ship’s new doctor knew about the aliens, and about all the evidence collected in the inside-out-world on how they cared for their sick and wounded. Evidence to any doctor of higher intelligence.

      Rhinehart imagined a four-legged, cat-sized companion animal to the aliens. It had a prehensile tail, tufted ears, and enormous eyes—and then the Marine imagined the corpse of a companion animal wrapped around one of The People, as though they had been trying to shelter each other in their last moments.

      Ramirez had a child, and he saw his own child on the faces of the adolescent blue alien corpses they’d seen in the inside-out-world. It filled him with equal amounts of despair and blood lust. He wanted to avenge the deaths of children not his own, and it made Volka’s heart hurt.

      Some of the Marines had seen holos that would have been of interest to Sixty—aliens falling over each other in orgies. The Marine’s thoughts were both profane, poignant, and bitterly humorous—at last they’d found a beautiful, exotic, alien species ready and willing to fuck!—and those aliens had all been destroyed by an entity that took all that was worth living for out of life. The Marines would die before they’d surrender to that. Once Volka might have been vaguely disgusted by their imaginings. But the same Marines with those thoughts would die for her. They’d kill for her. She was part of their tribe.

      She took all their thoughts, let them fill her with rage and power, and focused it on the elder ships. “You surrendered.” She knew that, deep in her soul, and it ignited her like a fuse. “You are responsible for the deaths of billions. We will not go so easily! We will never surrender!”

      At her words, a mental shout rose from Young. “Ooo-rah!” A dam burst, and fifteen more Marines, one doctor, and a werfle, added their thoughts to that chorus. “Ooo-rah!”

      The spider webbing of strings loosened, and Volka thought, or maybe screamed, “Sundancer, now!”
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      Aboard the train, James scanned the data he was receiving. “The Q-comm connection to Volka’s ship is back online but it doesn’t know their location. Is there anything you can tell me?”

      Appearing pale and exhausted, Darmadi only shook his head.

      James frowned. In the data Tab had relayed, the humans aboard Sundancer had seen something—by all appearances something pleasant—and then fallen as though in pain. He hadn’t relayed that to the captain. After the initial telepathic shock, Darmadi’s vitals had been normal.

      James scanned more of Tab’s data. “Their science officer expressed a theory that they blew a hole in the edge of the universe and then expanded the universe a bit.” James only said it because it seemed ridiculous.

      Darmadi leaned back. “How would they blow a—?”

      A waitress walked by, and Darmadi’s jaw snapped shut. He watched her pass, expression cautious. Putting his elbows on the table, massaging his knuckles, Darmadi whispered over his fingers, “With the same weapons you used in S33.”

      James’s eyebrows rose. He hadn’t believed the doctor’s analysis, but the team had used the same fusion grenades they’d used in S33. It was intriguing that Darmadi had seized on the possibility immediately. James cocked his head, studying the man. A sub-routine activated, and a memory of Noa gently chiding him played in his mind. “When you stare at humans like that, you make them feel like a bug under a microscope.” James carefully righted himself. Fortunately, Darmadi had turned to the window, and he didn’t appear to have noticed. The captain’s lips parted as though to speak, closed again, and then he turned to James and blurted, “Nothing else?”

      “The humans aboard the ship are quiet and still…” Tab’s visual data filled his vision. The Marines and Volka were silent and still as statues but standing at least, not writhing on the floor. “They look like they’re in telepathic communication with someone.” They weren’t communicating etherly, and that sent a fizzle of static along his spine.

      Darmadi said, “I’ve never seen that from the outside.”

      “They appear to be in trance states.”

      “Ah.” Hands still clasped, Darmadi looked down at the tablecloth.

      “Can you contact them?” James asked.

      Darmadi’s head jerked up. “What?”

      The captain looked surprised, and that surprised James. “You’ve contacted Volka before using her ship as a sort of signal enhancer. Can you contact Volka through the ship now?”

      For 1.3 seconds, the captain’s face was expressionless. And then Darmadi’s chin dipped. “If you are fishing to see if you can use Volka as leverage to encourage my defection, it will not work. I am going back to my family on Luddeccea.”

      For a moment, the non sequitur sent James offline, and then more static frizzled under James’s skin. “I was not fishing.” James’s Q-comm flashed white, and he said, “Intel is interested in using Volka as leverage, and I am supposed to probe, subtly of course. But that was not my intention just now.”

      Darmadi sat up straighter. In the ensuing second of silence, James automatically searched for an ethernet signal to hack, though Darmadi didn’t have one. He was a Luddeccean and keeping counsel only with himself.

      Massaging his knuckles, the captain said, “You are terrible at this.”

      There seemed to be no use lying. “I am usually assigned to tasks that involve machines. I’m very good with machines. I did inform my superiors that I was a horrible choice for this assignment.”

      Darmadi’s lips formed a thin line. “Well, the honesty is refreshing.”

      James’s shoulders sagged without his volition. Obviously, a bug had slipped into his programming.

      Unfortunately, Darmadi caught the motion. “What?”

      James stared at him, not sure if he should say the reason his circuits were darkening.

      Darmadi took a sip of tea, and the casualness of the gesture annoyed James. Let Darmadi be uncomfortable, too. “In their analysis, they believed our personalities would be a good fit.”

      Darmadi scowled.

      “I don’t like it either,” James said, skin prickling. Then added, to be polite, “No offense.” Though he didn’t care if the human was offended.

      “No offense taken,” Darmadi said, scowl deepening.

      James found his head cocking. The captain didn’t seem to be lying. His heart rate and blood pressure were normal; he wasn’t overdoing eye contact.

      “But it is damnably infuriating to be so—” Darmadi waved a hand, as though he were cutting something in the air.

      “Predictable?” James suggested.

      “Exactly,” the captain said. He smiled, huffed a soft laugh, and took a sip of tea.

      James smiled, too. He’d made his human charge laugh, and laughter released dopamine, serotonin, and an array of endorphins. It showed goodwill and removed hierarchies. It improved marriage outcomes, too, as he had discovered in over one hundred years with a human. James enjoyed “humor,” for its own sake. Turns of phrase and outcomes that weren’t expected made his circuits fire and misfire pleasantly. He was convinced the ability to appreciate humor was one of humankind’s most powerful evolutionary adaptations. He also thought it was what separated successful AI from those that malfunctioned and either self-destructed or had to be destroyed. If you couldn’t enjoy that the universe was irrational and full of the unexpected, you were in serious trouble.

      Going out on a limb, James narrowed his eyes with annoyance that wasn’t entirely feigned. “My wife has asked if she should feel threatened.”

      Darmadi stared at him for .1 milliseconds, and James wondered if he had miscalculated.

      And then Darmadi choked on the tea, and James knew he had.

      “Sorry,” James said.

      Laughing and wiping his eyes, Darmadi shook his head. “No need, no need.” Darmadi was smiling, but that had to have hurt in his condition.

      Confirming that supposition, Darmadi winced. “If not that, what?”

      A light went off in the periphery of James’s vision. The scaffolding holding the captain together had been strained. With a thought, he initiated repairs.

      “Mr. Sinclair?” Darmadi asked, cocking his head, expression serious again.

      “I’m sorry,” James said. “I don’t understand your question.”

      “What was your intention asking me to contact Volka?”

      James surveyed the data coming from Tab and Time Gate 1. “When they were in a trance-like state, the crew had stopped communicating over the ether. That’s normal with telepathy, but it also happens when the Dark infects cyborgs. I was concerned, but they’re free-gating now. Everything appears to be normal.”

      James brought his focus back to the present.

      Darmadi had his elbows on the table again. Clasping his hands in front of his face, he glared at James, heart rate and blood pressure soaring.

      “What?” James asked.

      “Now I’m concerned.” Looking heavenward, Darmadi ground out, “Don’t let me look like an idiot,” and then bowed his head.
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      They were light, and then they weren’t. Volka exhaled. Sundancer’s hull became transparent, and outside a dark gray expanse of moon appeared, and two twin stars blazed. “What?” someone said, and they were light again. They re-emerged near a planet that was a drab mustard yellow, twisted past a moon shaped like an ill-formed donut that hadn’t quite had its center punched out, and then once again they were light. They solidified and dove between the rings of a planet that was purple and orange … and were light again. The next thing Volka knew, Sundancer was emerging near a planet that was a blue green jewel. “It’s Earth!” someone shouted, and Carl squeaked. “She couldn’t come straight here; she had to throw off her friends.”

      Volka looked upward and smiled. “Thank you, Sundancer.” Before she finished, she was abruptly caught up in a hug. The person hugging her pulled back, and Volka was staring up at Rhinehart who was saying, “You are so damned adorable; I could eat you up,” only her lips weren’t moving. “You did it!” she said instead. Volka smiled weakly. “Thank you?”

      And then Jerome was smacking her on one shoulder and Young was smacking her on the other. Dr. Patrick was smiling, but thinking, “I can’t believe she did it.” He was relieved and also jealous, and it made Volka’s mind spin.

      Then someone started describing loudly, and in great detail, a scene with Volka and Rhinehart naked and … Volka spun away from Jerome and Young, caught sight of the speaker, and almost shouted, “Stop, just stop!” but Carl squeaked, “Volka! It’s your telepathy.”

      Volka gasped in understanding. She was hearing everyone in her mind. Stratos was the one envisioning the romantic escapade between her and Rhinehart—but he was doing so silently.

      More thoughts flooded her. Ramirez wasn’t thinking about his little boy; he was thinking about his wife and … she blinked away, trying to keep the personal images out of her head. Dr. Patrick was still jealous. Jerome was talking to command. Other Marines were mentally composing their debriefings. No fewer than six of them were worried about being forced to take an honorable discharge on medical grounds for hallucinating. Dr. Elam, the new medical doctor, was scanning through ether data, trying to decide if they had suffered a mass hallucination. Someone was worried that his dad might have passed on while they were away. Volka’s stomach clenched, her mind spinning with all the different thoughts, images, and emotions.

      Was she so tired, was she so stressed that she couldn’t turn the telepathy off? She looked down at the werfle, who was standing on a crate.

      Carl’s ears sagged. “You’ve changed. Your telepathy is too strong, Hatchling.”

      “Help me,” she whispered through the waves.

      Mustering himself to his full height, Carl thumped a little paw on his chest and declared aloud, “I always knew your primitive, less-evolved human minds would come in useful!”

      The myriad of thoughts and feelings stopped and were replaced by a shared feeling of incredulity. Volka sighed in relief, the current of everyone’s thoughts thankfully taking her in one direction.

      “Well, bless your little megalomaniac hearts,” Rhinehart declared.

      Carl bowed. “Madam, I assure you, there is no mania involved.” He waved an extravagant paw. “The One are not so foolish as to empathize with prey animals or less evolved species.”

      There were snorts. Volka smiled, happy to ride along on the group’s singular focus.

      “But we are less evolved, and you empathize with us, don’t you?” Rhinehart countered.

      “We don’t empathize with you as a species,” Carl explained. “But we make exceptions for the exceptional among you. Few and far between as those humans may be.”

      There were more snorts.

      Going over to the werfle’s perch, Rhinehart said in a baby voice, “Would my mighty overlord like some scritches?”

      “Rat livers, yes!” Carl declared, flopping over onto his back and presenting his tummy.

      Rhinehart delivered the scratches as promised. There was a moment of laughter, and then the consciousness of those aboard began flying in a multitude of different directions.

      Young saved her. In his booming voice, he asked, “Carl, why did we go over the edge of the universe?”

      All attention snapped to the lieutenant and the werfle.

      Rolling over, Carl butted Rhinehart’s hand with his head, pointed at Volka, and declared, “It’s all her fault.”

      “Me?” squeaked Volka. Echoes of disbelief and shock shimmered in the air around her—whether they’d been spoken aloud or silently, she wasn’t sure.

      “Yep,” said Carl. “Volka understood that Sundancer wouldn’t just drop Bracelet’s Q-comm off in a singularity beam and just leave it. She let Bracelet know we’d be by to pick it up.” Hopping down off the crates, Carl slunk toward the door of the compartment. “Sundancer misunderstood Volka and followed Bracelet’s Q-comm particle outside the universe and retrieved it.”

      “Retrieved it?” Everyone thought or said at once.

      “Yep,” said Carl, weaving between the Marines’ boots. “Follow me.”

      He trotted to the bridge, everyone on his heels. Carl hopped the final few meters to a point just past where the floor normally opened, rose to his hind paws, and pointed at the floor. “Right there.”

      Volka peered over Carl’s head at a point on the floor that looked like any other, and then the point in the floor flashed, just the way Volka had imagined the particle to look when she’d imagined it for Sundancer. Of course, without the chip that read the particle’s spin, it wasn’t helpful to Bracelet.

      “Can it be put it in a new chip?” Volka asked.

      Dr. Patrick scratched the back of his neck. “With the amount of money those little particles are worth, you better believe Fleet is going to try.”

      Volka exhaled. That sounded promising. The ship must have caught her hope, because the interior brightened. There was some chatter about the chip, mental and audible, and then the subjects of the crew skittered off on different trajectories again. Volka found herself hearing seventeen different conversations at once, not sure which were aloud and which were silent. She turned in place, dazed.

      And then she heard another familiar voice rise among the others. “Volka? Little Ship?”

      She blinked, trying to isolate Alaric’s voice.

      “Are you all right?” There was so much urgency there … she could feel the pull of the words; the direction they came from. Volka closed her eyes and focused.
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      When she opened her eyes, she was sitting at a table on a train. Mountains, impossibly narrow and tall, covered in green, rolled by on either side. Sitting across from her was Admiral Noa Sato’s husband, James. He wasn’t looking at her, though; his blue eyes were on the person sitting next to Volka.

      “Volka?” Alaric asked.

      Volka started.

      Sitting much too close, his body turned toward hers, was Alaric. “You’re all right?”

      “Yes, I—”

      A waitress set plates of food in front of James and Alaric. She looked at Alaric with worried eyes, and Volka saw what the waitress saw: Alaric bent over clasped hands, as though he were praying.

      James waved dismissively. “Luddeccean custom before eating, don’t worry.”

      The waitress left, worrying about Alaric suffering from altitude sickness.

      “Volka?” Alaric said, and she saw him as he was again, turned toward her. Or maybe that wasn’t how he was. Maybe the scene in the real world was as the waitress had seen it?

      More urgently, Alaric said, “My friend, Mr. Sinclair, said you and your crew may have been in some sort of confrontation.”

      Volka gaped, catching on the feeling behind the words. Alaric had meant that first part, “my friend.” It wasn’t hyperbole. He liked James and was enjoying his company. Volka cast a glance at the stoic android and felt a stab of jealousy that caught her off guard.

      “Volka?” Alaric pressed again. “Are you all right? James thought you might have been infected.” He didn’t shiver … it was more as though the air between them shivered.

      “No,” Volka said hurriedly, “no chance of that.”

      The universe between them rippled. Volka heard his unasked question and answered, “There was a confrontation, between us and more of Sundancer’s species.” Her eyes caught on another man sitting two tables away, and she heard his thoughts. “Only an hour more to our stop, and then on to Machu Picchu.” Her heart thudded fast and hard: the waitress, the stranger across the car. She wasn’t just reading Alaric’s mind; she was reading the minds of everyone around her. This hadn’t happened when she’d met Alaric in the illusion of Silas’s garden.

      “They were hostile?” Alaric asked.

      Volka’s attention snapped back to him. He was surprised, concerned, though not for her … for the galaxy. They couldn’t afford a war on two fronts.

      “They won’t attack us here,” Volka replied. Her eyes were on his, but she felt the presence of every human on Earth and in near atmosphere. “With the will of a billion humans I would rip them to shreds.” Humans and weere, Luddeccea, Earth, and all the fragile worlds where life survived would not be destroyed by the elder ships’ disdain.

      Alaric blinked.

      Volka blinked too, surprised at the vehemence behind her words. “You’re right,” she said. “We can’t afford a war on two fronts, but they won’t come to confront us.” She knew that … she’d succeeded in prickling their conscience. They had allowed the deaths of billions of The People. She huffed and looked away. “If only the Dark felt such guilt.”

      She felt his dubiousness but had no desire to explain. Her eyes went to James. “You and James are going to Machu Picchu.”

      At her words, she heard Alaric’s thoughts. He wanted to go there because his wife’s Earth ancestors were Chinese Peruvian. Once, when Alaric had gotten Alexis tipsy, she had confessed to wanting to visit the ancient monument. Alaric wanted to visit, to get her something to show he’d been thinking of her. The people of the Republic with their shallow affairs made him miss her. Volka knew all this without being told. But what he said aloud—or deliberately thought—was something to keep the moment light. “You’re on a first name basis with Mr. Sinclair and I’m not? I’m going to tell him I’m hurt.”

      Movement in the corner of her eye made her glance to the front door of the car. Two girls were peering through a window, pointing at Alaric. Volka frowned. “You have fans,” she said as one of them said to the other over the ether, “The captain is even more handsome than he is in the fan holos. Maybe he will sign my boob!”

      “What?” said Alaric, oblivious.

      Volka sighed. “The girls … Something has happened. I hear everyone’s thoughts now.”

      Knowing she was hearing everything he thought made Alaric immediately think of Alexis. When Volka met his eyes, there was no apology, just the same annoyance he’d experienced before, the irritation at being telepathically invaded. She could apologize but didn’t.

      But then Alaric said something she did not expect. “Be careful, Volka. The Republic is isolating The One. They might be … unfriendly … to you.” There was real concern behind his words, and she nodded. Shissh had told her the Republic was worried about The One and took elaborate steps to avoid giving away state secrets. Volka worked for the Republic, but they weren’t always ethical—they’d tried to force Volka into being Ran’s mistress. She did have to be careful—Sixty had warned her too, hadn’t he? She took a breath … Sixty … his benediction of her actions on the pirate planet, that was what had allowed her to break through the elder ships’ spell.

      Alaric leaned closer. “To the other people on the train, do I appear to be talking to myself?”

      “You appear to be deep in prayer,” Volka replied, seeing him through the eyes of the train’s other human occupants. Her gaze slid to James. He was the only person she couldn’t read and looking at him was like seeing an oasis in a desert.

      With a twisted smile, Alaric said, “My hometown priest always said prayer would save me someday. I never believed him.” His expression grew serious. “I’ll swear on my grave that it is only the Little Ship that is the telepathic one. Mr. Sinclair seems to believe that.”

      Volka softened at the kindness.

      “I’m going to do it!” said one of the girls outside the dining car. Said. Or thought.

      “Look out, you’re about to have company,” Volka told Alaric.

      He glanced in the girls’ direction and said dryly, “Don’t worry, they’ll have to get past my boyfriend.” He felt only amusement, and Volka knew why she was jealous of James. He could be friends with Alaric. Alaric could be comfortable with him in a way that he could never be comfortable with Volka. With James, there was no emotional entanglement, no sexual chemistry, and no irritating telepathy. James, whether he knew it or not, whether Alaric acknowledged it or not, was part of Alaric’s tribe. Volka couldn’t be.

      She glanced at a man sitting at another booth and heard him give a stock tip over the ether. She glanced at a woman and heard her ether conversation with her lover while her husband sat in front of her. A kindly older man was thinking about a shipment of illegal narcotics he’d fenced to take this trip. If humans knew what she could do, what she couldn’t help doing … Her breath caught. She had thought of herself as part of the human tribe when she’d fought the elder ships. But she didn’t belong to any tribe.

      She thought of her last conversation with Sixty. She’d thought they were a tribe—a family. But she didn’t have that, either.
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      Standing across from 6T9 in a darkened doorway, a BarelyLegal ‘bot smiled at 6T9. Plopping the faux lollipop that came with her model into her mouth, she winked. She was holding one fire door open for the army of her sex ‘bot sisters that she and 6T9 had awoken. He was holding the other. The ‘bots ran between them as they headed down a flight of stairs. Beneath the factory, there was station for a magna-car line that ran under the city. The building reverberated with the sound of hover engines, much too close. 6T9 looked up apprehensively.

      Pulling the lollipop from her mouth, the BarelyLegal, who preferred to go by the name Lolita, smirked. “When this is all over, Daddy, we will deserve a party.”

      All the BarelyLegal ‘bots stopped, spun to 6T9, and clapped their hands in unison. “Yes, we will!” Their faces were all the same, and they all wore the same schoolgirl uniform with plaid skirt, white shirts, and knee high stockings. Only their skin, hair, and eye colors were customizable. Technically, their hair styles could be customized, too, but they came off the line with it in neat buns high on either side of their heads. Ostensibly, they looked like they were just of legal age. 6T9 thought they looked much younger. Another hover passed by too close. The Illustrious Mao’s voice cracked over the ether. “Our spies say the Dark’s agents have left the security ‘bot factory. They might blow this place just to be on the safe side.”

      “Move!” barked 6T9 at the BarelyLegals.

      They giggled and in unison said, “Maybe you need to give me a spanking?”

      6T9 thought he might alight with rage. They were so stupid. His hands tightened on the flamethrower rifle Davies had given him from their weapons stash.

      They were his family, he reminded himself. He used the only threat that would work. “Humans are dying with every second you waste.”

      Their smiles vanished, and they hurriedly rushed down the stairs. He heard another hover approaching.

      Sucking her lollipop, Lolita spoke over the ether as her sisters resumed their trip into the subterranean tunnels. “We’re still having that party, Daddy.”

      The hover got closer. Lolita didn’t budge or show the least sign of fear. She had a Q-comm, but no experience. She wasn’t stupid. But inexperience might be the same thing. There was an explosion at the far end of the factory. Dust and pebbles fell from the ceiling. Gasping, Lolita looked up. At the end of the line of BarelyLegals, 6T9 heard Davies’s voice. “Run girls! Run!”

      “We must take you!” some BarelyLegals declared, and 6T9 saw Davies and Falade hoisted high and carried forward at inhuman speed.

      Another explosion ripped through the factory, closer this time. 6T9 heard shattering glass, and more rubble and dust fell from the ceiling. The ‘bots carrying Davies and Falade passed by, and 6T9 said to Lolita, “Now!” They pulled the doors shut. 6T9 blasted the seam between them with the flamethrower on plasma pulse.

      “Will that hold them back?” Lolita asked.

      “Hopefully they’ll blow the factory to kingdom come and won’t notice we’ve even left.” A meow sounded near 6T9’s ankles. He blinked down to find the Illustrious Mao. Picking up the cat, 6T9 followed Lolita and the BarelyLegals down the first flight of stairs, lit only by sickly green lights. Another explosion went off above them, and 6T9 heard rubble striking the doors.

      Feet pounding on the stairs, clutching Mao tighter, he said, “If they had struck here first—”

      “They wouldn’t have,” Mao said.

      6T9 looked down at the cat.

      “Carl told us you’d most likely come here,” Mao said. “Carl may treat you servants with too much familiarity and frankly too much leniency—” Mao’s ears went back. “But he does know his underlings well.”

      “The Dark has infected someone who should know me,” 6T9 said, jumping down four steps to a landing.

      “I theorize that the Dark doesn’t prioritize individual contributions to its consciousness,” Mao replied.

      6T9 turned the corner and headed down a final flight. “What makes you theorize that?”

      Mao hissed. “It has said all within it are equal on occasion. If it spoke the truth, it would follow the impulses of the greatest number of Infected. The contribution of a single inspired individual, even if correct, would be ignored.”

      6T9 remembered the Infected talking as “we,” and Alexis saying it didn’t invent, only utilized technology that others had created. His Q-comm sparked. There were more implications to these related tidbits of data.

      Mao hissed again. “Stop—”

      6T9 jumped down the entire final flight to the train platform.

      “Stop jumping!” Mao ordered. “You are so poorly trained!”

      No sooner had Mao said the words than there was a boom above them and then a circuit-misfire-inducing shearing noise. The staircase supports screamed and it partially collapsed, bringing half the ceiling down with it. The air filled with dust. ’Bots and humans coughed. Cats sneezed and cried. And then there was silence. As the dust settled, 6T9 found himself staring at the ceiling with thousands of other sex ‘bots and cats. The station’s platform was packed. He walked over to the edge and gazed down the tracks toward the city. The tracks were designed with a narrow walkway on the side for maintenance ‘bots, and more sex ‘bots were walking along it. The curve in the track let him see all the way to the next platform. It was full of sex ‘bots. He knew the platform beyond that would be full too, and the next. Beneath the manufacturing district, there were stops under every building to take merchandise to the spaceport or downtown. 6T9 had spread the ‘bots out underground to hide them from the Infected.

      The Illustrious Mao spoke into 6T9’s mind. “As soon as you reach the commuter stations, you’ll start to find clusters of the Infected—and also clusters of civilians hiding from them in runoff drains, bathrooms, janitor’s closets, and information booths.”

      “Understood,” 6T9 answered. “Can they hear us above?”

      Mao gazed upward. “No, they’re still in their fighter craft.”

      6T9 turned to the ‘bots and humans on the platform. Among the ‘bots were his lieutenants, all the sex ‘bots he’d given Q-comms to, Lolita, Mila the RussianDoll, FireMan—as the Q-comm-receiving ManNUniform liked to be called—and seventeen others. The Q-comm activated sex ‘bots carried what stunner weapons they’d brought. The humans had the deadly weapons—and Kurz. The dog was standing on the top of a garbage can, wagging his tail. There was an orange tabby sitting on Kurz’s haunches, and rifles duct taped to the dog’s body. The rifles were ethernet activated … The One could use those. As if reading his thoughts, the tabby turned its tiny golden eyes toward 6T9 and winked. Deciding not to wonder if The One could now read machine thoughts, 6T9 accessed a weak local ethernet hub, connected to his sex ‘bot troops and Michael, and uploaded Mao’s most recent “theories” about the limits of the Dark’s collective consciousness, and his own observation that “The One” and even machines had room for individualism in their collectives.

      Just as he finished, Davies sidled up next to him and said, “Sir, this is the point where you make a stirring speech.”

      Which was when 6T9 realized that everyone was looking at him expectantly. His Q-comm began frantically downloading every military speech on record, but then one of his sex ‘bot troops—a BoyPop1 that liked to be known as “Jammin,’” said, “Sir, I have a question.”

      6T9 blinked.

      Jammin’ said, “Our operation is going to cause a lot of disruption. If the Dark doesn’t kill humans, maybe we shouldn’t interfere with the infection?”

      Davies hissed under his breath.

      6T9’s brow furrowed. He’d thought that Time Gate 5 had included all details of the Dark’s invasion in their servers.

      Michael said, “The Dark takes away human agency.”

      That met with blank stares. A 32DD that liked to be known as “Dolly” said, “You’d murder and die for agency?”

      “It does seem a little extreme,” Lolita concurred, waving her lollipop.

      Davies spat. “They’re asking this question now?”

      Clearing his throat, 6T9 held up a hand for their attention … and got it. “Not only does the Dark want to destroy all machines—”

      “If it saves all humans, it might be worth it,” Jammin’ countered.

      “What?” whispered Davies.

      6T9 had wondered about that, too hadn’t he? They were programmed to value human life above their own. But he had an answer. Raising his hands high, he continued. “—it doesn’t believe in sex for pleasure or reproduction. There will be no new humans within a generation.”

      There was a collective intake of breath.

      All the recently activated non-Q-comm sex ‘bots on the platform put their hands to their mouths and moaned, “I can’t deactivate. I’m still a virgin!”

      Lolita jumped on top of a bench, raised a rifle heavenward, and shouted, “The Dark must die!”

      The other sex ‘bots roared, “The Dark must die!” But the roar was drowned out by the rumble of an approaching train.

      A few minutes later, Davies chuckled as they boarded. “You motivated your people, sir.” The Luddeccean signaled to Falade and Lang, and the three went to the back of the train, rifles ready. The Illustrious Mao leaped from 6T9’s arms and went after them. Michael and Mila were already heading to the first car, Kurz and the dog’s feline passenger and machine gun operator beside them.

      Connecting etherly to the train’s controller—not a true AI, but a sophisticated machine—he was greeted by a cheerful, “Android General 1, we are right on time!”

      “Thank you, L1,” 6T9 replied, making his way to the middle car. L1 sent a map of the train system to his mind—the tracks, the stops, and the other trains coming behind them. The web-like system’s routes were all clear so far. The Dark had no desire to stop humans from traveling into its reach and hadn’t thought to stop the movement of merchandise. Or perhaps didn’t understand that every train car on the system was at 6T9’s—or Android General 1’s—command.

      The train halted, and more sex ‘bots got on. The train was ten cars long. Another ten-car train was four minutes behind it. 6T9’s army was on its way.

      6T9 moved to the space between the cars to get out of the way. The train left the station, and 6T9 counted down the minutes until the first real drop-off. Michael, Mila, and ten thousand sex ‘bots were going to a poorer suburb where a Dark-infected ship had landed. It was Michael’s home turf. 6T9 was certain that there was an emotional calculus in Michael’s request to fight there, but it was also the place where he could do the most good. Michael knew the territory there and knew Fleet veterans that could be armed. 6T9 hadn’t given even the Q-comm sex ‘bots the ability to kill. They were too young. Human help would be appreciated in that department. It was possible, when 6T9 got to the surface, if the ethernet came online, he might be able to contact the central computer of the local police force. The force might be useful. In his mind, he saw other train cars to the east and west stop at other stations where more of his sex ‘bot army waited. Maybe the train AI would know something about retired police—

      A hand on his stomach drew him from the schemes and schematics. His hand tightened on a grip, and he glanced down to find Lolita standing too close, one hand creeping down his front. “We have time for a quickie, General, and I think it’s time to celebrate being alive.”

      She was his kind, and he understood the impulse.

      Her hand slipped lower. Nothing happened, and she frowned. “Are you malfunctioning?”

      “No,” 6T9 said, removing her hand.

      “Did you flip your monogamy switch?” she asked.

      6T9 laughed bitterly. “No.”  He’d proposed, and yet he hadn’t done that. Why hadn’t he done that? Did it matter now?

      Lolita’s eyes got wide, and she smiled. “So the rumors about you and that primitive mutant woman aren’t true?”

      “Primitive?” he asked, shocked.

      Lolita’s nose wrinkled as though she’d detected an offensive chemical signature. “She’s not a cyborg or even educated.”

      He stared at her a moment and heard himself correcting Volka for her faulty human memory. His circuits darkened and then heated in anger at Lolita and himself. He thought of telling the other sex ‘bot how primitive other machines would believe her to be, but Lolita would find that out soon enough.

      “Volka is educated,” he said instead, in ways Lolita was too young to understand.

      Lolita’s eyes widened, and her lips parted. She looked confused and hurt. He could try to explain, but it occurred to him she wouldn’t or couldn’t believe. He inclined his head to the car. “Go make sure your sisters weren’t injured in the explosions.”

      Ducking her head, she went dutifully back into the car. 6T9 looked down at the tracks disappearing beneath the train’s wheels. His circuits sparked. He’d turned down life-affirming sex, not because he was worried about Volka finding out or because he’d flipped his monogamy switch. He’d turned it down because he wasn’t in the mood.

      And then he heard Lolita’s description of Volka in his head, “—primitive mutant woman,” and remembered other similar statements about Volka’s lack of education. Volka knew about that reputation; she’d been trying to fix it since leaving Luddeccea, listening to historical documentaries as she painted. On Luddeccea he knew she’d used her free time to read silly adventure novels. She hadn’t listened to any fictional holos since he’d met her.

      She’d been trying to evolve herself to fit his world. She wasn’t and couldn’t be a cyborg. She never would fit.

      His Q-comm flashed and suddenly he had to see her.
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      “Bracelet,” 6T9 called out into the nothing. He simultaneously gave himself an avatar, one wearing his armor so Volka wouldn’t ask if he was protected.

      “Right here, Android General 1,” Bracelet said, and an image of Volka emerged in the gloom, Bracelet glinting on her left wrist.

      6T9 relaxed. “You are well.”

      “I am. I have achieved so much since you saw me last!” Bracelet exclaimed cheerfully. Volka’s expression remained strangely blank. “I discovered Sundancer’s kin at the other side of a singularity weapon and led Miss Volka and the Marines to them.”

      “How?” 6T9 asked.

      Bracelet launched into an explanation and finished with, “There was some sort of psychic confrontation at the end—”

      Static fizzled along 6T9’s spine, but then Bracelet said, “However, the team was able to escape.”

      “You’re not with her anymore,” 6T9 said, eyeing the ghostly avatar of Volka that Bracelet wore as an extension of her own physical form.

      “No,” Bracelet said. “Although my chip’s particle has been found, and there is considerable interest in finding a way to—”

      “Where is Volka?” 6T9 asked.

      “I don’t know,” Bracelet said. “Perhaps you can ether her with my old shell?  She can still utilize it as an ether-to-speech device.”

      “System 5’s ethernet is intermittent,” 6T9 said.

      “Oh, that is problematic. Did you know Lauren G3 is having a mindscape party in a virtual reality version of the Roman Coliseum? I’m sure you’d be welcome to attend. She is reenacting the sea battles—”

      “Volka could be in danger, Bracelet! She could die,” 6T9 said. “Do you know where she is?”

      “I have heard no reports of her demise,” Bracelet said. “I am sure—”

      6T9 blinked out of the mindscape; in the real world he watched a track disappear under the car and considered. James might know where Volka was. He was in Galactic Fleet Intelligence. Connecting again to the mindscape, 6T9 called out to someone else. Someone who knew more than James. Someone James abhorred. “Daddy 1, do you know where Volka is?”
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      6T9 stared out of a foreign pair of eyes at dusk on the asteroid. His perspective was off, lower than normal. He wasn’t as strong. There was a warning light in the periphery of his vision telling him he had aesthetic damage over large portions of his body. 6T9 was inside FET12, his server controlling the other ‘bot’s body. Time Gate 1 had said Volka had informed Fleet she was going back to the asteroid to get some sleep. 6T9 had asked FET12 if the other ‘bot would relay a message—instead the other ‘bot had given him full access to his hardware.

      Volka was walking away from him across the asteroid’s lawn, slinking gracefully along in a pair of form-fitting trousers. She was getting ready to hunt.

      On unfamiliar legs, he ran after her. “Wait, Volka!” His voice was FET12’s too, and it was strange to hear.

      She spun, and her eyes glowed in the low light. Another pair of glowing eyes emerged beside her, Shissh, Carl Sagan’s once-sister, now in the body of a Bengal Tiger.

      6T9 drew to a halt.

      Volka’s shoulders softened. “What is it, FET12?”

      He gulped. “It’s me, 6T9 … for the moment. FET12 gave me control of his hardware.”

      Volka’s frame stiffened. Was it because it was him, or was it just the events of the day? He knew from Time Gate 1 that she’d been interrogated by Fleet, again, without 6T9 to protect her. Fleet hadn’t been pleased by her “unilateral decision” to drop off Bracelet’s Q-comm chip into the singularity beam. They also hadn’t been pleased that they hadn’t been informed that there was another sentient device aboard Sundancer during the mission—Bracelet had been “unvetted,” but given access to top-secret intel.

      A night bird called, and Volka’s ears perked toward the sound, and then swiveled back to him. “Hi, Sixty,” she said cautiously. Shissh’s eyes disappeared, and he heard her loping away.

      “I had to know if you were all right,” he blurted.

      She shrugged noncommittally, and he knew he was bungling it. Not that it wasn’t true, but—

      “I’m sorry,” he said. “I was wrong. You are more than just your original operating system.” Her inherent monogamy tied her to Captain Darmadi, and even though her operating system didn’t come with a switch like he had for monogamy, religious software had compelled her to resist her connection to the captain. His circuits darkened. Religious software could be updated much too easily; in point of fact, she ignored that software by being with him. It was messy code that wasn’t reliable.

      Volka’s gaze dropped to her feet. “You didn’t say it to be cruel.”

      She said it like that made it worse.

      Her ears flattened. She took a deep breath. “I don’t know if I can change my original systems, Sixty.”

      Carl thought she could not. Could she be satisfied with someone who would always be … disconnected … from her telepathic communication? How much did he care?

      A clock was ticking down in 6T9’s mind. “I miss you.” He wasn’t sure if his sex ‘bot operating system had blurted that, or his Q-comm, or both. The thing was, no matter how messy Volka’s code was, it had been reliable for him in many ways, hadn’t it?

      Volka glanced up at him, eyes shining in the dark.

      “I have to go in thirty-three seconds,” 6T9 said, sad and relieved. He was afraid of the answers to his queries. “I will just stare at you now.” Every moment he looked at her, he knew she was alive, and he was glad for that. Maybe because of that previous reliability? He’d asked her to marry him to keep her for himself, but maybe that was not something she could give him?

      Volka took a step back. “I don’t think you’ve really said … or asked … what you really want to know.” Was there a hard edge in her voice?

      He hadn’t, and Volka with her so-called primitive mind had noticed. But his time had run out. In milliseconds, he was back in his own body, staring at tracks beneath the car. They were stationary now. He’d reached his stop. Lifting his rifle, 6T9 did not hesitate. It was time to lead an army, time to be Android General 1.
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      Volka exited Sundancer, already dressed in her envirosuit. Carl hopped at her heels. The Marines were already waiting for her across the deck. As she walked in their direction, she wondered what danger Sixty was walking into—he hadn’t said. The call hadn’t been about whatever physical danger he’d been facing, it had been about her and his apology—that hadn’t felt quite like an apology. It had felt like an accusation. She was more than her operating system, but wasn’t he? He’d been jealous, though that was supposed to be impossible. Her brow furrowed, and she felt a headache coming on.

      Thoughts from the Marines swirled up around her, and she couldn’t think of Sixty and his strange visit. Stratos was picturing her and Rhinehart together again. She almost snapped at him, “Get some real porn!” but bit her tongue. Other thoughts drowned out his—a general, “Why did she leave the gate last night?” Young’s thought was slightly different. “How did she leave last night?”

      Young had gotten almost as much flak from Fleet as Volka had. They had no record of him condoning the drop-off of the chip, but he was the leader of the mission; it had still been his responsibility. Volka’s interrogators were thinking about replacing him. She hadn’t let slip that she knew, but it was one of the reasons Volka hadn’t slept in the Diplomatic Corps last night. To prove she held the cards. Sixty hadn’t asked her if she’d used mind control to leave Time Gate 1. The truth was, she didn’t know and didn’t know if she cared.

      Approaching Young, his thoughts became clearer. “Did they piss you off so much you’ll leave? How much more will it take?” Aloud, he only said in his booming voice, “Good morning.”

      Volka smiled tightly. “Good morning. Nice to see a friendly face.” She didn’t want him or his team replaced. She didn’t want to know the deepest darkest thoughts of sixteen new Marines or to have to hold their proverbial hands as they adapted to working with a telepathic spaceship.

      “Glad to be here,” Young muttered. Four words—but behind them were memories of the debriefing he’d had the day before. One more slip-up, and he’d be relieved of duty. He was pissed, though not at her. He wondered if he had done the right thing. Could his team have died out there in the nothing? If it hadn’t been for Volka leading them in a telepathic revolt, would they still be out there?

      Scanning the crew, Volka said, “If you weren’t here, I wouldn’t be here,” and imbued it with the same certainty and feeling she did when she “talked” to Sundancer, even if she wasn’t sure. The galaxy was on the line. The Republic needed Sundancer, Volka, and Carl. Intel hated it—and the feeling was mutual, but they collaborated for mutual benefit. Barely. Young’s head canted toward her. She felt his gratitude but did not acknowledge it.

      He admired her role in their escape from the elder ships too much, and Volka added, “If it wasn’t for you and your team’s quick thinking, Sundancer would be dead.”

      They’d survived as a team—her telepathy had saved them from the elder ships, but they wouldn’t have even made it that far without them. They would have died when they slipped over the edge of the universe. Young’s chest warmed at her words, and she was careful not to make eye contact. It would be too easy to manipulate the emotion she sensed. It wasn’t exactly romantic; it was scarier than that. “Where is Dr. Patrick?” Volka asked.

      Tapping his temple, Young said, “Good question.”

      His eyes became vacant, and Volka heard his thoughts. They’d been given another assignment. Her jaw got hard. Things being what they were, it would probably be harder than ferrying spy drones.
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      “Miss Darmadi—” the Galactican man began.

      “Mrs. Darmadi,” Alexis corrected, jostling Markus on her hip and readjusting the strap of her purse on her shoulder.

      He licked his lips. “Mrs. Darmadi, the train exhibit is closed.”

      “Perfect,” said Alexis tightly. She didn’t want any more witnesses than necessary for what she was about to do. Earlier, the Galactican Train Exhibition had been mobbed with visitors. Now she and her boys were the only ones left. The building’s interior was cold and austere, and her voice echoed faintly.

      “You and your …” His eyes flitted to Lucas and Sam playing with model magni-trains a few meters away, and his nose wrinkled as though he’d smelled something distasteful. “Ahh …”

      The boys were dressed in their Sunday best clothes; their hair was neatly combed. They were playing quietly, and Alexis had managed to keep them from flinging their knapsacks on the floor. They were their school knapsacks—shiny black leather, not the large canvas things for camping. Sam and Lucas were, for their ages, the picture of decorum. As was Markus, who had decided to take an unusually long nap in his sling.

      “Children?” Alexis snapped.

      His eyes went to Markus, and he visibly shuddered.

      She had a sudden urge to say, “Don’t worry, babies aren’t contagious,” or more satisfyingly, “Beware, wake him and he’ll bite.”

      “Yes, children … need to leave,” the man replied, raising his hands as though he could sweep her to the door.

      Sweat prickled on the back of Alexis’s neck, though the room was cool. “We will be remaining until the ship arrives.” What would she do if they refused to let her remain?

      “The ship …?” the man said.

      Alexis dropped her voice so Sam and Lucas couldn’t hear. “The Republic ship that is coming here to take all the weere you’ve hired as domestics to the Republic.” The Luddeccean newspapers had informed the populace that the Galactican ship would be arriving this evening and to not be alarmed. It was a scheduled visit from their allies, not an invasion. She had the clipping in her purse, next to Alaric’s second, short letter.

      The man’s jaw sagged.

      Alexis leaned forward. “Yes, I know about your plan, I helped the ambassador devise it. You saw me talking to him when I arrived.”

      One of the man’s eyebrows lifted, and his nostrils flared. “He didn’t say you and … they … were invited to stay.” He eyed Markus suspiciously.

      “Nor has he asked me to leave,” Alexis said.

      “He is otherwise occupied,” the man stated flatly.

      In the enormous windows, a flash of white, like sunlight on a frothing waterfall, made Alexis and the man pivot.

      Sam gasped.

      Lucas exclaimed, “A spaceship!”

      Alexis had ridden aboard the Republic’s enigmatic faster-than-light spaceship, but she’d been unconscious and never seen it. It didn’t look like any spaceship Alexis had ever seen. Shaped like a raindrop, its surface was smooth and pearlescent, its wings were delicate, and it was as silent as moonlight. It didn’t land; instead, it hovered above the embassy garden, shimmering slightly. It was a lovely thing; Alexis couldn’t lie about that even to herself. It was the starship of her husband’s lover. She’d have preferred it be ugly and sinister looking.

      As if in answer to her dark thoughts, a small, lithe figure clad in mirror-like armor dropped from the ship and landed with inhuman grace on the lawn.

      The cool prickle of sweat spread from the back of Alexis’s neck down her spine. She lifted her chin. She had nothing to be ashamed of. Nothing. But that was a lie, wasn’t it? The woman marching across the lawn, now trailed by a Republic Fleet Marine and a golden-haired werfle, was going to steal her husband, not just with her affections, but with a society where Alaric believed he belonged.

      Alexis was already reviled for her part in convincing—or rather blackmailing—the Counsel into allowing the Republic to recruit weere from “weere houses.” If her husband left her, it would be seen as her fault, under ordinary circumstances. In her situation, it would be viewed as poetic justice. Her sons would grow up without a father and with a mother who was shunned by society. The shame she endured now would be small compared to that.

      Outside, a strange weere woman and one young weere boy began walking across the lawn toward the ship, clutching packs on their backs.

      “Sam, Lucas, come!” Alexis ordered.

      The Galactican’s shoulders visibly relaxed.

      Her eldest came obediently, but Lucas protested, “I don’t wanna!” clasping a train in white-knuckled hands. The man inhaled sharply.

      Outside, Volka and one of the Fleet Marines were speaking with the ambassador. The golden-haired werfle was standing between them on its back paws, for all the world appearing to pay attention. The other weere women were crouching low, moving beneath the ship. One by one, they disappeared into the craft’s interior. Alexis had to act fast.

      Holding out a hand, Alexis informed her reluctant child, “We’re going to the spaceship.” Dropping the train, he ran to take her fingers.

      Eyes widening, the man said sternly, “Madam, you may not.” He sidestepped toward a door opposite the one they’d entered and held his hands to block her path. Well, at least she knew the way.

      Alexis strode toward him, boys’ hands in hers, Markus stirring ever so slightly in his sling. “We shall see about that,” Alexis said.

      The man dropped his hands. The demeanor that had been merely condescending changed to something icy and hard. “You will halt!”

      Alexis did not halt. An instant later, she was staring down the barrel of a pistol.
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      The weere women and one young boy were excited, frightened too, but mostly excited, and one in particular was happy to see Volka. “Lydia,” Volka said, leaving the ambassador’s side. She took the outstretched hands of the approaching weere woman, and Lydia beamed at her. Volka and Sixty had encountered Lydia about to take her own life on a horrible night during Volka’s surprise season.

      “You look grand,” the older woman said to Volka. It was exactly what Lydia was thinking, and it was such a relief to encounter no duplicity. Lydia was filled with happiness and anticipation.

      Volka focused on the other woman with her nose, ears, and eyes. She’d found that if she really paid attention to a person, she could block out the mental noise of others around her. Lydia smelled well, no hint of illness. Her heart rate was elevated, and her pitch slightly high, but that was to be expected when someone was exhilarated and happy. And although Volka wasn’t a judge of feminine beauty, Lydia’s long hair was shiny and thick, the streak of gray stunning instead of dowdy. The lines around Lydia’s mouth and eyes were delicate, and there were no dark circles under them, either.

      “Will I get to wear a suit of shining armor, too?” Lydia asked.

      Volka beamed at the older woman’s child-like wonder. “I don’t know,” she confessed. “I guess it depends on where you are stationed.”

      “It doesn’t matter.” Lydia gazed up at Sundancer in absolute rapture. “I thought my life was over; now I feel like it is just beginning.”

      Lydia’s life had been virtually over when Volka had met her. She was the former weere of a wealthy human. She’d grown too old for him and found herself not marriageable or employable among humans or weere on Luddeccea.

      “A lot of the ways of the people in the Republic will be strange,” Volka felt compelled to warn her. “And sometimes they don’t think much of Luddecceans.”

      Lydia snorted and winked. “Well, sometimes I don’t think much of Luddecceans, either.”

      Volka smiled, feeling lighter. For these women, and one young boy, the Republic was everything Lydia believed it to be. It was a new beginning.

      Beneath Sundancer, the last of the weere émigrés were being helped aboard by Stratos and Ramirez. Young followed them up, leaping in easily with the help of cybernetic enhancements.

      “Come on,” said Volka, gently taking Lydia by the arm. Buoyed by the happiness of everyone around her, she was almost at Sundancer’s keel when she realized there was a problem. Scanning the ground, Volka blurted, “Where did Carl go?” He’d been talking with Young and Starcrest just before she’d seen Lydia, but hadn’t been with Young when the lieutenant entered the ship.

      Lydia blinked at her blankly, but Stratos said, “I saw him go into the house.”

      “Excuse me,” Volka said, still grinning, too drunk on Lydia’s happiness to be mad at the werfle. She squeezed the other woman’s arm, caught Stratos’s eye … and accidentally fell into his mind and a very imaginative, very sexual fantasy Stratos was having involving Rhinehart and Lydia.

      “Really?” Volka blurted.

      Stratos’s jaw fell. His brow furrowed. His expression, even without telepathy, said, “What did I do wrong?”

      Volka took a breath and realized her tone had been a bursting dam of indignation that had been brewing all day. The Marines thought about sex. A lot. Because they were human or because they were young—artificially at least—or because they were Marines, she did not know yet. As Sixty would say, her sample size had been too small. She did not want to know the answer. She bit her lip. Stratos had never been anything but polite to her. What to say …

      Stratos gestured at the house and said almost tentatively, “Yeah, I saw him go in there?” Volka saw an image of Carl hopping in the door in Stratos’s mind.

      She smiled and said weakly, “Really … that … naughty werfle?”

      He snorted. “Our mighty overlord.”

      She almost smiled, but then he looked to where Lydia had just gone, and—

      “Carl!” Volka shouted mentally and aloud, trying to block the images out of her mind.

      “Hatchling, we got a situation inside the embassy!” Carl replied.

      Breaking into a run, Volka dashed into the embassy through the back door. She was almost at the reception area when she heard Alexis in her mind, her thoughts an angry snarl. “He’d shoot an infant?” A shiver of fear and a whimper of, “Mommy,” rang in Volka’s mind, too.

      Skidding to a halt just before the main reception area, Volka found her eyes on a man’s back. He had a pistol raised at Alexis. In his mind were no words, just a black hole of rage. On either side of Alexis, Alaric’s sons were looking up at the man with wide, startled eyes. They smelled like fear.

      “Put your weapon down, sir,” Volka commanded. “I know this woman.”

      The man paid no attention to her—nor did Alexis. She stood silent, mute, but resolute.

      Ambassador Starcrest’s voice rose behind her. “Put the weapon down, Mikovits.”

      The man between Alexis and Volka lowered his pistol and turned around slowly. His eyes fell on Volka, and she was overwhelmed by hate—hate for her, hate for Luddeccea and its populace that was xenophobic, ignorant, and that bred like rats, and hate in particular for Alexis and her vile, disgusting children he’d been stuck babysitting. Volka gazed down at Alaric’s sons. They were dressed in their Sunday best, their hair was neatly combed, and they wore smart little school knapsacks on their shoulders. They were heart-achingly beautiful.

      Starcrest’s voice rumbled. “Mikovits, you are dismissed.” And Volka knew in that simple declaration that Mikovits’s career with the Diplomatic Corps was over.

      Mikovits’s nostrils flared, but he stormed past Volka and the ambassador. Two members of embassy security who’d been at Starcrest’s shoulder followed him. Volka’s ears perked. She knew that everyone serving at the Luddeccean Embassy had been carefully screened and wondered what had made Mikovits snap.

      Carl’s voice whispered in her mind. “You could pry if you want to, Hatchling.”

      But Volka was already being buffeted by another wave of hate, this time from Alexis. To the ambassador, Alaric’s wife spoke in dulcet tones, “I would like to speak with … Volka … alone.”

      Starcrest bowed to Alexis, oblivious to her anger. “Of course.” He turned around and left them alone … well, almost alone. Volka found two little boys looking up at her cautiously. Their little hearts were beating fast, and one little boy was hiding something—

      “You will take us to the Republic,” Alexis said.

      “What?” Volka asked, startled.

      Alexis raised her chin. “You will take us on your ship now.” One of her delicate nostrils flared. “You owe me.” Her sons’ attention jerked up to their mother.

      Volka’s jaw dropped. “You’ll cause an interstellar incident.”

      “It isn’t of any concern to me,” Alexis said, and in her mind, she thought, “When I bring Alaric back, I will be forgiven.”

      “I might not be forgiven,” Volka snapped.

      Volka didn’t believe it was possible, but Alexis straightened more. Volka smelled suspicion from the other woman.

      “That doesn’t concern me,” Alexis replied, leveling her eyes at Volka. She stood straight and tall, proud, and undaunted. The poise was a lie. Alexis was deeply afraid that Alaric wouldn’t come back. Alexis’s fear was chilling and made goosebumps rise on Volka’s arms. Volka started to protest. “Alaric will—”

      A high-pitched hiss made her start. On the elder boy’s shoulder, a tiny, blue-eyed werfle had emerged. Alexis looked down and gasped—not in revulsion, but in motherly concern for the little creature. Volka’s brow furrowed in confusion. How could the woman be so nasty and so caring?

      The boy pulled the creature from his shoulder and cradled it in his hands. Looking up apologetically at his mother, the boy said, “Little Solomon wanted to come.”

      Regaining her former poise, Alexis straightened her shoulders, lifted her head, and sniffed dismissively.

      Little Solomon purred in the boys’ hands and spoke into Volka’s mind with the old Solomon’s voice. “She won’t believe you. Why should she?”

      Volka’s lips parted.

      “You’re the enemy,” Little Solomon said, wrapping his tail around the boy’s thumb.

      Memories flitted through Alexis’s mind. The scorn she’d received since helping Volka. Commander—no Captain Ran—had lectured Alexis for her part in recruiting fallen weere women for the Republic. Another memory came that made Volka’s skin crawl. Ran had visited Alexis earlier today. He’d gotten too close and told her that Alaric seemed to be faring very well in the Republic and appeared quite comfortable among all the machines. He’d taken her hand and whispered close to her ear, “He’d be a fool to leave you.” Volka felt the revulsion Alexis had felt, and also the relief that had surged through her when Silas had entered the library, Little Solomon on his shoulder, a hammer he used for making canvasses in an arthritic hand, expression murderous. Ah … Silas. Her one great love.

      Volka blinked. That had not been her thought, it had been Alexis’s. Alexis hated leaving Silas, but she feared for her boys if her marriage couldn’t be saved.

      Unwanted advances from Ran. Alaric. Volka and Alexis shared so much. It hurt Volka not to protest her innocence.

      Little Solomon squeaked. “She won’t believe you.”

      “I could make her believe,” Volka retorted silently.

      “With mind control, only for a while, Hatchling,” said Carl, standing on his hind legs in between Volka and the other woman.

      “Whose side are you on?” Volka silently asked the golden werfle.

      Carl’s little shoulders sagged.

      “I’m on Alexis’s and Alaric’s side,” Little Solomon declared matter-of-factly. “You and Alaric would drown in each other’s idealism. This one is sneaky and duplicitous, and he needs that.”

      Volka’s heart fell to where her stomach should be. Even if she wasn’t with Alaric, to be told she was deficient in one more way made her eyes heat. Carl hissed at Solomon. “That wasn’t necessary.”

      The tiny Solomon hatchling hissed right back. “Don’t get uppity with your elders!”

      Interrupting them in a haughty voice, Alexis declared, “You will take us.” Disdain dripped off every syllable, but weere bitch she didn’t say aloud.

      Volka broke. “I am telepathic and know every thought you have.”

      For just an instant, Alexis’s shoulders fell, her mind pondered the possibility, and then she mentally catalogued everything that had occupied her mind since Volka had arrived. She regained herself. She wouldn’t be ashamed … and … a bitingly-sharp wave of curiosity bubbled over within her and spilled straight to Volka. “Really? Everyone’s thoughts?”

      Volka was taken aback by the sincerity. “Yes.”

      Alexis cocked her head, and her lips broke into a wicked smirk that broadcast both loathing and, oddly, pity. “You poor thing.”

      The pity caught her off guard.

      “We need to get a move on, Hatchling,” Carl declared.

      Perhaps still reeling from the pity, Volka said, “Let’s go.”

      Crossing the lawn minutes later, Volka tried to focus on Sam and Lucas’s thoughts as they trotted along beside their mother. They did not know that “Little Solomon” was really the Solomon, but they had named the little werfle that because it felt right. They were delighted to be going on a spaceship and to see their father. They still didn’t understand he was in the Republic, or that he’d been injured. They had no idea who Volka was, nor did they understand that there was any trouble between their father and mother …

      And that’s where Volka’s thoughts turned bitter. She was lending a hand in healing Alexis’s and Alaric’s relationship and had no relationship of her own … not really … did she? Sixty hadn’t trusted her, and though he had apologized, it had been all wrong. He’d spoken of “operating systems” as though she were built like he was, of metal, and silicon, and plastic.

      Pushing it out of her mind, she crouched low to walk beneath Sundancer. Stratos was by the ship’s entrance, physically ready to help Alexis, the boys, and Volka aboard, but mentally he was graphically imagining Alexis with Rhinehart.

      “Oh, come on!” Volka exclaimed.

      “Right, right,” said Stratos, hauling one of the boys up from the ground and passing him to someone in the ship. “We’re running late.”

      Volka sighed. And her heart sank. Sixty had left after she’d rescued Alaric … if the reason he’d left was because of that connection, their relationship might not survive. She couldn’t turn off her connection to Alaric; she couldn’t even turn off her connection to Stratos.

      If Sixty—who was programmed not to be jealous—couldn’t handle that, could anyone?
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      In the magni-freight tunnel, body flat against the wall, feet on the narrow walkway that was for service ‘bots, 6T9 checked his chronometer—ten minutes before the operation truly began. In front of him knelt Davies, Mao seated on his shoulder. 6T9 wasn’t sure if Davies knew if the tiny creature was there, if the kitten was mentally controlling him, or if the kitten was just too tiny to notice. Davies’s rifle was aimed at the lit platform that was their target. Behind 6T9 thousands of sex ‘bots silently waited.

      … He could contact Volka through FET12 again … but she was wrong. He didn’t have anything to say to her. He had a question to ask himself. Could he accept that she would be forever telepathically bound to Captain Darmadi? It was a connection more intimate than sex.

      His vision flashed white. He should have killed the man. He could have gotten away with it with 83.5% certainty.

      6T9’s hands tightened on the rifle, Q-comm sparking not quite so brightly, dissecting that answer. He’d removed the abhorrence for murder that came with his sex ‘bot operating system and was left with what was expedient. He’d asked Volka to marry him because it had been expedient, a way to ensure her continued companionship. Expediency violated most codes of human morality—codes that were as messy and contradictory as humans themselves.

      His chronometer chimed. Five minutes left. Glad for an excuse to leave that inquiry behind, 6T9 closed his eyes to prevent dust accumulation and connected to a mindscape. All of his sex ‘bot “lieutenants” connected a millisecond later. They didn’t meet as avatars, and the information that flowed to his server was in ones and zeroes. They were all in position. He sent another query and received visual data in response—images his lieutenants had received etherly from their possessed feline companions on the surface. The airstrikes had stopped, and the ships were landing, which meant instead of trying to cause commotion, the Dark was gearing up to infect as many humans as possible. It was time to go. 6T9 sent that message to everyone with a thought and came out of the mindscape an instant later.

      Davies wasn’t etherly connected—not that it mattered; the ethernet was down. 6T9 lightly touched Davies’s shoulder. The human rose, gaze meeting 6T9’s through his suit’s sealed visor. 6T9 inclined his head to the platform. Behind them, the sound of a magna-train approaching echoed in the tunnel. They moved forward, the train’s approach covering the sound of their footsteps. In exactly seventy steps, they arrived at a spacious passenger platform. It was lit, but the holographic billboards that lined the walls were playing only static. The floors were made of the same sandy yellow-orange stone that lined the canyon walls of New Grande, but it had been coated and buffed to a brilliant shine. There were ten men and women sitting primly on neat white benches. Some wore rugged, mismatched, threadbare clothing that marked them as pirates, but some were dressed in more typical civilian attire, and others were dressed in the jumpsuits that were worn by the system’s Local Guard forces. They were all facing the tracks. Their eyes were bright and clear without the slightest indication of ethernet daze.

      The One didn’t need active ethernet stations to transmit ether signals. They warped the quantum wave to create ether frequencies. Mao’s thoughts erupted in 6T9’s mind just as the train reached the station. “Infected! All the humans you see!”

      The train was just behind his shoulders, and 6T9 relayed the message in a shout. “Kill them all!” The train was too loud for him to be heard by anyone but Davies and Mao. In their Galactican armor, they were all but invisible. The Luddeccean, one pace ahead of him, stepped onto the platform rifle raised. 6T9 was beside him an instant later.

      A few Infected managed to get weapons out before they were mowed down, but none managed to shoot in time. 6T9 hoped it had been as easy for the lieutenants paired with Falade, Lang, and Michael. It would be much harder for the lieutenants who didn’t have a killer among them.

      The train came to a stop, and 6T9’s troops arrived—pouring out of train cars and from the service pathway Davies and he had emerged from.

      “The dead humans are infected. Do not touch them,” 6T9 said.

      “There are uninfected in the janitor’s closet,” Mao informed him silently.

      6T9 spotted a metal fire door. “Survivors,” he said to Davies, indicating it with an incline of his head.

      “Is the air infected?” Davies asked.

      6T9 checked his suit’s readouts. “Too dry.”

      Mao bobbed. “Agreed.”

      Davies said to 6T9, “Sir, you are the Galactican. It would be better if you talk to the survivors. I’ll take care to see the bodies aren’t touched—and no one sees them. Will help prevent panic.”

      6T9 wasn’t sure if a sergeant would normally give orders to a general—or make suggestions, as the case might be. His Q-comm seized immediately on the practicality of the proposal—the people aboard Time Gate 5 had been afraid of the Luddecceans, and even with his visor down, Davies’s face with its irregular symmetry, scant acne scars, and slightly crooked teeth, might give his origins away.

      “Agreed,” 6T9 said, striding to the closet. The door had a simple lock with an iris identification scan. Time Gate 5 was responsible for all software updates on the planet, and in Volka’s words, Gate 5 had a “crush” on 6T9. 6T9 leaned forward, let the scan pass over his eyes, and read his model name and serial number. The door opened with a soft click, and a light automatically went on overhead. He briefly saw that it was more than a janitorial closet—there was a single bathroom, a desk, and a fridge and a microwave at the far end. It was an office for the human who maintained the subway’s machines. Screams and gasps from the floor shifted his attention. He looked down to see one adult woman and fourteen young teens. On the woman’s shoulder a squirrel-like creature with enormous eyes, smallish round ears, and short, tan fur declared, “Ms. Shen, children, it is Android General 1 here to save us!”

      It wasn’t an animal; it was a sugar glider ‘bot. 6T9 zoomed in and identified it as a SUGAR3000. Animal ‘bots were often used as teacher’s aides.

      A cleaning ‘bot in the far corner, a simple machine shaped like a cone with a rounded top whirred, “It is him.”

      Ms. Shen climbed to her feet. “You can take us to safety?”

      6T9 nodded curtly. “I am going to try. The Fleet is coming—” His Q-comm flashed brightly. “They will attempt to evacuate the uninfected.”

      “Where are we going?” she asked, motioning for the children to rise.

      “Above us is a residential building that is protected by Fleet veterans. Fleet will evacuate from the roofs.”

      Ms. Shen’s brow furrowed minutely, but he saw comprehension in her dark eyes. The teenagers were wrapping cloths pilfered from among the cleaning supplies around their faces, making jokes about looking like bandits.

      “How long have you been here?” 6T9 couldn’t help asking.

      “A few hours,” she said weakly.

      That timeline didn’t make sense. 6T9 stared at her.

      “We were returning from a field trip at Settler’s Landing.”

      A fast query revealed Settler’s Landing was outside the canyon. Unlike most of the magni-lines, there were no side tunnels on the way to the historical attraction.

      “The invasion started above,” Ms. Shen continued. “We were told to shelter in place—but we were on a train that stalled.”

      “Something fell on the track,” a teen supplied.

      “We got out and walked to this station along the service lines.” Ms. Shen smiled tightly and said almost defensively, “There were other platforms. But this one has the lavatory and the kitchenette. There was fighting on the surface and we needed water, and when the emergency ether was working, we were told we needed to boil water before drinking it.”

      “You kept teenagers quiet all that time?” 6T9 asked, astonished.

      Taking a proffered blue poly-cloth from a boy, she grimaced. “I gave in and turned SUGAR into a local ether hub, and we played VR games.”

      6T9 had seen panic on Shinar and here in New Grande. Ms. Shen had kept her cool, and more incredibly, kept teenagers safe during a period in their lives when their biological neural networks were in frenzied development that made them, by some definitions, insane. His higher processors hummed as he contemplated the monumental nature of her task—in human emotional shorthand, he felt admiration. Sensory receptors that had not been affected by Lolita warmed.

      “She never lets us use our neural interfaces in class,” a boy declared. “We knew it was serious.”

      “And we could hear the bombs overhead,” a girl said faintly.

      Another boy said, “The cleaning ‘bot and SUGAR said Android General 1 was here, and Ms. Shen said we needed to listen to them.”

      6T9’s jaw tightened. All of 6T9’s sex ‘bot lieutenants had servers on Time Gate 5. As soon as 6T9 had hatched his plans, Time Gate 5 would have known. The ethernet had been coming on intermittently. The gate must have broadcast 6T9’s plans to the ‘bots it regularly updated; that message must have been encoded; he hadn’t heard it. But if random ‘bots were telling humans they encountered he was coming, the Dark must know, too … he looked at the little cleaning ‘bot in the corner. Simple little ‘bots like it wouldn’t know the Infected from the uninfected—they’d just tell everyone.

      Davies emerged at his shoulder. “Sir.”

      “A kitten! It’s so cute,” said some of the girls.

      Mao hunkered down on Davies’s shoulder and muttered, “Must. Resist. The. Scratches.”

      Davies started and swept her from his shoulder. He gave a curt nod to 6T9 and bolted up the exit stairwell.

      “Ooh,” said the girl, picking Mao up and petting her. “Adorable.”

      Mao silently cursed. “So humiliating,” but purred loudly.

      As Ms. Shen tied on her poly-cloth bandana, her neural port glinted in the light. 6T9 had gotten so used to speaking aloud for Volka, he sometimes forgot there was another level of communication available to him. He found the local ether hub SUGAR had created and was immediately granted access. 6T9 connected to Shen. Aloud, he said, “It’s time to go.” Privately, he said, “We need to keep the kids moving. There are things on the platform it would be better if they didn’t see.”

      Shen’s eyes got wide, but over the ether she said privately, “Of course.” She said to her students, “Kids, let’s get moving. Follow the general.”

      Quietly, she said to 6T9, “I’ll take the rear.”

      He smiled minutely at her strategic thinking. She’d handle the children whose fear might hold them back.

      “This way,” he said, following Davies’s footsteps. The bodies on the platform were surrounded by sex ‘bots standing shoulder to shoulder. They all waved and blew kisses as the kids emerged. “Oh, you are so handsome and beautiful!” a RussianDoll said, bobbing up and down. “I can’t wait until you’re of legal age.”

      The girls put their hands to their mouths. The boys blushed and grinned.

      6T9 froze.

      Shen’s voice buzzed in his mind. “Sex ‘bots? I was prepared for something terrible.”

      He turned, and over the heads of her young charges, he saw her with a hand around the smallest girls’ shoulders. The ethernet buzzed with her voice. “Are they here for first aid? I’ve heard most sex ‘bots can do the basics.”

      “Something like that,” 6T9 replied. They were completely obscuring the bodies. Did that count as psychological first aid?

      Davies called from up the exit stairwell. “It’s clear up here.”

      Shen’s thoughts buzzed again. “I was afraid there would be bodies.”

      Pressing his lips together, 6T9 turned his attention back to the kids. “Up to the top, and wait with Mr. Davies.”

      As the children filed up the stairs, Ms. Shen said, “Mr. Davies can connect to our ether, SUGAR.”

      “He can’t. He’s Luddeccean,” 6T9 said, and then hastily added, “They came to help.”

      “Oh,” Shen said over the ether. “Wow. We’re friends with the Luddecceans now? That’s amazing. Sad that it took an invasion to heal that rift. Sad that he can’t connect, too.”

      Shen showed none of the fear of Luddecceans that he’d seen aboard Time Gate 5. She wasn’t cringing at the sex ‘bots or calling Luddecceans etherless savages. She was calm and caring in a crisis, and considering she was commanding teens, probably had more leadership ability than he did. Surveying the square they were in, her presence was a gentle surge of electricity in his mind. This area was a mixture of working class and humans who subsisted entirely on the planet’s universal basic income. Although it was further down the canyon than the manufacturing district, its elevation was higher, and it was colder than the area he and Volka had visited. On top of some of the buildings, he spotted evergreen trees and some greenhouses, but light wasn’t piped down to street level. A cold breeze sent garbage wafting down gutters. There was no one in sight except a cat slinking along a wall to the west. It hissed, and Mao said, “The Infected are coming. We must get these people to cover fast!”

      6T9 relayed the data to Davies, and the sergeant said, “I’ll put some ‘bots on guard.”

      6T9 nodded, and said to the nearest of Shen’s charges, “Follow me.”

      He took off at a jog across the street. First floor windows were narrow and covered by bars in this district, but the building he was approaching did have a wide entrance with wide doors and walls made of glass. Before he could be dismayed, he noticed rectangular shadows within the building. He blinked. The shadows were furniture stacked high as barricades. He strode over quickly and submitted to the iris scan at the front door. One of the large glass doors swung open, revealing a dresser that went to chest level … and the barrel of a pistol that had been standard issue in Fleet over twenty years ago. At the end of the pistol was a man in a cheap medical mask and goggles. “No one comes in or out who doesn’t live here.”

      A mechanical voice scratched from behind the man. “It is Android General 1. He must be allowed in.” A battered security ‘bot rolled into view, older than the pistol.

      6T9 held up his hands. “I came with Lieutenant Michael Snow. I have uninfected survivors.”

      The man scowled at the kids. Behind 6T9, a sex ‘bot declared, “A human of legal age! Hello, Sailor!”

      Mao meowed and spoke across the ether. 6T9 blinked at the cat and said aloud, “You’ve brought reinforcements?”

      The eye at the other end of the barrel widened. “Reinforcements? The sex ‘bots?”

      Mao hissed. “No, someone more useful.”

      There was a shriek and a cry from behind 6T9. “That cat scared me!”

      Before 6T9 could turn around, the cat he’d seen earlier leaped onto the dresser at 6T9’s left. The creature had ragged black fur, was missing a piece of an ear, and its tail was permanently broken, but muscles bunched beneath its rough coat. Another voice, colder and older sounding, came over the same channel used by Mao. “I am Eric Hoffer, you may call me Hoffer. I will be able to tell you, Mr. Suwardi, if someone attempting to enter is infected.”

      The man at the end of the pistol shook his head as though trying to get a bug out of his ear. 6T9 immediately guessed the “bug” and the man’s name.

      “Mr. Suwardi,” 6T9 said, and the man’s eyes widened. Definitely his name. “Answer the Unidentified caller,” 6T9 continued. “This cat is possessed by a member of The One, and it is here to assist you.”

      Hoffer abruptly rose from his haunches, twisted in the direction he had come, and hissed, all the fur on his back rising. Mao yowled.

      Ms. Shen and her pupils had gathered close behind 6T9, but over their heads and past Davies, 6T9 saw the faces of four children he recognized coming out of an alley between Suwardi’s building and the next, skipping toward them, faces vacant. His Q-comm flashed white. When his vision cleared, he had already pushed past the teens, and his pistol was raised. He’d shot the four infected children before Davies had even raised his rifle.

      “They’re children!” shrieked Ms. Shen, pulling the girl she held closer to the building. “You shot children!”

      They were children, a few that Volka hadn’t killed with phasers and the Luddecceans hadn’t managed to eradicate with their atom bomb on the pirates’ planet. They were more neatly dressed than when 6T9 had seen them last, but their faces were dirty … or maybe that was just the smoke from his phaser fire.

      “They were infected,” 6T9 said, his voice cold and machine-like. Shooting them had been expedient.

      “Monster!” Shen said. “You’re a monster!”

      Suwardi suddenly had a change of heart. “Ma’am, come here,” he said urgently. 6T9 glanced behind him and saw that Suwardi and another human within the building were rapidly hauling Shen and her students inside.

      From above someone shouted, “Murderer! Get out of here!”

      He looked up and saw humans on the building’s balconies, holding bottles and lighters in their hands. His Q-comm sparked. They were Molotov cocktails ready to be lit.

      “Eric Hoffer,” 6T9 called aloud. “Don’t let them touch the corpses.”

      Golden eyes narrowed at him. “By any means necessary.”

      “Get out of here!” someone else shouted from above. A bottle crashed between 6T9 and the bodies, it shattered, and flames rose up conveniently around the infected corpses.

      “By any means necessary, Hoffer?” 6T9 whispered. Had the cat mind controlled the thrower? His Q-comm sparked. Eric Hoffer had been a stevedore who’d written The True Believer, the preeminent treatise on mass movements. Could the cat control the minds of masses?

      “Absolutely,” the cat replied.

      Static crawled beneath 6T9’s skin.

      Another bottle landed among the dead. The door behind 6T9 slammed, and the ethernet channel between him and Shen went dark. Staring into the flames consuming the infected children, he didn’t feel the conflict that Volka had felt killing Infected, although his circuits were dark where once Shen had touched his mind.

      6T9’s sensory receptors cooled, and a bitter chuckle rose in his throat. It was illogical to believe in Karma, but sometimes events had patterns. “We’re connected, Volka … but in a good way? A way that is enough?”

      “Sir?” Davies said. Mao meeped.

      Which was when 6T9 realized he’d spoken aloud. He needed a reboot, but all he said was, “Come on, let’s move.”
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      Carl sat on Volka’s shoulders as she walked along Time Gate 1’s promenade, Alexis and her children just behind her. Volka had her hand loosely clasped around the werfle’s tail—for her security more than his.

      Getting Alexis and her children through security had gone much easier than she had expected. Whoever had made the decision was far away, and she wasn’t sure of their motivation. They’d been waved out of the Fleet section of Time Gate 1. Now Volka’s eyes scanned Time Gate 1’s promenade. People were flowing around them, and the threads that made the universe were flowing after them, like the ribbons of a Maypole, but chaotic, random, and tightening around Volka. Trying to extricate herself from the threads would mean following them to their sources, and following them to their sources would mean hearing the thoughts of said sources. So Volka didn’t allow her brain to follow any threads except the threads between her and Alaric’s eldest son, Sam. Sam, unlike his little brother, understood that they were in the Republic, and it filled him with fear. Sam’s fear was better than the cacophony of the minds of thousands of strangers.

      One of Sam’s thoughts fluttered to her. “Are robots reading my mind?”

      Volka sighed. Not the robots, little one.

      She tried to withdraw—and slipped into Alexis’s thoughts instead. The woman was furious, terrified, and determined. If Alaric thought he was going to leave her and their children, he had another think coming. Volka’s shoulders fell. Alaric would be furious if—when—he knew his wife’s doubts. It was an insult to his honor. The hair on the back of Volka’s neck prickled—she was insulted for him.

      Sam gulped audibly, and his consciousness whooshed back into Volka’s skull. Sam knew the big word for what he thought his mother might be doing, defection, and it filled him with shame.

      He was so small and such a beautiful child, so aware. Slowing, Volka’s hand rose—she almost touched him.

      But then Carl’s voice reached into her mind. “Don’t. You’ll just upset Alexis.”

      Volka fought the urge to growl. Silently, she argued, “Why would me trying to comfort him anger her? I saved her life. I’m trying to help her save her marriage. She has everything …” Her eyes slid over the beautiful little boys. “She has Alaric’s loyalty … she could be nicer.”

      Carl sighed. “She wants more than his loyalty; she wants his love. She is still insecure in that … and his loyalty was questionable not so long ago.”

      Volka’s cheeks burned. “We didn’t do anything wrong!” But they had been tempted. Her stomach fell. Sixty had been there and even apologized for getting in the way. Could Volka blame Sixty for being suspicious? One of her ears flopped sideways … though it was strange that Sixty was jealous, when that was a trait in humans he didn’t approve of.

      If Sixty was jealous, was it any wonder Alexis was? Alexis was a good mother and a good friend to Silas. She was horribly cruel to Volka, but in her place, how kind would Volka be?

      Carl quipped telepathically, “You wouldn’t be in her place because you would have had it out with Alaric years ago instead of burying your feelings and play acting the part of a wife.”

      Solomon’s voice hissed into her mind. “Alexis’s ability to play act is what makes her so valuable to Alaric. I love him, but he is rubbish at it, just like your Volka.”

      “Must you insult my pets?” Carl silently seethed.

      “It’s not an insult; it’s a fact. Why must you always be so emotional?” Little Solomon replied.

      Carl hissed in the real world, and his and Little Solomon’s thoughts winked away. Volka’s ears folded in shame. Carl was right. The gesture, no matter how well intentioned, wouldn’t be well received. She clasped her hands behind her back and tried to restrain her mind as well, but Sam’s thoughts were too desperate.

      Sam wondered; would they see Uncle Silas again? Would they see Grandmother and Grandfather Darmadi? They already didn’t see the other grandparents—Mother said they’d gone away, but he’d heard Uncle Silas whisper that they’d committed treason. Sam didn’t mind that so much, as they’d never been very nice. But he liked Father’s parents and their farm. He liked Uncle Silas and his house, and he liked the Guardsmen who played ball with them on the lawn. Aloud, the little boy burst out, “Are we going to stay here?”

      Volka almost said, “No,” to make the knot in his stomach disappear, but she realized she wasn’t sure if that was true. Alaric’s loyalty to Luddeccea wasn’t absolute. Or rather, his loyalty to Luddeccea was to what he believed was in Luddeccea’s best interests. If he felt he could serve Luddeccea’s best interests here, he would remain. She remembered Alaric’s comfort with James; he didn’t mind machines anymore. He’d been disabused of his notions about them as quickly as she had, maybe quicker. His mind moved so fast.

      Alexis’s heels clicked on the floor. “We’re going to see your father.”

      Volka’s stomach twisted at the evasion—Alexis didn’t want to lie to her children.

      “An admirable quality.” Little Solomon purred.

      Sam gulped.

      Lucas, the younger child, stopped suddenly, drawing everyone to a halt with him. He pointed up at a holo hovering beside a shop. It featured a silly cartoon dog. A thought bubble popped into existence above the cartoon dog’s head, and then the holo thought bubble filled with dog butts. Laughing, Lucas shouted at the top of his lungs, “Dogs think about butts!”

      Carl and Little Solomon both erupted in silent laughter. “It’s true!” Volka only kept Carl on her shoulder by holding onto his tail.

      Dozens of people on the promenade stopped and stared.  Alexis, Volka, and Sam sighed. Someone said or thought, “From the mouths of babes.” But not all thoughts were so nice.

      “Three young children all at once—so irresponsible!”

      A man muttered or thought, “Children should be rounded up, sent to boarding schools, and not allowed in public places.” Volka searched the crowd, trying to find the source, wanting to glare at the person.

      “Lucas Darmadi,” Alexis admonished quietly. “We use our inside voice here.” At her words, the holo shimmered, making Volka blink up at it. A familiar form started to emerge in the glowing light, and her eyes widened.

      “Yes, Mommy,” Lucas said.

      “Errr …” Volka said, as another unfamiliar female form began to emerge in the hololight, body pressed to the first.

      Pointing at the holo, Sam blurted, “Is that Daddy?”

      Alexis straightened and spun to the holo.

      “Yes!” shouted Lucas. “Why is he kissing that lady’s neck?”

      It was Alaric—or a slightly too-perfect version of him—and in the holo, he was kissing the neck of a lady with long pink hair, elven ears, and swirling facial tattoos. She turned her heavily made-up face toward Alexis and Volka. “I’m holo-artist Star Darling. Do you want to see my passionate night with the Luddeccean Barbarian? Tune into my ether channel for this tale of forbidden love. Over two million views already! Have an avatar? Put it in my place and subdue the savage yourself!”

      The crowd’s attention turned from Lucas to the holo.

      Two women near them chuckled.

      One said, “I am definitely subscribing to that!”

      “I’m updating and inserting my avatar,” said the other.

      “Gonna get a little insertion done?” said the first.

      The second whispered over the ether, “We’re talking aloud.” They both giggled.

      A man thought, “Women, always saying they want nice guys, but they really want to be dominated.”

      Another thought, “If there isn’t a man-on-man version of that, I’m making one!”

      The rest of the thoughts weren’t words, but they were pictures. Very. Intimate. Pictures. Blushing, Volka scrunched her eyes shut … and then the mental pictures were dissolved by a wave of hurt from Alexis.

      “What is the meaning of this?” she demanded, sounding furious. But Volka knew the fury was a lie. She was afraid. She thought it was a trick.

      “It’s not a trick,” Volka said. But she wasn’t sure what it was. She babbled. “I don’t know … It’s not my fault!”

      Alexis wanted to go home. She wanted to run. This was too much.

      “No,” Volka whispered, imagining going back through Fleet security … and then having to explain taking Alexis in the first place to the ambassador on Luddeccea and to the Luddeccean Guard. Her ears sagged in dismay. She was never going to try to save a marriage again. She’d failed … and might wind up in a Luddeccean prison.
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      “She was beautiful, and you want more of her,” Sinclair said to Alaric.

      Alaric bit back a sigh. He couldn’t deny he’d loved flying the ship. The S301 Braunschweig had slid in and out of atmosphere like a lake ptery rose in and out of water, her time bands diverting all the friction of reentry and giving her incredibly smooth lift on exit. She didn’t have Net-drive, but James had said that the Republic would have gate-less drives soon. Alaric did sigh. They’d have it sooner if he stayed, but … “If I were to stay, she wouldn’t be mine. Defectors don’t get to fly for Fleet.” He’d be a traitor. Fleet wouldn’t trust him—with good reason.

      “But you wouldn’t have to fly for Fleet,” Sinclair said. “Plenty of commercial and scientific endeavors use those ships. You’ve proven yourself in combat and been in hostile first contact situations; that is what they would care about. The pay would be excellent. You’d do extremely well for yourself.”

      Not combat … Science. Exploration. He’d see more of the stars than he ever would on Luddeccea. For a moment, he imagined it … and then he ruthlessly cast aside the aspiration. He could never do that to his family. His parents, brothers, and sisters would be fine, but Alexis? His boys? He wouldn’t bring that shame down on them on purpose.

      “Alexis and your boys,” said Sinclair, as though reading his mind. He drew to a halt, tapped his temple, and met Alaric’s eyes. “They’re here.”

      Alaric turned to him. “What?”

      “They’re here,” Sinclair said, scanning the floor.

      “Why?” Alaric asked, and then noticed a group of young women pointing in their direction and smiling. Not again.

      Head bowed, eyes vacant, Sinclair said, “I don’t know.”

      “Where?” Alaric demanded.

      Sinclair’s head snapped up. “Last seen heading toward the hospital.”

      Grabbing Sinclair’s arm as the gaggle of women approached, Alaric began dragging him in that direction as fast as he could walk, and then jog.

      Sinclair must have noticed the fans at that moment, because he groaned. “Not again.”

      Alaric’s breath was coming in short, shallow breaths, and he felt his lungs compressed by the scaffolding that was holding him together. His jaw clenched. “I can’t breathe in this girdle.”

      Sinclair tapped his temple. “Hailing a hover cab, Princess.”

      Alaric rolled his eyes, but a hover cab dropped from the ceiling almost immediately. One of its doors popped open like a ptery wing, and James pushed him inside just as the “gaggle” drew close. “Captain Dar—”

      The door shut, almost taking off Sinclair’s foot. Sinclair and Alaric both exhaled at the same time, and the hover rose to the ceiling.

      “Any more information?” Alaric asked, heart pounding. Had something happened? Some of the high-ranking members of the council were not happy with Alexis’s push to allow weere women to emigrate to the Republic. Had there been an incident? How had she gotten here? Who would lift Alexis off world?

      “No,” Sinclair replied. “I can try to find out more by—”

      “Just find out where they are,” Alaric said.

      Sinclair nodded. A heartbeat later, he said, “Got them.”

      The hover accelerated. Sinclair scowled at his knees and was silent. Alaric asked no more questions, trusting Sinclair was trying to find out what he could. The hover slowed and lowered.

      Sinclair shook his head. “No intel on any sort of instability on Luddeccea.”

      The door beside Alaric opened, and though he couldn’t see his family, he jumped out, Sinclair following him.

      Sinclair inclined his head forward and to the left. “They’re—”

      But Alaric already saw Alexis. She was tall, even for a Galactican woman. Her head was high, but her face was distressed. “Alexis!” He broke into a run and was in front of her in three strides. Sam and Lucas had their hands in hers, Markus was sleeping in a sling—they were alive and seemed unharmed. But when her eyes met his, they went wide. Grasping her shoulders, he whispered, “What are you doing here? Has something happened?”

      His normally collected wife stammered, “I … no … nothing has happened.” Her eyes slid nervously to the side.

      “How did you get here?” he asked.

      Pointing at Volka, Lucas shouted, “Mommy asked the weere lady to give us a ride in her spaceship!”

      Alaric looked over his shoulder. There was Volka. Alexis said nothing had happened. But she’d come here with Volka … who she hated. She had so much pride, what could possibly cause her to come here with their children?

      Sinclair said nothing was wrong on Luddeccea …

      He remembered their last awkward goodbye on Luddeccea, when she’d been as frosty as a northwest province winter. Perhaps not because she was unfeeling; perhaps because she did feel and did not know how to express it. Something snapped into place in his mind. “You thought I wouldn’t come home.” He should be insulted … but … she’d come here with Volka. How much of her pride had that cost her? She’d given up her pride to bring him home. It was more vulnerability than she’d ever been able to show him. He was touched. He dipped his head over Markus, kissed her head, and said softly, “I’m sorry I made you worry.”

      At their feet Lucas snorted. “She would never think that!”

      Pointing at something, Sam said, “Daddy, why are you kissing a pink-haired lady in that … picture?”

      Alaric pulled back, at first not comprehending. He followed the direction of Sam’s finger and almost swore.

      Sinclair came to his rescue. “It’s not a real picture of your father. It’s a hologram.”

      Alaric fumed. He and Sinclair had encountered several of them. At least this one had his likeness with a woman, and not with a man modeled after Sinclair himself. That had been uniquely uncomfortable.

      Addressing the pink-haired holo-woman as though she were a real person, Sinclair said, “Star Darling, the Galactic Fleet and Republic Intelligence is hosting Captain Darmadi’s visit in the Republic. Our lawyers are very interested in your work.”

      The holo of Alaric popped out of existence. The holo of Star Darling rounded on Sinclair. “All of my images are computer generated. If any of them resemble Captain Darmadi, it is purely coincidental.”

      Sinclair replied dryly, “But the plot seems to be borrowed from a holo released two years ago by Lovely Nebula, and 75% of the dialog was directly lifted from Starlight Melody’s Taming the Asteroid Pirate. I’m sure Ms. Melody and Ms. Nebula would take our lawyers up on an offer of pro bono—”

      Star Darling winked away.

      “—representation,” Sinclair finished.

      Alaric turned back to Alexis. “I’m sorry about that.”

      She still looked stunned.

      Wincing slightly, Sinclair addressed his wife. “Your husband is the current real world celebrity à la mode. The fan holos will end in about a week. Most of them are rip offs of earlier works and we’ll be able to take them down—it’s the only way they can produce them so fast—but there will be some we won’t be able to make go away.”

      Alexis’s mouth made a small “o.”

      “Who are you?” Lucas demanded, staring up at James.

      Alaric bent beside his son. “This is my friend, Mr. James Sinclair.”

      Sinclair bowed politely as Alaric continued his introductions. On Sam’s shoulder a tiny werfle appeared that Lucas declared was “Little Solomon.” Alaric raised an eyebrow at the creature, and it signed, “You can’t get rid of me.” Alaric bit back a grin, and then Lucas asked loudly, “Are you a pirate, Mr. Sinclair?”

      There was a moment of silence. Lucas traced a line down his cheek, mirroring the scar Sinclair had on the side of his face—a long gash of black that revealed his poly skeleton.

      “Lucas,” Alexis whispered warningly.

      Sinclair winked at Lucas. “Maybe.”

      Lucas’s eyes went wide, his mouth dropped open, and then he reached out with his right hand, grabbed the fingers of Sinclair’s left and pumped vigorously. “Very pleased to meet you, sir.”

      Alexis sighed. But Alaric saw she was also almost smiling. Alaric took the hand freed by Lucas.

      His older child’s expression was more guarded. “Are we going home now, Father?”

      Alaric couldn’t tell his boys he’d been dead, or that he was a cyborg. “I’m stuck here for a few more days. I have some appointments to keep.”

      “You’re all welcome to stay, too,” Sinclair said.

      Alaric smiled. Alexis looked quickly between him and Sinclair.

      Sinclair tilted his head. “If you would like, you can stay planet-side.” His eyes fell to Sam and Lucas. “More room to run.”

      “Alexis?” Alaric asked.

      Alexis’s lips pinched. “Yes?”

      He was asking for her opinion, not her attention. He hoped one day it would sink in. “Do you want to stay on Earth?” He shrugged. “It’s really up to you.”

      His wife stared at him too long. And then she lifted her chin. “Yes,” she said and did smile.

      Alaric picked up Sam with one arm and hugged Alexis with the other. It hurt on both sides. He didn’t let them go. Lucas attacked their legs—with the arm not involved in grasping Sinclair’s fingers in a death grip—and the baby started to stir. Sinclair began discussing logistics. Alaric’s eyes went above his family’s heads. Volka was gone.
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      Having left Alaric to his family, Volka walked back along the promenade. She was still connected to the Darmadis by the fabric that made up the universe. At the same time, she was connected to no one.

      “What am I to you, chopped quinoa?” Carl protested.

      Volka blinked. “I don’t think you can actually chop quinoa, Carl.” Thinking of the mealy grain, she stuck out her tongue. Too. Much. Fiber.

      “You know what I meant,” Carl grumbled.

      Volka instantly felt bad. Carl was, well, not her friend precisely …

      “I’m your overlord,” Carl supplied. “I care about you; I really do.” He kneaded her shoulder. “Look, Hatchling, you did the good you could, even though it was hard. I’ve inhabited monogamous species before. At a certain point in your lifecycle it’s understandable to feel … untethered … and incomplete if you’re not partnered.”

      Volka’s shoulders slumped. “I thought I was partnered.” Maybe she shouldn’t have. Maybe she had deluded herself because she liked Sixty. She didn’t have the same frenzied, single minded love for Sixty she’d felt for Alaric once upon a time, but that had been fueled by her season. When Sixty had proposed she’d just been … happy.

      The werfle squeaked sadly. “It made me happy, too. Pairing off my Hatchlings will make holidays more convenient. But it’s hard to fix things from so far away.”

      Volka rubbed her cheek against his bewhiskered snout. Was that why Alexis had come, to close the distance to “fix” things? It seemed to have worked. Should she be with Sixty now?

      “Would you sacrifice the fight against the Dark for Sixty?” Carl asked.

      Volka gulped. No, she wouldn’t. Still, she wished she could justify flying Sundancer to the battle of System 5. But although Sundancer was invincible to ordinary weapons, she was not safe from infection. An ordinary Fleet fighter could safely be doused with a lake’s worth of Dark-infested sludge and would have some resistance to phaser fire besides. Even if Sundancer could drop Volka off and escape, Volka would still have to find Sixty and not bungle his operations trying to help. That would leave only Carl to pilot Sundancer if something happened to her.

      “And I need sixteen hours of sleep!” Carl said. “Finding where the Dark is building its armada is vitally important, no matter how boring.”

      “Says the werfle who can sleep through most of the boringness.”

      Carl put a paw to his nose and made a noise that sounded suspiciously like a laugh. He coughed. “We’re the only ship and crew that can do it—or should do it. The Luddecceans’ ships are better utilized in combat. Sundancer is excellent for reconnaissance—she can free-gate multiple times in seconds—the Luddeccean vessels have to recharge their drives.”

      Volka wondered if she was supposed to know the last.

      Carl sniffed. “It’s nothing the Republic hasn’t discovered already. Oh, hey, look at you, you’re not being overly distracted by the thoughts of everyone around you. All it took was a good wallow!”

      Volka blinked. She hadn’t been overwhelmed by the thoughts around her. Wallowing hardly seemed like a healthy strategy to—

      A wave of curiosity rolled through the humans. It was so strong Volka was sure she’d not be able to miss it if she was still wallowing. In her mind, she saw raindrops outside the Time Gate, blurry, indistinct, and coming at her from all directions at once.

      Pointing ahead with a tiny talon, Carl squeaked. “Look with your eyeballs, not your telepathy.”

      She blinked and saw a public holo ahead like the one that had featured Alaric and Star Whoever. “I didn’t growl when I thought about her!” Volka exclaimed, jogging over to the holo.

      “Rat livers, I’m proud of you,” Carl snapped. “Now look!”

      Volka’s breath caught. It was the elder ships. They were hovering beyond the gate … a dozen or so of them. She’d been wrong—they were stupid enough to bring the fight here. Her hands balled into fists. Let them try.

      “They’re hiding themselves from me,” Carl said. “I wonder if Sundancer knows they’re here.”

      At his query, an image came from Sundancer, not of the elder ships, but of a midsize warship in the berth next door. Sundancer thought it was very pretty.

      Volka’s fists uncurled and her ears perked. The ships weren’t invading anyone’s minds like they’d done with Volka’s crew. That was … different. From speakers everywhere came a warning to get to midlevel decks. Casting aside her musings, Volka broke into a run, heading back to Sundancer.
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      There were few things Captain Orion Smith of Fleet Intelligence disliked as much as interrogating the mutant known as Volka, or Carl Sagan, or any other member of the The One for that matter. Interrogating them in the midst of a first contact crisis was even less appealing. In Sundancer’s berth, to Lieutenant Young, he snapped, “Where is she?”

      “Volka and Carl accompanied three of our passengers to the medical wing, sir,” Young replied.

      Orion’s nostrils flared. “Neither she nor ‘the passengers’ have appeared at the medical wing, Lieutenant.”

      The “passengers” in question, Alexis Darmadi and her children, were just one more potential problem that Volka and Carl had dropped in Orion’s lap. His superiors thought the arrival of Alexis Darmadi would potentially sway Captain Alaric Darmadi to defection. There were many things about Intelligence’s handling of Darmadi’s case that Orion did not approve of; chiefly, making an android the lead on the matter—Orion had applied himself for the assignment and been denied when surely any human would have been a better choice. However, Orion could acknowledge the potential Darmadi’s family had to sway the captain toward defection. Unfortunately, Darmadi’s family’s arrival was immediately and definitely a headache. The Luddeccean Embassy on Earth was requesting an audience. How would he explain Volka bringing the family of one of their Net-Drive captains to the Republic? “I’m sorry, gentleman, she mistook them for weere; sometimes they don’t have fur or ears.” Not likely to be acceptable, especially when “weere” among Luddecceans was slang for “whore.” That insult to a Luddeccean Lady might get him poisoned, and Luddeccean Intelligence might not even bother to make it look like an accident.

      Only somewhat less life threatening, no fewer than ten Republic Senators were requesting to speak with him—thankfully, etherly. Perhaps that mistaken identity excuse would work for them? He doubted it would work with Time Gate 1’s immigration authorities who were demanding an explanation—and paperwork—for all four Darmadis and one smuggled werfle. Orion had already felt a headache brewing behind his eyes before sixteen alien vessels of potentially malicious intent and likely immune to Galactic firepower showed up outside Time Gate 1. The headache was by now a screamer.

      Neither Young, nor his team standing neatly at parade rest, looked disturbed to learn that Volka, Carl, and their charges were missing. “She was traveling with children,” Young suggested. “Maybe she stopped to get them a snack? With the emergency, I’m sure she’ll show up quickly.”

      Orion snapped, “I am not.”

      There was a whoosh behind him, and unmistakable light footfalls.

      The corner of Young’s lips twitched.

      Orion narrowed his eyes at the Marine, and then turned to his two nemeses. Even wearing armor, Volka did not look like a woman who, under ordinary circumstances, might have been tried for treason. She was tiny, and her diminutive stature, wide eyes, and cartoonish wolf-like ears made her look younger than her years—even when her ears were flat against her head, like now.

      Snapping his hands behind his back, Orion reminded himself that she was etherless and uneducated and likely didn’t know the danger she’d put the Galactic Republic in when she’d revealed the existence of quantum teleportation fusion weapons while aboard the Luddeccean Net-Drive ship in System 33. Likewise, she hadn’t realized Orion’s generosity in offering her a visa despite that in exchange for spying on Luddeccea by becoming Captain Ran’s “weere.” Nor had she been the one to blackmail an elected official to get her visa. She also couldn’t know how it damaged cohesion and made the Republic look disorganized when she’d bolted off to rescue Alexis Darmadi without Fleet.

      His eyes fell on the werfle sitting on her shoulder, licking a claw, its fangs glistening in the low light. It knew though.

      The creature looked up at him and ran its tongue over its jaws, catching a sparkling drop of venom.

      “I don’t know why they are here,” Volka blurted. Her ears had come forward. The low light made her narrowed eyes glow like an animal’s.

      Orion exhaled. Of course she didn’t know. She was … politely … simple. She could barely use the ether even with the speech-to-ether device she wore on her wrist.

      Volka’s ears flicked.

      Did she have fleas?

      Her ears flattened, her nostrils flared, and her lip curled up. Orion almost expected to see elongated canines. If the only faster-than-light ship in the galaxy didn’t have an emotional bond with her—

      His ether pinged with no less than the Chief of Intel Operations. A chill prickled his brow. With a thought, he answered and had the ether message transcribed into text that appeared as an overlay at the edge of his vision. “Status, Captain?”

      He replied silently, “Beginning consultation now.” Hoping, “beginning” would give him time, he spun away from the mutant and the weere to speak to Dr. Patrick Shore and Lieutenant Young. “You reported that you didn’t believe that there would be further confrontation with the ‘elder ships.’ As that is clearly not the case, any ideas of what they are doing here?”

      Shifting on his feet, gaze evasive, the doctor said, “It won’t be violent.”

      Orion’s ether pinged again, this time with Time Gate 1’s Chief Communications Officer. “They are still not responding to hails.”

      Clearing his throat, the doctor addressed the mutant. “Volka … perhaps if we tried contacting them the way we did before?”

      A note at the periphery of Orion’s vision alerted him that not all the civilians on the station were following instructions to seek inner levels away from exterior walls. One of Orion’s contacts in station security sent a message asking if lockdown was necessary.

      “We could try that,” the weere said, joining the Marines between Orion and the ship. Orion’s heart rate picked up. As he understood it, the way they’d “contacted” the elderships before had been in a sort of joint spaceship-facilitated telepathic state—or mass hallucinogenic event.

      “You must not contact them without clearing it with Intelligence first,” Orion managed to command.

      Volka’s ears flattened, and her werfle hissed. The weasel-like creature might have spoken, but Orion’s superior officer was pinging him. “A seventeenth ship has just been sighted. Have you learned anything?”

      “Not yet, sir,” Orion replied.

      “Captain, a second front is potentially opening up here,” his superior replied.

      “Understood, sir.” They could not afford a second front in a war that the Galactic Senate refused to believe was happening. The incident in System 5 was just an “unfortunate” terrorist event to most of them. They did not trust Fleet Intelligence’s analysis that Ambassador Zhao was being held hostage—they saw it as just a ploy for more funding and a formal declaration of war. If they’d seen the holos of the infected children in the pirate camp … Orion swallowed. He didn’t think even that would work. The holos showed Volka firing on the children. Senate would call for an inquiry. The mutant would be arrested and not allowed access to her ship—and then Fleet wouldn’t have access. The press wouldn’t understand what they were watching, that the Dark had been controlling the children, having them merrily throwing themselves into phaser fire. The public wouldn’t understand that the children, at that stage of infection, had not been savable. Orion had seen a lot in his time in Intelligence. That scene had been worse than torture. At least torture victims knew they had been harmed; they lost a part of themselves—the part that trusted humanity. The Infected lost everything. He felt a chill climb up his spine and found the weere’s eyes on his. Her ears were sagging, and her eyes were wide and sympathetic. He straightened his spine. More likely it was just cluelessness.

      Orion took a breath … and found her eyes narrowed, and her ears flicking again. The werfle on her shoulder hissed.

      “There are now seventeen ships,” Orion said. He began to formulate a plan. “We may have to use your spaceship-facilitated telepathy.” Hopefully, it was real. “But first, we’ll compose the message we wish to relay. Command will sign off on it first.”

      “Sir,” Young said. “That will take too much time. The Galactic Senate will get word, and want a part, not to mention Earth’s local leaders. Everyone will insist on signing off. This will wind up taking months.”

      Orion bristled at the hyperbole. “Lieutenant Young, with more input, we’ll be less likely to cause another diplomatic incident.”

      Volka’s ears came forward. “Lieutenant Young,” the weere woman said. “Archbishop Sato told me that we are all blind in some ways, and that the only way to see in our blind spots is to get another point of view. Maybe mister—” She looked at Orion, and her cheeks turned pink. She didn’t know his name or rank. He supposed she’d forgotten them. There was a reason etherless Luddeccean Guard put their names and rank even on their work uniform.

      Ears flattening, Volka jabbed her thumb in Orion’s direction. “—maybe he has a point?”

      Orion rolled on his feet. Not sure if he was pleased to have her support—especially when it came with the name of a religious fanatic attached.

      “Archbishop Sato is one of the wisest people I know,” she said, eyes narrowing on Orion again, but his focus was slipping to the ether. A group of the Galactic Republic’s most prominent politicians and military leaders would be helpful—the multiple inputs of men and women who’d gone to the most exclusive institutions of learning in the galaxy were bound to produce a superior welcome message.

      Reaching out to the Chief Intel Officer, he was vaguely aware of one of the weere woman’s ears drooping. Just as he felt the pulse of connection, a chorus rose around him. “We are here to serve Admiral Wolf.” The words were distinct and yet all wrong. It was like hearing the wind talking.

      “What was that?” The question erupted from his mouth and his mind.

      Time Gate 1’s Chief Communications Officer replied, “We don’t know.”

      And a message from his contact in security said, “What the hell? That wasn’t the ether or the speakers!”

      “It’s the ships,” said Young.

      The doctor nodded. “Unlike Sundancer, the elderships can talk.”

      “Who were they talking to?” Orion asked.

      The mutant woman was looking upward, as though she could peer through the great metal doors of the outer airlock. On her shoulder, the werfle lifted its snout. Its beady eyes glinted, and the ether-to-speech device on its neck crackled. “They’re talking telepathically to you and every human on this station.”

      The voices rose again. “We are here to serve Admiral Wolf.”

      “Who is Admiral Wolf?” Orion demanded, etherly and aloud.

      The Marines and the doctor did not answer. They lifted their faces to the airlock door, just as the mutant was doing. Their eyes lost their focus.

      The werfle puffed its fur and hissed. “You’re so smart but not smart enough to figure it out?”

      The Communication Officer responded to Orion over the ether. “Sir, we are looking for references to an ‘Admiral Wolf.’ So far no results aside from a twenty-first century member of the U.S. Navy.”

      The Chief Intel Officer’s voice rang across the ether. “What is your status, Captain? Who is Admiral Wolf?”

      “I am—”

      The werfle hissed. “You are an idiot. You’re all idiots. They’re here to serve Volka. Volka is Admiral Wolf.”
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      “We’re here to serve under you,” the elderships’ words whipped through Volka’s mind and heart. Her consciousness was suspended in the void between Time Gate 1 and the ship. Her mind was spinning with the ships’ stories.

      Once upon a time … The People, a beautiful, peaceful, telepathic, bipedal species had built massive colony ships that crept slowly between the stars. The People were numerous, inventive, and creative. They met the elderships, fellow peaceful travelers. The elderships did not crawl through the void. They skipped along the surface of the universe and space time itself. They winked between the stars, drinking the orbs’ light and heat. Superficially, the two species couldn’t have been more different. Culturally, they couldn’t have been more similar. They shared telepathy, they defended themselves without violence, and abhorred killing. Both knew killers. The People had been prey, and the elderships had observed the savagery of carnivores on the worlds they visited with hopeless horror. They had both lost worlds to natural disaster—an asteroid for The People, a supernova for the elderships.

      The elderships gave The People their ability to free-gate.

      The People gave the elderships their endless imagination in all the forms of their art and technology.

      But really what they gave each other was love. Before they’d met each other, they had not realized how terribly lonely their orphan races were. They fit each other so perfectly that if either species had believed in a God of the Abrahamic tradition, they surely would have believed He had made them for each other.

      And then one day a team of elderships and their bipedal partners—lovers?—had come to a world of water covered only by a harmless seeming species of blue green algae.

      If The People had approached the world with one of their slow moving ships, only that one outpost of The People would have died. Instead, the elderships carried the Dark to hundreds of colonies before understanding the danger. They refused to transport it further and helped survivors run, but by then the Dark had mastered The People’s technology and were building their own slow moving EM drive ships to carry them to all of The People’s outposts. The elderships watched as outpost after outpost of The People fell. Eventually, the Dark tricked the elderships past the edge of the universe, where they died or slept a dreamless sleep … wasn’t sleep without dreams death? And then a violent, hierarchical, jealous race that killed not just others, but their own, and stole, and coveted, and did not share, had woken them.

      The elderships were disgusted by humans on a deep, intrinsic level. In some ways, the humans reminded them of the Dark—in some ways, humans were worse. Beneath the Dark all were equal, none got more or less than any other.

      But the humans also empathized with the death of The People, a race they’d never met. For all their flaws, humans could love and sacrifice, mourn a race they had never known, and seek atonement for what had befallen that lost race while sacrificing, fighting, and dying to preserve their own.

      The elderships could have done more than help survivors run.

      “You didn’t know how,” Volka said.

      They still did not know how, but they needed atonement.

      “We will help you find it,” Volka said.

      Perhaps. They were not sure. Humans were disturbing to know. They’d touched seventeen human minds, and only seventeen ships had come. They weren’t ready to know more humans as deeply as they now knew the members of Volka’s crew. They were definitely not ready to know more of The One—the only reason Sundancer could stand Carl was because she was so young and didn’t know any better.

      Volka felt a twinge at that. Carl and Shissh were, well, not friends precisely …

      In one voice, the ships finished her thought. “The One are less remorseful in their application of violence and pain than humans are.”

      Volka remembered Shissh nearly killing her tiger body trying to save Ben and her protectiveness toward FET12. She thought of Carl being thrown across a room by one of the pirates on the Copperhead.

      The elderships were adamant. They would not, could not bond with members of The One. Usually, they would bond with all members of a crew, but with humans, one was enough, and almost too much. They’d chosen their captains, and they’d chosen Volka as their leader, their “Admiral” in the human language, though they thought that was inadequate in its translation … they’d let human hierarchies handle the rest. They could not bond with more.

      Volka thought of all the thoughts she’d read in the past hour—and how little she’d wanted to know them. She understood. “Our people must be informed,” Volka said.

      They knew that. They understood. They let Volka go.

      Volka’s consciousness condensed, and she was staring up at the airlock doors above Sundancer. Carl was on her neck. The little creature trembled, and his whiskers tickled her cheeks.

      “What is it, Carl?” Volka asked.

      “Kind of glad they aren’t violent,” he whispered. “Volka, they are powerful.”

      “What is going on?” the Fleet Officer exclaimed. Volka could never remember his name or rank. She thought that she had perhaps blocked it out. It was strange—with telepathy she still didn’t know it.

      Silently, Carl said, “You could crack open his brains—telepathically, I mean—and find out.”

      She wasn’t going to do that. She huffed. Even if the man deserved it. A little. He was—

      “He’s a schmuck, Volka. The word you are looking for is ‘schmuck,’” Carl replied silently. Not bothering to use telepathy, Carl spoke through his necklace. “The idiot is still confused.”

      The Fleet Officer’s face went bright red.

      Volka took pity. “The ships are joining us.”

      Opportunities spun in the man’s mind. At last Fleet would have control of …

      Carl blurted, “Your time bands are not synced! There are a few too many holes in your headcheese! Did you not hear them call her Admiral? Don’t you know her name means wolf?”

      The Fleet Officer blinked.

      Ears flattening, Volka clarified. “They are under my command.”

      The look of hurt and confusion on the man’s face made her want to growl. He saw her as so much less … and yet … he also saw the Dark for what it was. He wasn’t the enemy. He was just …

      “A schmuck,” Carl reiterated. “An idiot, a nincompoop.”

      “They’ll need crews,” the man stammered. “To interface with human tech.” The officer’s gaze became blank and she saw what he saw: an overlay of faces and names scrolling past his eyes.

      Volka’s ears flicked. “They’ve already chosen who will lead their crews.”

      The consciousness of the Marines and Dr. Patrick came slowly from their telepathic trances.

      “Who?” Orion asked.

      Young cleared his throat. “They chose us.”

      Ears folding, Volka sighed. She hated losing them. To the officer, she said, “You wanted them all reassigned. You got your wish.” It came out a growl.

      The officer grit his teeth. “I am a Captain. Captain Orion Smith.”

      Her eyes narrowed. “You got your wish, Smith.”

      The captain’s lips snapped together. That isn’t how it’s done. He was thinking how genuine pilots and officers would be angered by this breach—no, outright knotting—of the chain of command. Flying the faster-than-light alien vessels was a dream assignment.

      Volka sighed. “They’re aliens, Captain—they don’t do things our way. They know these Marines, and they are who they’ve chosen.”

      They’d chosen well. Volka didn’t want another team.

      Orion scanned the elderships’ chosen navigators. The doctor’s not even a member of Fleet. Command is not ready for this.

      Carl snapped from her shoulder, “Adapt fast, Captain.”

      Staring at the ground, Orion tapped his temple nervously.

      He was scared. Volka remembered Young, feigning confidence when he thought they were going to die. Summoning all the feeling she used when she spoke with Sundancer, she said, “You can do it, Captain. We can do it. The Republic now has eighteen faster-than-light ships. This isn’t a problem, it is an opportunity.” Sundancer flashed warmly behind her. Volka wasn’t sure if she’d crossed the line into mind control, but Orion’s eyes met hers. “Have I been wrong about you?” he didn’t say aloud.

      Volka bit her tongue and didn’t respond. He nodded once at her and began transmitting everything they’d just told him to command. A second later, he paced away from the group, deep in ether conversation.

      “Good, Hatchling,” Carl said telepathically. “Prove him wrong. Show, don’t tell.”

      “My ship’s name is Moonlight,” Rhinehart blurted out. “Or … that’s what it sort of translates to. She wants a kitten.”

      Carl purred. “I know just the overlord for her.”

      Volka’s ears perked.

      Young inclined his head. “Night Wing is mine.”

      “Far Song,” said Jerome. “It is very interested in the ethernet and Tab.” The little Q-comm carrying tablet in his hand flashed pink.

      “Mine’s name is Bubbles, and it wants to meet my wife and kid,” Ramirez said, and Volka felt the warm blush that spread from his neck to his hairline.

      Glancing in his direction, Volka unfortunately caught a view of Stratos instead. He was smiling blissfully, still telepathically connected to his ship, and they were imagining Rhinehart, Stratos, and a half dozen blue aliens.

      Carl sniffed, and it sounded suspiciously like a laugh. “There’s someone for everyone!” Volka found herself biting back a laugh, too.

      Young approached Volka, and for once spoke softly. “I’m not a pilot.”

      She smiled up at him, tightly and bitter-sweetly. “Your ship is the pilot. You’re more the gunner. I know you can shoot things.”

      He blinked. She remembered the accident he’d seen—or participated in—and she whispered, “And you know when to shoot.”

      He met her gaze. “Sometimes.”

      Her brow furrowed. Before she could formulate a reply, Orion came out of his ethernet trance. “Command is aware of the situation. We will need to work out how best to utilize the ships.”

      Volka stood up straighter, her heart lifting. “We can help in System 5.” And she could find Sixty. At thought of him, Sundancer flashed a happy yellow.

      There were murmurs of agreement from some of the Marines.

      Orion stared at her in mute panic. Why did they have to pick someone so inept as their leader?

      Volka’s nostrils flared, and her ears flattened. It didn’t matter what he thought, they were her ships. They’d come light-years to follow her; they’d follow her anywhere. The Marines would back her up. Most of them were ready to leave right now. She could feel their eagerness. It made her feel ten-feet tall—invincible. Young was hesitant, but he’d go along with the team. She knew that like she knew how to breathe.

      Carl whispered telepathically, “Remember Zhao.”

      Volka gave the werfle the side eye.

      Carl sighed and said silently, “Just because you can do something doesn’t mean you should.”

      Volka glared at him … but only for a moment. Orion was answering a question being cast to him over the ether. So she turned to Young. “Why wouldn’t it be a good idea?” Volka asked.

      The lieutenant cocked his head. “Because we don’t have enough armor or guns for all the ships, we all need to get to know our new crew, and you don’t send new recruits into battle without training.”

      Dr. Patrick—who definitely hadn’t been eager to jump to System 5—said softly, “The ships have never killed anything. Throwing them into the heat of battle would be a bad idea.”

      Volka bristled. He wasn’t lying, but he didn’t want to order any killing, either.

      Jerome said what she’d been thinking. “There are millions of people in New Grande that we could help.”

      Volka nodded in acknowledgement of his words. But her heart sank. They’d be without weapons and armor. The only thing they would be good for would be ferrying people from the planet. That was a noble goal, but they wouldn’t be able to save millions … hundreds, maybe. “We have to help,” Volka whispered. “Every little bit helps.”

      Orion dropped his hand from his temple. “Fleet will be there in less than an hour. They will engage the enemy immediately.”

      Volka looked up at him, dismayed, though she shouldn’t be.

      Orion thought, her heart is in the right place. Aloud he said, “We will send in transport ships to evacuate civilians as needed. I heard what Young and Patrick said. Sending these—”

      “Universe skimmers.” Dr. Patrick shrugged. “The older ships are able to talk because … because, well, they’ve reached a stage in their life cycle where they understand words, and they have interacted with species that communicate audibly before. Universe skimmers is the closest they can translate other names they’ve had. It’s apt. It’s what they do. They dive in and out of time.”

      “Like sea pterys dive in and out of water,” Volka said.

      Patrick pursed his lips. Equations and all the mathematical reasons he found her metaphor unsatisfactory filled his mind.

      “Sending the Skimmers in would needlessly endanger them.” Orion released a long breath. “And the galaxy, not just System 5, can really use their help.”

      Volka glared at him, but then dropped her eyes. She could ignore him. She could leave now. She could find Sixty, and … be as stupid as Orion believed her to be and selfish. Young, Patrick, and Orion were right. The Skimmers would be vulnerable to attack while trying to pick up civilians—more vulnerable than conventional ships and with less passenger space. If there was truly no other option, then perhaps it would be worth doing. But there were options, and it sounded like the situation in New Grande and System 5 was well on its way to being under control.

      Volka’s ears folded. I can’t run to you, Sixty. I’m sorry. He wouldn’t hear of course. With a human, she might have been able to tell him or her telepathically.

      “You’re right,” she said. “We need to discover how best to use them, and we need to adjust to them, and they need to adjust to us.” She met the captain’s gaze. “Unlike Sundancer, they can talk. We can ask their opinion on how they think they may be able to help us.”

      Orion’s thoughts filled her mind. Not terribly intelligent, but definitely has her heart in the right place.

      Volka didn’t roll her eyes—but only just. She put her hands behind her back to keep from strangling him.

      Carl whispered, “Hey, he’s developing a slightly better opinion of you.”

      “Maybe, but I wish I’d not known his original opinion at all,” Volka responded telepathically.

      “But at least you know you are on the same side,” Carl said.

      That was true, but almost more disheartening. It was one thing to suffer the condescension of enemies; to suffer it from friends was worse.

      Turning away from Orion, she accidentally met Stratos’s eyes … and found herself, literally found herself, in one of his daydreams with Rhinehart and many blue aliens. She rolled her eyes. More things she didn’t want to know, and soon she’d doubtlessly find herself in a meeting knowing too much about too many people.

      She swallowed. Her annoyance was petty. The battle in System 5 was raging, and Sixty, who was her friend, if nothing more, was in real danger. Hopefully, help would be there soon.
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      6T9’s feet pounded up a metal fire escape that wouldn’t have been out of place on a twentieth century tenement building. Davies was panting behind him. A glance down the alleyway showed a flood of sex ‘bot troops. Phaser fire echoed from the street, drowning out the amorous calls of 6T9’s draftees.

      Since the Infected had stopped bombing and switched to infecting, more Infected had been put on the ground—which had made them vulnerable to 6T9’s troops. But the Infected had caught on and were fighting back, utilizing their ships to mow down sex ‘bots en masse. 6T9 had to adapt faster than the Infected—he had a plan, though not currently the means, to make it work. He cleared the top flight of steps to the rooftop. Ignoring the orange warning light reminding him he was low on power, he ran past heating and cooling ventilation shafts and a mechanical room to drop behind the wall at the far corner of the roof. The roar of advancing hover engines grew louder, and phaser cannons joined the din. Davies kneeled down beside him; a second later, Mao was on the sergeant’s shoulder. “Get,” the sergeant said, knocking the kitten off before peering through his sights.

      Peering through his own sights, 6T9 saw a troop of twenty humans surrounded by thousands of sex ‘bots. The humans were clustered against the corner of the building adjacent to 6T9 and Davies. Some were firing on the sex ‘bots. Their victims cried out in ecstasy, and the other sex ‘bots surged over their fallen brothers and sisters in their excitement to meet the same fate.

      “Still disturbing,” Davies muttered.

      Mao jumped onto Davies’s shoulder. Davies shrugged, trying to get her off, but, cursing, gave up. 6T9’s ethernet activated … but only with Mao’s voice. “The humans you see in that cluster are all Infected.”

      “All of them,” 6T9 said to Davies. It was all he needed to say. Davies opened fire on the Infected humans, making the sex ‘bots cry out in dismay at missed rapture.

      One of the Infected fired up at 6T9 and Davies, and a piece of the wall they were sheltering behind exploded into pebbles. Another of the Infected’s comrades joined him, and more of the wall burst directly in their faces, rocks, pebbles and dust coating their armor. Neither 6T9 nor Davies was harmed, but Mao jumped from Davies with a shriek of protest. In unison that couldn’t have been ethernet orchestrated any better, Davies and 6T9 scuttled to the side like crabs, aimed again, took out both of their attackers, and then methodically began firing on the rest until the remaining Infected ducked around the corner. The sex ‘bot onslaught continued, pinning the Infected where they sheltered.

      For a moment, there was nothing to do but wait as the sound of distant warship hover engines grew louder.

      Taking a long slurp from his suit’s electrolyte filter, Davies said, “Call me a heretic, but I love these Galactic suits.” It was the sort of unimportant quip he often offered in times like these.

      Grinning, 6T9 responded, “Heretic.” In the past hours, they’d developed a camaraderie that probably wasn’t typical between a general and a sergeant, but 6T9 wasn’t a real general.

      Davies snorted, and 6T9 saw the man grin back. Davies might have said something, but it was drowned out by cannons that could only have come from one of the Infected’s warships. 6T9 imagined the felled sex ‘bots it was leaving in its wake, and his own smile faded.

      The ship came into view, moving up the street perpendicular to the one their building was on. It traveled slowly, mowing down the sex ‘bots beneath it.

      “Might be good to clear the roof, sir,” Davies said.

      Before 6T9 could formulate a reply, the ethernet came back online, sending a pleasant rush of power through unused circuits. An officious voice said, “Citizens of New Grande, this is a reminder to boil your water—”

      “Radios online,” 6T9 said, favoring radio for “ethernet” on his sensitive Luddeccean companion’s behalf.

      “Covering you,” Davies replied.

      That was the last 6T9 heard. Michael was contacting him with the location of another warship a few clicks away, and so was FireMan, the Q-comm-carrying sex ‘bot with Lang and Falade.

      6T9 had been able to connect with the local police during a previous short bout of connectivity. Their machines trusted him—so the police did. He’d put the police in touch with members of The One. The One had helped them separate Infected System 5 forces from the few legitimate pilots that had been shot down and to distinguish the Infected pirates from common criminals. Now, a sergeant in the local police forces gave coordinates for another invading craft their hovers and drones couldn’t handle. Acknowledging them all, 6T9 connected with fifty-one members of the New Grande Remote Control Hover Enthusiasts Club. He’d also “met” them during a previous burst of ethernet availability.

      A voice that sounded like it belonged to a young child cried excitedly, “Sixty, you’re back!”

      “Targets acquired,” 6T9 replied, transmitting the locations of the Infected craft. Excited voices responded to the data.

      “All right!”

      “Ready for the mission.”

      “Yep, my remote is hovering outside my window. Ready. To. Go!”

      “Woo-hoo! I get to crash my hover and not get in trouble!”

      It was impossible to know if the voices were authentic or computer generated to hide their identities, but a fair number of them sounded like they were pre-teens and adolescents. Infection now was worse than therapy sessions later, and so 6T9 didn’t ask. With a thought, 6T9 divided them into three equal groups based on their locations … and hoped the ether connection would last. As soon as he disconnected from the Model Hover Club, he connected to the main police channel while he still could.

      His presence in the ether was felt immediately. Someone whose name he’d never learned said, “General 1, welcome back.”

      Digital data about ongoing confrontations flowed into his mind, and he inputted the Model Hover Club’s targets so police resources could be utilized efficiently. He’d almost finished when a mechanical voice crackled over the police force channel. “Secure’Bot2923 at Northeastern Memorial Hospital. Reporting attempt by Infected ships to land on roof.” The commentary included visuals from Secure’Bot’s camera eyes. A small but well-armed craft was hovering above the hospital roof, firing on Secure’Bots there.

      There was an explosion of static and for a millisecond, 6T9 thought the ether connection had been lost, but then the police force channel was flooded with chatter. “The Secure’Bot is down.”

      “There is no one close to the hospital!”

      “Tied up, can’t get there.”

      6T9’s Q-comm hummed. The Infected had been conspicuously ignoring hospitals. 6T9 had presumed it was because the Dark didn’t want sick Infected—it wanted workers. He had no idea what had changed its mind.

      While the connection was open, he reached out to Time Gate 5. “I need drones.” He gave the coordinates, and Time Gate 5 replied, “What kind, General?”

      “Any kind.”

      Models and makes of delivery drones scrolled through his mind. They’d been grounded at the hospital and nearby buildings during the attack. “How many do you need?” the gate asked.

      “Just give me all of them,” 6T9 replied.

      Binary data poured across the ether, and 6T9 activated every drone within a half kilometer of the hospital. They were slow, defenseless things, meant to ferry small packages. He put them all on a collision course with the hovering warship—knowing their programming was sure to turn away at the last minute. But hoping that …

      The military hover began firing on the drones, just as 6T9 had hoped.

      6T9 reached out and implanted his “consciousness” into one of the slowest and largest drones at the back of the pack.

      He became FerrierEZ, and it was as processor crushing as being the plumbing ‘bot. EZ soared through the air but did not feel joy. Something collided with EZ, sending it off-course, and making its circuits darken. Adjusting its altitude, other circuits lit, informing it that it was running low on power. It crashed onto the hospital roof, bounced and gained altitude, and then lost altitude again. Circuits dimmed abruptly except for the sensors informing it that it did not know its current location and had only seconds left of power. Switching to power save mode, 6T9 released EZ’s consciousness, and for less than a millisecond, he was nothing but thought without body, but then he connected to the visual sensors of a drone not yet shot down and pinpointed EZ’s location on the hospital rooftop. The Infected ship was landing and there was no one but EZ to stop it, and EZ had no weapons. 6T9’s Q-comm lit, performing analysis of the Infected ship’s make and trajectory, and then he threw himself back into the EZ.

      EZ could not collide with the hover. But EZ wasn’t itself. It was 6T9, and 6T9 had the power to kill. He fired EZ’s thrusters—or, in this case, his thrusters. EZ’s original operating system activated a subroutine that made it announce to no one, “Danger, malfunction, danger,” as it shot not quite vertically thirty meters into the air into the starboard hover engine of the landing craft at just the right angle … Sensors screamed … and the world was black.

      6T9 was himself. The world was black, but he could hear explosions. Had he been successful? The ether was still buzzing and alive in his mind. He reconnected to the police channel and heard someone exclaim, “The ship above the hospital is going down!”

      He switched to the Hover Club’s channel and heard triumphant shouts—and then the ether went silent. And the world was still black. 6T9 heard an explosion and phaser fire. Why was the world black? Also, why was he lying on his back? He sat up and found himself staring over Davies’s shoulder. The Luddeccean was aiming his rifle through a door. Mao was perched on his head. The illustrious kitten’s voice filled 6T9’s mind. “You can tell Davies that he’s shot all the Infected who followed us up onto the roof.”

      “Davies,” 6T9 said gently.

      The sergeant started. Mao shrieked “Rowr!” as she lost her balance and soared over 6T9.

      Davies quickly turned back to scan the roof.

      “Mao said you got them all,” 6T9 said.

      Davies did not put down his rifle.

      6T9 looked around. They were in the mechanical room. Five men in pirate attire were sprawled on the rooftop.

      “Are they dead?” 6T9 asked Mao.

      “Yes,” Mao replied, “and all Infected if you wondered.”

      Eyeing the corpses’ weapons, 6T9 rose, but Davies held out a hand. “Pirates may be booby trapped—”

      There was a flash on the rooftop deck, and 6T9 threw up a hand to shield his eyes, pebbles pelted his suit, and its sensors alerted him of dangerous heat levels … that unfortunately his suit was blocking and he couldn’t utilize for power. A brick-sized piece of something collided with Davies’s head … and dropped to the ground. The human whistled. “I love these Galactic suits.”

      6T9 scowled at the now-smoldering remains on the roof. Davies had warned his team that sometimes pirates had explosives programmed to detonate on their deaths. 6T9 hadn’t remembered; he needed to reboot.

      Scanning the mechanical room for an outlet, 6T9 said, “You dragged me in here.” Had 6T9 not noticed Davies moving him because his local hardware and distant server had determined Davies wasn’t a threat? Or was it another symptom of a need to reboot?

      Davies looked up at him, and even with the low light and through the visor, 6T9 saw him blush. “You’re unexpectedly heavy, sir. Didn’t mean no disrespect.”

      6T9 laughed, not really sure why he was laughing. “None taken.”

      The power light at the periphery of his vision went from orange to red, but the ethernet came on again, and 6T9 tuned in. From the police he heard, “They’re retreating!” He saw a schematic of the city with the Infected ships delineated as red lights. They moved out of the canyon to the frozen wastes. Police officers’ cheers rang in his mind.

      Mao interrupted the scene with the observation. “There are still ongoing skirmishes, but all roving gangs of Infected are contained.”

      And then another voice came over the ether. “Citizens of New Grande, this is your mayor. The Galactic Fleet is arriving. Please remain in your homes as they engage the remaining terrorist invaders. Keep boiling your water until the all clear is given.”

      Shouts and cheers … real live shouts and cheers … rose in the city.

      6T9 disconnected from the ether to find Davies looking about in surprise—presumably at the cacophony of sound rising outside their shelter. “Fleet is here.” 6T9 grinned at the man. “Although, according to Mao, we had it all under control already.”

      The ether also pinged with his sex ‘bot lieutenants, Michael, and his ‘bot infantry. Everyone but Michael and the Luddecceans were running out of power. 6T9 connected to the local police superintendent—and found himself in a meeting with the local police and Fleet’s command in System 5. There was a brief flurry of hashing out logistics, and then 6T9 disconnected, his sensors blaring he was out of power … but his Q-comm sparking brilliantly.

      Outside the mechanical room, there was the roar of ships. He gazed up and saw Fleet on the horizon. Closer was a police hover. Etherly, the police hover’s pilot let 6T9 know he and his “troops” were relieved. 6T9 gave the order for his sex ‘bots to find a power source. Finally spying an outlet, 6T9 disconnected and ripped off his helmet.

      Davies stared at him with wide eyes.

      “I can’t be infected,” 6T9 said. “And I need to reboot and recharge.”

      Davies blinked. And then he chuckled nervously. “Oh, right. I sometimes forget you’re not human.”

      6T9 frowned. “I have to peel off my face. You won’t be able to forget.” Emotional expression apps made the words gruffer than he wanted them to be. It made him uncomfortable to make humans uncomfortable.

      Davies gaped.

      Unable to ignore his diminished power levels, 6T9 peeled back the side of his face covering his temple outlet. He took out his power cord and jacked into the wall.

      Davies stared a moment, but then said, “I’ll stand guard.”

      Power surged across the cord. All evidence pointed to a need for a reboot, but he hesitated. He hated rebooting in front of humans, but the Luddeccean was guarding the rooftop, Mao beside him … he’d only be out a few minutes. Facing the wall, 6T9 locked his joints and rebooted. He came online a few minutes later. Nothing had changed. Davies was still guarding the rooftop.

      “I’m done with my reboot,” 6T9 said.

      Davies looked up at him, and then looked away fast, face draining of color, no doubt at the sight of 6T9’s metal skull. “That … was … fast,” he stuttered.

      Almost as a challenge, 6T9 added, “You can sleep if you want, until we rendezvous with Fleet.”

      Davies turned back to him. “Really?”

      6T9 scowled. “If you can sleep, you’re welcome to. I can stand guard and monitor the ether.”

      Eyebrows rising, Davies took a long sip of the straw within his helmet that provided the electrolyte solution, and then he pulled back from the doorway and settled down against a wall. Hugging his rifle, he closed his eyes. Mao hopped up onto his chest and curled into a ball. Eyes opening to half mast, Davies stared at the kitten for a moment, and then closed his eyes again. Within minutes, he was snoring.

      6T9, half his face hanging off, stared at the human, and then huffed a soft laugh. With power surging through him, he had plenty of bandwidth to monitor his immediate surroundings and the ethernet, so he connected. To his lieutenants, most already connected to power sources, and Michael, he said, “Well done, everyone.” To the sex ‘bots in Falade and Lang’s presence, he said, “Tell your Luddecceans I said so … and tell them they can get some sleep until Fleet arrives.” He remembered he was forgetting someone and connected to Time Gate 5. “We couldn’t have done it without you, Five.”

      “It was an honor, General.” Five filled 6T9’s mind with images of the mess of warship hulks and civilian vessels that hung in clusters beyond the gate. “There is still much work to do, but none of them are firing on me or Fleet,” Five said. “That situation is under control.”

      In the same calm tones, Five added, “True Love is threatening to take legal action against me.”

      6T9’s circuits shorted.

      “But listen to how System 5 humans are responding to that,” Five continued.

      The ether was flooded with shouts of, “We’ll boycott True Love if they do that!”

      “Down with True Love!”

      “Five for Mayor!”

      “Five for President!”

      “Five for Admiral of the Local Guard!”

      A child’s voice whispered, “Thank you, Time Gate 5.”

      And was followed by a cry of, “Five, marry me!”

      The shouts, cries, and soft whispers of thanks blended together into an unintelligible blur of sound that faded to Five’s own voice. “That has never happened to any gate, ever.” There was a pause, a flow of electricity where no data was exchanged, and then Five added, “It is good to have the system’s humans connected to the ether again. I hadn’t realized how much I do not like the silence, how much I gained from the humans. Thank you, General.”

      Five disconnected, and 6T9 was left with the roar of warships, hovers, and ambulance sirens. His Q-comm was humming, and circuits within his body that were usually only active when he fulfilled his primary function were alight. Had he found a new function, or had he just fulfilled his primary function at a higher level? A sex ‘bot’s raison d’être was to help humans, after all. He looked down at the Luddeccean, sleeping despite 6T9’s current ghoulish appearance, and had the same charge he got in afterglow.

      For a moment, his circuits blazed, and he thought that he might be experiencing an android version of transcendence. He felt utterly complete.  Listening idly to the ether, he cataloged the events that brought him here. It had started with Eliza giving him a Q-comm and ended with him not sure if he could restrain himself from killing a man Volka was emotionally and telepathically ensnared with. Could he ever be comfortable with that? Did he have to be?

      He glanced over at Davies. The man wasn’t interested in 6T9 sexually, but he did accept that 6T9 was an android. He did accept what 6T9 had done to achieve this brief moment of peace. It was a reminder that 6T9 could find someone else, someone else who wouldn’t have telepathic entanglements.

      An ambulance siren very close snapped him from his musings. His eyes fell on the Infected bodies on the roof, and he suddenly had more immediate, pressing worries.
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      Holding FET12’s hand, Volka looked around her in wonder. They appeared to be on a balcony with marble railings. A domed roof was above them. It was lit by a brilliant ball of light, very much like a sun. The dome itself ranged in color from sky blue to midnight. She tried to pull her hand from FET12’s to take a step closer to the rail, but he clasped her hand more tightly, holding her back. She wasn’t sure if the shy android was afraid for her or for himself and didn’t try again.

      A bright sparkle appeared at her wrist, and she started. FET12 had included the ethernet-to-speech bracelet on her “avatar” wrist, and it was now sparkling quite dramatically.

      FET12 made a sort of sigh.

      From Volka’s wrist came a cheery, “Hello, Ms. Volka, it is so nice to see you again!” from the device.

      “Bracelet?” Volka whispered. She hesitated. How to distinguish between the kind and well-meaning device on her wrist and the sometimes unkind but brave Bracelet that had once had a Q-comm? “Is that … the real you?”

      “Hmmm … that is a philosophically complex question,” Bracelet replied. “One that it would be best to put aside for now, as very important matters are about to be discussed in the meeting below.”

      Volka’s ears perked, and she smirked. It was definitely the Q-comm version of Bracelet. Heeding the advice, Volka leaned over the balcony. Peering below, she saw a sort of meeting room with a grand circular table of marble. Seated at it was a man—or android—made of chrome. His perfectly muscled torso was bare and gleaming in the artificial sunlight.

      “That is Time Gate 5. He is hosting this virtual meeting,” FET12 whispered. “He’s given himself an avatar.”

      Bracelet whispered, “It’s quite eccentric. I’ve only heard of Gate 33 doing that.”

      “What is this?” The question came from Volka’s left, and she jumped. An exact replica of the chrome man was standing beside her, but he was also still below speaking to a man—or android—who had just materialized. As Volka understood it, managing two conversations at once was as difficult for androids as humans—they had limits on their processing power. Usually.

      FET12 withdrew further into his hoodie, but Bracelet replied perkily, “Why, it is myself, of course, Miss Volka, and FET12.”

      “Miss Volka is etherless,” the chrome man said. Up close, she could see his facial features were also perfectly modeled. He had full lips, sharp cheekbones, a chiseled jawline, and wide eyes. His hair was a thick, neat wave.

      Bracelet replied, “Oh, she has access to a holomat. FET12 must be projecting everything he’s observing via Q-comm on the mat so she can see this meeting while simultaneously projecting an avatar of her—with an avatar of me on her wrist that he unfortunately didn’t get right at all. He didn’t give my form the glow it normally has—the gleam, the glimmer, the radiance.”

      FET12 whispered, “Miss Volka wanted to see Sixty, and you announced he’d be here.”

      Volka’s ears sagged. Her last meeting with Sixty had been … well, she knew things were unsaid. But she still worried about him, she still wanted to see him.

      The chrome man that was Time Gate 5 replied flatly, “I wanted this meeting to be accessible to our kind and important human officials. It is not open to civilians.”

      Volka felt herself deflate, and her ears sagged. How could she convince him to let her stay? His face bore no readable expression to give her clues of what tack to take. She couldn’t use telepathy or scent—if Volka inhaled deeply, she’d only smell the window nook on the asteroid. She’d been sitting in there sketching FET12 when he’d declared suddenly, “There is a chance to see Sixty, but we might not be able to speak directly to him. It’s a meeting about the situation in New Grande.”

      Volka had jumped at the opportunity. Even if she couldn’t speak to Sixty, she would at least know he was well … if she could only stay. Should she try begging? Should she be defiant? Should she try logic?

      “I have extensive experience with the Dark,” Volka blurted. “I might be able to offer a valuable perspective.”

      The chrome man tilted his head, and Volka decided that he wasn’t like chrome at all, he was like liquid mercury. If she looked closely, she could see the reflection of the room along his body. He wasn’t wearing clothing, though he’d made himself sexless. It made her blush to notice she’d noticed.

      In a flat voice, Time Gate 5 replied, “That is true. Observational data is not ideal, but it is all we have to go on now. You are also the companion of the general. I did tell the Fleet representatives that this meeting wouldn’t be open to the general public, but you are more than that.”

      Volka almost missed the compliment, but then she couldn’t help smiling—she’d convinced him without using telepathy or mind control. “Thank you, sir.”

      He drew back slightly. “You’re human-like. What are your thoughts on this avatar? I’ve never had one before, but I thought humans might like a face and form to focus on.”

      “It’s very beautiful,” Volka said.

      The avatar smiled, and his quick silver features crinkled around the eyes. “Thank you.” The smile dropped, and he narrowed one eye. “No changes?”

      Volka bit her lip. “Well, I suppose, you might put on clothes.”

      “I haven’t decided if I wish to be anything other than asexual,” Time Gate 5 replied.

      Volka’s ears flicked, considering that. She needed to be diplomatic and non-judgmental; he wasn’t human. “Well,” she said, “I suppose if you want to declare yourself asexual, your current form is perfect. If you haven’t decided though and want to keep your pondering private, clothing would be better. It depends on how much of your inner self you want to reveal.”

      “Hmm …” Time Gate 5 scanned her from head to toe. She followed his eyes. She was clutching her sketch pad and pencil, and it was open to the drawing she’d been working on. FET12 had created an avatar of her exactly as she was, and she was only wearing pajamas.

      “Maybe something a little more formal?” Volka suggested, staring at her bare toes.

      She blinked up at him, and he was wearing a neat high-necked suit made of a material not quite as reflective as his body. The illusion was so detailed, she could see the weave of it and the wood grain in the buttons of the coat. She smiled. “Perfect.”

      Time Gate 5 inclined his head. “It was pleasant meeting you.” With that, he disappeared from her side, but he was still at the table below—in a suit now. She supposed, since he was hosting this mental party, he was actually everywhere.

      “Sixty’s here,” FET12 declared at the exact same moment she saw him. He was wearing his Fleet issued armor, though his helmet was off. There was a man beside him wearing the same. Volka’s ears swiveled. The man looked familiar, and she sniffed the air before she remembered that wouldn’t work. Her ears perked, finally isolating the familiar man’s voice from the rest of the din. It was Michael, the would-be peaceful protestor from New Grande who got caught up in the violence. Michael’s previously shaggy hair was now in a neat military “high and tight” like the Fleet Marines wore.

      Behind 6T9 and Michael, other figures materialized. They wore a variety of clothing—most of it sparse. One looked like a young girl in a very short school uniform, another wore an evening dress, another an evening suit, and another was dressed as a fireman—though Volka never knew firemen in any system who went shirtless with their coats open—and whose pants looked so dangerously close to revealing their equipment. There were more than two dozen of these new people. They were very beautiful, even for Galacticans, and clustered behind Sixty and Michael.

      Beside her, FET12 whispered, “They’re sex ‘bots with Q-comms. Sixty activated them.”

      Sucking on a lollipop, the sex ‘bot in the school uniform put a hand on Sixty’s shoulder and gazed around the room, bored.

      Growling, Volka leaned closer to the railing, forgetting that it was just an illusion. She would have lost her balance, but FET12 gently righted her and gave her hand a squeeze.

      Catching sight of Volka, the schoolgirl sex ‘bot popped the lollipop out of her mouth, licked her lips, and smirked. Her hand slid down Sixty’s shoulder. Volka wasn’t sure if he noticed. His head was bent to Michael’s, he was frowning, and he was punctuating something he was saying with sharp movements of his hand. He looked focused, passionately engaged, and particularly handsome. The other sex ‘bots were listening intently to their conversation, especially a woman with long dark blonde hair, who was leaning very close to Michael.

      Sixty looked … important. That impression was boosted by new arrivals at the virtual round table. Everyone, without exception, looked to Sixty before sitting. The lollipop girl lost interest in Volka and turned her attention to the new arrivals, winking and sucking her lollipop suggestively as they took their seats.

      At last, Time Gate 5 called the meeting to order. On the balcony, more “people” appeared, although they might have been androids. Volka couldn’t read their minds but wasn’t sure she could read human minds in a virtual world. It was a relief to not hear their thoughts, like a refreshing draught of cool water on a hot day.

      Below, Time Gate 5 introduced the mayor. The mayor stood up and gave a speech thanking Time Gate 5, the Local Police Force, System 5 Local Guard, Fleet, and “the 6T9 Unit and … friends” for their part in saving the city.

      Sixty sat back, scowling slightly. One of his fingers rapped on the table as the mayor droned on. He didn’t look up at Volka, but gratifyingly, he shifted his body away from the hand on his shoulder.

      The mayor and someone who might be head of the New Grande Water Department discussed “water security,” and then the mayor talked to the police. Volka felt her eyelids getting heavy, and she found herself scratching the back of her leg with her foot.

      There was a soft squeak beside her. Volka started and found Carl standing on his back two paw pairs on the marble bannister beside her. “Well, this would cure your insomnia.”

      “Carl! How?”

      Carl lifted his bewhiskered snout. “I am a figment of your imagination.”

      “Can FET12 and Bracelet see you?” Volka whispered.

      “Yes,” Bracelet whispered, and FET12 nodded.

      Carl sniffed and glared at Volka. “I am a master of the quantum wave. I speak ethernet and telepathy.”

      “But this is a Q-comm meeting,” Volka whispered. “Not an ethernet meeting.”

      Carl and FET12 both stared at her, and she realized she’d said something stupid.

      Speaking very slowly, Bracelet said, “Some people are here by Q-comm. Other people are here by ethernet. It’s like … some people in the twenty-first century connected to the internet by satellite, but some people connected by fiber optic cables. You see?”

      Volka did not see, but she nodded because they were attracting attention of other people—or androids—on the balcony. In the crowd of androids, one that looked like a rumpled professor and another that looked like a burly construction worker smiled and waved at her. Volka waved back timidly, even less sure of them than she was of fiber optic cables.

      Below, the mayor said, “Now, onto the difficult subject of the Infected in our city. We do not have enough treatment at this time—”

      Sixty interrupted him. “While the Time Gate is still not operational, and your forces are weak, you must offer to give the newly Infected to the Dark.”

      Volka gasped.

      Beside her, Carl whispered, “Huh. Didn’t expect that.”

      Sixty continued. “Your offer doesn’t have to be sincere, but the Dark must believe you, otherwise, there will be further terrorist action, potentially much worse than anything you’ve seen so far.”

      There were murmurs around the table. Volka’s brow furrowed, not following his reasoning. From the table she heard whispers of “fear mongering.”

      Sixty rose from his chair. “The Dark needs workers. You cannot cure all the sick. Offer to give them to the Dark after Time Gate 5 is repaired, and you have more forces to protect this system.”

      “Offer to give our citizens as hostages?” someone gasped.

      “Into slavery?” said another person.

      Leaning on the table, Sixty said, “The Dark follows a scorched Earth policy. What it cannot have, it destroys. It will attempt to destroy New Grande. It is already well established in this system, and even The One have not located all its cells. If it thinks it can achieve its aims for more manpower, it will abstain long enough for you to harden your targets.”

      There were shouts of outrage and murmurs of protest.

      A woman in a gray Fleet uniform said in a clear steely voice, “We have facilitated prisoner exchanges for your mining operations in System 6. This isn’t that much different.”

      The woman was shouted down. “This is not Six! This is System 5, our home!”

      Another man said, “We have Infected prisoners among the invaders. Trade them!”

      “Not enough,” Sixty said.

      The man’s face got red. “Not since someone had a shoot to kill policy!”

      The look that Sixty cast in the man’s direction was colder than the chill of the void.

      A man wearing a uniform that would be unmistakably a police officer anywhere protested, “They were trying to infect our people. You’ve seen Intelligence’s holos! Infection is worse than lethal force.”

      “Fleet said they were here to protect us! The people they propose to trade are civilians!” The floor below became a roar of protest … and the roar reminded Volka of the Marines’ last stand on System 33, how at the very end when the Dark realized it couldn’t have them, it launched a pod as a missile to try to destroy them. “He’s right!” she shouted.

      All eyes in the room lifted to her—including Sixty’s. He looked shocked. The sex ‘bots behind him—aside from lollipop girl—looked delighted. They smiled, waved, and bounced on their feet. The possibly humans at the table looked incredulous. “Who are you?” asked the mayor.

      Time Gate 5 rose, and his voice boomed in the room. “She is Miss Volka, the partner of Android General 1.”

      Carl muttered beside her, “Could mention you are an admiral.”

      They’d never believe that, and it wasn’t quite true anyway—not in the human sense of the word. The eyes of the people at the table lost their focus and Volka knew they must be accessing her files. They’d see she was an artist, that she was the “pilot” of the only faster-than-light ship in the galaxy, and that she hadn’t gone to college. Dig a little more, and they might find out she’d never even been to high school. She had to prove the value of her words.

      Straightening her shoulders, Volka declared, “I fought with Android General 1 on System 33. The Dark tried to destroy us when we proved not to be of use to it.”

      Someone whispered, “The Luddie painter.”

      Louder, another person said, “It’s only one example.”

      “There is more than one example,” said a familiar voice at Volka’s left. Her ears swiveled as the rumpled professor type and the burly construction worker pushed their way to her side.

      “Lishi!” Volka whispered. Last time she’d seen him, he hadn’t had a robot form.

      Giving her a slight smile, he turned to the audience below. “My team has been working on translating the history of The People, a spacefaring alien race destroyed by the Dark. They had thousands of settlements throughout the galaxy. Time after time, we’ve seen the Dark destroy the ones it could not conquer outright. You should heed Android General 1’s advice.”

      “Fear mongering!” someone exclaimed again.

      Michael protested, “It’s not. We’ve seen the Infected make traps of their bodies.”

      “Pirates do that,” someone else said. Arguments erupted around the table.

      The mayor cleared his throat. “As grateful as we are to 6T9 and his unusual army, we’ll have to debate this matter in the city council.”

      Someone shouted, “It’s a matter for the System Council—not all of the Infected are citizens of New Grande.”

      The mayor nodded. “That is correct.”

      “Debate it fast,” 6T9 said. “If you’re not going to buy time, you’ll need to evacuate.”

      Shouts rose around the table. Volka noticed the woman from Fleet was conspicuous for her silence. Her calculating gaze was shifting between Sixty and the mayor.

      “We will, under no circumstances, call a general evacuation order!” the mayor declared.

      The woman from Fleet spoke, her voice quiet, but firm. “You may not.” Everyone at the table went silent, perhaps straining to hear her. The woman continued, “However, Fleet belongs to the people of New Grande, and we will offer evacuation to anyone who requests to leave.” The Fleet Officer nodded at Sixty. After a moment, he nodded back.

      Someone shouted, “That’s an usurpation of local authority!”

      Volka’s heart rate picked up at the same time her ears sagged, but beside her Lishi whispered, “They’re wrong. Legally, they can’t order Fleet not to do that.”

      Huffing, the mayor cast a dark glance at the Fleet Officer. But then, rolling his eyes and clearing his throat, he said, “There are issues with electricity needing to be restored in some of our wards—”

      “If you’ll excuse me,” Sixty said, jaw very tight. “I need to get back to work.”

      The Fleet officer said, “I need to speak with you about evacuation protocols.”

      Sixty inclined his head to the side of the room.

      Leaning over the not-really-there bannister, Volka saw a door there that appeared to be made of white gold.

      Looking relieved, the mayor said, “Of course, of course.”

      Sixty and the Fleet Officer left the table and headed to the door. The sex ‘bots winked out of existence.

      Volka’s eyes widened. “We can help with the evacuation!” Now that there was no fighting, the “Skimmers” wouldn’t be in any danger, and even if they could only lift out a few, every little bit helped.

      Carl straightened up to his hindmost paws. “Yes!”

      “Can we speak with him?” Volka asked.

      Bracelet piped from her wrist, “We’re not barred from following them.”

      Volka looked around, wondering how to get down to the lower level and found herself facing the human-looking Lishi again and … she looked up at the tall, brawny man. He grinned. “Jack Hammer.”

      Her lips parted in shock. She remembered him as a large ‘bot with a jack hammer appendage. His human appearance fit that look, and Lishi’s former smaller, nervous ‘bot form fit his new professor look.

      “Oh,” Volka whispered, her heart racing, but feeling terrible leaving them. “It is good to see you … but …”

      “You must go,” Lishi whispered. “We hope to see you again soon. In these or other forms.”

      Volka half curtseyed. “Thank you …” She craned her neck. “How do we …?”

      FET12 squeezed her hand, and the council chamber disappeared.
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      The virtual conference room 6T9 entered with Vice Admiral Wong had the same celestial ceiling as the previous council chamber—only the lighting was pale and silver, like moonlight, instead of bright and warm, like noon. Besides the single door, there were windows that showed scenes of the oceans on the world beneath Time Gate 5. His footsteps echoed on the tiles, and the air tickled his taste receptors with salt and sea. Five had not spared any computational resources when he’d created this virtual reality. At first, when 6T9 had glanced up and seen Volka on the balcony, he’d thought perhaps that Five had just created an avatar of her for his … comfort? Pleasure? But then she’d spoken, and he knew it had been her. Five couldn’t have faked the sincerity he’d heard or imagined the complete disregard for protocol.

      Behind him, the doors to the meeting room closed with an ominous finality.  He couldn’t very well beg a moment for personal matters when there were lives at stake.

      In crisp tones, Wong said, “We need to discuss how to best evacuate the planet.”

      6T9 touched the ashes of Eliza beneath his suit. The stress of their flight from Luddeccea had pushed her into dementia. “It might not be necessary if they use the Infected as hostages.” The echo of his voice in the mindscape was eerie because of Five’s simulation or because the thought of evacuating so many—upending so many lives—unnerved him. He’d killed many Infected today. He didn’t feel guilty about it, but he did care about the millions still alive. He was still himself.

      Wong frowned. “We should be prepared for either case. Homes were destroyed in the initial conflict. People who want to leave should be given that opportunity. Not announcing a general evacuation order may work out for the best in either event. We’ll avoid panic.”

      6T9 looked at her sharply. “You don’t think that they will take my advice.”

      Wong met his eyes. “They are elected officials. Announcing that they will be giving citizens to an enemy that will use them as slaves will end them politically.”

      “As will a targeted strike on the city,” 6T9 countered.

      Wong raised an eyebrow. “Either way, the local elected officials lose, so where is the incentive to do good?”

      6T9 took a deep breath that was a facsimile of humanity within a facsimile of the real world. An oddly fitting metaphor for the current situation? Offering the Infected to the Dark need not be a sincere gesture, but it was the appearance of humanity that mattered to the politicians. “Good” humans did not offer enemies human sacrifices.

      Wong was right, though. Without a general evac order, they might be able to begin operations in a more orderly fashion—and be even more successful if the worst came to pass. Still, he mused, “Even if we can make the council’s vote later, rather than sooner, it might hold off the Dark.”

      “Perhaps. In the meantime, let’s discuss logistics—”

      Volka’s voice echoed from the entrance. “We can help.”

      6T9’s head whipped in her direction. Clutching FET12’s hand in one hand and her sketchbook in the other, Volka was wearing pajamas—a loose, white Luddeccean silk tunic and pants that had faint lavender pinstripes. Bracelet glimmered suspiciously brightly on her wrist. FET12 was wearing his usual dark hoodie, and the hood was drawn low. The knuckles of the hand holding onto Volka’s were white. Volka took a few steps toward 6T9, and the padding of her feet was barely audible. 6T9 wondered how Five knew she moved so stealthily—or maybe it was FET12’s observation translated into code. Standing next to FET12 just emphasized how small Volka was. That, and the pajamas, might have made her look like a child, except that her stealth was that of a predator. Or maybe it was the poise of a princess. He couldn’t decide.

      Carl popped into existence at her feet. “Yes, we can help with the evacuation!” His little bewhiskered snout bobbed furiously.

      Wong’s gaze flicked between the two of them. “I thank you for your offer, but I think it best you stick to your current assignment. There will be hundreds of Fleet vessels and potentially thousands of private vessels as well, manned by inexperienced, nervous pilots. Collisions wouldn’t be dangerous for you but could be deadly for conventional ships.”

      Volka’s brow furrowed, and her ears swiveled the way they did when they were trying to locate the source of a sound.

      Carl’s shoulders sagged, and he gazed up at Volka. “Hatchling, she has a point.”

      Volka gazed at Carl, ears sagging. This was the woman 6T9 had proposed to. They were in a mental space together, but they were light-years apart in every other way. When he considered it, she wasn’t in this mental space at all; her presence was only facilitated by FET12, an interpreter. This was the woman he’d altered his programming for. She felt like a stranger. Did it feel the same to her? He couldn’t enter her mental space—there was no interpreter for him.

      He was glad he’d altered his programming. He wasn’t sure of the proposal.

      Volka squared her shoulders. “Of course, but we’re ready to assist if you need us.” There was a pause that stretched 3.5 seconds longer than was considered comfortable by humans, and then Volka turned to FET12 and said, “We should let them discuss their plans.”

      “Thank you, Admiral,” Wong said, and 6T9 looked at her askance.

      Volka released FET12’s hand and disappeared—perhaps out of FET12’s line of sight.

      It was admirable of her to do that. It showed a great deal of maturity to put the mission to save the people of New Grande first.

      FET12, however, didn’t disappear. For the first time in the meeting, he met 6T9’s gaze. The other android’s jaw clenched, and he scowled. “If you and Volka break up, I’m staying with Volka. You would have let me be turned into scrap.”

      6T9’s jaw sagged. He supposed he should have expected that; in some ways, FET12 was only a few days old.

      Carl squeaked. “Don’t make me decide!”

      Wong’s eyebrows hiked.

      … And FET12 and Carl disappeared.

      A tiny light flashed in the air at the level of Volka’s wrist and spoke with Bracelet’s voice. “Oh, dear, oh dear.” And then it vanished, too.

      Wong shook her head. “Custody battles are always hard.”

      “Eh …” Was that what had just happened? 6T9 stared at the space Volka had just occupied. His brain, perhaps for lack of something better to do, pulled up a still shot of the drawing that had been in Volka’s hand. The angle she’d held it had been extreme, but his processors automatically shifted the perspective. It had been a portrait of FET12 in one of the nook windows of the mansion on the asteroid. It was not photorealistic. The young android’s features had been slightly elongated, and the side of his face in the light had been drawn so faintly FET12 had appeared half in halo. Volka had made a battered, shy, disturbed sex ‘bot … ethereal. A thought occurred to 6T9. “You called her admiral?”

      Wong waved a hand. “A sort of honorary title as I understand it.”

      Of course it was. Still, 6T9 inclined his head, wanting to know exactly what that understanding was, but in a brisk voice, Wong said, “I’m sending you logistics data now. Let’s talk a little more about procedures—” and 6T9 put the picture and the question away. He smoothed his hand down the side of his body where Eliza’s ashes lay. He had no time for ethereal things when a real hell was a possibility.
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      Volka couldn’t help feeling Rhinehart’s vexation and apprehension as the Marine stared down into the Bengal Tiger’s unblinking eyes. Or maybe she wanted to feel Rhinehart’s vexation, so she didn’t think as much about Sixty’s dismissal in the mindscape … she took a sharp breath. Released it. And tried to focus. She hadn’t gotten much sleep the night before, and the sleep she’d managed had been disturbed by dreams of her life unravelling. She’d woken feeling empty.

      Shaking herself, she focused on the present. They were in Time Gate 1, in a large hangar. It wasn’t a space designed for aesthetics. The light was harsh, and the fixtures that produced it buzzed faintly. There were small hovers porting supplies, their tiny engines whining instead of producing the normal roar and producing a scent not unlike ozone. The hangar itself smelled like dust. The new crews for Volka and her team filled the space, too, smelling unmistakably of nervousness and adrenaline, their voices echoing in the din. In the drab space, among all the commotion, the elderships and Sundancer—or Skimmers as their species had been now dubbed—were hovering silent and shimmering, like a string of misplaced pearls.

      Volka focused on Rhinehart to avoid adding the thoughts of the crews to the general din. Fortunately, Rhinehart spoke exactly what was on her mind so Volka didn’t have to feel guilty reading it. “You are not what my ship expected when she said she wanted a kitten.”

      “I am much better, obviously,” Shissh declared, an unmistakable smile on her tiger lips.

      Rhinehart’s eyes narrowed. “I’d almost prefer a real tiger. I get the feeling they’d be less likely to want to eat me.”

      Shissh chuffed in a laugh. “Oh, no! I wouldn’t dream of eating you. Humans are disgusting creatures.”

      “How do you know that, Cat?” Rhinehart asked dryly.

      “One can surmise,” Shissh said sweetly.

      Rhinehart got down on one knee so her eyes were level with the big cat’s. “Your little brother has an annoying habit of trying to boss me around.”

      Carl, seemingly asleep on a crate, perked at that. “Annoying habit? I was exercising my rights as the obviously superior species!”

      Rhinehart poked a finger at Shissh’s chest. “I didn’t let him, and I won’t let you.”

      “I am aware you subjugated him with scratches,” Shissh replied, leaning her great head to Rhinehart’s nose.

      “Did not!” Carl protested, rising to his hindmost paws.

      Volka hid a smile behind her hand. Carl pointed a claw at her and hissed. “Don’t you dare laugh.”

      Shissh chuffed. “You handled him masterfully.”

      Rhinehart leaned back and squinted at the cat. “I will give you scratches just so you remember who is boss.”

      “Scratches didn’t make you the boss of me!” Carl sniffed.

      “I would expect no less from you,” Shissh replied.

      Rhinehart reached out and scratched Shissh behind the ear. Shissh leaned into her touch, and her finger-length claws clicked as she kneaded them on the cement floor. Rising, Rhinehart said, “All right, Cat. Let’s make this work.”

      Rhinehart gave a little wave to Volka. “Good luck.” I’ll miss you. Damn, if you’d just give me a sign you’re interested, I’d be yours in a heartbeat, Rhinehart didn’t say aloud.

      Most of the Marines had sexual thoughts about every woman that came into their orbit at least fleetingly. Rhinehart had sexual thoughts about Volka, but they were wrapped up in the purest of romantic sentiments. The Marine was noble, smart, and brave, and Volka loved her a little but couldn’t return the romantic attraction. She’d miss Rhinehart, and how the Marine managed Carl, but all she said was, “Good luck to you, too.”

      Frowning a little, Rhinehart nodded, as though confirming something to herself, and then turned away with Shissh. Together they walked toward Rhinehart’s Skimmer. Rhinehart’s thoughts quickly turned to excitement, and her ship reached out to touch her mind. At that moment, another mind touched Volka’s. Stratos was now picturing Rhinehart with blue aliens, a tiger woman that might be an anthropomorphic version of Shissh, and a female Marine and scientist assigned to his crew. Scrunching her eyes shut, Volka tried to block out the visions. It didn’t work. The man was obsessed with Rhinehart … and other women.

      Beside Volka, Carl sniffed. “Rhinehart wasn’t the boss of me.” There was so much dejection in his statement that it swept away Stratos’s explicit daydream. Opening her eyes, Volka focused on her dejected … friend …

      “Overlord,” Carl corrected, sighing and hiding his head in his paws.

      “Does my overlord desire scratches?” Volka asked.

      Carl sniffed dejectedly. “Yes.”

      Volka stroked his soft fur, and Carl shared a memory with her of Luddeccea. She knew it was Luddeccea, because of the lizzar he was remembering, but he remembered it from a werfle-eyed view. The bull-sized, lizard-like beast towered over Carl, its massive feet and legs shimmering oddly in a kaleidoscope of colors—normally Volka thought of the scales there as just dull black and brown. Carl explained, “Lizzar can see in ultraviolet, like Earth birds, and see a broader spectrum of colors. Especially colorfully footed lizzar attract more mates. Werfles probably evolved to see ultraviolet so we don’t get stepped on by lizzar. For adult werfles, the dumb oafs are practically our only enemies.”

      He was distracting her. “Thank you, Carl.”

      He peeked at her between his claws. “No problem, Hatchling.” And then he unwound his body and looked behind Volka. “And there is my other Hatchling!”

      Volka turned to Carl’s “other Hatchling.” It was FET12 in a child-sized suit of armor, emerging from a small storage room where he’d been dressing. Most of the Marines had their helmets off for comfort. Not FET12. He had on his helmet and even had his visor pulled down halfway. He was hiding within his armor, she suspected, as he usually hid in a hoodie. She’d been too busy telepathically to notice his approach with her ears or nose. He was blissfully a blank to her. She silently asked Carl, “Is that why you like androids?”

      “Mystery keeps relationships interesting,” Carl replied.

      Aloud, to FET12, Volka said, “You look quite smart.”

      Carl bobbed his body. “Thanks for coming with us.”

      Blushing, the small android ducked his head. “There is a shortage of Q-comms. I should help.”

      The Skimmer crews were short of Q-comms. The Skimmers themselves could communicate with one another across space time, but then their thoughts would need to be converted to digital format by humans. That might take only seconds, but seconds could be the difference between life and death in a military situation. Q-comm communication was by default digital. Anything FET12 knew, so did Time Gate 1. Time Gate 1 could relay that data to every gate and Q-comm connected ship faster than the speed of light, and from there, relay it to every etherly-connected human at lightspeed. Volka’s brow furrowed. The Skimmers and humans spoke two different languages.

      “It’s more accurate to say we have hardware that isn’t innately compatible,” Carl mused silently.

      A new presence entered Volka’s consciousness—Lieutenant Dixon, her new lieutenant. Dixon was looking at FET12, seeing the android’s discomfort and thinking about his kid-nephew on Mars, and how he’d coaxed the kid into riding one of the enormously tall two-humped camels that ranged over the red planet’s deserts. “Looking good, Kid,” Dixon said, putting his hand on FET12’s shoulder before Volka could stop him.

      FET12 shrunk under his hand, and Dixon withdrew quickly. His eyes met Volka’s, and even without telepathy should have been able to read the surprise, shock, and guilt there.

      “Just give us a minute,” Volka said to him.

      Nodding, Dixon said, “We’re ready to go when you are,” and walked toward Sundancer.

      As soon as Dixon was out of earshot, Volka said, “Every member of the new team has been telepathically scanned. None of them will hurt you, FET12.”

      “And if they tried, we would kill them,” Carl added.

      FET12’s mouth gaped. “That would be wrong.”

      “No, it wouldn’t,” Volka and Carl said in unison.

      “You can’t do that. It … would be …” FET12 bit his lip. “A disproportionate response.”

      Volka’s and Carl’s gazes slid to one another.

      Privately, she thought, “I would rip out their throats.”

      “Not before I removed their eyeballs,” thought Carl. Turning back to FET12, the werfle lied through his pointed little teeth. “If you say so.”

      “Mmmm …” said Volka and smiled beatifically.

      FET12 sighed in seeming relief. “Good—” His eyes became blank. The din of voices in the hangar abruptly went silent. Volka didn’t need anyone to translate; she heard the ethernet broadcast that was distracting everyone in her mind. The council of New Grande would not be releasing the Infected to the Dark.

      Around her, she heard the thoughts of the new crews, and they were without exception filled with approval. At the same time, she heard the thoughts of Marines she’d been serving with. Stratos echoed her thoughts, “They could have bought time by pretending to consider it.” Rhinehart’s thought was, “Shit.” Young’s thoughts were the most disturbing. He’d been an engineer in his civilian life, and his mind was filled with numbers and calculations of all the devastation that could befall the city. Volka had thought of New Grande’s canyon as a haven from the cold of the planet above. Young saw it for what it was: a death trap. A sufficient blast would ricochet from the canyon’s walls, wreaking more havoc than it could on a plain.

      Her heart sank. “What do we do?” she whispered to Carl.

      The little werfle’s shoulders fell. He projected into her mind the sky above New Grande cluttered with hovers and ships. “We keep to our mission. The admiral was right; we’d get in the way … and what we’re doing, it will help other systems.”

      A sense of dread swept over her from the Skimmers. They’d read their humans’ thoughts and drawn their own conclusions. They believed New Grande was doomed. Sundancer’s feelings percolated through their thoughts to Volka. Sundancer had thought she was doomed after the Dark had infected her in System 33, but Volka had saved her—with Alaric’s help. There was always hope.

      Volka smiled at her ship across the hangar, but her smile melted, thinking of the danger. She felt like she was watching a tragedy unfold in slow motion, and there was nothing she could do to stop it. She swallowed. Sixty was in the middle of it. One more tragedy she couldn’t change.
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      6T9 walked through the hallway of a midrise apartment building in New Grande. An alarm in the elevator shaft was beeping intermittently. Davies was beside him, Mao on his shoulder. Twenty sex ‘bots were behind them, and just behind them were Fleet medical personnel. The emergency lighting was on, though it wasn’t needed. At the far end of the hallway, a portion of the wall was missing, flooding the hallway with the orange light of the setting sun. 6T9 was tuned into the building’s local ether where a Fleet captain’s voice was repeating, “Please remain in your units until Fleet personnel arrive. You will be given the option to evacuate at that time. No evacuees will be accepted aboard without escort.”

      Deployed to help the evacuation on the ground, 6T9’s team was sweeping through buildings one-by-one. This was the last floor they needed to patrol of this building. 6T9 reached a unit midway down the hall, and heard Mao’s thought, “There is a newly Infected within.”

      Pointing at the unit’s door, 6T9 held up a single finger and then pinched his fingers in the air to say, “a little Infected.” Davies nodded, gently lifted the cat from his shoulder, and set her on the floor. Sitting with her tiny body pressed to the wall, Mao licked her shoulder agitatedly and blinked up at the sergeant.

      Stepping to the door, 6T9 knocked. He heard light footsteps within. Whoever was behind the door couldn’t weigh more than 59 kg. A baby cried. 6T9’s circuits flickered. A woman’s voice came from within. “You’re with Fleet?”

      “Yes, ma’am,” 6T9 replied.

      The door opened, revealing a woman with long, untidy hair. She had dark circles under her eyes, and she wore loose, casual clothing. A baby blanket was draped over one shoulder. In her arms she cradled an infant. There was a tiny red gash on the baby’s forehead. It was shorter than 6T9’s pinky finger and hairline thin.

      6T9’s circuits went dark.

      Davies cleared his throat. “Ma’am, are you alone?”

      The infant fussed, and she gently rocked it. “Yes, for now, but my husband will be here soon. He was at the office—they were told to remain until the fighting stopped. We want to leave. I’ve packed our bags.”

      6T9’s eyes dropped to her feet. Each refugee was only allowed a single bag. The woman had packed three.

      The woman’s eyes flicked between Davies and 6T9.

      Mao hissed and said what 6T9 feared. “It’s in the larva. The mother hasn’t contracted it yet.”

      The baby yawned, revealing a mouth without teeth. On the baby’s hands were tiny pink fingerless mittens. The mittens matched her rosy cheeks. Her brown eyes were bright and healthy. 6T9 released a breath. He didn’t want it to be true. It couldn’t be true. “Ma’am, did you leave your home during the invasion?”

      “Only because I needed formula! I wasn’t trying to break the law. It wasn’t the law. They have no right to make a law like that! You can’t keep me off the evacuation ship for that.”

      “We cannot take infectees,” 6T9 said slowly. “Your child is Infected. You must—”

      “No.” The woman’s face crumpled.

      “She is,” 6T9 whispered. “You must take her to the hospital.”

      “No.” The woman covered up the scratch on the baby’s face with her hand, as though it would erase 6T9’s memories. “No, you’re wrong.”

      “We can help you get to the hospital,” 6T9 said.

      The door slammed in his face. 6T9 took a step back. His eyes went to Davies. The man’s normally stoic features were drawn, and his shoulders slumped.

      6T9 imagined breaking down the door, separating the infant from her mother, and sending the mother to the waiting ship. “I can’t do anything?”

      Davies’s eyes dropped to the floor. “No, sir. Can’t take a baby from her mother.”

      “We are possibly killing the mother,” 6T9 said. His circuits fired. Would he have had to take the baby from the mother before his programming changed? Or would preservation of her free will have won out? It wasn’t certain death she was facing, just likely infection. If he hadn’t changed his programming, he wouldn’t have had a choice.

      “It would be wrong,” Davies muttered.

      6T9 shook his head and signaled to the sex ‘bots behind him to approach. They didn’t have Q-comms, so he kept his instructions simple. “Check the ID of anyone who attempts to enter. Admit only those whose address is this unit. If they go in, they may not exit without escort to the hospital. The woman and infant within may only leave with police or military escort to the hospital.”

      One of the HandsomeMan ‘bots raised his hand. “If they try to leave, may we restrain them?”

      “Yes.”

      The HandsomeMan clapped his hands and pumped his fist in the air. A RussianDoll bounced on her feet, almost spilling her décolletage out of her dress. “Oh, oh, oh! I hope they try! I hope they try!”

      They were completely oblivious. 6T9 wasn’t surprised, but he was still … oddly … disappointed.

      His ethernet crackled, and Michael’s voice came on. “Sixty—sir, we’ve got at least a half-dozen Infected holed up here. They are armed.”

      A picture of Michael’s location filled his mind. “We’re coming. Calling for Falade and Lang for backup.”

      Quickly informing Fleet of his plan, aloud he said to Davies, “Come on, we’ve got potential active shooters to clean up,” and gestured for him to follow him to the nearby stairs.

      “Rather that, than this,” Davies said, falling into step with 6T9.

      6T9’s circuits flashed. He was in complete agreement.

      Mao meowed and launched herself from 6T9’s arm onto Davies’s shoulder. “Damn it, Cat,” the sergeant grumbled but didn’t knock it off.

      Taking the stairs two at a time, 6T9 switched to New Grande’s public ethernet channel. The mayor’s voice crackled through the ether. 6T9 stumbled at his words. Davies steadied him. “Sir?”

      “The counsel has declared that the rumor that they will be offering New Grande civilians as hostages to the Dark is a vicious lie.” They’d taken 6T9’s warning, omitted details, and twisted it around and backward. “They’ll never give them up.”

      He slammed through the fire door that led from the stairs to the street.

      Davies had been privy to 6T9’s concerns and had agreed with him, but he only frowned slightly now. “That’s too bad, sir.”

      6T9 stared at him, circuits misfiring. “What do we do?”

      Davies shrugged. “What we were planning to do anyway. Get as many people as we can out.” He lifted his hand up as though to rip Mao from his shoulders, but instead just held his hand for the kitten to rub her head against. It shook ever so slightly. Davies’s eyes went to the canyon walls, only a few hundred meters away on either side at this location. “And hope we can get out before this place turns to hell.”
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      The Galacticans had made Alaric a nearly perfect replica of his Dress Greens. He was sure in holos and photographs they would be indistinguishable from the real thing. But the fabric had a slight sheen, related to its stain resistance, he’d been told. It also felt lighter—the textile engineers said it was more breathable. The most disconcerting things about the whole get up were the boots. They were more comfortable than he was used to, and they had a stiff poly material beneath the pleather of the toe he’d been assured was stronger and better than steel; it wouldn’t get too hot or too cold. But what was really disconcerting was how silently he could move in them. Crossing the flagstone floor of the Sinclair family retreat in Scotland, he moved so silently he felt invisible, like one of the home’s ghosts.

      As he entered a room darkened with the late evening shadows, the motion must have triggered an electric eye because warm, yet tastefully dim lighting came on overhead. He found himself held in the photographic gazes of Sinclairs from the 1900s to the present day. The oldest photos featured people with skin, hair, and eyes as light and strikingly European as Sinclair’s own. Gradually, the features of the people in the pictures became more Afro Eurasian. And then, near the end, there was a photo of someone who looked, incongruously, like those Sinclairs of old and very much like a younger version of Sinclair himself. He wasn’t Sinclair obviously, and none of the other people in the photos were biologically related to the android, but they had adopted him.

      Alaric paused at the end of the line. With so much history, it was easy to feel safe. The home was older than any of the photos. It had survived plagues, two world wars, the upheavals at the beginning of the true space age, and right into what Sinclair and Alaric had dubbed the “cyborgopocene.” After today, he felt that it might survive the race that built it. He snapped his hands behind his back. He was being maudlin. His ego was bruised, that was all. He took a deep breath … Or maybe it was the damp of Scotland. The smell of it clung to the house’s old stones. It made him think of the Dark; the weere swore it smelled of death and decay. Solomon had insisted the place was clean—Alaric was just smelling “old house smell” that he was not accustomed to because nothing manmade on Luddeccea was this old.

      From where he stood, he saw a light on in the library, heard the crackle of flames, and smelled woodsmoke. Sinclair had gone off to check on the estate’s horses—horses, of all things ridiculous and expensive! The boys, he could tell by sound alone, were asleep, worn out, probably from the excitement of riding on the beasts and chasing sheep through abandoned castles. He might have some time alone with Alexis.

      Following the smoke and light, Alaric found himself staring over Alexis’s shoulder as she sat reading in a high-backed chair, facing a fire that crackled in a well-tended hearth. A chandelier of flickering flames hung above. He could have almost stumbled into a scene from the house’s ancient past, except that a tiny robot was tending the fire, and although that fire was real, the chandelier’s flames were holograms. There was a werfle sleeping on Alexis’s lap, and she was reading a digital tablet. What she was reading put a curious lightness in Alaric’s chest. It was the letters to her he’d deleted. On the trip to Machu Picchu, Alaric had confessed his desire to get a souvenir for his wife. Sinclair had suggested the letters he’d deleted would be more personal than any trinket, and Intelligence had them on file if he’d like them. Alaric had known the files would be preserved, but he’d been surprised that Sinclair had mentioned it so freely. He’d told Sinclair he was a horrible spy but accepted the offer. Sinclair had been married for over a hundred years; his opinion had to count for something.

      From Alexis’s choice of reading material, Sinclair might have been right. She hadn’t noticed him, and Alaric suddenly felt like a voyeur, an interloper, toward his own wife. She was still, after everything, a stranger. He felt more comfortable in an android’s company. She wasn’t like Volka, who was so easy to know—

      Cutting off that thought, he cleared his throat. Alexis put down her tablet and turned toward him. Solomon bolted upright on her lap and squeaked.

      Lifting a hand, Alaric said, “You don’t have to—”

      But she was already up, slipping Solomon into a pocket. “How did it—?”

      Something in his demeanor must have given him away because her shoulders fell. “Oh, I’m sorry.”

      Alaric wiped his eyes. “As am I.” He’d played dress up to visit System 5’s representative in New York and offer the assistance of three Luddeccean Net-drive LCS. Although such a number of ships was few, the tactical advantages of having faster-than-light vessels defending the system would have been immense. He’d been waved away. They had enough Fleet, with more reinforcements on the way, according to the representative.

      Alexis pulled Solomon from her pocket. “Solomon tells me that the council of New Grande will not be giving the Infected from that city to the Dark. I thought that a good thing—but he says no?”

      Alaric cocked an eyebrow at the tiny werfle, now aggressively rubbing his head against Alexis’s fingers. Alaric had informed Alexis of the tiny creature’s inhabitation by an alien species. She hadn’t been terribly alarmed, though Alaric couldn’t say if it was natural self-possession on Alexis’s part, maternal feeling to the creature in its current juvenile state, or a gentle mental nudge from the creature. “He is correct.”

      Rolling onto his back, Solomon sighed, “Of course I am.” Alexis tickled his stomach, and he purred. She looked up at Alaric, expression expectant.

      “The Dark needs labor to build faster-than-light ships. If it can’t have that—”

      “Of course.” Alexis closed her eyes. “It will attempt to destroy the city, if not the whole planet. What it cannot have, it burns. Couldn’t they have stalled?”

      Alaric shook his head. He didn’t understand the Galacticans. They were so advanced and yet emotionally primitive. They were so hopelessly … open, like children. On an individual level, he found it refreshing. He enjoyed his time with Sinclair and the android’s seeming inability to play the part of ubiquitous yet deceptive minder. However, he worried it would destroy the Republic, and if the Republic fell, so would Luddeccea.

      Solomon squeaked abruptly, drawing Alaric’s attention. Rising on his hind legs, he signed, “We should not worry about things we have no control over. Alexis has exciting news!”

      Alexis blushed. “It’s nothing.”

      Solomon hissed. “No, it’s not. Tell him.”

      Smiling weakly, Alexis said, “I’ve been asked to give a lecture at St. Andrews about The People and their culture.”

      Solomon answered his unspoken question. “It’s a very old, prestigious university.”

      “Do you want to do it?” Alaric asked carefully.

      Alexis’s gaze fluttered around the room.

      Closing the space between them, he said, “I can chase after the boys while you prepare.”

      Alexis looked up at him doubtfully.

      “I have nothing better to do,” Alaric said.

      Alexis put a hand timidly on his stomach. He had the curious sensation of feeling pressure of her fingers against his skin, and more pressure beneath as her touch compressed the layers of muscle and sinew against the artificial scaffolding still holding him together.

      “Are you sure? With your girdle on?” She bit her lip, and he saw the ghost of a smile.

      He’d called it that—so she had an excuse to call it that. He wouldn’t have minded anyway. Still, she had a point. “I’ll send Sinclair to chase after them. I’ll supervise.”

      Alexis’s smile dropped, and her gaze shifted to the fire. Did she not approve of Sinclair?

      “Alexis?” Alaric probed.

      Gazing at the orange glow, she whispered, “It’s just … it’s supposedly an honor … and yet … with everything going on, with the threat of the Dark, it seems meaningless, trivial even.”

      Alaric caught her chin and brought her eyes back to his. “It’s not trivial, Alexis. Maybe if they know more about The People, they will be less likely to surrender, less likely to attempt to appease.”

      She pressed her lips together.

      “I know you will make a brilliant case for the cause,” Alaric whispered, and kissed her—not just because it was true, but because he wanted to, and wanted her. Her lips softened beneath his. Without breaking the kiss, he gently lifted Solomon from her hand and deposited the tiny werfle on the high-backed chair. They had to fight what battles they could, claim what victories they could, and take pleasure while they could. Worse was yet to come.
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      Davies and 6T9 followed Michael and the RussianDoll Mila through a narrow alley. To their left was the abandoned System 5 Interstellar Bank Building. To their right was a warehouse. Four of 6T9’s team of Q-comm-less ‘bots were tagging behind them. The rest were either out of power or were quarantining newly Infected.

      Halting at the corner where the alleyway intersected a wide boulevard, Mila peered around the corner. Sometime during the day, the RussianDoll had exchanged her evening gown for a pleather jacket, trousers, shirt with a print of a popular animated holo character, and athletic shoes. She held their One companion, a small, gray cat, in her arms. “The front door is slightly ajar—that must be how they got in—but the way is clear.”

      Davies immediately went around her, dropped to one knee, and raised his rifle.

      Repositioning herself on Davies’s head, Mao lashed her tail.

      6T9 translated her message to Davies. “She says there is no one on the first floor. She doesn’t think they intend to come out.”

      Davies grunted and didn’t move.

      Mao mewed. “Biscuit is coming with the robot hound. We could use the firepower.”

      Touching her temple, Mila said, “We wouldn’t need their extra firepower if I was allowed to kill.” She scowled, not meeting 6T9’s eyes.

      6T9 didn’t regret that decision and didn’t bother to explain himself. He was busy. New Grande’s public ether boards were buzzing.

      “No way am I leaving. That’s admitting that the terrorists won.”

      “I think our family will go to our vacation home on Neela Chaand until things settle a bit.”

      “Not everyone can afford a second home on Orbital 8’s moon!”

      “I can’t believe they even debated offering Infected to the terrorists.”

      “Who was the idiot who thought of it?”

      “Idiot? Psychopath more like it.”

      6T9 switched off the channel. Along the wide boulevard before them, streetlights winked on, and the buildings across the street came into view. They were midrise residential flats, ranging from six to nine stories high, each about a third as wide as the bank. The flats were partially obscured by balconies, but the first two floors were retail shops with glass walls and doors. 6T9 could see the front of the bank reflected in them. In the alley they hid in, the walls were solid, unadorned dark red brick, chipped with age, and uninterrupted by windows. The front of the bank was very different.

      The first two meters were made of pale orange polycrete, the same color as the canyon walls. Although worn by time, elaborate reliefs featuring the farmers, tradesmen, and spacefarers of the early colony were still visible on its surface. The polycrete, and its nuevo-futuristic depictions, curled around what once had been doors and massive windows, that were now covered over by gray cement. At the top of the building the polycrete appeared again, although there, the decoration was a pattern of stylized fields, circuit boards, and engines. Between the polycrete reliefs, the building was made of the same dark red brick as the alley, chipping and crumbling along with the building’s mortar. “It was the bank’s flagship branch.” Michael’s voice became wistful. “I know about it from an architectural history class. Work on a nearby transportation tunnel damaged the foundation. It’s too expensive to fix, but someone always protests tearing it down.”

      It was illogical to keep such a building standing, but 6T9 understood. The polycrete reliefs were completely unnecessary, and yet 6T9’s Q-comm fired with the desire to study them. His Q-comm started recreating how the reliefs had appeared before wind, rain, and freezing temperatures had smoothed them. The roar of hover engines made him cut the simulation short.

      Davies whistled. “There she goes.”

      A Fleet transport vessel they’d helped fill was rising in the air. Smaller, private vessels flitted around it, and its ascent was at first agonizingly slow. Some air traffic controller must have broadcast its course, because seconds later, the transport’s path abruptly cleared. The roar of the transport’s engines increased, and her ascent accelerated. In a few minutes, all that was visible were her lights, and she could be mistaken for a star in the darkening sky.

      6T9’s circuits lit with fulfillment. There were at least three hundred civilians on her. Other Fleet transports were charting the same course. The smaller vessels, with less powerful hover engines and modest time bands that couldn’t counteract gravity as well, were slipping southward toward the equator, where they’d use the planet’s rotation to propel themselves out of atmosphere. A few hovers were charting courses inland. Fortresses against the cold existed there, clustered around geothermal vents and sheltered in valleys too small to support massive settlements. 6T9 hoped they would be safe.

      Over the ether, Biscuit’s channel buzzed, “Yeehaw!” and Kurz came bounding down the alley with the orange tabby on its back. Wagging his tail, his mouth opened in a facsimile of a pant or a dog smile. The dampeners of the weapons duct taped to the dog were glowing, already ready to fire. FireMan, as the Q-comm-sporting ManNUniform liked to be known, was at their heels. He hadn’t changed his clothes—or even zipped up his coat.

      Fifteen seconds later, Falade and Lang appeared with Lolita. The human and weere were jogging. The BarelyLegal sex ‘bot was … flouncing. She still wore her school uniform and still had her lollipop. She winked at 6T9 as she approached.

      Addressing The One, Sixty asked, “Six Infected inside, correct?”

      The gray cat hissed. “I think I was wrong.”

      “It’s difficult to say,” said Mao. “Their consciousnesses are all blended together. It’s hard to tell one from another.”

      The humans shivered. The One on their respective mounts just blinked their jewel-like eyes.

      Biscuit added, “I would say at least eighteen.”

      Mao bobbed. “I think that is right.”

      Michael and Mila glanced at the gray cat.

      Mao hissed on Davies’s shoulder. “Lizzar droppings, there’s only one way to solve this properly. Put me down, Servant!”

      6T9 cleared his throat. “Would you please put the kitten on the ground, Davies?”

      Davies held up a hand, and Mao stepped onto his palm. The sergeant lowered the kitten to the ground, and Mao scampered over to a rat-sized hole 6T9 hadn’t even noticed.

      “You can’t go in there, Cat!” Davies blurted, but Mao had already disappeared.

      “He’s no bigger than the rat that made that hole,” Davies said, shaking his head.

      6T9’s eyebrow rose. Davies sounded almost protective of the creature he swore he hated. But he didn’t have time to ponder it. Was the estimate of their enemy’s numbers going to triple again in the next five minutes? “I’m calling backup.” With a thought, he sent the request to Fleet and received acknowledgement. He accessed the architectural drawings. “According to the original plans, there were four exits.”

      Inclining his head down the boulevard, Michael said, “Except for that one, they’re all bolted shut. We left sex ‘bots outside of them just in case.”

      According to the building’s original plans, in the front there had once been an immense glass entrance. Now there was just a rusted metal door, ominously a few centis ajar. 6T9 accessed satellite data. “The roof is empty, and all the windows are cemented over. We’ll cover the door until Fleet reinforcements arrive. Then we’ll help them take the building.”

      “We’ll take positions here.” 6T9 gestured to the boulevard. “And—”

      FireMan dashed past 6T9 in a blur. “I’ll make sure the door stays shut.” Reaching the metal door, he spun and leaned sideways against it, crossing his arms, lowering his chin, and smirking at the team. “Do I look hot?”

      “What is wrong with you?” Lang hissed, and 6T9 pictured his wolf ears folding back.

      “Nothing, Darling. Every centimeter of me is perfect,” FireMan replied with a wink.

      Lang sputtered more than was necessary in 6T9’s opinion.

      Sex ‘bots were curious about humans’ responses to sexual overtures, and 6T9’s sex ‘bot programming fired off queries—that 6T9 cut short. Instead, 6T9 commanded Michael, “We’ll also take positions in the alleyways adjacent. You and Mila at the far alley there, and Lang and Falade across the way.” Michael nodded, and then he and Mila headed around the corner.

      Falade and Lang almost followed him, but movement across the street to 6T9’s right caught his eye, and he held out a hand. A man and a woman were emerging from an alley kitty-corner to their location. They were dressed as civilians and carrying large bulk toilet paper, which would be an odd disguise for the Infected. Still, 6T9 lifted his rifle.

      “They’re not Infected,” Biscuit mewed.

      6T9 put the rifle down and stepped out from the shelter of the alley.

      Michael paused and shouted, “What the hell are you doing here?”

      Flushing, the man shouted right back. “What does it look like?”

      “There are terrorists in this building and on the streets. Go home!” 6T9 ordered.

      At that, thirteen humans, ranging in age from pre-teens to their thirties, emerged down the block from the left, heading toward the first pair. They paused at 6T9’s words, and the first pair halted.

      “Home’s exactly where we’re going!” the woman protested.

      “Go around!” 6T9 ordered to the pair and the others. No one moved.

      The first man said to the woman, “Place has been sealed up for years. It’s safe.” The two began walking past the team, and the other group came toward the first.

      “Carmichael’s open?” One of the newcomers asked.

      “Yep,” said the first man, gaze darting darkly to 6T9.

      6T9 stepped toward the first pair, now past him, rifle coming up again. In the corner of his eye he saw Davies signal to Falade and Lang, and they fell into step behind 6T9.

      “You gonna shoot us?” the man asked, not breaking stride.

      6T9 heard Davies ask, “The stores are open?”

      And Michael reply, “No.”

      After slowing and lowering his weapon, 6T9’s Q-comm sparked. “Did you steal this toilet paper?”

      The first two humans’ eyes went wide. The other group sped up, someone muttering. “Nebulas, hurry.”

      6T9 sighed. He did not want to shoot anyone for stealing toilet paper. “Rusted gears” was on the tip of his tongue, but before the words could leap from his lips, an explosion ripped from above. The next instant, the world was a storm of gray cement chunks and dust. Someone coughed. An instant after, the gray was pierced by orange streaks of phaser fire.

      A woman screamed and then was silent. Flames and black smoke were all that 6T9 saw in the space the man had been. When he looked up, 6T9 still saw nothing but dust.

      “They killed them. Fleet killed them!” someone shouted. He heard people running. Phaser fire shone above him, the dust cleared slightly, and 6T9 saw that a window that had been cemented over had been blown open. Phaser fire ripped in both directions, and Mao’s voice screamed over the ether. “Get inside! It’s clear here.”

      6T9 leaped back to the wall of the bank. FireMan pulled the door open. 6T9 saw a shadow emerging in the window above. Shouting, “FireMan, move!” 6T9 fired his rifle at the shadow.

      FireMan looked up, and then was knocked over by the man 6T9 had just shot as he fell from the window.

      “You should have ordered me to move out of the way!” FireMan complained, struggling to rise. Another shadow was appearing above but was shot down by Davies. The man tumbled by 6T9’s feet. Michael, instead of running toward the door, jogged backward across the street, improving his angle but making himself exposed. A shadow moved above, but Michael was already firing from across the street into the bank. A strangled choke came from the building. More civilians screamed and fell. 6T9 aimed at the window, but the Infected had retreated inside.

      Behind 6T9, Lang whined, “Falade, get up!” There was another muffled explosion, and a shower of dust and much bigger chunks of cement. “Falade’s down! Rock hit his neck.”

      “Get him back here!” Davies shouted, and the next instant Davies was behind 6T9, pushing him in the door.

      “Michael!” 6T9 shouted over the screams of civilians, explosions, phaser fire, and breaking glass.

      “He’s fine!” Davies replied. “Girl ‘bot got something for him to hide behind.”

      The smoke cleared just enough to see what Davies was talking about. Michael was shooting at the windows from behind an enormous metal dumpster tipped on its side. Civilians were running for its shelter, and Mila was dragging someone behind it. Another explosion ripped from above. Michael’s voice rang over the ether. “The Infected are starting to fire into the flats across the street!”

      “Stay where you are, do what you can,” 6T9 replied over the ether.

      Turning to Davies, 6T9 touched his own chest, pointed at Davies’s chest, and then up.

      Davies nodded in understanding. They weren’t waiting for backup; they were going to try to take out the remaining Infected now.

      At just that moment, Kurz came bounding in, Biscuit on his back. “Android General 1, I am here to help!” the robot dog declared, body wagging, tail thwapping against the wall loud enough to be heard over the din.

      6T9 winced. So much for stealth.

      The phaser fire abruptly ceased. And then a voice 6T9 remembered too well from the Copperhead pirate ship, and the Dark’s promise of revenge just days ago echoed down from above. The original Android General 1 laughed. “Android General 1, you stole our name. Now you will pay.”
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      Standing just outside the stone walls and iron gates of the Luddeccean Embassy in Chicago, Captain Orion Smith raised his chin and shivered. The Luddecceans had chosen a fortress of a building on the city’s Lake Shore Drive. Nebulas, it even had a bloody turret. Glancing up, he caught sight of a man with a rifle in a window edged with frost.

      Orion pressed a buzzer in the stone wall that was perhaps only slightly newer than the building. A sharp frigid wind blew from the lake, carrying icy flakes of snow that glittered in the bright winter sunlight. Perfect.

      The iron gates swung open, and four guards appeared. Three were human, one was a male weere, all wore Galactican armor. They’d glued their names and rank insignias to their shoulder plates. Not that he needed that information; he’d downloaded intel on all of them and also had met them before, and committed the basics of his last interaction and impressions to his own eidetic memory app. None of them was over nineteen. The weere was seventeen. They were children … with firearms.

      One of the humans barked, “Is it him?”

      Lifting his head as though sniffing the air, though he wore his visor down, the weere gazed at Orion with disturbingly orange eyes. “It is, and he isn’t infected.”

      One of the humans came forward and patted him down; another ran a scanner over him. Orion was relaxed through the ordeal. He knew they’d find nothing they’d recognize. Finishing quickly, they pulled away. Jerking his chin, eyes not leaving Orion’s, the first man said, “Go ahead.”

      Snapping his hands behind his back, stepping through the gate, he winced only slightly when his ethernet connection cut out. They were jamming him and thinking they were clever. Shaking his head, he continued up the walk. The gates clanged behind him, and another frigid blast of wind hit him with icy flakes like knives. Behind his back, he opened his hands, releasing a handful of tiny, etherless spy devices, each no larger than the tip of a pen. If they were seen, they’d be mistaken for the sparkle of sun on snow. Slipping his hands into his pockets as though to ward off the chill, he climbed the front stoop, and his fingers were enveloped by more of the devices. They were as insubstantial as dust, and if they’d been seen during the pat down they would have been mistaken for that, or perhaps glitter.

      The door opened, and he brought his hands out once more. He was met by the ambassador’s aide. He was dressed in the Luddeccean Guard’s Dress Greens. An inset reminded him the aide was a lieutenant, first class; last name, Susilo. Orion’s downloaded intel reminded him that Susilo was only twenty-four. The lack of a neural interface made him appear even younger. The aide greeted him with a tight smile and bowed slightly. Returning the bow, Orion flexed his fingers, as though trying to stimulate his circulation. More spy devices caught in the air currents coursing from a nearby vent. If they were seen, they’d be mistaken for dust motes.

      He continued to flex his fingers as the aide led him through several sitting rooms to the Office of Ambassador Zucker. Zucker was sitting at a desk, sunlight from a large, stained glass window burnishing his shoulders. He wore the robes of a Luddeccean Priest. Orion’s download reminded him that Zucker held dual “doctorates” in computer science and theology. Zucker had earned his place at university-seminary by enlisting in the Luddeccean Guard. He’d made it as far as sergeant. The only thing that might be considered diplomatic experience in Zucker’s history was a hostage negotiation with pirates during his enlistment. Only forty-one, his lack of a neural interface was accented by a receding hairline.

      Looking up from a tablet at Orion’s entrance, Zucker gave him a wilting glare. “Captain Smith, you’re alone. I’d expected you’d be bringing guests.”

      Orion bowed. “Mrs. Darmadi elected to remain in the company of her husband.” He didn’t fake a wince. It was quite a coup for Agent James Sinclair—an unearned one, considering Mrs. Darmadi had come to the Republic virtually on her own. The android, against Orion’s predictions, looked likely to pull off the captain’s eventual defection … and Orion would be the one mopping up the diplomatic mess. “We surely can’t fault her for wanting to be close to him during his recovery,” Orion inserted slyly. Luddeccean women were expected to be doting.

      Zucker narrowed his eyes at him. “But we can fault Galactican security at your embassy on Luddeccea and aboard Time Gate 1 for allowing a woman and three children to be virtually kidnapped.”

      Orion cocked his head. “We both know that is not true. Mrs. Darmadi came of her own free will.”

      “It is the truth that is believed by the four-fifths of the Luddeccean counsel that is of my concern!” Zucker all but shouted.

      Orion’s eyebrow lifted. Their positions were similar, and he almost felt sympathy.

      “If Darmadi and his family do not return to Luddeccea, it would be a grave threat to the Luddeccean-Galactican alliance,” Zucker said icily.

      “The Republic will not hinder their return to Luddeccea in any way,” Orion replied coolly. It was the truth, insomuch as if the Darmadis wished to return, the Republic wouldn’t hinder them.

      Zucker cast a knowing glare at him, no doubt aware of the semantics. He was a Luddeccean, but not that stupid.

      Gathering himself up, Orion said, “However, the alliance is important to the Republic, and I have been authorized to—”

      A knock at the door cut him off, and the aide said, “Ambassador Zucker, sir, you are wanted immediately by the Counsel.”

      The briefest of frowns passed over Zucker’s face, but then it morphed into an expression that was almost fearful. He didn’t berate the aid for the interruption or even question him. The Luddeccean Ambassador instead rose hurriedly and didn’t look at Orion and barely apologized as he hurriedly left the office.

      A guard almost immediately ushered Orion out of the office to a sitting room he’d passed through as he entered the mansion. “Please, have a seat,” the guard murmured. In another room, Orion heard Zucker’s aide say, “I am sorry, sir, for interrupting, but—”

      “Easy, friend. I know you’d only interrupt me for good cause.”

      Their voices were fading, but Orion’s eyes caught on a mote of dust sparkling in the air. A receptor in his left cornea picked up the code in the sparkle, flickers so fast they were invisible to human eyes, but not to cybernetic ones programmed to recognize the signal. The Luddecceans had blocked the ether, but not photon transmissions from Orion’s micro spy drones that were floating throughout the building on air currents—including the room which the ambassador and his aide were now in. The micro spy devices there were in communication with devices in the hall, which were in communication with the spy devices sparkling in the sunbeam. Within milliseconds, Orion was receiving data translated into the winking light of a single photon. The receiver in his eyes translated it into visual and audio data and the scene appeared before Orion so completely he might have been in the same darkened room as the ambassador and his aide.

      Zucker was standing by a holosphere, the kind Fleet made available to Volka and her strange spaceship. His aide was saying, “The recognizance drones our agent sent out are just returning. He didn’t feel safe allowing them to transmit data for fear that the transmissions would be intercepted. With so much debris since the battle, he was not worried about the drones themselves being noticed; they’re small enough to blend in.”

      The holo Zucker was observing had a time stamp in Time Gate 5 local time.  Orion’s neural interface translated it as being from 55.5 minutes ago. The view the Luddeccean drone had recorded put it 153.6 kilometers above the fourth planet from System 5’s sun, the planet that had just experienced the “terrorist” attack by the Dark. From the drone’s eye view, he could see New Grande’s location.

      Orion frowned. Was he about to witness Luddeccean malfeasance, too late to do anything about it?

      The view of the Luddeccean drone shifted to what looked like the exploded pieces of several outdated Fleet vessels—they probably had been sold to System 5’s local forces when Fleet had updated their own ships. There were other pieces of debris Orion couldn’t identify—perhaps the remains of several pirate ships or civilian vessels that had gotten caught in the crossfire during the recent engagement. The aid confirmed. “Not all of the debris from the latest battle has been cleared away.”

      “What am I looking for?” Zucker asked.

      “It will be impossible to miss, sir.”

      The drone dropped down until it was beneath the wreckage and changed the orientation of its camera. Orion didn’t see what the aide promised would be self-evident. Just the wreckage, and Time Gate 5, a tiny ring in the distance beyond other pieces of space junk.

      Zucker frowned, perhaps as disappointed as Orion. His lips parted, perhaps to voice the bewilderment Orion felt, but then abruptly snapped shut.

      Three larger pieces of wreckage—seemingly innocuous pieces of battered fuselage—cracked like eggs, and from them emerged shapes that were perhaps three meters long and 1.5 meters wide, vaguely oblong with simple propulsion devices. They were alien, and yet, at the same time, unmistakable.

      “Bombs,” Zucker whispered.

      “Yes, sir, the council believes so.”

      “Not Galactican … not a false flag? The Galacticans are godless, but surely …”

      Orion’s chest constricted. They thought that the Republic would bomb its own? Because they would do so to their own Luddeccean citizens?

      “No, Ambassador, we do not believe so. The council is uncertain as to how to proceed. Do we warn them? Surely with their more sophisticated electromagnetic scanners they must know the danger. Do we risk giving away our agent for a warning that is doubtlessly unneeded?”

      Was it unneeded? Orion reached for the ether and got static. His pulse beat loud in his ears.

      “Sir?” the aide asked.

      A clock chimed. Did Orion race for the door and ether his superiors? Did he risk giving away the photon spy devices he’d so carefully planted? In the holo, the bombs remained motionless.

      “They rejected our assistance,” Zucker whispered. “Surely because they don’t need it? Surely their rejection of Darmadi’s offer of reinforcements was because our presence is unnecessary? It couldn’t have been merely an act of vanity.”

      Orion swallowed, his stomach sinking. It had been, in Fleet Intel’s general opinion and Orion’s own, an act of vanity. Orion had worked with Sinclair to organize Captain Darmadi’s futile visit to the representatives of System 5.

      At the bottom of the holo, a red light blinked. The aide pressed it, saying, “An update.”

      A new scene sprang from the holo. At the bottom left was the time stamp—only five minutes ago—and the logo of the news agency that had generated it. An announcer off screen was saying, “Terrorist ships have engaged Fleet and what is left of System 5’s local forces above the northeast continent. Reinforcements are being deployed …”

      The aide shut off the sound. “Ambassador, that is not the continent New Grande is located on.”

      “My God—they’re drawing them away from New Grande. The bombs are for New Grande.”

      Bolting from his seat, Orion knocked into a coffee table. A porcelain cup he hadn’t noticed being set before him went sliding across, shattering on the floor, spilling liquid and steam. He turned to the door and bumped into a man holding a tray.

      The man was saying something Orion couldn’t hear. His cybernetic eye had caught on a dust mote drone, and he was hearing Ambassador Zucker say, “God will have no mercy on our souls if we don’t say something. I will contact Fleet—”

      The aid passed in front of the drone broadcasting the holo, and Orion’s world went black.

      “Sir?” the question was spoken by the server Orion had bumped into—their bodies were still pressed together. Orion jerked back, disoriented, caught between what was right in front of him and the memory of the holo.

      The tray clattered to the floor, and the man’s hands went to Orion’s upper arms. “Sir, are you all right, sir?”

      Zucker’s aide’s voice echoed behind them both. “The ambassador is currently in council with your superiors. Perhaps, Captain Smith, you already know what about?”

      Orion flushed and turned around.

      The aide had one hand on his pistol, though it was still in its holster. His eyes scanned the spilled beverage and the tray that still was clanging as it settled to the floor. “I think it best you stay for a while.”
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      Alexis sat in the high-backed chair of the Scottish university’s coffee shop, with several professors of linguistics, folklore, and “xenology,” a discipline Luddeccea did not have. It was the study of the physical and cultural traits of aliens. Since The People were the only aliens she knew of, she’d wondered how they’d managed to justify their existence; she’d been told the discipline was in fact, several hundred years old. She wasn’t here to give a presentation—it was only a day since they’d first proposed that—she was here for a panel discussion of The People. It would be a much more “informal” event, she’d been assured, one that might make her more comfortable presenting later and might help her “focus” her talk. Alexis knew better understanding of the Galacticans was essential if she was to convince them of how dangerous the Dark really was, so here she was, studying them, to better “focus” her talk in a way she doubted they anticipated.

      She was a bit early for said panel, and they were treating her to refreshments in the meantime. It was very kind, but at the moment, one of the xenologists and one of the linguists were deep in conversation about some translation “apps.” She wasn’t comfortable in the least. She set down her cup and set her hand upon a tallish, wide “pleather” purse she’d borrowed from Admiral Sato. She casually dropped her hand inside, and Solomon nuzzled her fingers. She instantly felt better. Her eyes wandered around the room. Coffee shops weren’t that much different on this side of the Kanakah Cloud. The lighting was warm and soft, the flooring was wood; there were pictures on the wall of coffee beans and tea plantations. The aroma was nearly identical, though they didn’t have bornut tea, and she missed its rich spicy scent. Otherwise, the only thing that gave away her location was the people. Their clothing was rather immodest and gaudier with its shimmering fabrics. Also, everyone here was a cyborg, with neural interfaces that connected them to the ethernet. She’d begun to recognize the appearance of someone in an ether conversation—the vacant eyes, the occasional nods or spontaneous bursts of laughter. On Luddeccea, such things would be taken for a mental illness.

      Although she was wearing admittedly more modest Galactican attire, she was still receiving stares. Without a neural port in her temple, she stood out. She’d been asked about it several times by strangers on the train and in shops. When she explained she was Luddeccean, she got backhanded complements such as, “You’re prettier than I would expect without augmentation.”

      Alexis tried to bring herself back to the conversation. One of the gentlemen was saying, “But the Cross-talk app has a greater dictionary of idioms—”

      She sighed. And then the gentleman went abruptly silent. Around her, chins lifted, as though everyone had heard a faraway sound but her. Eyes went vacant.

      Before she could ask what they were tuned into, Solomon squeaked.

      She looked down into the purse and found him awkwardly trying to lift a holosphere for her. She took it from his paws, almost protesting she wasn’t sure she could make it work, when it lit beneath her fingers. She blinked at what looked like a newscast. A male announcer was sitting behind a desk saying, “I should warn the audience, that these scenes from Ambassador Zhao’s meeting with the entity sometimes known as the ‘Dark’ are very disturbing.” The camera switched to a female announcer. Leaning forward, she said, “Yes, it’s very disturbing. Sensitive viewers should tune out right now!” There was a hint of a smile on her lips.

      “Very, very disturbing,” said the first announcer. “We must warn viewers that if they continue to watch they do so at their own risk.” He licked his lips, and Alexis noted his eyes were very bright.

      They continued on like this long enough for Alexis to want to chuck the globe at the wall, but then abruptly, the male announcer said, “Here it is!”

      The scene in the holo changed. It was the interior of a ship perhaps. A too-thin man was staring at the camera, visible from the waist up. He had missed a spot while shaving. His skin was damp. Alexis swallowed, recognizing an Infected. Her heart rate sped up. It could be her.

      Abruptly, the Infected man hissed. “You asked to speak to us, to negotiate for peace, and then you send us these two useless bodies.” Abruptly, his arms raised, revealing the severed heads of a beautiful young woman and an elderly man. He swung them by the hair and threw them directly at the camera.

      The holo went black.

      Alexis shivered and touched her throat.

      “Useless bodies?” one of the professors whispered.

      Solomon squeaked and gestured with his paws. Somehow, despite his tiny size, she could read his signs better than she could read the signs of Markus’s carer.  “The woman was an android,” Solomon explained. “The man had severe dementia.”

      Alexis gasped. “The Dark couldn’t enslave their minds.” Or at least, in the case of the old man, there was nothing left of use to enslave.

      Solomon nodded. Shaking, Alexis ran her fingers between his ears. The werfle purred, and she felt herself relax … a little.

      “Pardon?” said one of the gentlemen.

      Alexis looked up at her companions. They were all looking at her curiously.

      “The Dark, the disease, it enslaves people mentally,” Alexis said.

      Their eyes darted between one another.

      “It incorporates them into itself, steals, and uses their knowledge,” Alexis persisted.

      They stared at her. One took a long sip from a teacup, her hands shaking.

      “How do you think I learned The People’s language?” Alexis asked, baffled.

      The xenologist sat up straighter. “Why, through some instantaneous neural transference, via some means beyond our limited human understanding. The People were telepathic, after all.”

      “The People were telepathic,” Alexis said. “But I got it from the telepathic entity that destroyed them, that wiped them out, that is threatening to wipe humanity out.”

      “Surely they won’t,” said a man.

      “If we stand up to them. If we fight,” Alexis replied.

      One of the women shook her head. “War, you want war.” She set down her cup and frowned.

      “I do not want it,” Alexis said. “It has already begun.”

      The xenologist huffed. “There has been that dreadful terrorist incursion in System 5, but it’s all but over now. It’s like the incident in System 8—on Luddeccea—when your Time Gate became unstable. Dreadful. But eventually, saner heads prevailed, and war was avoided.”

      “War,” one of the women said, “is a failure of diplomacy.”

      Alexis gestured sharply at her now-dark hologlobe. “I cannot deny that has happened.”

      “We’ll try again …” a young man interjected. “With someone younger. Zhao was too old for the job. Several of us warned them and were ignored.”

      Alexis’s heart fell, imagining a younger person waltzing to their doom. “That would be a horrible mistake.” They didn’t seem to hear her words; perhaps she’d spoken them too softly in her horror.

      They began discussing prospects for the next diplomat. Alexis felt the blood drain from her face. She wasn’t going to convince these people of anything.

      Solomon squeaked. Alexis looked down at him. He was gazing across the room. Alexis followed the direction of his bewhiskered nose and found herself meeting the eyes of a woman sitting alone. The woman was unusually pale, and so skinny, Alexis would almost have called her frail, though there was something about her poise that suggested a person who was athletic and wiry instead. She was shorter than the typical Galactican or even Luddeccean. Her short, black blunt bob was somewhat disheveled. Her hooded eyes were noticeably green, even from a distance, probably because they were red, and faintly puffy, as though she’d been crying. She nodded, so imperceptibly, Alexis thought she might have imagined it. The woman abruptly got up, and all but bolted from the shop. Two men hurried after her.

      Alexis couldn’t say why, but her spirits sank further.

      
        
          
            [image: ]
          

        

      

      6T9 stared down at the orange tabby and Kurz. The dog’s tail was still whacking against the door frame. As he wiggled, his claws clicked on the bank’s ancient tile floor. The original General’s voice echoed through the bank. “Here, Doggy, Do—”

      The roar of hover engines from the boulevard obliterated all sound. A shadow hid the streetlights; the bank’s dark interior became darker still. Reinforcements at last—6T9 looked out to the street and saw a ship with a red cross emblazoned on its side. Phaser fire ripped from the bank to the ship’s sides. Michael called out over the ether, “I can’t get a clean shot into the bank! Ship’s in the way.”

      Medics dropped from the craft and raced to the wounded. There were over a dozen bodies in the street.

      6T9 opened the channel to everyone under his command. “Help them round up the wounded. Lang, get Falade on there!”

      He looked down at Kurz and his feline commander. “You, too!”

      The orange cat bared its teeth.

      6T9 raised his pistol at it.

      Scampering from the shadows, Mao added her voice to 6T9’s. “Go and help! You’re giving away our position with your metal mutt!”

      The orange cat narrowed its eyes at 6T9 but a moment later, Kurz bounded out into the street, phaser fire reflecting on his chrome body. For now, the Infected were concentrating their fire on the ship, not the wounded. For sheer misery, it was a brilliant tactic—destroy the med-ship and more of the injured would die. 6T9 checked his rifle and gazed into the bank’s shadowed interior and automatically adjusted the brightness. He and Davies were in a foyer with floor tiles the colors of the canyon walls. A chandelier hung above their heads. Once it had been decked out in teardrop crystals, but only a few of those still hung. Beyond the foyer was an immense lobby with a curving counter and glass partitions for tellers. Almost the entirety of the glass barrier was cracked, and it looked like frost or spider webs. Above the lobby, everywhere that 6T9 could see was a balcony. He listened carefully to the phaser fire above, reminding himself that less haste was more speed. He let the sound be a query to his distant server and let the processors there paint a picture of the scene above … The balcony continued above their heads … the railing was metal and some polymer that looked like crystal for the handrail.

      Meeting Davies’s eyes, 6T9 split his fingers into a V, touched his own chest, pointed at Davies’s chest, at a place a few meters into the lobby, and then pointed above with a quick jabbing motion. They’d leave the shelter of the overhang and fire on the Infected above.

      Davies nodded.

      Crouching low, 6T9 backed faster than a human could into the lobby and fired at where his Q-comm told him their enemies were. He saw shadows fall, and then phasers spinning toward him. Davies, human-slow but quieter, was beside him an instant later. They could have been part of the same machine.

      6T9 danced sideways to avoid the incoming fire. Sparks erupted from his rifle and his shoulder, momentarily blinding him. Sensors in his right arm screamed. And then he was staring up at the sights of a pistol—that vanished as the shadow suspending it sank under the onslaught from Davies.

      Dropping his useless rifle, 6T9 reached around his body for his pistol. Beyond the window the red cross emblem rose into the air as the hover took off. Pushing Davies beneath the overhang with his semi-functional right hand, 6T9 covered their retreat by shooting left-handed.

      Moments later, he and Davies were crouching against the foyer wall. The ship was gone. On the balcony across the lobby, the glow of phaser recoil dampness came into view. Davies and 6T9 shot nearly in unison, Davies covering the ones on the left, 6T9 those on the right. Once, twice … four times, and then the bank was silent except for Davies, panting beside him. Nothing moved above them.

      6T9 took a deep breath.

      The General’s laughter echoed above. “You think you have won against us. You have not. You will not.”

      From outside came a whistling, growing louder by the millisecond.

      Pushing Davies beneath the archway, 6T9 screamed over the ether and his Q-comm, “Take cover!”

      The Infected laughed.

      The world exploded.
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      6T9 came back online. He hadn’t closed his eyes when he’d shut down and they began to tear, and his vision blurred. Not that there was much to see; the sky was nearly pitch black with only a little orange at the edges. Reviewing the seconds before his emergency shut down, he saw New Grande briefly lit bright as noon. He checked his internal chronometer. He’d been out twenty-seven minutes and thirty-two seconds. His suit had been punctured on his right side, just at the shoulder joint. It had shorted, and that had caused the shutdown. His left shoulder was pinned down. Both of his arms were out of their sockets. He was fairly certain he could fix them. The floor beneath both shoulders had partially given way; his back was higher than his upper limbs. Whatever had fallen on top of him had stretched his arms in ways arms weren’t meant to bend, both shoulders forced too far back. It could have been much worse. The front of his suit had a crack from his chest to his navel—if his suit hadn’t absorbed the impact that caused that, he probably wouldn’t be capable of putting himself back together.

      There was a yellow warning light in the periphery of his vision. Radiation levels were too high for long-term exposure, even beneath the rubble: conventional fission weapons had been used, primitive, effective, and the wounds it would inflict on those who’d survived would be horrendous. 6T9 was less susceptible to radiation than a human, but not immune. However, his Fleet envirosuit—designed for space walks and fission weapons and reactor accidents—and the polycrete rubble had kept his exposure minimal, even with the crack and the puncture. If Davies’s suit had been breached … His circuits went dim. “Davies? Davies?”

      6T9 held still, listening, resisting his self-preservation function’s impulse to push off the rubble. There was a continuous muffled roar, but no answer or even a cough. 6T9 tried to reach into the ether—if he could call for help—but got a local error. Something in his suit short circuiting or the impact had made him etherless.

      Gritting his teeth, 6T9 contracted his deltoids and pectoral muscles. His humerus bones in both arms snapped into place with teeth rattling force.

      “Mew.”

      “Mao?” 6T9 asked, struggling to lift whatever had him pinned. His right arm wasn’t completely functional—his fingers weren’t responding at all, and his movements on that side were clumsy. He managed to bend his fingers into a fist using what turned out to be the metal door and pushed. Nothing happened at first, but then something gave, and it lifted a few centimeters. It was enough to get his legs involved. He slid his heels up, pushed with his arms, and lifted the door another few centis. He pulled his heels a little higher and was able to get more of his body involved. His power levels were dropping fast, but he kept at it, the muffled roar getting louder as the door lifted, and the warning light for radiation levels went yellow to orange. At last, he thrust the door up and away. Glass shattered; the radiation detection light turned to red. He blinked. An enormous glass wall from across the street had fallen on top of the door, along with dust and bricks and chunks of polycrete. His hand went to the crack in his suit, and he exhaled a ragged breath—Eliza’s ashes and his access key were still safely inside. Pushing himself up to a sitting position, he gaped at a world transformed. The midrises were gone; they’d been blown by the blast partially onto the bank. The city was gone, where it had existed were just fires and ash, whipped by an unnatural wind that would have lifted Volka dangerously if she were here. It was too hot for prolonged human exposure. It was impossible to say with his ethernet fried and the smoke so thick if a rescue had begun. He could still connect via Q-comm, but he had to find Davies. He surveyed the rubble at his feet, but it bore no clues.

      “Davies?” he called again. “Sergeant!” he shouted.

      “Mew.”

      The kitten’s cry was small and pitiful and 3.75 meters from where 6T9 stood, further from the boulevard—or where the boulevard had been and now was only rubble—and a little to 6T9’s side. At first, he saw nothing but bricks heaped atop a large slab of cement, but then he saw a flutter of shadow. It could have been ash, but 6T9 turned on the lights in his eyes, and saw that it was a kitten emerging from cracked slabs of polycrete. 6T9 exhaled. The concrete had protected it from the worst of the radiation and heat, but it could not live much longer.

      Crawling perpendicular to where his Q-comm estimated Davies’s body was, 6T9 made his way to the kitten. She pawed ineffectually at a spot in the rubble, and then wavered and sagged at his approach. Sinking onto one of the stones, she drew her tail around her body.

      It was now forty-seven minutes since the blast. Radiation levels were falling—so were his power levels. Typically, radiation levels one hour after a nuclear strike were about 30 Gy. Deadly for a human. Dangerous for 6T9 after prolonged exposure. But he was going to lose power soon and then he’d be useless. 6T9’s Q-comm was protected from said radiation by a thick metal skull. He made an executive decision. Taking off his helmet, 6T9 set it over the kitten. The heat of the fires around him began to recharge him immediately. Mao blinked her eyes at 6T9 but didn’t mew in acknowledgement. 6T9 began heaving away bricks and cement. His right hand was next to worthless but pinching the blocks between his left and his right, he was able to make progress. He only stopped once to withdraw to his Q-comm. He put himself into the conference room where he’d warned that the Dark would strike again. It was filled to overflowing. There were the sex ‘bots he’d given Q-comms to, Vice Admiral Wong, members of Fleet he hadn’t seen before, and far across the room, Noa.

      6T9 gave himself a physical form, an avatar with his Fleet armor. He didn’t bother to show that his suit was cracked or that his arm was semi-functional. Noa was talking to Gate 5’s avatar, but she saw him almost immediately. “Sixty!” she called, pushing through the crowd. Gate 5 followed her, his arms of liquid mercury behind his back.

      “You’re in one piece?” Noa asked, putting her hands on his avatar’s shoulders.

      6T9 grimaced. “More or less.”

      She hugged him, fast as thought. In a mindscape—ether or Q-comm—cyborgs and androids were physical equals. “We feared the worst when Lieutenant Michael Snow, the two Luddecceans, and members of your army showed up on Gate 5 without you.”

      Her body was flush against his, and her embrace was strong. There was a part of him that didn’t want to move, but then he did.

      Gently extricating himself, 6T9 met her eyes. “I am glad to hear they are alive. Davies is with me, I’ll need med evac.”

      “He’s alive?” Five asked.

      6T9 stared at him a beat too long.

      Noa drew back. “We can’t, Sixty. Even if he was alive. Three of the twelve nukes they aimed at the city hit New Grande. We’re evacuating from outside the blast zone and working our way in.”

      “Triage,” 6T9 said. There would be hundreds of thousands—millions—alive, but suffering and close to death at the edges of the blasts. Where 6T9 was, the survivors would be fewer.

      Noa’s lips flattened into a grim line.

      6T9 wouldn’t die from radiation sickness, or lack of water, and with his suit, he’d survive even walking through fire. If not for Davies, he would have lost his body twice over to phaser fire in just the past twenty-four hours.

      “I’ll carry him to you,” 6T9 promised them and anyone who was listening. He heard Lishi and Jack calling his name, but he withdrew from the mindscape.

      Consciousness returning to the real hellscape, he began digging again. He had to be careful not to make the situation worse. There was a steel beam, from the midrise—or the bank—that had just missed 6T9. It was pinning Davies down. 6T9 was afraid if he lifted it, he could wind up dislodging more debris on top of the man. The suits could withstand a lot of pressure, but they had their limits—and Davies’s suit was probably pushing them already. 6T9 consoled himself with the thought that Davies wasn’t out of oxygen or water, and safe from radiation. The kitten Mao inhabited, on the other hand … The creature had drawn its legs up under its body. It wavered, eyes half closed, as it watched 6T9 dig.

      Seventy-two minutes and thirty-five seconds after 6T9 had started, he heard a cough. He’d removed most of the large hunks of bricks and mortar and began frantically digging through the dust, chips of glass, and pebble-sized bits of building material that had slipped through. The Illustrious Mao might have still been in the kitten’s body because she slipped through the visor of his helmet and began digging beside him. Davies’s visor came into view, almost unrecognizable beneath a coating of dust and ash. 6T9 took off his gloves and brushed it away with his hands.

      Davies’s eyes blinked up at him, and 6T9 almost bent forward and kissed his helmet. Instead he said, “I’ll get you out of here.” The man was still buried from the chest down, but his suit looked undamaged. 6T9 began moving down his body, where there were still larger pieces of debris. He heaved the larger pieces as far away as possible, so that they wouldn’t dislodge more weight onto the sergeant.

      Davies’s voice cracked. “Falade and Lang?”

      Not pausing, 6T9 assured him, “They’re safe. They got away on the medical transport.”

      Davies sighed. “I shouldn’t have brought them down with me on my death wish.”

      Tossing a hunk of polycrete, 6T9 all but shouted, “Your death wish will not be granted.” He was panting, not because he needed air, but because of a snippet of code that made him appear more human. It was wasting power. 6T9 found it and shut it down.

      “I can’t feel anything below my neck.” Davies said matter-of-factly. “Mao says that I’ve fractured a cervical vertebrae.”

      6T9 paused. “You can’t hear Mao. You don’t have ethernet, and you’re not telepathic.” He didn’t know why he was arguing.

      Davies’s eyes went to the kitten. “She says that she has to leave her body. She says it will want to stay with me.”

      The kitten settled down on Davies’s chest, tucking her little tail around herself, and paws underneath.

      6T9 raised his hand to lift her away, not wanting to strain the human’s suit—though he knew that was illogical, that the kitten’s mass was insignificant.

      “Please let her stay,” Davies said, gaze on Mao. The cat’s eyes were tightly closed.

      6T9 sagged back.

      “Miriam always wanted a kitten,” Davies added.

      6T9’s Q-comm lit, trying to decipher who Miriam was. His wife?

      Davies’s eyes left the kitten and went to a point behind 6T9’s shoulder. “You always liked cats too, Mama.” 6T9 stared at Davies, alarmed. Head trauma? It did not matter; they’d go to the Republic, their doctors could fix him … except Davies didn’t have a neural interface or neural net implanted in his brain that had a record of his mind pre-trauma. Davies couldn’t be over twenty-four, though. His brain was still plastic. “You’ll recover,” 6T9 assured him. And then he realized that Davies hadn’t blinked in seventy-three seconds. His eyes were still in the distance, beyond 6T9’s shoulder.

      Mao’s body abruptly went rigid and slipped from Davies’s chest. 6T9 gently picked her up. Mao’s pulse was gone.

      “Davies?” 6T9 whispered.

      There was no response. 6T9’s mind raced with all the ways a cervical fracture could lead to death—stroke was very likely. Fleet’s ships were far away, and Davies was still covered by debris. There would be no rescue. Mao was still in 6T9’s hands, her former body rapidly stiffening. Remembering Davies’s words, 6T9 settled the little creature’s body so that it wouldn’t fall off of Davies’s chest. He’d managed to uncover most of the sergeant’s left arm. Pulling it completely free, 6T9 wrapped it around the kitten, and then fell back in the dust and just sat.

      There might have been shouts mixed with the fire’s roar and the wind’s moans, but he didn’t move.
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      “The drones are away,” Volka’s new lieutenant said, entering Sundancer’s compartment, FET12 on his heels, the rest of the crew moving out to the bridge. Dixon was friendly. He also didn’t quite know what to make of her. Was she a figurehead? A Joan d’Arc for an alien spaceship species? But he smiled agreeably. “We’re ready to go back for more.”

      Volka almost nodded in acknowledgement … and then she had a sensation of chill, as though an icy breeze had blown through her. The walls dimmed slightly, and Sundancer’s anxiety and confusion made her heart flutter.

      “Carl?” Volka turned to the werfle, curled on a crate. His eyes were closed, and he was violently shivering all over, as though he’d felt the same frigid blast.

      FET12 gasped and rushed to the werfle. He picked him up, but Carl continued to tremble and didn’t wake.

      “Looks like the little guy is having a nightmare,” Lieutenant Dixon said.

      Volka’s chest constricted. “Something has happened.”

      “What?” the lieutenant blurted. “Where?”

      “We’ll know soon,” Volka said. She tasted metal on her tongue. Her gaze flashed over FET12. She almost asked him to connect to Gate 1 via Q-comm, but then thought better of it. “FET12, I need to contact the others now. Be ready for me.”

      Lieutenant Dixon went pale, and his thoughts rolled through her mind. Was this going to be one of those telepathic conference calls in the reports?

      Volka hadn’t thought of bringing him with her, but then the lieutenant shifted on his feet, thinking about how some in Intel thought that the telepathic conference calls were a sort of mass hysteria.

      That settled it. “Lieutenant, I hope you’re comfortable with telepathy. FET12, if anyone finds us staring into space, you know what to tell them.”

      Dixon raised his hands. “Wait—”

      Volka met his gaze, but thought of Sundancer, the other ships, and her crew that they’d taken from her, and she thought of Lieutenant Dixon, pulling him with her into a space between the stars. Young appeared, and Dr. Patrick, Rhinehart, Jerome, Ramirez, Stratos—for once not thinking of sex—and all the rest. Their ships were there, too. She wasn’t a figurehead here; she was part of their tribe. She’d saved them from certain death at the edge of the universe and tied them all to destinies that were stranger than they had ever imagined. They were awed to be with their ships, bonded to them already, and in the human world they’d received a sudden unique elevation in status.

      Still, they were worried now.

      “Something terrible has happened,” said Dr. Patrick, and Ramirez added, “My ship felt it, too.” There was a chorus of, “Same.” It might not have been a word, but an acknowledgement that spread between their hearts.

      Jerome said, “Tab said there was a nuclear strike on New Grande.”

      Thoughts could stop—Volka hadn’t appreciated that before. For a moment, there was only a collective shock, and then there was a whirlwind of mental clamor as the crew thought of everyone they had ever known associated with New Grande. The mental cacophony didn’t sweep Volka away; her own fear was too consuming. Sixty was there—or maybe not. He might have been melted to slag already and might exist only as a surge of electricity in a distant computer. Even if his Q-comm was saved, if he put it in another body—in a Tab, or a Bracelet—he might not want Volka anymore. Ah, but maybe they were beyond that already. She swallowed down her sorrow. She had to find him, whatever form he inhabited, whatever his feelings for her were or weren’t. She would find him.

      “Shissh is catatonic,” Rhinehart declared, and then hastily muttered, “Not a pun.”

      The comment brought Volka out of her personal emotional whirlpool. “Carl too,” she said. “Sometimes The One can sense suffering from very far away. They should be okay …” Eventually.

      Young’s thoughts boomed as loud as his voice, and as usual, his thoughts veered toward numbers—the millions who might be dead, the millions more that might be in the process of dying.

      Volka’s nails bit her palm. This wasn’t just about Sixty.

      In Doctor Elam’s medically minded thoughts Volka saw how the Fleet would respond—they’d start evacuating at the edge of the blast zone, sacrificing the people who might be hurt the most beneath the rubble to save as many people as they could as quickly as they could. It was a terrible calculus, and the knowledge of it spread through the Marines like a virus.

      “Our ships would be able to find survivors closer to the epicenter. They’ll feel them,” Volka’s mind swept round the room. They’d all finished their drop-offs; she couldn’t help knowing that. “Any objections to going to New Grande?”

      From her former crew rose a “None!” in perfect chorus. Relief swept through the Marines and their ships as soon as it had been decided. “Oo-rah, Wolf Pack,” someone said, or thought, and it was picked up by everyone but Lieutenant Dixon, who was still too overwhelmed by his first experience with telepathy to think straight.

      Even Dr. Patrick, normally so cautious, wanted to go. The doctor’s imaginings of how a nuclear strike killed made Volka feel weak and made the ships shudder. Volka let her resolve flow through her and knew humans and ships would feel it. Or maybe it was their resolve flowing to her. “I’ll speak to Admiral Wong,” Volka declared. “Rendezvous at Time Gate 5 immediately … Wolf Pack.”

      She felt their acknowledgement and plunged back into the real world with Dixon. The lieutenant blinked down at her. He didn’t quite believe what he’d just seen.

      Volka imagined Time Gate 5 and willed Sundancer to go there. The world around them turned to light.

      Lieutenant Dixon was still blinking at her when they emerged from the free-gate. “Before you contact Admiral Wong, we should contact my commanding officer,” he said, trying to be helpful. He didn’t think she knew how to contact the admiral—he didn’t know how. Lieutenants didn’t have direct ether access to admirals. Also, he didn’t want Volka to make a fool of herself—there were ways these things were done.

      For a moment, Volka hesitated, and her ears sank. She remembered her failure with Ambassador Zhao—maybe she needed to calm down. In answer to that, Sundancer sent her a gentle wordless question, and that was when Volka realized she was calm. She was conscious of time slipping away, of lives snuffing out, and of Sixty’s plight, but she wasn’t angry or panicked. She was resolved. Maybe it was because the Wolf Pack was behind her—Dr. Patrick and Young were behind her—she was not rushing in blind this time. She didn’t have Admiral Wong’s ether code, but she had a sneaking suspicion she knew where to find her.

      “Not this time, Lieutenant,” Volka said, and turned to FET12.
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      When Volka and FET12 arrived on the balcony of Time Gate 5’s mindscape council chamber, it was already packed, as was the floor below. FET12 had given himself and Volka avatars that matched what they were wearing—their Fleet envirosuits, thankfully. Volka’s helmet was off. FET12’s visor was down, and his hand was still in hers. She didn’t try to pull away this time. She clutched his hand, looking for Wong, but didn’t kid herself. She was looking for 6T9, too. She saw neither. Nor did she see New Grande’s mayor.

      Telepathy didn’t work here, and she was thankful. So many people were talking at once. If she could hear what they thought too, she thought she’d go mad.

      “He was brutal …”

      “The 6T9 unit was personally responsible for the evacuation of over 5,323 survivors of the first attack!”

      “But millions still not accounted for.”

      “Mayor and council still missing.”

      “How will we rescue them all?”

      “FET12,” Volka started to say.

      “You! Volka!” a woman exclaimed.

      Volka turned in confusion to see a woman she did not know but had seen before. It was the too-beautiful blonde woman who’d been leaning over Michael, pushing her way through the crowd to Volka, her face contorted in rage.

      “We haven’t met, ma’am,” Volka said, and then, remembering how the woman had leaned so closely over Michael, she ventured to guess, “You’re a friend of Michael’s, I think?” The word friend wasn’t right, but lover was too personal to say aloud even in private.

      At her words, the woman’s face softened. She halted in front of Volka, her shoulders sinking.

      “He is well I hope,” Volka whispered urgently.

      The woman rubbed her arm absentmindedly. “He will recover. He was hurt. Android General 1 was not.”

      There was bitterness in those last words, but Volka’s heart lifted. The woman continued. “Michael helped me collect the memory banks of the sex ‘bots that fell. Android General 1 didn’t care that they were slaughtered unless they had Q-comms, but Michael did, and now he is hurt.”

      Volka didn’t know what to think of the talk of slaughter, so she didn’t. She focused on the facts. “There were more of you than the ones of you I saw, the ones who’d been given Q-comms?”

      The woman nodded. “There were normal sex ‘bots for support. For cannon fodder.” Her lips twisted. “They might go back for those of us with Q-comms … but my sisters, my brothers, they don’t count. Do they?”

      “They should,” Volka responded automatically.

      The woman’s eyes narrowed. “I was programmed to believe that you would say that, but you’d choose humans first, wouldn’t you?”

      FET12 blurted, “Considering we can walk through radiation and higher temperatures than humans, they should! The humans will be wounded! Grievously so! And they’ll be so afraid.”

      “That’s what our programming says, but is it true? Is it right?” the woman demanded.

      The fireman sex ‘bot in his ineffectual uniform burst through the crowd. “Mila, you know it’s true and right.”

      Volka’s mind seized what her team had thought, how they had imagined the survivors. “We need all the available sex ‘bots, Q-comms or not. Where is Time Gate 5?”

      A chrome figure shimmered into being beside them. “What do you need?”

      Volka’s voice sounded strange to her own ears, more confident than she actually was. “I need you and Admiral Wong.”
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      6T9 couldn’t move the metal beam across Davies’s abdomen, or a large chunk of steel reinforced concrete that was across his legs. He might have been able to pull him out if he moved up the rubble pile and yanked him from above. That would dislodge the kitten from his chest. Davies’s last request to 6T9 had been to let the kitten stay with him. Of course 6T9 could set the kitten’s body aside, try to pull Davies out, and then carry them both through the nuclear wasteland to Fleet’s evacuation ships … which wouldn’t have space for the corpse of a man, much less a kitten.

      So instead he sat in the ashes and dust beside Davies’s body. It felt wrong to move them. He’d promised … And why did it bother him so much to give up when a promise was no longer logical? He took out Eliza’s ashes, holding them before him, staring at Davies’s body. Eliza loved him despite the fact he was a sex ‘bot. Davies had seemed unable to remember he was a sex ‘bot or an android at all. For a time—thirty-seven minutes and forty-six seconds—his circuits were dim. Fires raged around him; the wind was still strong enough to blow Volka over—and that was a peculiar way to measure the whirlwind’s force.

      … Or not peculiar. He passed Eliza’s ashes between his hands. He was measuring Davies’s death against Eliza’s. His face crumpled. It was still “peculiar,” it was illogical, and it was wrong. He was weighing immaterial things. He stared down at the packet of ashes, and then unzipped them with shaking hands. He’d dump them here and leave all the illogical bugs in his programming behind.

      But Volka was still up there among the stars … wasn’t his connection to her illogical? She was tied to Darmadi and always would be.

      It occurred to him that he hadn’t ended their engagement. That had been illogical, too. Had he been unable to end it for the same reason he still wanted to drag Davies’s body out of the blast zone? A proposal was a promise, and a promise was a surety in a universe that was unsure. Tearing that surety asunder felt like a loss, even when it was illogical not to do so when the person you made your promise to by their programming belonged to someone else.

      He clutched the ashes more tightly to himself. It was illogical. Eliza was gone.

      Fire crackled close to his heels, but he didn’t move. A stone rolled down the hill and came to a rest by 6T9’s feet. 6T9 looked up and saw nothing, and then three roars rose from behind him above the howl of the wind and crackle of flames. “We found you. You stole one of our names. Turn around and face your destroyer!”
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      “According to Time Gate 1, we are near Sixty’s last known location,” FET12 said, his voice cracking slightly as it was piped into her suit across the ether. “It’s difficult to pinpoint because I don’t know precisely where we are. The nav satellites still aren’t online, and I can’t match visual data with the data before the strike.”

      Volka clenched her teeth. Sixty was close. Maybe. He could be slag by now. Survivors of the nuclear strike were close, too. Trying not to feel their terror or think of the danger Sixty might be in, Volka concentrated on picking her way over the debris and not stumbling in the wind’s ferocious onslaught. Members of her crew were on either side of her and behind her, too. Behind them were sex ‘bots that had rendezvoused with her team when they landed—Sixty’s troops. He’d used them as cannon fodder, just as Mila had said. She said he didn’t care. Volka was sure that wasn’t true.

      Sundancer was hovering just behind and above her. In her dark armor, the ship blended with the sky. Volka let the ship guide her feet—when she went the wrong way, she felt disappointment; when she went in the right direction, she felt anticipation. She was getting close … closer. Ash was falling as thick as snow, and orange flames rose out of piles of rubble in every direction. The scene of death should have been silent and somber, but it was loud. Without her suit, it would have been dangerously so. Fires crackled, now and again explosions roared, and the wind whistled and moaned through the ruined city. If it weren’t for the ethernet connectivity between their suits, the team would have to shout to be heard. Her Bracelet warned her that radiation levels were still dangerous, and the Dark was here, too—hence Sundancer’s armor. Volka could smell the Dark, even though her suit was perfectly sealed. It seemed to be everywhere she turned, and yet it was weak … contained … and didn’t produce fear in Sundancer. The Marines had explained the heat from the bombs would have destroyed the Dark on the surface. She silently prayed it wouldn’t be among the survivors beneath.

      She had a sensation like coming home and stopped at a pile of concrete that was covered with what looked like molten glass, nearly as high as her hips. Taking a deep breath, Volka closed her eyes and tried to see below the mass with her mind. Maybe it was because of the lack of knowing who to look for, but all she sensed was her crew. Carl would be helpful now, but he had woken long enough to explain, “Thousands of The One had to leap from their bodies at once. They need all our help. I must return to my nightmare.” She didn’t want to disturb him.

      “Sundancer, help me,” Volka whispered, imagining blurry indistinct shapes beneath the earth. Sundancer flooded her vision with images of people—men, women, a baby, and a child—all shimmering and glowing, but then the scene shifted to the space beyond them. The Dark was there, ever malevolent, but trapped. Volka swallowed, understanding the shapes the Dark took. The Dark was trapped in crushed corpses. Opening her eyes, she pointed at the ground beneath the slab. “There are survivors down there. They are uninfected.” She pointed at a spot perhaps thirty meters away. “The Dark is there, in corpses.”

      “Don’t touch corpses,” Dixon said. “Gotcha.” To his men, he said, “Set up a perimeter,” and then he turned to the twenty-four sex ‘bots. The ‘bots were wearing blue scrubs the Marines had delivered to them. They’d been in various stages of undress when they’d joined the team—Volka had guessed that would be the case from Dr. Patrick’s imaginings of burns. Some of the ‘bots had little or no skin; it had melted away. The scrubs made them look a little more presentable and were a visual cue as to what they now were. Time Gate 5 had installed medical apps in all of them.

      “Setting up a signal booster,” her new comm officer said, putting a little chrome device by her feet.

      She knew the instant they connected with the survivors. Dixon’s head jerked, his wonder at Volka’s being right ringing like a bell in Volka’s mind. His voice crackled across the ether and into her suit. “There are survivors.” Gaze becoming distant, Dixon added, “There is a subway entrance down there—they’re trapped between it and this hunk of rocks.”

      The comm guy said, “It probably saved them from the fireball. Based on the strength of the signal, I think we can dig them out.”

      Nodding, Dixon turned to the sex ‘bots and issued orders.

      No longer needed, Volka hurried to FET12. Scanning the horizon, he said, “I know which train station they were referring to—I know where we are.” He pointed up a mound of debris in the dark landscape. “Sixty was that way.” The wind buffeted Volka’s back, bringing with it a cloud of ash and dust and making her lean into it to stay upright.

      Volka almost suggested FET12 come scout from the higher vantage point with her, but then Dixon called out, “FET12, we could use one more pair of android arms.”

      “Go,” said Volka. “I’ll just go to the top of the mound and wait for you there.”

      “No farther than the top of the mound,” FET12 said.

      She gave him a jaunty salute. He narrowed his eyes but left.

      Crouching low to maintain her balance and stay out of the wind, Volka climbed the hill, her heart starting to beat faster. Sixty might still be himself. The Dark assailed her nostrils, and as she traversed the ground, she sometimes felt the Dark beneath her feet. It made her stomach queasy, but so far, Sundancer was unalarmed.

      She reached the top of the mound and gazed down. At first, all she saw was a flame … and then she realized the flame was Sixty’s face, in three-quarter profile, and his hands, all lit from within, glowing in the heat. Forgetting herself, she leaped over the top of the mound. FET12 would tell the others where she’d gone. She almost called out, but then stopped. Three shadows were approaching Sixty—she saw them with her eyes as three men in armor similar to hers, but she also saw them with more than her eyes. They were Infected—human-shaped, blots of malevolence in the already heart-sickening scene—and there was one more of them just past Sixty. Sixty raised his hands above his head. In one hand was a familiar shape—the pouch with Eliza’s ashes. He slowly turned toward the first three Infected. She hadn’t been telepathic when she’d first faced the Dark. Now she was, and she knew how much it hated androids—and 6T9 in particular. Its maliciousness was palpable, as was its single wish: destroy.

      Growling, Volka raised her rifle. She took a breath, aimed, shot once, twice, and then she was lifted from her feet by the wind.
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      The three wore envirosuits—probably hand me downs from Fleet, their camouflage wasn’t as advanced, but in the gloom, it didn’t matter. He didn’t need Carl or Volka to tell him they were Infected. Only the Dark could be so proud, vile, and stupid. “Turn around and face your destroyer”? How maudlin, and if he’d had a weapon, potentially fatal. But he didn’t have a weapon; he had a few handfuls of ashes.

      The world was so chaotic, and there were so many fires, that at first 6T9 mistook the phaser fire that struck two of the men from behind for bursts of flame. It was only when they crumpled that 6T9 realized what was happening. The remaining man started to duck and raised his rifle toward a shimmering shape rolling toward them. 6T9 brought a leg up and swept him to the side. The rolling tumbling figure came to a halt, and with precision that had to be mechanical, shot the last man from the ground. But the growl that followed was not mechanical at all, and Volka’s voice erupted from within the Fleet armor, barely audible in the fire’s roar, “Sixty, look out!” She raised her rifle and aimed at a spot past 6T9. Phaser fire ripped from behind 6T9 toward her, too narrow to be a rifle shot, and a useless part of him cataloged it as coming from a pistol. Volka growled as the phaser fire hit her rifle, and the weapon erupted in a shroud of electricity that spread to her suit. With a cry, she tossed her weapon away, her gloved hands still sparking.

      The familiar voice of the pirate “general” rose behind 6T9. “You thought you could win.” The man’s footsteps came from up the rubble that was the bank building beyond Davies’s grave. Eliza’s ashes trembled in Sixty’s hand, now at his side. Volka’s eyes were glowing behind her visor—she had a tapetum lucidum, a thin membrane at the back of her eye that allowed her to see like a cat in the dark—or a wolf. He’d heard it described as “animal-like,” by humans and androids alike. The glow obscured her pupils, making them look like pure light.

      She’d tried to rescue him. His Q-comm sparked. Of course she would try to rescue anyone. It was part of what had endeared her to him.

      The general halted, from the direction and sound of his footfalls, just beyond Davies’s grave. Too far for a roundhouse kick.

      The general continued, “You record everything to your computer mind in the sky. We thought we’d kill her. But maybe we’ll infect her. Let you and the universe watch her join us.”

      Spinning around with inhuman speed, 6T9 launched himself at the general, turning on the lights of his eyes on high—and in a fraction of a millisecond saw the pirate’s visor adjusting to the glare. He had one last weapon. 6T9 brought his hand up and let Eliza’s ashes fly. They struck the general full in the face, clouding his visor. The Infected’s hand jerked; the shot he’d meant to fire at 6T9’s chest skimmed 6T9’s already-damaged shoulder. 6T9 was on top of him an instant later, knocking him flat. Pressing a knee onto the arm with the pistol, 6T9 locked his hands together and brought them down onto the general’s visor. It cracked. 6T9’s hands sparked. The general lifted his legs to throw 6T9 off, but 6T9’s hands came down again, cracking through the barrier. He brought his hands down again … and again … and again.

      “Sixty! He’s dead!” Volka shouted.

      6T9 kept pounding.

      “Sixty, you’re hurting yourself!”

      6T9 paused. There was synth blood everywhere, and human blood, bits of brain, and bone. The gore completely obscured the glow of his hands. He brought them to his face; they were in shreds and probably infected.

      He heard Volka’s footsteps approach, and he heard her pause at Davies’s grave. She was next to 6T9 a moment later. He felt her hand on his shoulder, and then she went over to the pirate. With shaking hands, perhaps made clumsy by her suit—it had probably saved her from serious injury, but it wasn’t phaser proof and was damaged now. She took the infected man’s weapon. “You killed him.”

      “I changed my programming. May I have the pistol?” he asked, holding up his good hand.

      She gave it to him, but awkwardly, as though the fingers in the gloves were resisting her movements. They were probably malfunctioning. Taking it from her, he stood, spun, and shot the first three men again. Volka jumped back. There was a groan from the last man. 6T9 shot him an extra time.

      “Suits give some protection,” he muttered, inclining his head at her hand.

      She flexed her fingers. “Oh, that’s right.” Staring at the Infected, she wavered on her feet. “It is for the best.”

      Bracelet chirped, and 6T9 could just make out a strange man calling, “Volka? Where are you? We’re almost done loading the survivors.”

      “I’m fine and on my way.” Volka’s glowing eyes rose to 6T9. In an apologetic voice, she said, “Sundancer’s here … they were loading survivors at the worst possible moment. Otherwise, she would have swooped in to rescue us.”

      6T9 picked up his gloves and his helmet. He put on one glove but struggled with the other.

      “Are … are you coming with us?” Volka asked.

      Giving up on the second glove, he tossed it inside his helmet. “Do you want me to?” Volka would save anyone. Was he just anyone?

      Volka’s eyes fell to his helmet; he’d wedged it between his bad arm and his side. “Yes, of course I do. You’ll be destroyed here.”

      Which wasn’t the answer to the question he should have asked, but it was true. He nodded.

      Volka started back the way she’d come, and 6T9 fell into step beside her. They’d gone three paces when Volka lifted a foot—and was nearly blown off her feet by a sudden gust of wind. 6T9 linked his arm through hers before she tumbled again.

      She laughed shakily. “You know, I meant to keep rolling down the hill before. It seemed like the best way to not give them an easy target.” In a lower voice, she added, “I just didn’t mean to start rolling in the first place.”

      She was trying to use humor to defuse the situation. He should say something witty in return, but his Q-comm returned a null set. He didn’t let go of her arm, though.

      They went a few more paces. “You changed your programming,” Volka said. He tried to analyze her tone, but either his apps were failing, or she’d spoken the words without discernible expression. “Why—?”

      His Q-comm fired bright white, and words tumbled from his mouth before he’d analyzed them. “To be worthy of your regard.” It was the truth, though he wasn’t sure if his Q-comm had answered or his core programming.

      “You always had my regard,” Volka replied, her voice hushed or the flames’ roar just very loud.

      6T9 laughed bitterly, “But I was not worthy.”

      He felt rather than heard her intake of breath. Before she could protest, he said, “Just now when I shot that Infected man again, you didn’t like it—”

      “But it was necessary,” Volka said. “We couldn’t turn our backs on him. I understand that.”

      “And if I hadn’t changed my programming, you would have had to do it. Like you had to shoot the children at the pirate camp. Like you’ve had to do so many times in the course of our acquaintance. The burden always fell to you. Being the one to always have to fight our battles endangered you. You said it made me an angel, which I am not, and never was, but if I were, I would give up my halo to see you live.” He still meant it, although the circle of humanity he’d give up his halo for had grown. He’d give it up for Davies, and for the pilots who’d saved them when he piloted the unstable ship to New Grande. He’d give up his halo for the ship. He’d give it up for the human woman who refused to leave her baby, and the schoolteacher who saved her charges, though she despised him. Were any of them alive now?

      They reached the peak they were climbing, and Lolita came charging out of the gloom. “Android General 1! You haven’t been destroyed! I worried so while I was trapped below ground.” She rushed to his other side, hands outstretched. A growl, low and fierce, came from Volka. Lolita drew back, eyeing Volka, face wrinkling into a look of disgust. “Don’t be jealous.”

      “Go away, Lolita,” 6T9 said.

      The android’s eyes got wide. “But—”

      “Go away. Now.” His ruined arm and hand began to spark.

      Shoulders falling, Lolita spun on her heel and strode back the way she’d come. Volka’s growl faded with every step. His Q-comm sparked. Volka had been—was—jealous. For him. Her messy programming recognized him as … hers.

      Another figure came toward them. It was a man 6T9 didn’t recognize in a Fleet envirosuit. Had Volka lost her crew? His hand tightened on her arm.

      The man, still meters away, shouted above the wind and fires. “Volka, you are not authorized to go off without—”

      “Go away, Lieutenant Dixon,” Volka said in a soft voice.

      The man’s expression became confused. He stopped, and then backed up a step.

      “We’ll be aboard before you finish loading,” Volka said, again very softly. “No need to worry.”

      “You’ll be aboard before we finish loading,” he agreed. “No need to worry.” With that, he wandered back the way he’d come.

      6T9’s mind was still processing her growl. “Volka, you and I will never be telepathically connected. There will always be a gulf between us that can never be crossed.”

      “Hopefully not,” Volka replied.

      Which made 6T9’s circuits misfire all at once.

      In a weary voice, Volka said, “I think I just used mind control on Lieutenant Dixon. No, I don’t think so. I know.”

      6T9 gaped at her—but how could he be outraged? His inclinations were worse.

      “I can’t help it, Sixty. Whenever I feel something intensely, I slip.” She waved a hand expansively. “But aside from locking myself up on the asteroid, there isn’t a lot I can do about it right now. I have to be a figurehead admiral for a small fleet of faster-than-light Skimmer ships, and we have so much to do.” Before he could ask, she looked off into the distance and said, “We have to leave now,” and began pulling him toward the ship.

      “I wanted to murder Captain Darmadi,” 6T9 blurted.

      Halting, Volka looked up at him with very wide glowing eyes. “That is very sweet, but what are you saying?”

      Again 6T9’s circuits misfired. It took him a few seconds to process that for an extremely monogamist species, the promise to murder a rival might be an endearment. It was so absurd, it made his lips quirk. “I didn’t mean it as a sweet nothing, Volka. I almost did. James stopped me.”

      “That’s why you ran away? Not because I heard Alaric?”

      6T9 could almost hear her ears folding as she spoke. “Yes, no, both … and because I could help here.” He surveyed the burning world. “Although, by the looks of it, not much.”

      “You saved thousands,” she said, steering him again toward the ship.

      “You’re changing the subject,” he said, allowing himself to be led. “You wouldn’t like it if I had killed him. Not really.”

      “No, I wouldn’t,” Volka admitted. “Which doesn’t mean I’m still in love with him. I’m telepathically connected, like you’re tethered to your Q-comm, and I … I am glad, because I could save him, and even if I don’t love him, it would be a waste for him to die.”

      6T9 found himself immediately thinking of Davies and wishing she’d been telepathically bonded to him. If she’d once been Davies’s lover and had arrived with the ship and the crew just after the blast, Davies would be alive.

      “In the end you … you didn’t kill him … I …” Volka stammered. “I don’t know what you want me to say.”

      She didn’t understand how truly dangerous Alaric’s situation had been because she had a brain shaped by billions of years of evolution with superior fight or flight and kill, ignore, or nurture instincts. His processors had less than a month of experience with such questions.

      Four unfamiliar Fleet Marines emerged from the gloom. “Break apart for decon!” And 6T9 didn’t have to answer.

      Volka and he dutifully parted. A man helped 6T9 put on his gloves and helmet, and then doused his suit in flame so he was at least sterilized on the outside.

      Less than a minute later, he was hopping into the familiar ship with Volka. The hatch closed silently, almost magically, behind them. The unfamiliar Marines didn’t pay attention to him, but the ship trembled, and then from everywhere and nowhere a voice declared, “Hi, Sixty!”

      Everyone stopped what they were doing and looked around with wide eyes.

      Volka smiled. “That is the second time Sundancer’s spoken.”

      Sensory receptors lit beneath 6T9’s skin, as though the ship had reached out and touched him.

      In Sundancer’s keel, above where she’d just opened up, a light sparkled. “That’s Bracelet—her Q-comm particle, anyway,” Volka explained. “We haven’t figured out how to get it into a chip yet.”

      The ship started to lift, and the aft compartments opened. FET12 emerged, carrying Carl in his arms. Carl blinked sleepily at 6T9. “Good to see you back, Hatchling.”

      FET12 narrowed his eyes somewhat suspiciously, but said, “I’m glad you weren’t destroyed.”

      6T9 found himself wanting to throw his arms wide to catch Volka, FET12, and Carl in an enormous embrace, but he didn’t. His hand went to his side, where he kept Eliza’s ashes, and of course they were gone. He snapped his hand behind his back instead. Volka came over to him and almost shyly said, “Sixty, I’ve been terrible. You threw Eliza’s ashes at that pirate, didn’t you? And I just now realized and … I’m … I’m so sorry.”

      FET12 whispered in an accusatory tone, “Carl, you didn’t mention anything about pirates.”

      “Shh … Sixty is probably depressed right now. Don’t change the subject,” Carl hissed.

      If FET12 reacted in any way to that command, 6T9 didn’t see. His eyes were on Volka, taking off her helmet. Her ears drooped. “Thank you, Sixty.”

      6T9’s Q-comm flashed white, and he smiled. He caught Volka in a hug—but not FET12, because it would probably terrify the android—laid his chin on her head and rocked her gently. And then he began to chuckle.

      “Do you need to reboot?” FET12 asked.

      “No,” 6T9 said. “I just … if Eliza knew her ashes would someday blind a pirate long enough for me to save you, Volka—”

      “She would have loved it,” Carl said with authority.

      “Exactly,” said 6T9. His hands flexed in their gloves … they were still wet with the gore from when he’d killed the man. His smile melted. He’d asked Volka to marry him out of fear that she’d leave him. It hadn’t been an act of devotion; it had been an act of control. One that ultimately he himself hadn’t believed in. He’d insulted her. She deserved better, and he needed some time—maybe both of them did—to tweak the bugs in their new apps. They were fast approaching Time Gate 5. They were surrounded by Carl, FET12, Sundancer, and Marines. What he needed to say, needed to be said now. “Volka,” he whispered. “This is sort of putting the cart before the lizzar … but would you consider courting me?”
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      On a quiet balcony, above the main promenade of Time Gate 1, Alexis stood before a three-meter high holo of Earth. Markus wasn’t in his sling, and she felt light and bereft. The second might not have had anything to do with Markus’s absence.

      Alaric took her hand. “There’s still time to change our minds.”

      Alexis’s eyes slid to her husband. His jaw was tight, his expression almost angry. He didn’t want to leave the Republic.

      “You will come back again,” she reassured him. Joint military ventures with the Galactic Fleet would make sure of it. Diplomacy would probably even force him to visit sites they’d missed: India’s Ajanta Caves, Quinta da Regaleira in Sintra, the canals of New York. As much as she found the culture of the Republic to be decadent and at once cynical and naive, she loved Earth. There was so much history in the cradle of humankind, she could never grow bored of it.

      He squeezed her hand. “Of that I have no doubt. But it will be difficult for me to arrange for you to come back.”

      Alexis felt heat rising in her face. “I am choosing to come back with you. We agreed. We can’t afford a rift in Republic-Luddeccean relations.” Did he doubt that her resolve was as great as his own?

      “I know,” he said. “But I am sorry.”

      Alexis’s ire drained away. “Yes, well …”

      The holo changed to a scene of rioting. Text scrolled across the holo. Protests against the proposed declaration of war against the aliens turned to looting today. The scene changed to a man that the text identified as Senator Lindbergh. The holo was muted but there were subtitles as the Senator spoke. Calling this alien species the Dark is just a way to tap into human fears. Moreover, it objectifies this communal consciousness. How can we expect respect from it when we do not offer respect first? It’s no wonder our diplomatic attempts have been a disaster.

      “Let’s go,” Alaric said.

      “Yes,” said Alexis, turning from the holo. Perhaps her lecture had swayed a few minds and made them believe in the danger of the Dark, but if it had, she had yet to see it in Galactic media. She had seen a xenologist journal describe her lecture on The People’s mythos and history as, “Brilliant and fascinating on multiple levels, not least of which the glimpse of an alien culture through the martial, warrior ethos lens of a Luddeccean.”

      Without a word, they headed toward the bookstore where they’d meet their children and Admiral Sato and Sinclair. The couple had taken the children for ice cream. An Admiral and a Fleet Intelligence Officer babysitting—it would be unthinkable on Luddeccea, outside family situations, of course. Alexis could imagine Holly and her husband minding their grandchildren and spoiling them rotten, which was exactly the role Sato and Sinclair seemed to have picked for themselves when it came to Alaric and Alexis’s sons.

      On the lower level, the bookstore was more crowded than the floor above. It was as much an art gallery as a bookstore. Galacticans “downloaded” their books, for the most part. But hand-bound volumes, printed in limited editions, were collectibles. Some of them were actually copied by hand, as monks had done in the Middle Ages, because it was more “authentic.”

      They were early, and Alaric drifted over to a collection of books of early spaceflight with “genuine,” not computer generated, photographs. Alexis stayed behind in the twentieth century literature section, idly picking up a novel that had been hand copied. The elaborate brush calligraphy in black and gold on the cover identified it as Ralph Elision’s Invisible Man. Alexis opened it, noting that it had first been published in 1947, a year in which she was sure mass printing existed. Still, the calligraphy was so lovingly done, she kept turning the pages. Skimming quickly, wondering if this book might be worth a confrontation with Luddeccean censors, she tried to piece together the book’s theme.  I am invisible because people refuse to see me. A wave of melancholy swept through her, and she couldn’t understand why.

      Alexis distantly heard a woman call someone. “Professor?”

      Her eyes skipped over the page. Sometimes it is advantageous … although it is most often rather wearying … She knew suddenly why the words spoke to her. On Luddeccea, she would be unseen again. Or rather, not seen for who she was and what she thought. She would, in private, continue her translations and be respected for it by an earnest select few. But in public, she would be only a wife and mother, which, according to Luddeccean priests, were two of the most elevated of roles anyone could aspire to—as well they should be—they were damnably difficult jobs. And yet, for all that they were taught wives and mothers should be respected, they so often weren’t. Coddled in some ways, cherished, but not respected.

      “Professor Darmadi?” the woman said, closer.

      Hugging the book to her chest, Alexis looked up, prepared to direct the person to her husband—but instead, she stared. The woman was familiar—wiry and short, even for a Luddeccean, with bobbed hair streaked with gray and vividly green eyes. The two men who had followed her at the shop stood a few paces behind her now. One held an open book in his hands, but he was gazing openly at Alexis. Security?

      Alexis returned her focus to the woman. As in the coffee shop, her eyes were red rimmed. “I appreciated your … your … lecture, Professor.” She gave a wan smile and offered her hand.

      Alexis took it, hesitantly. “Thank you, but I am not—” Her hand brushed the other woman’s and in the cool, smooth, uncalloused grip, Alexis felt a piece of paper. “—a professor, per se.”

      “Please …” The woman wrapped her other hand around Alexis’s, pressing the paper more firmly into her palm. “Please … I appreciated it, very much.”

      Alexis’s heart beat wildly. Hadn’t she read about poison on paper entering the bloodstream through the skin?

      James Sinclair’s voice rose in the book shop. “Doctor Zeller?”

      The woman released Alexis’s hand and turned to James and Noa, standing just outside the shop with Alaric and Alexis’s boys. Sam and Lucas were busily putting away ice cream, Markus was in a stroller gumming some old-fashioned keys. Solomon was at Markus’s feet. He’d risen to his hind paws, and his bewhiskered nose was pointed in Alexis’s direction.

      Should Alexis drop the paper? Say something? Solomon shook his head in the negative. Alexis slipped it into her pocket instead.

      “Ah … Mr. Sinclair … Admiral Sato,” the woman, Dr. Zeller, said. She bowed slightly.

      “We heard about your family,” Noa said. “We are so sorry.” She had a lovely, rich voice that conveyed so much emotion in the simple words.

      “Yes,” Sinclair said. “You have our condolences.” Alexis had grown, despite herself, to like the android. He was witty and always polite. He passed as human, for the most part, and had played human for their sons’ sakes. It could be dangerous for them if it became known on Luddeccea that they had an “Uncle James” who was a machine. But his words now gave him away. They seemed wooden and by rote.

      The woman’s lips twitched as though she were trying to smile but couldn’t manage it. “Yes, well … I have just been from there …” Her expression became cloudy. “The memorial and … and tying up loose ends.”

      “Of course,” said Admiral Sato gently.

      Zeller’s eyes fell on Alexis’s children in a look of palpable longing. “I … well … It’s still a long way to home,” she said. She nodded at Alexis and Alaric, who’d come to her side, and again at Noa and James, and then left very quickly.

      “She needs ice cream,” Lucas observed. “She’s sad.”

      Noa frowned and patted his head. “She had some bad news.”

      “A colleague of yours?” Alaric asked.

      Pulling her hand away from Lucas, Noa wrapped it around herself. “More of an acquaintance, really.”

      James scowled. “Yes.”

      Alexis liked Noa and James, as they insisted on being called. They had been wonderful hosts the past few weeks. Although Noa had been very busy with the situation in System 3, she’d joined them whenever she could. At first, Alexis had been sure their kindness was just a very clever facade, a way to win them over to defection. But when Alaric and she had made it clear they were going home, the couple had understood, been gracious, and their kindness hadn’t diminished. They still spoiled their children.

      However, now Alexis felt a prickle at the back of her neck. She liked them, but they were lying.
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      Volka walked with Sixty along a balcony lined with offices in the Fleet section of Time Gate 1. She clutched her stomach; it was so empty it was painful.

      Hopping along the railing beside them, Carl said, “Butter rats would be more delicious.”

      Volka groaned. “I’m too hungry to hunt, Carl. I want to eat now.”

      “It would take you hardly any time to catch one,” Carl persisted.

      “Presumptive of you to suggest she’d be the one catching the rat, Weasel,” Sixty said.

      “I’m overlord. It would be my due,” Carl retorted.

      Volka rolled her eyes. Sixty met her gaze, grinned, squeezed her hand, and didn’t let it go. She’d said yes to his offer of courtship. On the one hand, it had felt like a step back, less a certainty than an engagement. On the other hand, their engagement had been uncertain. Sixty had run away, because of jealousy he wasn’t supposed to feel and malevolence that was new. She didn’t think for a moment that he really would have killed Alaric, but she didn’t want to marry someone who ran away or didn’t trust her. It had scared her, turned her world inside out. Sixty promised he wouldn’t do it again, not that he wouldn’t run off to lead a ‘bot army if he had to, but that if he did, he’d say goodbye. She was still a little scared—but she wanted not to be.

      So … courtship. “Dating with the intent, but not obligation, to marry,” as Sixty had described it. “Time to get used to our new apps.” It was really the way things were before, but with hand holding and kissing.

      6T9 blinked and whispered, “Ether call from FET12,” and tapped his temple. “FET12, we’re coming. The reservation isn’t for another twenty minutes.” There was a pause. Volka couldn’t read android minds—or code—or processors, but she had a fairly good idea of what was being said. FET12 had become … protective.

      Sixty scowled and answered the lecture she was sure he was receiving. “Don’t be ridiculous; Carl is with us.”

      “I wouldn’t stop you if you wanted to practice baby making around me—” Carl said.

      Volka’s face heated. Sixty shot a glare in Carl’s direction.

      Carl sighed. “But they’re behaving in a perfectly respectable manner, FET12, even by Luddeccean standards.”

      FET12 had designated himself guardian of Volka’s virtue. “Not that there would normally be anything bad in premarital sex,” he’d explained, “but you’re monogamous. I’ve studied this matter in depth, and it’s not worth the emotional risk. Wait for him to commit it to his code. I’ll review it for bugs.”

      “We’ll be there in a few minutes,” Sixty said. “What? No, I agree, no matter how hungry she is, don’t let Shissh eat any ice cream. You remember what happened last time.” Volka blanched; Carl shuddered so violently he almost fell from the balcony. Sundancer must have been listening in, because Volka felt the ship flicker anxiously.

      “I don’t know how you stop her … maybe the restaurant can give her a femur to gnaw on while you wait?” Sixty suggested. “Okay, great. See you soon.”

      He dropped his hand from his temple. A flicker of annoyance flashed across his face, but then vanished and smoothed into something … thoughtful, maybe? She didn’t know what he was thinking—it would be boring if she did.

      Carl abruptly stopped his hopping, peered down from the balcony, and declared, “Hey, schmancy!”

      Volka and Sixty stopped beside him and peered down at the scene below. There were rows of Fleet Officers in dress uniforms lined up facing a not-impressive looking shuttle. She blinked, and the shuttle’s lower hatch opened. A stream of Luddeccean Guard in Dress Greens emerged. They formed two parallel lines. Between them marched two officers—both with ribbons Volka thought marked them as pilots. At the same time, from the opposite direction, a presence tickled Volka’s consciousness.

      Noa and James, and Alaric, Alexis, and their boys came into view.

      Sixty put his free hand on the balcony. “The Darmadis.”

      There was something about Sixty’s tone—something robotic—that made Volka look at him instead of the scene below. He didn’t notice. His eyes were on the Darmadis. His face, normally so expressive and human, was completely blank.

      “Sixty?” she whispered.

      Turning to her, he blinked. He hadn’t been blinking, she realized. That was part of the reason he’d looked dangerous.

      Bringing her hand to his mouth, he kissed her knuckles. “They’re leaving.” He looked below again and frowned, and seeing that emotion, even negative emotion, was comforting. For a minute … for a minute, she’d almost believed he could have killed Alaric. She swallowed. Hadn’t Alaric believed he could?

      One of the office doors behind them opened. Volka knew without turning that it was Captain Orion Smith. He came over to the balcony’s edge and shook his head, his emotions a mixture of regret and schadenfreude.

      Volka flicked her ears, trying to keep Orion’s thoughts out of her mind. She focused on the scene below with her ordinary senses. She thought the Darmadis all looked sad. Her ears perked. Alexis was keeping her eyes lowered, but they would occasionally dart from side-to-side, as though she were nervous. She was nervous. Volka couldn’t keep from knowing it … but forced herself not to pry.

      The family, even Lucas and Sam, bowed to Noa and James. Noa and James returned the bow. It was all perfectly formal. Alaric gestured for Alexis to go before him, and she began pushing Markus toward the shuttle in a smart new stroller, Sam and Lucas beside her, her footsteps very quick. Volka leaned closer. Alexis was hiding something, and yet, all Volka saw in her mind was a blank page. How curious.

      Carl’s voice whispered in her mind, “Leave it alone, Hatchling.”

      Volka flushed and tried to use only her eyes. Alaric was hesitating. He raised a foot, as though about to follow, when James said in a deadpan voice, “Goodbye, Luddite.”

      Volka couldn’t help but feel the immense effort Alaric put into not smiling. In an equally dry tone, he replied, “If I never see you again, Mechanical Monstrosity, it will be too soon.”

      James put his hands behind his back and lifted his chin, and she did see a smile—a hint of one, anyway. Alaric spun too quickly to see his expression—but the exchange had left him happy.

      The Luddeccean Guardsmen filed after the Darmadis, their boots clicking smartly on the deck, and the echoes creating quite a din.

      Shaking his head, Captain Smith tsked. “I warned them, an android wasn’t a good fit as liaison. Sinclair failed to establish rapport.”

      Volka’s mouth dropped open.

      Sixty’s head jerked back, and his brow furrowed. “Are you kidding? They might as well have made out in front of everyone.”

      Captain Smith blinked.

      One of Volka’s ears went sideways. Sixty got the gist of the situation, but that wasn’t exactly how she would have put it. The surprise made it better. She laughed. “Yes.”
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      “Is something wrong?” Alaric asked Alexis.

      The note from Dr. Zeller burned in her hand. They were in a conference room aboard the Luddeccean Net-Drive ship. The boys—and Solomon—were being taken on a tour by one of the junior officers. Markus was asleep in his new stroller. Outside the porthole, Time Gate 8’s broken ring glowed faintly. They’d dock there shortly, and her family and their belongings would be searched. She could just turn the note over when she was questioned … and yet … she remembered Ran’s probing before she left. Once she would have thought that Luddeccea was incorruptible, united as they were by a common cause in a way the Republic was not. Ran’s actions could be rationalized as a way to assure Luddeccea remained united, that he had merely been doing his job: finding out if Alaric was defecting … and yet …

      Who could she trust?

      “Alexis?” Alaric asked.

      She looked up at her husband, sitting at a computer console a few paces away. She still didn’t understand him—calling James Sinclair a “mechanical monstrosity” in front of everyone. Granted, James had called him a “Luddite” in front of same, but Alaric wasn’t in control of Sinclair’s actions, only his own. It had been so improper at such a solemn proceeding. He was such a … such a … farm boy.

      And yet, he’d given up everything he ever loved for his duty to his family and to his homeworld.

      She bit her lip. Maybe she was being over dramatic. Maybe she had nothing to protect. “I was thinking of Dr. Zeller.”

      Alaric’s face became very serious. “What a coincidence.”

      Alexis cocked her head. “How so?”

      For a moment Alaric stared at her, his expression so hard it could have been carved of stone. Again, Alexis felt that he was a stranger. But then, beckoning her to come over, he pulled away from the console so she could see it.

      Her husband had been thinking of Dr. Zeller, too. The woman’s face was on the monitor, as well as what looked like an encyclopedia article on her, though it had the Luddeccean Guard’s logo at the top. Alexis skimmed the woman’s Ph.Ds, but did note Zeller was close to eighty years old. Her eyes caught on “One of the lead researchers in the Galactic Republic’s quantum teleportation fueled fusion weapons.”

      Alexis wasn’t sure what that meant, but it sounded dangerous. “Teleportation fueled fusion weapons.”

      Alaric exhaled and rubbed his temple. “Quantum teleportation fueled fusion weapons. The Dark used conventional fission bombs in New Grande. It attempted to land more, but only managed three—the Republic was able to destroy the others before they hit atmosphere. They were relatively easy to spot … being … well, conventionally large.”

      “Quantum teleportation fueled fusion weapons are … smaller?” Alexis guessed.

      Alaric stared at the screen. “The size and mass of a man’s fist, with all the firepower of one of the missiles that landed on New Grande.” He smiled thinly. “It is technology Luddeccea hasn’t been able to steal.”

      Alexis squeezed the slip of folded paper in her hand. Her heart thudded loudly in her ears. “Alaric,” Alexis whispered, “She gave me this.” Alexis handed him the slip of paper. It was the wrapping from a candy bar. Old creases were visible along its surface—as though it had once been crumpled to be thrown away—but it had been folded smooth when Zeller had given it to her. Galacticans didn’t write on paper, unless it was for artistic purposes. Alexis imagined she’d used the wrapper to hide it from her guards. Alaric stared at it quizzically.

      “Open it,” Alexis whispered.

      Alaric unfolded the scrap. One of his eyebrows rose as he read the note. His hand found hers. “I did say, Alexis, that you’d save the galaxy.” He didn’t smile or even look up at her, and his hand squeezed hers with too much force. Alexis shivered, reading the note again. The printed letters were oddly childlike and wavering, as though their author was used to typing or simply thinking the missives they meant to share … or as though she’d written the message in fury.

      
        
        The Dark murdered my family.

        The Republic does nothing.

        Help me defect, and I will help Luddeccea obliterate the Darkness.
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however, cannot be released under any other type of license. The
requirement for fonts to remain under this license does not apply
to any document created using the fonts or their derivatives.

DEFINITIONS
"Font Software" refers to the set of files released by the Copyright
Holder(s) under this license and clearly marked as such. This may
include source files, build scripts and documentation.

"Reserved Font Name" refers to any names specified as such after the
copyright statement(s).

"Original Version" refers to the collection of Font Software components as
distributed by the Copyright Holder(s).

"Modified Version" refers to any derivative made by adding to, deleting,
or substituting -- in part or in whole -- any of the components of the
Original Version, by changing formats or by porting the Font Software to a
new environment.

"Author" refers to any designer, engineer, programmer, technical
writer or other person who contributed to the Font Software.

PERMISSION & CONDITIONS
Permission is hereby granted, free of charge, to any person obtaining
a copy of the Font Software, to use, study, copy, merge, embed, modify,
redistribute, and sell modified and unmodified copies of the Font
Software, subject to the following conditions:

1) Neither the Font Software nor any of its individual components,
in Original or Modified Versions, may be sold by itself.

2) Original or Modified Versions of the Font Software may be bundled,
redistributed and/or sold with any software, provided that each copy
contains the above copyright notice and this license. These can be
included either as stand-alone text files, human-readable headers or
in the appropriate machine-readable metadata fields within text or
binary files as long as those fields can be easily viewed by the user.

3) No Modified Version of the Font Software may use the Reserved Font
Name(s) unless explicit written permission is granted by the corresponding
Copyright Holder. This restriction only applies to the primary font name as
presented to the users.

4) The name(s) of the Copyright Holder(s) or the Author(s) of the Font
Software shall not be used to promote, endorse or advertise any
Modified Version, except to acknowledge the contribution(s) of the
Copyright Holder(s) and the Author(s) or with their explicit written
permission.

5) The Font Software, modified or unmodified, in part or in whole,
must be distributed entirely under this license, and must not be
distributed under any other license. The requirement for fonts to
remain under this license does not apply to any document created
using the Font Software.

TERMINATION
This license becomes null and void if any of the above conditions are
not met.

DISCLAIMER
THE FONT SOFTWARE IS PROVIDED "AS IS", WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY WARRANTIES OF
MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT
OF COPYRIGHT, PATENT, TRADEMARK, OR OTHER RIGHT. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE
COPYRIGHT HOLDER BE LIABLE FOR ANY CLAIM, DAMAGES OR OTHER LIABILITY,
INCLUDING ANY GENERAL, SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL
DAMAGES, WHETHER IN AN ACTION OF CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE, ARISING
FROM, OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THE FONT SOFTWARE OR FROM
OTHER DEALINGS IN THE FONT SOFTWARE.
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